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Academic and Career Development
1211 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10036-8775

(212) 596-6222
Fax (212) 596-6213

January 1995

To Administrators of Accounting Programs and
Accounting Educators Mini-Conference Participants

The AICPA Academic and Career Development Division is pleased to
send you the twelve teaching cases developed under the 1994
Professor/Practitioner Case Development Program.
The program is
designed to encourage accounting educators and practitioners to
collaborate on the development of real-world-based cases for use in
the accounting curriculum.
Based on actual incidents and situations, these cases are intended
for use in one-to-three hour class periods.
An index showing the
appropriate courses in which the materials can be used is attached.
Incorporating these cases in your curriculum will give students a
fuller understanding of the concepts and practical considerations
relevant
to current
accounting issues.
Please pass
this
information and the cases along to members of your faculty for use
in their classrooms.
Cases developed under the AICPA Case Development Program are
copyrighted by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and donated to the public domain for use in higher
education.
You may copy the material as needed for use in your
educational programs.

We welcome any questions or comments you have about the program.

Sincerely,

Elizabeth Koch
Manager, Education Programs

Enclosures

Accounting. Don’t Just Learn a Business. Learn the Business World.
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REFINING ACTIVITY BASED COSTING

Paul S. Foote, Professor
California State University at Fullerton, California

George W. Wright, Accounting Operations Manager
Mining and Refining, Inc.

CASE BACKGROUND

"Good news and bad news!" exclaimed the Director of Research. "We have developed a method to produce a
new improved product that will provide a net 50% increase in sales measured in volume, however, we have no
idea if our margins will increase or decrease!" This long awaited new product development announcement
immediately riveted everyone’s attention on the speaker. The reference to margin changes was a commentary
on the inability of the Finance and Marketing departments to provide the research staff with understandable,
accurate and timely costing and marketing information, respectively.
"How can I price new products when we don’t even know what it cost us to produce our existing products?"
questioned the Vice President of Marketing. The Controller retorted, "We can tell you the cost of each product
in our Product Line Report!". "Oh, come on," pleaded the Vice President of Marketing, "you know as well as
I those reports are prepared for accountants by accountants and don’t tell us anything about the real world. Our
customers already believe we are overcharging them. Sometimes we worry we are bringing in unprofitable
business. Competitors are dropping like flies and some days we wonder if we are the only sucker left. Most
days our bids are too high, yet on other days our price increases are not objected to by anyone and we wonder
if our prices are too low."
"Since we already provide you with every report known to man, what additional information could we
possibly provide you?", offered the Controller. After thinking for a moment, the Vice President of Operations
stated, "I don’t exactly know what I need but I certainly know we need a change! However, I can tell you that
I will know it when I see it!"
This classic situation occurred recently in a senior staff meeting at a large mining and refining company.
The existing cost systems had repeatedly been criticized by senior and middle management because of their
perceived inability to provide the financial information necessary to make many different types of short and long
term managerial decisions. These decisions included: product pricing, product mix, introduction of new products
and processes, new production facilities, staffing requirements, shift scheduling, shutdown management and
consolidation of operations. In essence, the cost systems were unable to respond and provide critical information
for strategic decision making.

Copyright 1994 by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and donated to the public domain for educational use.
Cases developed and distributed under the AICPA Case Development Program are intended for use in higher education for
instructional purposes only, and are not for application in practice. The AICPA neither approves nor endorses this case or any solution
provided herewith or subsequently developed.
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Growing concurrently with this dissatisfaction was the company’s need to successfully compete in an increasingly
competitive environment. The market required both pricing accommodations and quality improvements, but the
data to make informed decisions had been unavailable.
New competition from developing domestic and foreign producers stimulated a reevaluation of prices and
their short and long term effects on revenues, market share and profitability.
Improved quality was required to remain competitive in the marketplace as more and more customers used
quality as a major tool to drive down their total costs. Requiring suppliers to deliver consistent, high quality
products would allow consumers to drive down their total costs. Constant quality allowed customers to reduce
inspection costs and inventory holding costs by moving to almost just-in-time deliveries.
Product quality has become a comparative advantage for suppliers who can meet or exceed customer’s
demands. Quality is no longer viewed as expensive; lack of quality is viewed as expensive! Due to this
importance, quality became an item to be maximized and also used to encourage and measure continuous
improvement.

CURRENT COST SYSTEMS
The current cost systems were designed with an integrated flexible budget used to support a contribution margin
format income statement. Product line profitability reports were produced regularly after the financial statements
were produced using various allocation algorithms for overhead and other fixed costs. They primarily
concentrated on allocating these costs based on labor or material consumption. This method worked respectably
well in previous years when production was at, or near, full capacity.
These traditional cost systems communicated standard information to accountants and operations. The
commonality of the system was advantageous as changes in employees did not cause delays in preparing or
understanding the simple output. However, the intended simplicity of this type of cost system actually was the
primary cause of the downfall of traditional measures. The simplicity of traditional cost systems allows them
to be applied to a wide range of industries, but it also limits their usefulness because it does little to identify and
diagnose the causes of the costs.
Activity based costing and activity based management were identified as systems to assist focusing attention
on costs and their causes. ABC/ABM attempts to accomplish this through focusing attention on processes and
their activities rather than the traditional functional and departmental perspectives.
ABC recognizes the fact that technology has significantly altered the mix of labor, material and technology
and reflects this in a different approach to allocating support costs. Products will begin to reflect the multiple
variables that they consume when based on the activities and resources they consume.

HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF ACTIVITY BASED COSTING
Activity based costing (ABC) was originally developed in the late 1970’s and early 1980’s to supplement
traditional cost accounting methods in the management of operations. Accounting professionals and operations
managers were slowly realizing the existing cost systems were providing information that was not useful in
decision making because of its lack of predictive value, feedback value and timeliness.1 Cost accounting systems
developed in the 1960’s and 1970’s were developed with different objectives and in a significantly different
manufacturing environment. The primary objectives of these early costing systems were to provide proper
inventory valuations and to facilitate financial reporting by closing the monthly books.1
2 Current cost systems

1

FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2 — Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting
Information.

2

Michael W. Grady, "Is Your Cost Managements System Meeting Your Needs?", Journal of Cost
Management, Summer 1988, pp. 11-15.
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must do more than recording, analyzing, verifying and reporting costs, they must be able to provide information
to allow for cost management, i.e., "the skillful handling or directing of costs."3
In the early 1960’s the finance and control groups at General Electric (GE) were seeking improved
information for managing increasing indirect costs.4 The original study isolated the lack of coordinated
measurement systems and communication as the key items in contributing to escalating costs. Decisions made
by "upstream" departments, such as product design by the engineering department, would trigger subsequent
indirect activities such as purchasing, warehousing, accounts payable and customer service. The existing system
recorded and reported costs by department and did not include the effect of upstream decisions. Example: A
poorly designed product could create unnecessarily expensive materials or assembly. If the product had been
designed properly upstream, costs could have been controlled during assembly.
GE developed a methodology to trace and measure each direct and indirect activity to a unit of output for
a department. More importantly, linkages were made between output of one department that resulted in a
subsequent department’s increased activity. Estimated percentages were assigned to each indirect activity allowing
the identification and measurement of each activity driver.
Costs were estimated for each activity by using average rates for labor and machinery, estimates for other
appropriate costs were also included. Statistical information for each activity was collected for the same period.
This provided an estimated cost per unit of each activity driver. Subsequent calculations were also made for all
the indirect activities required to support the upstream output and "cradle to grave" average cost was determined
for each unit of output.
GE used this information to manage their indirect costs through a better understanding of the effects of
activities and their resulting related costs. Indirect costs were now known and could be controlled by either
reducing the activity causing the subsequent activities or reducing the related activities.
The manufacturing environment of today has significantly changed in the last decade and even more radical
changes are anticipated in the next decade. Six major trends in manufacturing processes and management
philosophies have occurred resulting in this need for improved understanding and reporting of internal costs:
higher quality, lower inventory, flexible flow lines, automation, product line organization and the effective use
of information.

MINING FOR DATA AND REFINING WITH ABC
The Institute of Management Accountants (IMA) describes activity based costing in the following manner:
"The basic distinction between traditional cost accounting and ABC is as follows: Traditional cost-accounting techniques allocate
costs to products based on attributes of a single unit. Typical attributes include the number of direct labor hours required to
manufacture a unit, purchase cost of merchandise resold, or number of days occupied. Allocations, therefore, vary directly with
the volume of units produced, cost of merchandise sold, or days occupied by the customer. In contrast, ABC systems focus on
activities required to produce each product or provide each service based on each product’s or service’s consumption of the
activities.
Using ABC, overhead costs are traced to products and services by identifying the resources, activities, and their costs and
quantities to produce output. A unit of output (a driver) is used to calculate the cost of each activity. Cost is traced to the product
or service by determining how many units of output each activity consumed during any given period of time."5

3

Robert D McIlhattan, "The Path to Total Cost Management", Journal of Cost Management, Summer 1987,
pp. 5-10.

4

H. Thomas Johnson, "It’s Time to Stop Overselling Activity-Based Concepts — Start Focusing on Customer
Satisfaction Instead", Management Accounting, September 1992, p. 41.

5

Statements on Management Accounting Number 4T — Implementing Activity-Based Costing, Institute of
Management Accountants, Montvale, NJ.
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Computer Aided Manufacturing — International (CAM-I), a not-for-profit industry sponsored consortium that
addresses contemporary industry problems, defines ABC in it’s Cost Management Project (CMS) as "the
collection of financial and operation performance information tracing the significant activities of the firm to
product costs."6
Activity based costing highlights the economics of a company’s activities by developing a workflow map of
the company’s processes, products, services, and customers. This occurs by identifying: 1) principal activities,
2) the resources they consume and their related costs, and 3) the driver or cause (generally a unit of output).
This analysis also identifies the non-value activities and the related profit opportunities. These activities are
usually costly and time consuming and add limited, if any, value from the customer’s perspective. While ABC
is the diagnostic tool to help focus improvement efforts, activity based management (ABM) is the process of
acting upon information highlighted by the ABC analysis to improve or eliminate activities. ABM is the process
of selecting the best opportunity for improvement, assigning the necessary resources to pursue the targeted
improvement and establishing the performance improvement targets.
Recent case studies, periodicals and seminars preach the value of applying activity based costing and activity
based management as a typical product costing solution. Many companies have even combined the benefits of
activity based costing with re-engineering and made significant strides toward continuously improving work
processes.
These successful companies were originally traditional producers of goods, such as, automobiles, toasters,
textbooks, missiles, etc. Production in these industries occurred by combining or assembling multiple raw
materials in discrete, measurable batches or individual units. For example, an automobile manufacturer would
combine components (windshield, tires, seats, doors, etc.) and produce automobiles. Eventually, activity based
costing was adapted to service industries where the relationship between resources consumed and services offered
is substantially more complicated. These service industries (insurance, accountancy, banking, etc.) established
tangible performance measurements linked to time, value, service, quality, flexibility and cost.
However, there is an obvious void of any comprehensive method for applying activity based costing to
continuous processes such as mining and refining. Mining and refining are very different in that they are a
continuous process and have a common raw material stream (ore and a few additives) commonly called a
divergent process. In this industry, it involves the addition of raw materials to a continuous mixing process with
many overflows and underflows as the result of chemical content and temperature. The critical problem in
applying ABC is the fact there are not the traditionally measurable batches and units!
SOFTWARE

There are many software solutions designed for ABC/ABM. The capabilities of the different software range from
highly sophisticated to very simple. Before selecting software, a conceptual understanding of the goals of activity
based management in the different operations must be established. Software is only a minor tool in achieving
these goals, not the solution!7
Many vendors provide software designed exclusively for activity based reporting and several vendors of
general ledger/project accounting suggest their product is conducive to activity based costing. Software is
essential in providing activity based costing information, not because activity based costing is difficult, but
because many of the relationships remain constant and the tedious number generation is eliminated. Once these
relationships are established, fully functional software allows for easy modification of the relationships and also
for changing assumptions for what-if planning. Many students have used spreadsheet software such as Lotus
1-2-3 to develop rudimentary models.

6

Norm Raffish, "How Much Does That Product Really Cost?", Management Accounting, March 1991.

7

James P. Borden, "Software for Activity-Based Management", Journal of Cost Management, Spring 1990,
pp. 5-12.
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THE NEED FOR ACTION

Many software vendors provide extensive software training to promote the successful application of their software
by their clients. However, they are aware of the more sophisticated training needs in the marketplace to assist
in: 1) understanding the principles of activity based costing, 2) incorporating activity based costing into the
decision making process through activity based management, and 3) developing the team building dynamics and
culture changes necessary to use activity based management as an accepted yardstick of continuous improvement.
In response to these needs, the majority of the software vendors have either internally developed or aligned
themselves with consulting houses.
While consultants possess extensive knowledge and experience in applying the ABC methodology, this could
be more than offset by their lack of knowledge of the company, process and industry. The use of external
consultants can provide varying levels of support in an ABC implementation:

• Consultant Study: Consultant provides a full range of services including performing employee interviews,
documenting the current process, assigning value/non-value ratings, developing the model, installing the
software, preparing the results and suggesting action plans.
Advantages:

Quickest implementation schedule due to full time efforts of consultant.
Consultant provides valuable experience from previous engagements and
manages the effort effectively and efficiently.

Disadvantages:

Consultant possesses minimum industry knowledge and even less company,
product and culture knowledge. Prevents employees from gaining experience
and limits the ability to maintain or reuse the model without future consulting
services. Maximum expense.

• Facilitator: Consultant provides customized training, guidance, recommendations, and stimulation to the
internal project team. An internal Project team performs the majority of the effort and makes final
conclusions and recommendations.
Advantages:

Appropriate scope, budget and timetable management is provided by the
consultant. Knowledge and expertise of employees are maximized increasing
the probability of an accurate and reasonable result. Employees develop a
thorough understanding of the methodology and software to allow future use
of ABC without consultant assistance.

Disadvantages:

Requires substantial assignment of employees time away from regular
responsibilities.

• No Consultant: Employees receive in depth training in ABC and the software and training courses are
available through many sources, including outside consulting services, accounting firms,
American Management Association (AMA) and other training bureaus.
Advantages:

Potential for the lowest cost, but could be most costly if internal project team
cannot produce in a timely manner.

Disadvantages:

Requires longest time to implement due to lack of familiarity withABC/ABM
and software.

Most ABC training courses concentrate on either manufacturing firms or service firms. However, the courses
must concentrate on continuous process firms to benefit Mining and Refining, Inc.
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INTERNAL PROJECT TEAM

Selection of the appropriate employees to the internal project team will reduce the time required to implement,
improve the accuracy of the output, reduce the cultural resistance to the results and assist in publicizing the value
and importance of incorporating this process type perspective in every decision.
Due to the process flow concentration of ABC/ABM, the internal project team should be a six or seven
member multi-disciplinary team to improve the analysis of activities that cross organizational boundaries. Team
members should be selected from Marketing, Production, Technology, Engineering, Engineering Economics and
Finance. The Finance team member should be familiar with ABC/ABM and selected to be responsible for project
management. A Project Sponsor should be selected from senior management.
Selection of the employees for the internal project team will conflict with the other change and improvement
initiatives concurrently in process. Many of the individuals who would be ideal for this assignment are already
assigned to many of these projects and are to be involved in the upcoming salary training program. Creating
available time for these individuals to participate will be one of the biggest challenges.
ABC/ABM USAGE

ABC/ABM has been applied in a wide variety of industries in diverse decision making roles, including product
pricing, product mix, introduction of new products and processes, new production facilities, manpower, shift
scheduling, shutdown management and consolidation of operations.
These applications have been both as special one-time studies and as the ongoing internal cost reporting
system. There are proponents of both uses, but the value/non-value added capabilities of ABC/ABM may be
critical in pursuing continuous improvement. Continuous improvement is intended to always encourage striving
for absolute performance instead of realistic goals8 and an ABC/ABM measurement and reporting system is a
critical mechanism to establish and monitor intermediary improvements. A frequent review of activities is
required to determine if new non-value activities have resulted as the result of varying business conditions,
introduction of new capabilities or increased knowledge of the process.9
MANUFACTURING AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The raw ore is exposed in an open pit mine through a continuous stripping process to remove the overburden.
The raw ore is then loaded into large dump trucks that drive the ore to a conveyor system. Before being
conveyed out of the mine to the refinery, the raw ore is blended to maintain a consistent blend, both eliminating
adjustments in the refinery and maximizing the different ores and ore grades throughout the mine.
In the refinery the raw ore is partially crushed and screened and blended with a weak solution of raw ore
and water. The mixture is thickened through a series of tanks with various overflows and underflows based on
temperature and chemical content. When the mixture reaches a certain chemical content it becomes an overflow
and is dried. Dried product is screened into particular mesh sizes and either sent to bulk storage, loaded in bulk,
or packaged and shipped.
Fifty thousand tons of product A are expected to be mined, refined, shipped and invoiced to customers next
year. There will be no changes to inventory as the mine and refinery adjusts to customers requests to receive
products just-in-time to delay cash expenditures and reduce warehouse space requirements. Increased
competition, in combination with a generally restrained domestic and international economic outlook provided
the mine and refinery with some unused capacity. Quality programs instituted at the mine and refinery reduced
the customers’ inspection costs and allowed the mine and refinery to respond quickly to customer orders.

8

James A. Brimson, "Improvement and Elimination of Non-Value-Added Costs", Cost Management, Summer
1988, p. 63.

9

James A. Brimson, "Improvement and Elimination of Non-Value-Added Costs", Cost Management, Summer
1988, p. 64.
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Manufacturing costs are generated by a standard variable cost system that includes the costs of raw materials
from the mine and feeds from suppliers. Labor and benefits are predetermined by a three-year contract and
primarily spent on maintenance and operations. Variable overhead allocations are generally similar to the
consumption of materials and labor and are allocated on this basis. Fixed overhead includes depreciation,
amortization of the mine asset, insurance, property tax, environmental compliance, etc.
Selling costs are generated by servicing existing and potential customer accounts. Commissions are paid to
distributors who sell the product directly to customers. Shipping costs include the cost of third party truck and
rail delivery. General expenses include the salaries and expenses of support departments such as finance, legal
and administrative.
An analysis of the costs for the existing product (A) and the proposed product (B) was completed using the
current costing system (Exhibit I). Profit before tax was calculated using the predictions generated from the
current cost system (Exhibit II). This analysis suggests product B would be unprofitable and therefore should
not be introduced. However, based on the senior management meeting discussed above, the Controller believed
an activity based costing evaluation should be prepared and the results compared to the current system.

CURRENT COST SYSTEM COST OF GOODS SOLD
EXHIBIT I

TONS

PRODUCT A

TONS

PRODUCT B

50,000

TOTAL COST

25,000

TOTAL COST

$150

$ 7,500,000

$120

$3,000,000

Labor and Benefits

75

3,750,000

75

1,875,000

Variable Overhead

35

1,750,000

40

1,000,000

Fixed Overhead

60

3,000,000

55

1,375,000

$320

$16,000,000

$290

$7,250,000

COST OF GOODS SOLD

Materials

Total
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CURRENT COST SYSTEM PROFIT BEFORE TAX
EXHIBIT II

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Sales

PRODUCT A

PRODUCT B

TOTAL

$47,000,000

$13,000,000

$60,000,000

Cost of Goods Sold

16,000,000

7,250,000

23,250,000

Gross Margin

$31,000,000

$ 5,750,000

$36,750,000

6,500,000

1,000,000

7,500,000

14,000,000

5,600,000

19,600,000

4,000,000

500,000

4,500,000

$ 6,500,000

$(1,350,000)

$ 5,150,000

Selling Cost
Shipping Cost

General Expenses
Profit Before Tax

ACTIVITY ANALYSIS
A workflow analysis and costing of activities provided an entirely different perspective on the allocation of costs
between the two products. Rather than use a few large overhead pools, activity based costing assigns the costs
to each activity, within a relevant production rate, leaving a much smaller portion of costs to be arbitrarily
allocated. The following is a simplification of the results of the workflow analysis:
1)

Stripping/mining costs for Product A would be $190 per ton and $110 per ton for Product B.

2) Blending costs for both Product A and Product B would be $10 per ton.

3)

Crushing costs for Product A and Product B would be $15 per ton.

4) Thickening costs for Product A would be $49 per ton and $0 per ton for Product B. This is an example
of the fact that the workflow analysis revealed thickening was not necessary for the new product and
therefore assigned no cost. Under the current system the rate of $49 would have been automatically
assigned to Product B costs.
5)

Drying/sizing costs for Product A would be $176 per ton and $100 per ton for Product B. Because of
its chemical properties, Product B would not require sizing eliminating $100 per ton of cost to the
customer!

6)

Packaging costs for Product A would be $124 per ton and $20 per ton for Product B. This represents
the fact customers are expected to take most of Product B in bulk eliminating most packaging costs.

7)

Delivery costs for Product A would be $197 per ton and $106 per ton for Product B. Product B would
be sold primarily to existing customers and therefore would use the available room in containers already
charged at a flat rate.

AICPA Case Development Program
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Commissions for Product A would be $100 per ton and $111 per ton for Product B. Product B costs
would be higher because of increased advertising and promotion by the distributors to introduce the new
product.

SUGGESTED STUDENT ASSIGNMENT QUESTIONS:

1)

Given the increasing competitive environment, should Mining and Refining Inc. concentrate on cost
information or competitor intelligence?

2)

Should activity based costing be implemented to analyze the costs of the new product?

3)

Considering the need to be accurate, timely and relevant, how complex should the system be to start?

4)

Compare and contrast the different levels of involvement of consultants. Conclude with a recommendation
for Mining and Refining, Inc.

5)

Predict the political and cultural barriers to implementing an ABC system. (Concentrate on the fact that
workflows and processes are emphasized rather than traditional departmental and functional responsibility.)

6)

Is ABC a special analysis tool or a complete cost management system for all cost reporting?

7)

In addition to ABC, apply three additional analytical approaches to determine the cost of producing the new
product. Given the fact ABC can provide dramatically different results than the current system, what
evidence would be required to confirm the results of ABC are an accurate representation of reality? Is the
information any better? What is better? What would your recommendation be concerning the introduction
of product B?

8)

How do you evaluate if the information from ABC is cost beneficial?
the benefits exceed the cost?

9)

A combination of expectations and history is traditionally used to establish performance standards. How
would this be altered by introducing ABC in an attempt to pursue continuous improvement? What would be
an appropriate amount of history? How is budgeting affected?

Does it affect any decision? Did

10) Develop a criterion to select employees to be on the Pilot Project? What should the role of the accountant
be in this Pilot Project? How long would you allow for completion of the Pilot Project?
11) Develop a standardized criterion for the evaluation of ABC software solutions. Which items are the most
critical? Why?

12) Should Product B be introduced?

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-01: Refining Activity Based Costing ♦ 10

Refining Activity Based Costing
TEACHING NOTES

Paul S. Foote, Professor
California State University at Fullerton, California

George W. Wright, Accounting Operations Manager
Mining and Refining, Inc.

CASE OBJECTIVES

This case provides the opportunity to compare the results of a traditional cost accounting system with a proposed
activity based costing system in a mining and refining application. The new ABC system will have eight cost
centers with their own activity base and overhead rate. Products will be charged based on their usage of each
activity.
The instructor should ensure all students understand activities, resources and drivers in ABC. Most students
easily understand the logic of the concepts but have difficulty in their first attempt in applying the principles in
a case setting. Comparing and contrasting the differences in methodologies will allow students to concentrate
on the key issues instead of the many ancillary issues this case raises.
The primary objective of the case is to expose students to activity based costing and encourage them to: 1)
consider unique applications of potential solutions, 2) evaluate the appropriateness of the application and solution
to the problem, and 3) prepare the student to defend their thesis when the answer is not evident or even
controversial.
For the purpose of this case, the ABC prediction is antithetical to the current system. Students need to
understand that the business has not changed but the new accounting model has provided a different view. How
do students determine which model is better? Maybe both of them are wrong!
Competitor intelligence, which is generally not considered by accounting students, is usually the best source
of comparison of the pricing recommendations from an accounting model. If the company is publicly traded, it
may also be possible to draw conclusions by evaluating the stock markets’ perceptions of current and future
performance.
Two more quantifiable judgments that could be applied to the selection of an accounting model would be to
compare the percent of total cost traced directly to activities and secondly, do the costs reflect reality?
An increase in the costs traced directly to activities indicates costs are more accurate as a smaller portion
remains to be allocated based on arbitrary or negotiated methodologies. Comparing the results between the two
accounting models indicates the activity based model identified more of the costs to be directly related to an
activity and triggered by a driver than the current model. While this is an improvement, students should be
reminded there are many different ways to assign or allocate costs and the model must be reviewed periodically
to insure it reflects the current situation.
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CASE ANALYSIS
Many more activities could be added to this case but the selected number is designed to allow students to
complete the assignment but to also be more of a challenge than the two or three activity examples generally used.
To reinforce the principles of activity based costing, students should be directed away from questions concerning
joint products, by products and transfer pricing.
Advanced accounting students could also be exposed to value chain analysis where Mining and Refining, Inc.
could be analyzed from supplier through final customer. Mining and Refining, Inc. could be segregated into
value activities and their unique cost driver and subsequently compared with the unique competitive advantages
possessed by their competitors at each different activity within the value chain.
The student should be able to determine the following major activities from the provided description:

ACTIVITIES AND ASSOCIATED DRIVER
EXHIBIT III

ACTIVITY

DRIVER

Stripping/Mining

?

Blending

?

Crushing

?

Thickening

?

Drying/Sizing

?

Packaging

Line changes

Delivery

Shipments

Commissions

Invoice amount

Sample cost drivers are provided as examples and students should be encouraged to develop drivers for the other
activities. The discussion of these recommendations in the classroom will provide the students with an exposure
to other students perceptions of activities and their drivers. These differences are not unlike the differences that
will be encountered in business world.
This case is intended to be covered in a ninety-minute period. Advanced accounting students could be
required to prepare an activity based costing model with a mechanized spreadsheet solution to present their
recommendations and provide what-if analysis.

ACTIVITY BASED COSTING APPLICATION
The uniqueness of continuous processing of Mining and Refining, Inc. originally caused a serious concern about
the application and potential reduction in expected benefits from ABC/ABM.
Extensive reviewing of the seminal literature, interviews of innovative college professors, queries with
software firms and the typical "dance" with consultants provided no concrete examples of ABC/ABM
installations, or even aborted installations, in continuous processes such as mining and refining. Other industries
with similar characteristics were identified (such as concrete production, copper leaching) but further investigation
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revealed these industries had either not used ABC/ABM or their processes were significantly enough different
to limit their contributions to designing a solution for the mining and refining industry.
Contact with industry groups, American Mining Conference (AMC) and the California Mining Association
(CMA), provided limited contacts with others in the industry concerning the use of ABC/ABM. Students should
be reminded of the outstanding potential for information from industry groups and their publications.
In order to apply ABC/ABM to this industry, modifications were made to expand the workflow analysis to
include the known chemical properties and reactions of the overflows and underflows of the process as well as
the final output. This was necessary because the continuous process does not have batches. This was
accomplished by incorporating fairly extensive modeling of the process without complicating the ABC software
with an unmanageable number of activities. Almost all of this modeling had been done previously by internal
team members and was simply a verification of the known facts.
Another modification under consideration was the process of "backflushing" to determine the cost of
production. Cost and use factors had been previously established for the existing variable cost system and may
provide a simplistic method for calculating the cost of production by "backflushing" output through these
equations. This may not be acceptable for financial reporting but it would allow managers to adjust the
algorithms for what-if analysis.
One of the customizations incorporated because of the continuous process was the inclusion of limitations
caused by staffing requirements, chemical reactions and equipment limitations. Incorporating these needs in the
software provided the highlighting of production bottlenecks at different output quantities and offered what-if
analysis.
Finally, the current cost systems were retained for financial reporting purposes. This is always politically
difficult, as employees lose confidence in both reporting systems and are offended if extra effort is required to
maintain both of them.
SOFTWARE

Several software solutions were considered during the evaluation period. Six products were investigated and
samples from three vendors were briefly evaluated. The three samples included Easy ABC Plus from ABC
Technologies, Profit Manager from Strategic Cost Systems, and NetProphetII from Sapling. Most of the software
houses will provide stripped down models of their software for limited classroom purposes; this becomes great
exposure for the software developer as today’s students are tomorrows decision makers. A summarized version
of the available software can be obtained in the Journal of Cost Management.10
STUDENT PERFORMANCE EXPECTATIONS
At the completion of the case study, the student should understand and be able to apply the following
methodology to a similar situation:

1)

Identify the activities and their costs through workflow analysis.

2)

Identify the drivers for each activity.

3)

Determine total driver activity for the year.

4)

Calculate activity cost per unit per driver by dividing the total cost of the activity identified in step 1 by
the total driver activity determined in step 3.

5) Allocate the cost by activity based on the driver units consumed by each activity.
6)

Generate a pro-forma Income Statement.

10 James P. Borden, "Software for Activity-Based Management", Journal of Cost Management, Spring 1990,
pp. 5-12.
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7)

Identify non-value added activities and prioritize for future research.

8)

Provide an oral and verbal Executive Summary, including a well-documented recommendation, to senior
management.

One of the key values of activity based costing is the highlighting of non-value activities for potential elimination.
This was illustrated by the elimination of thickening for Product B. Students should be encouraged to speculate
which other types of activities might be non-value added in the mining and refining industry. Once these
activities are identified, how should the company prioritize these activities for management attention? It should
be explained these are possible through the modeling effort of the workflows provided by the internal project team
not by the results of "magical calculations" in an activity based costing system. Top accountants not only possess
strong analytical skills, but inject judgment and recommendations into their answers; not with spreadsheets and
numbers — but interlaced with business insight.

POTENTIAL ANSWERS FOR SUGGESTED QUESTIONS FOR STUDENTS:
1)

Given the increasing competitive environment, should Mining and Refining Inc. concentrate on cost
information or competitor intelligence?

Mining and Refining, Inc. should use both cost and competitor intelligence information in a coordinated,
integrated fashion. Unfortunately, many companies: 1) focus exclusively on cost or competitor information,
2) fail to evaluate the overall macroeconomic picture, or 3) fail to determine the underlying causes.
Competitor intelligence includes the ethical collection of cost, production, financial and other publicly
available information.

An overemphasis on cost can reinforce an inward perspective and incorrectly minimize the view on the
customer’s needs. Mining and Refining, Inc. must remain highly sensitive to the current and possible future
marketplace structures.

Benchmarking is the most recent movement toward incorporating competitor intelligence into decision
making.
It can be achieved through friendly exchanges of information, marketplace research or
benchmarking clearinghouse associations. However, benchmarking is only a tool and companies should not
over focus on other companies’ measurements but instead focus on their own strategic objectives.
2)

Should activity based costing be implemented to analyze the costs of the new product?
ABC/ABM should be used as one of the tools to analyze the costs of the new product. Other products should
be also analyzed using ABC/ABM for comparative purposes. However, using multiple analytical tools is
always advantageous as it can provide additional insight.
The non-value analysis steps of ABC/ABM may highlight some areas in the design of the new product for
potential elimination. This "cradle to grave" perspective will help the whole chain, from the engineer
designing the product to the delivery person servicing the customer, understand how their work affects
subsequent work processes.

3)

Considering the need to be accurate, timely and relevant, how complex should the system be to start?
These three requirements need to be carefully balanced to insure the usefulness of the ABC/ABM system.
Too many activities and drivers can possibly over complicate the original system and either delay a successful
implementation or decrease the probability of introducing a system that remains maintainable and useful.

Conversely, if the system is too simplistic, it will not accurately reflect the workflow process and can lead
to incorrect conclusions and decisions. This situation is worse than the current situation.
Selecting the appropriate level of complexity should be determined by an internal project team after a
preliminary review of the workflow, not mandated by senior management. Some of the key elements to
consider in establishing the level of complexity include: complexity of the workflow process, political climate
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of the company, ability to collect the information necessary and time requirements to complete the ABC/ABM
project.

Six to twelve activities is a very general recommendation to minimize these considerations. If more than
twelve activities are necessary, consideration should be given to condensing the activities to twelve for
presentation purposes after the analysis is completed.
Another option would be to review the more
complicated activities after the original system is operational - accounting systems should not be static but
under constant review to insure their integrity, accuracy and efficiency.
4)

Compare and contrast the different levels of involvement of consultants. Conclude with a recommendation
for Mining and Refining, Inc.
The different levels of involvement are detailed in the above case analysis and the methodology selected by
Mining and Refining, Inc. is included in the Epilogue. Each recommendation is unique to the company
situation and requires the student to provide a self-documenting argument.

5)

Predict the political and cultural barriers to implementing an ABC system. (Concentrate on the fact that
workflows and processes are emphasized rather than traditional departmental and functional responsibility.)

Political and cultural barriers may not exist in accounting textbooks but can be the most significant factor in
accounting systems and managerial decision making.
Traditional organization structures feature departments responsible for individual tasks to take advantage of
specialization and economies of scale. This was very successful in reducing costs through efficiency but
distanced employees from not only the final product but from the whole production chain.

In this environment managers were rewarded for the volume of production, size of staff and sphere of
influence.
Employees were rewarded for their individual performance and recommendations for
improvement. Recommendations for outside areas were considered as a distraction from performing assigned
responsibilities and an intrusion into other’s areas.

Stressing workflow analysis through ABC could possibly raise career insecurity in both managers and
employees. Managers could fear the minimizing of their responsibilities and potentially a reduction in their
status and compensation. Employees could fear the reassignment of some of their job functions and may not
be willing to contribute new ideas in a team environment where team performance is rewarded more highly
than individual performance. Monetary and non-monetary reward systems must be modified to insure they
are appropriately linked to the ABC/ABM system and strategic objectives.
6)

Is ABC a special analysis tool or a complete cost management system for all cost reporting?
ABC/ABM has been used as both a special analysis tool and a complete cost management tool. Obviously,
ABC/ABM will not fully satisfy financial reporting requirements as established by FASB and SEC
requirements. However, ABC/ABM can still be a complete and integrated cost management tool on a daily,
weekly or even annual basis. The ABC system can highlight waste and non-value activities in a predictive
manner allowing all workers to make adjustments "on the fly" rather than waiting until after the month end
for the financial reports when it is already too late to make any adjustments.

The selection of how to use ABC/ABM tends to be a reflection of the personalities of the managers and the
overall culture of the company. Any use of ABC requires the support of the results and this can only happen
through an understanding of the benefits and limitations of the methodology. A training program for
projected users of the information generated by ABC would be an ideal solution.

ABC/ABM results are currently used for operational decision making and have yet entered the arena for
financial or tax reporting; substantial additional research is required.
7)

In addition to ABC, apply three additional analytical approaches to determine the predicted cost and
profitability of the new product. Given the fact ABC can provide dramatically different results than the
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current system, what evidence would be required to confirm the results of ABC are an accurate representation
of reality? Is the information any better? What is better?

Many different analytical tools are available to predict the cost and profitability of a new product. Ratios
such as return on investment (ROI)and return on assets (ROA) are complimentary to other tools such as
payback period, internal rate of return and discounted cash flow. There are proponents of both considering
the new product a stand-alone product or just considering the incremental costs and profits.

The definition of "better" information is somewhat ambiguous. Better generally means it influences the
decision by providing either a more accurate picture of the past or improved probability of occurrence for
predictive purposes. Every manager has a different internal decision making model and this uniqueness is
what provides a different perspective for each measurement and prediction. If several internal project teams
were created, they would all generate significantly different values for the same question!
8)

How do you evaluate if the information from ABC is cost beneficial?
the benefits exceed the cost?

Does it affect any decision? Did

New methodologies and technologies can be very glamorous, almost seductive with very little substance and
benefit. In order for the information from ABC to be considered valuable it must either confirm of alter the
decision. The benefit of this improved decision must exceed the cost of collecting and analyzing the data;
otherwise it would be cheaper to make the wrong decision and fail.
9)

A combination of expectations and history is traditionally used to establish performance standards. What
would be an appropriate amount of history? How is budgeting affected? How would this be altered by
introducing ABC to pursue continuous improvement?

If ABC/ABM is selected to be a performance measure, a body of evidence will be needed to establish
performance standards and the related continuous improvement targets. The accountant can provide a much
needed service in monitoring the measurements and recommending standards based on the evidence.
The number of measurements, frequency and length of time are all variables that are highly contingent on
the personalities of senior management. Conservative managers will require more evidence than others.
Accountants should provide summarized, documented, statistical evidence to support their recommendations.
During the introduction of ABC/ABM, the current year performance should be restated in ABC/ABM format
for demonstration and future comparative purposes. Ideally the next year budget should be calculated in the
new ABC/ABM format. Management must be careful of criticizing performance that deviates from the
ABC/ABM budget prediction during the first year as adjustments will be required as the understanding and
refinement of ABC/ABM improve its accuracy and predictive ability. A full year of history is required
before establishing absolute performance standards; using ranges during the first year would help in the
transition.

10) Develop a criterion to select employees to be on the internal project team? What should the role of the
accountant be in the Pilot Project? How long would you allow for completion of this Pilot Project?

The employees selected to be on the internal project team must possess a broad base of analytical,
communication, problem solving and team building skills. These skills probably reside in the bright,
motivated and experienced key employees. Unfortunately, these key employees may already be assigned to
the most critical assignments of the company. Creating enough time in their schedules to accommodate an
additional significant responsibility is probably the most difficult part of assembling the internal project team.

If possible, the accountant should be extremely knowledgeable in the process and serve as a resource for the
other team members. The accountant should not be the project manager as this could lead to the project be
perceived as "just another finance project." Instead the accountant could serve as the project liaison or
coordinator to: 1) train others in the ABC principles and software, 2) handle the administrative duties, 3)
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provide contrasts and comparisons to existing reporting systems, 4) insure the project satisfies senior
management’s objectives, and 5) keep the entire company informed and involved.
Assigning an arbitrary due date is always difficult but nevertheless unavoidable. The due date should not
be established until after the scope and deliverables are agreed upon. Part time participation on the internal
project team can lead to long completion times and "part-time" results. Full time participation provides the
quickest result but can allow other critical business functions to fall behind. Part-time pilot projects should
be completed in three to four months and full time pilot projects in six to eight weeks.

11) Develop a standardized criterion for the evaluation of ABC software solutions. Which items are the most
critical? Why?
A formal requirements document should be generated after an in depth needs analysis is completed. This
provides uniformity in communicating needs to potential software suppliers and in the rating process by the
internal project team.
The critical items should include: functionality, support, training, price, upgrades, problem resolution, ease
of use, integration with other software/hardware and current customer satisfaction. A scorecard should be
developed for these features and a weighted average should be assigned in advance based on the mutual
agreement of the employees who will be doing the software evaluations.

12) Should Product B be introduced?
The following analysis is provided based on the fictitious data provided within the case:

ACTIVITY BASED COSTING PROFIT BEFORE TAX
EXHIBIT IV

ACTIVITY BASED COSTING
Sales

PRODUCT A

TOTAL

PRODUCT B

$47,000,000

$13,000,000

$60,000,000

9,500,000

2,750,000

12,250,000

Blending

500,000

250,000

750,000

Crushing

750,000

375,000

1,125,000

Thickening

2,450,000

0

2,450,000

Drying/Sizing

8,800,000

2,500,000

11,300,000

Packaging

6,200,000

500,000

6,700,000

Delivery

9,850,000

2,650,000

12,500,000

Commissions

5,000,000

2,775,000

7,775,000

43,050,000

11,800,000

54,850,000

$ 3,950,000

$ 1,200,000

$ 5,150,000

Costs By Activity:

Stripping/Mining

Total Costs

Profit Before Taxes
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SUMMARY COMPARISON
CURRENT COST SYSTEM TO ACTIVITY BASED COSTING
EXHIBIT V

PRODUCT A
CURRENT

PRODUCT A
ABC

PRODUCT B
CURRENT

PRODUCT B
ABC

COSTS

$40,500,000

$43,050,000

$14,350,000

$11,800,000

PROFIT

$6,500,000

$3,950,000

($1,350,000)

$1,200,000

COST/TON

$810

$861

$574

$472

PROFIT/TON

$130

$79

($54)

$48

EPILOGUE

Mining and Refining Inc. has decided that activity based costing will be applicable to their continuous process.
Batch and set-up costs will be limited to only a few activities such as packaging and delivery, but this should not
diminish the value of the results provided from the workflow analysis, the non-value added activity identification
and the pro-forma results.
The production processes of a smaller plant were selected as pilot study to determine the appropriateness and
usefulness of activity based costing to Mining and Refining Inc. These processes were selected to satisfy a
current business concern to review the accuracy of current cost information. Activity based costing in this Pilot
Project will: 1) provide new cost information for these selected products, 2) identify possible process
improvements, and 3) evaluate the appropriateness of using activity based costing/management in other areas.
The approach selected was to use an internal project team with members from Marketing, Production,
Technology, Engineering, Engineering Economics and Finance instead of consultants. However, for the pilot
project the software vendor was required to not only provide activity based costing and software training, but to
also provide periodic facilitation of the internal project team. This facilitation would include kickoff of the
project, review of the weekly results and occasional visits to insure the internal control team is using the software
to its ultimate use.
However, due to conflicting schedules with other change initiatives at Mining and Refining, Inc., the pilot
project has been delayed because the key individuals needed for the internal project team are on other critical
team assignments. Rather than diminish the results of these other critical assignments and the activity based
costing pilot project, senior management has determined it is most advantageous to schedule the pilot project later
in the year and allow the internal project team to concentrate their efforts and complete the ABC/ABM project
in six to eight weeks.
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE STUDY
Many companies are changing financial reporting systems because they recognize their deficiencies, as in this
case, and are willing to attempt a change but are not sure of what is needed. These deficiencies are emphasized
by a recent Institute of Managerial Accountants (IMA) survey reporting forty-two percent of financial executives
are disappointed with the capabilities of their current reporting systems and seventy-three percent are making
changes.11
In developing this case it became obvious that the most critical item in selecting any measurement system
is the capability to measure and motivate toward strategic objectives. Accounting can truly modify behavior by11

11 Anonymous, "Newswatch—Not Taking It", CFO Magazine, August 1994, p. 19.
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providing the information necessary for information users to evaluate progress. No matter how accurate, timely
or predictive the measurement system is, if it does not provide this "linkage" to strategic objectives it can lead
to dysfunctional behavior.
Implementing an activity based costing and activity based management system in a continuous process should
not be based on their technical abilities but on how they increase the probability of achieving the corporate
objectives.
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William D. Samson, Roddy-Garner Professor
The University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa, Alabama
Allan Staib, Plant Manager
Kraft General Foods, Tarrant, Alabama

Using Factory Simulation Software to Develop Nonfinancial Performance Measures

INTRODUCTION TO THE CASE
Allan Staib, manager of the Maxwell House plant at Tarrant, Alabama, has recently been given the responsibility
for linking the production of two interrelated manufacturing facilities. Allan understands the concept of
Just-in-Time (JIT) manufacturing and the need for nonfinancial performance measures to help achieve his goal
of efficient, cost effective operations. However, he needs a tool to understand the dynamics of the two facilities.
Thus, he arranged for the construction of a computer model which incorporates various probabilistic assumptions
about the manufacturing dynamics of the resources under his control. This case illustrates the dynamics of the
Tarrant facility, the first element of the two-factory process.
COMPANY BACKGROUND
Kraft General Foods, Inc. was formed by the purchase of both Kraft and General Foods by Philip Morris during
the 1980s. After the acquisitions, Philip Morris combined the two companies into a single entity, Kraft General
Foods, Inc. (KGF). KGF now exists as an operating unit of Philip Morris Companies, Inc. The Packaging
Manufacturing Division has approximately $60 million dollars in annual sales, most of which is to internal
company customers, i.e., other divisions of KGF.
The Tarrant, Alabama shearing and printing plant and the Jacksonville, Florida can-forming plant have
recently been formed into a single business unit known as the General Foods USA — Packaging Manufacturing
Division. The general manager of this business unit reports to the Vice President of Manufacturing for General
Foods USA, who in turn, reports to the Executive Vice President of Operations and Technology for Kraft General
Foods, Inc.

Copyright 1994 by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and donated to the public domain for educational use.
Cases developed and distributed under the AICPA Case Development Program are intended for use in higher education for
instructional purposes only, and are not for application in practice. The AICPA neither approves nor endorses this case or any solution
provided herewith or subsequently developed.
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The Tarrant, Alabama site employs approximately 115 employees and the Jacksonville, Florida site has an
additional 60. The Tarrant site operates three shifts [5 days a week, 24 hours a day] while the Jacksonville site
operates three shifts, 7 days a week. During the peak production period (winter), the Tarrant plant runs on a
7-day schedule about half of the available weeks. Annual outputs total approximately 250 million cans, 475
million can ends, and 70 million plastic caps.
Because the Tarrant plant originally supplied major can-forming plants in New Jersey, Florida, and Texas,
the North Alabama location of the Tarrant plant was ideal for supplying these can-forming plants since it was
centrally located. However, manufacturing rationalization changes have resulted in the closing of the New Jersey
facility and the focusing of 90% of the can packaging business at the Florida location. Given this manufacturing
configuration, the Tarrant plant is perhaps no longer ideally located. However, higher labor costs in Florida and
the cost of closing the Tarrant plant and relocating the equipment outweigh the freight costs, so no change in the
plant site is anticipated.
CHALLENGE AND ACHIEVEMENT OF THE TARRANT PLANT

Like other companies in the 1990s, KGF is constantly reviewing its operations to cut costs and improve the
quality of the plant’s output. This pressure has made employees at Tarrant well aware that the plant could be
moved or the printing of cans could be "outsourced." The Tarrant employees have risen to the challenge and
have managed to cut costs by 40% over the last two years while maintaining the quality of the can printing.
Safety has also improved. These improvements are largely due to employee suggestions and implementation
efforts. In fact, the employee’s suggestions are a major factor in raise reviews.
The Tarrant employees take pride in cost reduction, but even more pride in the beauty of what they produce.
Quality of output is emphasized. Even the smallest overprinting that creates a slight shadow on can lettering is
considered a defect, causing the work to be scrapped. The print quality has become so good that some of the
steel coils used as inputs are imported from Japan, yet the Japanese coffee subsidiary of KGF buys many of its
coffee cans from the Tarrant Plant. Thus, steel coils imported from Japan might be exported back to Japan as
printed can flats.
At each stage of production, the machine operator is assisted by an on-line statistical process control computer
package which flashes when the quality of the production slips out of statistical control. For newer machines,
the data are read directly from the production machine to the computer, however, for older machines, the
operator must manually enter the machine readings into the computer. The data are then analyzed by a computer
statistical model which assesses the relevant variables to determine if production is within the quality control
limits. In addition, workers at all stages visually inspect the quality of the printing and reject work that is not
within the very tight specification parameters.
MANUFACTURING PROCESS
The primary manufacturing operation at the Tarrant facility is that of printing designs on flat metal sheets, which
ultimately become metal coffee can containers. The process begins with the steel coil shear and ends with printed
metal flats that will be cut and welded into cans at Jacksonville, Florida where the coffee is roasted, blended,
packed in cases, and shipped.

Coil Shear
Large rolls of steel [weighing approximately 20,000 pounds — termed "coils"] are loaded onto a spindle which
permits the coil to rotate as the sheet of steel is unwound for processing [photos #1, #2, and #3]. Since the thin
strip of steel has been stored in a coiled position (much like paper on a roll of paper towels), it must first pass
through a straightener to remove the curve or "coil set". The straightener produces a reverse bend to neutralize
the coil set. Next, the steel passes through a pin hole detector, an optical scanning device which identifies light
that passes through the steel sheet. This step ensures that the steel, which will become a coffee can, will be air
tight and thus provide a perfect seal.
Next, the steel strips are sheared into a dimension of approximately three feet square. However, the absolute
dimensions can vary depending upon the end product, i.e., one-pound, two-pound, three-pound, or General Foods
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International Coffee (GFIC) cans. The steel sheets are randomly tested for squareness and must fall within the
parameters of the statistical process control charts to be passed on to the next stage of production. Those sheared
flats meeting the quality control test are stacked for the next process, the coater. As shown in photo #4, the WIP
inventory is moved in stacks called "skids".
Coater
The coating operation is the first step in the printing process [photo #5 and #6]. A white base cost is applied to
improve adhesion of the ink to the metal sheet. Also, the white paint becomes the white element seen in the
finished graphic [photo #12]. Following the base coat application, the sheet advances into an oven that dries the
coating [photo #7]. One 15-minute pass through the 350 degree oven is required [photo #8]. Since 18 or more
can bodies are made from one sheet of steel, the base coat is applied in modular rectangular patterns with a strip
of bare steel separating each rectangle. This frame of bare metal, termed "weld margin" is a critical quality
control characteristic. When the individual rectangular prints are cut from the sheet and welded to form the
cylindrical can body, paint in the weld margin would cause major damage to the welder and disrupt the assembly
process. Thus, the computer, which is directly connected to the coating machine, monitors the coating of each
sheet as it passes. A red flashing signal from the computer’s statistical process control chart lets the machine
operator know when the coating process is no longer in statistical control for a quality characteristic. [See photo
#9]. At the end of the coating step, the coated sheets are stacked in skids and placed in a Work in Process (WIP)
area of the plant floor.

Printing Line

Printing is the next step in the process. The printing lines are capable of applying up to three colors of an image
prior to passing through the dryer [photo #10]. The image which appears on the final product is built up in a
process similar to silk screening. For example, the navy blue "Maxwell House" can has three colors: Blue,
Gold, and Orange; the white "Maxwell House" lettering is the result of the base coat described in the previous
section. Each color is applied in a sequential manner within the printing line. Also, the print line contains a
dryer [photo #11 and #12] which promotes rapid curing of the colorant. If the can design requires more than
three colors, the printed sheets must undergo the printing process a second time since current machine technology
does not permit printing of more than three colors at a time. At the end of the printing step, the printed sheets
are stacked on pallets and await wrapping [photo #13].
Wrapping

The skids of finished plates are covered with plastic and bound with metal straps for shipping to Jacksonville,
Florida. This is a manual operation requiring two individuals. [photos #14, #15, and #16].
Transportation

After wrapping, loading of the tractor-trailer takes place [photos #17 and #18]. Finished goods inventory is not
allowed to accumulate more than a few hours because of the manufacturing goals inherent in a JIT inventory
system. Delivery time to the packing plant located in Jacksonville, Florida takes approximately 10 hours. Given
the two-day vehicle turnaround, several trucks are on the road at any time to deliver enough printed flats to meet
the daily production needs of the Jacksonville, Florida coffee processing facility.
Shaping, Packing, Sealing
When the skids of printed metal arrive in Jacksonville, each sheet is sheared multiple times along the weld
margins to produce individual images that will be formed into cylinders and welded. Next, can bottoms are
attached, coffee is poured into the can, and the package is vacuum packed and sealed. The process is continuous:
at the beginning of the process are skids of printed sheets, at the other end of the process is continuous flow of
packed coffee to be palletized and shipped to customers around the world.
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THE COMPUTER SIMULATION MODEL
Allan knows that to minimize the inventory at all stages of production, (steel coils, sheared coils, coated sheets,
and printed sheets), he must first understand the manufacturing dynamics throughout the plant. The relationships
among workers, equipment, and inventory are complex. To complicate matters, each type of machine operates
at a different speed, thus line balance appears to be a problem. Ideally, Allan wants to know which products will
be packed by Jacksonville on Tuesday, so he will be able to print the necessary can bodies on Monday and ship
Monday night. Thus, the issue of line balance also occurs across two plants.
In terms of making recommendations for process improvement, Allan is exploring the cost of complex
product types, such as the GFIC. The GFIC designs contain seven or more colors and therefore require multiple
print passes (only three colors can be printed at a time with the current equipment and technology). From his
cost accounting courses, he recalls that product complexity was identified as a major source of overhead costs.
Your professor has a copy of the model that Allan helped develop for simulating the Tarrant plant’s
production process (MODEL 1 .XL4). Actual operating parameters have been altered in the model for proprietary
reasons. In order to give you some insights into the design of the model, several key parameters are described
below.
Steel coils are sheared in batches which will ultimately become either GFIC, one-pound, two-pound, or
three-pound coffee cans. Thus, four sizes of sheared steel sheets are manufactured. The unit of measure used
throughout the case is a "skid". A skid is one pallet of material consisting of several hundred individual sheets.
Table 1 describes the batch size, machine setup time, and processing time per skid by each product at the coil
shear.

Table 1

Coil Shear
Batch Size, Setup Time and Processing Time by Product

Product

Batch Size

Setup

Processing Time
per Skid

GFIC

10 skids

2 hours

15 minutes

1 lb.

25 skids

2 hours

15 minutes

2 lb.

25 skids

2 hours

15 minutes

3 lb.

25 skids

2 hours

15 minutes

Following the shearing operation, four types of inventory GFIC, one-pound, two-pound, and three-pound (each
with an individual buffer) are created. Each inventory buffer has a capacity of 100 skids.
The coating operation is necessary for all products except GFIC. The processing time is 45 minutes per skid,
with batch sizes of 50 skids. Each inventory buffer (one each for one-pound, two-pound, and three-pound cans)
has the capacity to hold 100 skids of coated product.
Following the coating operation, the print line draws WIP inventory from the buffers for printing.
MODEL1 .XL4 illustrates a process in which seven types of finished designs are printed. Because of the intricate
twelve-color design of the GFIC can, four print passes are required. The other can types require fewer passes.
Table 2 illustrates relevant data for each product.
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Table 2

Print Line
Batch Size, Setup Time, Processing Time, and Print Passes

Batch Size

Setup
per Pass

Processing Time
per Skid

Print passes

GFIC

50 skids

10 hours

1 hour

4

3 lb. Maxwell House

50 skids

10 hours

1 hour

2

3 lb. Master Blend

50 skids

10 hours

1 hour

1

2 lb. Maxwell House

50 skids

10 hours

1 hour

2

2 lb. Master Blend

50 skids

10 hours

1 hour

1

1 lb. Maxwell House

50 skids

10 hours

1 hour

2

1 lb. Master Blend

50 skids

10 hours

1 hour

1

Product

The wrapping process follows the printing operation. A setup between batches of 50 skids requires 15 minutes.
In the actual wrapping process, each skid requires 15 minutes of handling. From the wrapping department, skids
are loaded into a trailer for delivery to Jacksonville.
After viewing the photographs of the operation and the results of simulation MODEL1.XL4, comment on
the following points.

Required:

1.

How are WIP levels and lead time related?

Where are the major inventory stocks located?
What recommendations would you make to improve both WIP levels and lead time?
2.

Where are the bottlenecks located?
What are some clues that bottlenecks (constraints) exist?

3.

Both the shear and coater line require a two-hour setup between batches. Can Allan improve throughput by
reducing setup time on these two machines and converting it into processing time? Why? Why not?

4.

How could Allan increase throughput in the plant?

5.

What are some of the trade-offs in terms of investing resources to improve the constraints?

6.

Based upon your analysis of the preceding questions, which nonfinancial performance measures would you
recommend to help measure progress toward a more efficient, cost-effective operation?

ing.

machine.
The left
coil is being fed into
the Shear while the
right coil awaits load

#2
I he production proc
ess begins with the
steel
coils
being
loaded onto the Shear

Inventory of steel
coils - the major in
put
in the can
manufacturing proc
ess.
Each coil
weighs 22,000 lbs.

#1

An oxerview picture of the Shear machine. Steel
coils used as input arc stacked at the top The steel
from the coil is fed at the lop into the machine
where the steel is straightened to remove the coil
bend, and scanned bv an ultra violet light for pin
hole defects which can prevent a vacuum seal The
steel is then sheared into sheets which are tested
for squareness.

#3
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C oat er

lift.

Stacks of sheets
("skids")
are
taken from the
Shear to the
Coater via fork

applies

machine
while base
co
at to steel s heet.

#5

#4

#6
Steel sheets, coated with a white base paint,
pass from paint application into furnace for
drying. The unpainted edges on the sheet
are important because they will be welded
when the cans arc shaped. No paint can be
on these weld areas because the can won't
seal.
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#7
Coated steel sheets pass through furnace. Here the
paint is "cured" and drying takes place.

#9

Computers are used to
help monitor quality of
production. The "red"
from the quality con
trol software indicates
the process is becom
ing out of control.

Coaled sheets leave
furnace.
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One of two printing lines. The coated sheets are
printed with color. The paint can be seen on the
racks and on the floor on the right side of the ma
chine and on the left side. Up to three colors can
be applied during one pass. After the paint is ap
plied, the sheets enter the furnace tunnel (upper
right).

#10

Dried painted sheets
leave the print process.

#12

Printed sheets leave
furnace tunnel.

#11
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Printed sheets on skids await wrap
ping for shipment to Jacksonville
Florida.

#13

The wrapping process occurs during the das
shift. Production from both the das and
night shifts printing can be prepared for
shipment during the da y

#15

#14
The wrapping process is necessary Io pro
tect the printed sheets from being scratched
or bent in shipment.
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sheets.

->

y
.

#17
Inventory stacks of wrapped (foreground)
and unwrapped skids of printed steel sheets.

Wrapped skids of pr inted steel sheets are being
loaded onto the truc k trailer for shipment to t he
Jacksonville factor
The loader is earning a skid
to the back of the trailer (center of photo where
man is standing)

# 18

# 16
#
1
6 The wrapping step
includes cushions
on the corners and
edges as well as
paper covering to
protect the printed
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Factory Simulation at Maxwell House/Kraft General Foods

INTRODUCTION
The focus of much recent cost accounting research has been the changing manufacturing environment facing the
management accountant. The evidence suggests that manufacturing technology is changing at a rapid pace;
therefore, accounting educators must seek new and innovative ways to help students grasp the complexities of
what has been termed the "new manufacturing environment" [Albright, T., et al., (1992)]. Describing the
dynamics of an operating factory is a major challenge facing the accounting professor because many (most)
students — accounting or nonaccounting, graduate or undergraduate — have not seen a factory in operation and
therefore have difficulty envisioning the manufacturing process, much less conceptualizing the operations and key
relationships of a factory.
In the spirit of the "Bedford Report" [American Accounting Association (1986)] issued by the American
Accounting Association Committee on the Future Structure, Content, and Scope of Accounting Education (1986)
and the "Big Eight" white paper [Arthur Andersen & Co., et al., (1989)], factory simulation computer software
is used in this case to help students understand the complexities and interrelationships of a production facility.
The focus is on understanding complex relationships and integrating the physical manufacturing phenomena with
accounting numbers and performance measures. As the simulation program executes, the students observe units
flowing through the factory, inventory levels rising and falling, and machine downtime occurring for various
reasons.
When the simulation period is complete, the computer package provides summary statistics illustrating
throughput levels, utilization percentages, and average work-in- process (WIP) levels, and flow times. The case
highlights both the importance of understanding the physical manufacturing aspects of the process, and the
importance of many nonfinancial performance measures that are increasingly found in industry.
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CASE OVERVIEW
This case is a by-product of an actual simulation cost study undertaken by the Maxwell House/Kraft General
Foods plant in Tarrant, Alabama. The Alabama facility prints metal plates that are shaped into coffee cans at
the Maxwell House plant in Jacksonville, Florida. The Tarrant plant operation begins with a coil of raw steel
and ends with stacks of printed metal sheets. Issues that will challenge the student, as they challenged the
management of the Maxwell House (Tarrant) plant, include the following:
•

What is the relationship of setup time to manufacturing batch size?

•

When is the reduction of setup time important? When is it unimportant?

•

How does the WIP inventory level affect the lead-time required to move a unit of product through the
factory?

•

Where are the constraints in the factory operations, and how do these constraints affect throughput and costs?

•

Which resources are candidates for capital investment to improve processing time? Which are not?

•

What is the impact of product complexity on throughput?

FACTORY SIMULATION SOFTWARE

Factory simulation software permits the modeling of a production process. Primary components of the model
include:
•

receiving areas in which materials enter the system,

•

workcenters in which processes are performed,

•

buffers in which work-in-process is stored between workcenters,

•

shipping points from which products exit the system, and

•

paths linking the other components along which materials and work-in-process is transferred.

A portion of the actual simulation model which helped the management of the Tarrant Alabama facility
understand these relationships is utilized here as part of the case. The simulation software chosen was XCELL 4-.
This case includes three models: an original factory (MODEL1.XL4), an improved factory (MODEL2.XL4),
and a further improved factory (MODEL3.XL4) that address the issues described above. Thus, the case
discussion focuses on operating improvements and on the importance of nonfinancial performance measures.
Additionally, the students will be able to see the impact of changes in the improved models.
The attached plates are samples extracted from the computer monitor as the model executed. The actual
images are in color. Plate 1 shows the banner that appears when the XCELL + software is invoked.
Plate 2 illustrates the model of the manufacturing facility that appears on the monitor while executing the
program. The icon in the top right comer represents the coil stocks. The coil shear (located below the coil
stocks) cuts coils of steel into sheets that ultimately will become one-pound, two-pound, and three-pound coffee
cans. The shear machine is illustrated in photos #1, #2, and #3 found in the student handout. The work-center
(shear) is actively processing one-pound sheets as evidenced by the yellow P2 (pounds=2) label in the
work-center. Four octagonal boxes which represent buffers for inventory are placed between the shear
work-center and the coater work-center, where the steel plates are coated with a white paint that serves as a base
coat. Inventory levels of sheared plates and coated plates are indicated by the yellow bars contained in the
octagonal "buffers" between the shear and coater [photo #4] and the coater and printer, respectively. Following
the coating process, [photos #5, #6, #7, #8, and #9] the sheets progress to the print press, [photos #10, #11, #12,
and #13] identified as "print line" on the simulation. From the print line, sheets are wrapped in the wrapping
area and transported to Jacksonville, Florida, [photos # 14, #15, #16, #17, and #18] where they will become
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coffee can bodies to be filled with coffee, sealed, and transported to the customer. The yellow lines on the plate
diagram indicate paths that connect the various processes.
Nonfinancial Performance Measures
The management accounting literature advocates the use of nonfinancial performance measures for the evaluation
of production systems. Financial performance measures such as return on investment (ROI) and residual income
(RI), used in isolation, do not adequately capture many of the key indicators of production efficiency. Measures
such as production schedule attainment, defect rate, setup time percentage, machine downtime, lead time, process
time/total cycle time, and average days on hand inventory may be unfamiliar to the typical accounting student.
Additionally, their rationale as performance measures may not be understood. The factory simulation described
in this case helps illustrate the effects and interactions of many nonfinancial performance measures advocated by
accounting researchers.
The RESULTS option of XCELL+ allows the user to assess the effectiveness of the model using a variety
of measures. The discussion that follows describes the menu choices available in XCELL+ and the accounting
implications of various nonfinancial performance measures.

Throughput. The student may evaluate the effectiveness of the factory in terms of the volume of each type of
product that passed through the factory.
Utilization. Workcenter utilization rates are provided by XCELL+. The WORKCENTER selection summarizes
the percentage of time that each workcenter was engaged in production, setup, maintenance, and other. The
output may help identify bottleneck resources. For example, if a workcenter has no slack time, i.e., is involved
in production, setup, or maintenance for 100% of the simulation period, a bottleneck resource may exist. A
bottleneck resource may constrain throughput by either blocking upstream workcenters, or starving downstream
workcenters.
The importance of setup time as a nonfinancial performance measure and its relationship to Just-in-Time (JIT)
production may be described as follows. When production setups are slow, large batch sizes are typically
produced to gain economies of scale. As a result, the cost of a setup is spread over a large batch, thereby
reducing the per unit cost of the machine changeover. Unfortunately, producing in large batch sizes results in
an increased level of work in process inventory. JIT principles require production in small batches to meet
external product demand. Short setup times are necessary to allow the manufacturer to produce in smaller
quantities; consequently, inventory levels and the associated costs of WIP and finished goods may decline.
Additionally with small batch production, factory throughput time (lead time) is compressed, resulting in a
more responsive manufacturing facility. Large batch production can also cause an inventory mix imbalance. For
example, if a firm sells all available inventory of Product Y, many days of production may be required to
complete a large batch of Product X before Product Y can be scheduled for manufacture. An alternative, which
is also undesirable, is to interrupt the production of Product X and setup to produce a batch of Product Y.
Another detrimental effect of large batch production relates to spoilage costs. For example, pharmaceutical
manufacturers must destroy an entire production run of an incorrectly formulated batch. Small batch size
production may reduce scrap costs because fewer materials would be discarded in the event of a production error.
For these reasons, the setup time and batch size are important elements to the cost accountant in seeking to
improve system performance and reduce manufacturing costs.
Flowtime. The manufacturing performance measures of lead time and process time/total cycle time are common
in the literature. These measures gauge the efficiency and fast cycle capability of a manufacturing process.
XCELL+ enables the student to grasp these concepts by observing the flow of a "tagged" unit through the
manufacturing process. The simulated flow time may be used to analyze the variation from an engineering
standard. Additionally, the average waiting time per unit is provided to illustrate the impact on work in process
inventory and throughput time.
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Work in Process. The WIP option allows one to examine the high, low, and average inventory levels within the
buffers. Days on hand inventory level is a common nonfinancial performance measure that is consistent with a
JIT manufacturing philosophy. The cost of inflated inventory levels includes not only handling and carrying
costs, but also the hidden costs of obsolescence, damage, and shrinkage.

A primary advantage of using factory simulation software is that it permits nondeterministic modeling.
Actual factory operations contain random elements that cannot be captured using simple mathematical models.
The processing time for each unit in each workcenter is partially random, thus, interactions that occur among the
components of a system in which there are random elements that cannot be modeled mathematically. For
example, unscheduled downtime or unexpectedly long processing times limit the flow of work-in-process created
by a workcenter. This constrained flow affects other workcenters in which the work-in-process becomes a
component for further processing or assembly of products. Bottlenecks occur that limit the throughput of the
manufacturing process. Such bottlenecks may not be anticipated until the system actually begins operation
because of the interactions. Since these interactions affect production costs in a real factory, altering the system
to improve the interactions can reduce manufacturing costs.
Students seldom are exposed to a description of the production process that permits them to observe the
activities that create costs. A factory simulation permits students not only to observe activities in the production
process but also to observe how these activities affect the allocation of costs to units of production in a realistic
setting. More importantly, simulation allows experimenting with the plant configuration and key variables without
actually incurring high costs of rearranging the factory or disrupting actual production.
DETAILS OF THE CASE

The first model (MODEL1.XL4) presents a factory in which excess capacity exists in both the shear and coater,
e., these workcenters can process at a faster speed than that of the print line. After running the model for 2,000
i.
hours, the following results will appear:
Average WIP Inventory

690 Skids

Throughput

1,042 Skids

Flow by Product

1,271-1,472

The students are asked at the completion of running the first model simulation to evaluate the processing time
versus the waiting time as disclosed in the flowtime results. They should arrive at the conclusion that far too
much inventory of sheared and coated materials is carried by the plant. Without adding the complexity of
changing batch sizes and reducing inventories of printed inventory, MODEL2.XL4 (the second simulation run)
simply addresses the issue of the sheared and coated WIP. MODEL2.XL4 is a pull system. Since products are
printed in 50-skid batches, and the upstream buffers now contain only one batch of sheared and one batch of
coated material (for each product except GFIC, which remains at the original level), the shear process cannot run
until the buffer following the shear has space available. Note that the shear and coater are often red in color a condition termed Blocking. Red cells are blocked from production until space becomes available in the buffer
following the workcenter. An opposite condition, Starving, occurs when the cell or workcenter shuts down from
lack of input. A starving condition is indicated by a work center which is black in color. Additionally, the
Coater line cannot process until the buffer has space available. Thus, the bottleneck operation (the print line)
controls the rate of flow of the product through the plant. In summary, the only change between MODEL1.XL4
and MODEL2.XL4 is the inventory buffer level for 1 pound, 2 pound, and 3 pound sheared metal, and
one-pound, two-pound, and three-pound coated metal. Because of the specialty nature of GFIC, the large original
buffer level was retained.

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-02: Maxwell House/Kraft General Foods Case ♦ 16

The following results appear after running the simulation for 2,000 hours.

Average WIP Inventory

378 Skids

Throughput

1,042 Skids

Flow by Product

686-1,126

Two observations may be discussed. First, by using the pull system, the inventory levels declined as well as the
flow time per product. Second, these improvements occurred without any loss in throughput. Two major points
can be discussed in class following the execution of MODEL2.XL4:
1)

The relationship of inventory size to lead time, and

2) Cost savings may be realized as a result of inventory reductions.
The last simulation, MODEL3.XL4, approaches the problem from a different point of view. The pull system
is in place as in MODEL2.XL4; however, the GFIC line has been redesigned to require only two print passes
by reducing the number of colors in the GFIC design to six. As the Activity-Based Costing literature identifies
complexity as a major cost driver; MODEL3.XL4 illustrates how product complexity reduces throughput and
affects WIP levels. The following results appear after executing MODEL3.XL4:
Average WIP Inventory

373 Skids

Throughput

1,200 Skids

Flow by Product

605-822

The improvement in throughput as well as flow time is significant over the results of MODEL1.XL4 and
MODEL2.XL4. The only trade-off is that the number of colors on the GFIC can has been limited to six, (down
from twelve) and the number of passes through the print machine falls from four to two.

USING XCELL+
To teach the Maxwell House case, the instructor must obtain a copy of XCELL+ software from The Scientific
Press, 651 Gateway Boulevard, Suite 1100, San Francisco, CA 94080, (415) 583-8840. The educational version
is approximately $70. Also acquire from the AICPA a copy of the three files (models) which we developed for
use with XCELL+. After installing XCELL+, copy the three files (MODEL1.XL4, MODEL2.XL4, and
MODEL3.XL4) to the same directory into which you loaded the XCELL+ program.
To invoke XCELL+, type XLP. When the main menu appears, touch F6 (File Manager), F6 (Retrieve
Factory), then type Model1. When the model appears touch F8 (Leave file Manager), F7 (Run), F7(Begin Run),
and F7 (Autorun). The speed of execution can be controlled by touching F5 (Slower) or F6 (Faster). When the
program finishes after 2,000 time units, touch F6 (Results), F3 (Throughput), F4 (WIP), and F6 (Flowtime).
The F8 key generally takes you back to the previous menu. After running the first model, MODEL2.XL4 and
MODEL3.XL4 can be invoked in the same manner. Touch F6 (File Manager), F6 (Retrieve Factory), and to
respond to the question "What should be done with the current factory?" Touch F5 (Discard the working copy),
type Model2 and continue as with the first model.
If the professor can project the image from a computer monitor and run the case in class, students are not
required to purchase the software. Thus, with a color monitor and a $70 investment, the professor can teach this
case. Therefore, a professor having no experience with XCELL+ can invest 2-3 hours with the software and
effectively teach the material.
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POINTS FOR DISCUSSION
1.

How are WIP levels and lead time related?

Lead time is positively correlated with the level of WIP inventory (assuming a first-in-first-out process flow).
The students should consider the lead time required for registration when standing in a line of 200 students
versus the time required for a line consisting of only 5 students. The value-added time (processing time) is
identical; however, the wait time can be tremendously different.
Where are the major inventory stocks located?

In the original factory, the major inventory stocks are located upstream from the print lines. WIP inventory
consists of two distinct types: 1) sheared coils and 2) coated coils. Since the processing times of the coater
and shear are faster than that of the print line, excess inventory accumulates in the upstream buffers in the
absence of controls.
What recommendations would you make to improve both WIP levels and lead time?

Recommendations may include balancing the production line in some manner. Possibilities include
implementing a pull system, whereby the rate of production is determined by the slowest resource (or
bottleneck).
Other possibilities include increasing the productive capacity of the bottleneck resource. Ideas for
improvement may include capital investment in the form of additional print lines, or more efficient use of the
resource. Examples include reducing setup times or redesigning products to eliminate print passes.
2.

Where are the bottlenecks located?
The primary bottleneck is the print line.

What are some clues that bottlenecks, or constraints exist?
Several clues are provided by the simulation. For example, the print line is never blocked (red) or starved
for input (black). The print line operates constantly except when down for a setup. In addition, as disclosed
in the results menu, the high utilization percentage of the print line is a major clue that a bottleneck exists.
High utilization percentages may suggest a resource with little or no slack time.

3.

Both the shear and coater line require a two-hour setup between batches. Can Allan improve throughput by
reducing setup time on these two machines and converting it into processing time? Why? Why not?
Since the shear and coater produce at a faster rate than that of the print line, excess capacity is already
present within these resources. Thus, any process improvement would not result in increased factory
throughput.

4.

How could Allan increase throughput in the plant?

The major option includes increasing the capacity on the bottleneck, either through capital investment or
product redesign. In actuality, Allan lobbied the president of the division to reduce the number of colors (and
hence print passes) required for GFIC designs. By doing so, capacity was created.
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What are some of the trade-offs in terms of investing resources to improve the constraints?

Capital investment to improve the processing time will have several benefits, some of which are more easily
quantified than others. Some of the benefits are summarized as follows:

6.

•

Increased throughput

•

Reduced levels of inventory and the associated carrying costs

•

Improved lead times, which may result in better customer relations and the ability to attract new business

Based upon your analysis of the preceding questions, which nonfinancial performance measures would you
recommend to help measure progress toward a more efficient, cost-effective operation?

Nonfinancial measures of performance include:
•

Lead time

•

Throughput

•

Days on Hand inventory

•

Setup time

•

Utilization rate of bottleneck resources

•

Print passes required by a print design

•

Scrap rate

STUDENT LEVEL

One of the authors has used the simulation software for approximately three years in junior-level undergraduate
cost accounting courses and for four years in MBA and Executive MBA courses. The technique also could be
easily applied in the management accounting sections of a principles of accounting course sequence.

PROP
One last teaching point: in demonstrating and discussing this case, the students will appreciate the quality of the
Tarrant Alabama plant better if the instructor brings in a Maxwell House Coffee can — preferably a premium
brand with a colorful printed design. The beauty of the can should be so striking that students will wonder how
such a commonplace item ever escaped their notice. This should increase student sensitivity awareness and
appreciation for items which they otherwise might take for granted.
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University of South Florida, Tampa, Florida

David M. Dennis, Professor
University of South Florida, Tampa, Florida
Peter Rodriguez, Jr., Partner
Ernst & Young, Tampa, Florida

THE COMPANY: HISTORY AND PURPOSE

Jackson (Jack) Wright has been interested in sailing, pirates, and ocean lore since he was a small boy. After
majoring in marketing at the University of South Florida, Jack became successful as a real estate developer, but
in his heart he still longed to be involved with a business that would take him closer to the sea. The news of Mel
Fisher’s salvage of the Nuestra Senora de Atocha, the richest sunken treasure discovery in history, gave Jack and
his best friend, Mike Sierra, the final push they needed. Early in 1994 they founded Searchers for Elusive
Artifacts, Inc. (SEA, Inc.) investing $200,000 each to provide the company’s initial capitalization.
Wright and Sierra wrote the following statement of business purpose for their new corporation:
"SEA, Inc. is an oceanographic service company involved in deep water search, survey, and recovery. SEA
respects the ocean environment and endeavors to preserve the ecosystem of each recovery site. SEA
recognizes its obligation to explore the historical significance of each find, and to provide complete
conservation of artifacts recovered."

SEA, Inc. operates in the following ways:
1.

SEA maintains a fleet of surface and subsurface vessels which can be used to locate, survey, and recover
sunken shipwrecks. These vessels are used by the corporation in its own interest and leased to others.

2.

SEA acts as a general partner in a series of limited partnerships formed for the purpose of raising money
to locate, identify, recover, and market the cargoes of shipwrecks in a specific geographic area. SEA’s
policy is to maintain at least a 50% ownership interest in each of these ventures.

3.

SEA plans to construct a museum to serve as a center for displaying artifacts and for entertaining and
educating the general public about undersea technology, archaeology, conservation, and the colorful
history of the artifacts and the treasures they represent.

Copyright 1994 by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and donated to the public domain for educational use.
Cases developed and distributed under the AICPA Case Development Program are intended for use in higher education for
instructional purposes only, and are not for application in practice. The AICPA neither approves nor endorses this case or any solution
provided herewith or subsequently developed.
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NAUTILUS, LTD.
Shortly after incorporation, SEA formed its first partnership with five other investors. Immediately thereafter
archeological information about suspected shipwreck sites was purchased from Roman VanWert, a noted marine
archeologist and historian. During February 1994 with the help of VanWert’s charts and calculations, Nautilus
located and photographed a Spanish wreck in approximately 1,800 feet of water south of the Florida Keys. The
vessel, believed to be one lost in a hurricane in 1622, was found in international waters. The ship’s bell,
recovered in May 1994 was removed from the site in order to perfect the admiralty claim in the United States
District Court.
In early June, Jack Wright invited the local television and print media to a news conference where he
displayed the ship’s bell and a few of the artifacts that had been recovered. He trumpeted the discovery as the
most valuable since the Atocha and observed that, while the exact amount and nature of the cargo was still to be
determined, the value of the find could be as much as $35 million.
During the subsequent months more than 18,000 artifacts were recovered from the site. An inventory of
these included 39 gold bars, 10 gold fragments, a gold ruby pendant, over a thousand silver coins, 5 mariner’s
astrolabes (navigational devices used in the 1600’s), over 5,000 pearls, 50 olive jars, pottery, musket balls,
cannon, and other miscellaneous items. By the end of the year it was not possible to determine what portion of
the wreck site had actually been explored, but SEA and the Nautilus partners believed that a point of diminishing
returns had been reached and planned no attempt at additional recovery until most of the recovered artifacts had
been sold. At that time the partners would decide whether the potential of recovering additional artifacts justified
the expense of continuing recovery.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Selected data from SEA’s 1994 annual report follow:
SEA, Inc.
Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended December 31, 1994

Revenues:
Rental Income (Affiliate)...........................................................................................................
Rental Income (Others)..............................................................................................................
Total Revenues...........................................................................................................................

$1,658,000
24,000
$1,682,000

Operating Expenses:
Vessel Operations......................................................................................................................
Conservation ..............................................................................................................................
Other Exploration Expenses......................................................................................................
Depreciation ..............................................................................................................................
General and Administrative Expenses......................................................................................
Total Operating Expenses ........................................................................................................

575,000
268,200
536,400
815,000
813,800
3,008,400

......................................................................................................................

(1,326,400)

Other Income (Expense)
Interest Expense........................................................................................................................

(113,200)

Loss...................................................................................................................................................
Less: Minority Interest...................................................................................................................

$(1,439,600)
228,120

Net (Loss).........................................................................................................................................
Net (Loss) Per Share.........................................................................................................................

$(1,211,480)
$
(1.07)

Loss from Operations
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SEA, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheet
December 31, 1994
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash ............................................................................................................................................
Inventory of Artifacts.................................................................................................................
Total Current Assets .................................................................................................................

$

36,800
1,251,600
1,288,400

Plant and Equipment:
Plant and Equipment .................................................................................................................
Less: Accumulated Depreciation......................................................................
(815,000)

$ 4,825,000
4,010,000

Total Assets ......................................................................................................................................

$5,298,400

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable ......................................................................................................................
Payable to Related Parties.........................................................................................................
Rent Payable ..............................................................................................................................
Total Current Liabilities ...........................................................................................................

$

88,000
221,880
15,000
324,880

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Payable on ROV.........................................................................................................................
Capital lease obligation..............................................................................................................
Debenture Bonds Payable .........................................................................................................
Total Noncurrent Liabilities......................................................................................................

104,000
821,000
650,000
1,575,000

Total Liabilities.................................................................................................................................

1,899,880

Stockholders’ Equity:
Common Stock............................................................................................................................
Retained Earnings (deficit).........................................................................................................
Total Stockholders’ Equity.........................................................................................................
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity......................................................................................

4,610,000
(1,211,480)
$ 3,398,520
$5,298,400

Selected Notes to SEA, Inc., Consolidated Financial Statements:

Note 1: Inventory of Artifacts. SEA, Inc. (The Company) values inventory in the consolidated statements at
lower of cost or market. Nautilus Ltd. (The Partnership) incurred costs of $1,788,000 in locating, recovering,
conserving, and storing shipwreck artifacts. The Partnership capitalized $1,251,600 of these costs as "Inventory
of Artifacts." An appraisal by Paul Cavendish of Antiquities Research and Assessment, Inc. estimated the
market value to be $2.75 million. Mr. Cavendish earned his Ph.D. in the history of the colonial trading period;
his dissertation is entitled, "An Inquiry into Spanish Trading with the New World: 1550 - 1700." Cavendish
has been employed by Antiquities Research for the past five years specializing in museum collections of precious
metals and silver coins of the colonial era. Since most of the inventory is stored in preservation tanks, the
appraisal was performed by examining a sample of each item and relying on photographs of the remainder. Items
of inventory are appraised using the following methods:
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Gold Bars are valued at 5.5 times their meltdown value. Similar bars from the Atocha were sold several
years earlier for 3 times meltdown.

Silver Coins are valued at $250 each, the amount for which similar coins in heavily corroded condition are
sold by Mel Fisher in his Key West museum shop.
Pottery is valued taking into consideration the fact that much of it contains the Papal miter indicating that a
high church official was traveling on the ship. Fragments are valued by considering the amount at which
these are sold by Fisher in his museum shop.
Astrolabes recovered by the Atocha were sold for approximately $100,000 each. Those recovered by the
Partnership are believed to be worth twice as much.

Pearls are valued at an average of $600 each based on a careful examination of a few dozen specimen and
photographs of those remaining.

Olive Jars are valued based upon a recent sale of one jar for $10,000.
Other miscellaneous items including jewelry and ship hardware are valued at the estimated amount they will
bring in the retail collectibles or memorabilia market.

Note 2: Related Party Transactions. The Company receives substantially all of its revenues from the rental of
vessels and deep ocean search and survey equipment leased to Nautilus, Ltd., an affiliated partnership in which
the Company has a 59% ownership share.
The Company leases a Questor SHD ROV (Remote Operated Vehicle) from a related entity. Rent of $10,000
per month is payable in advance on a month-to-month basis. As of December 31, 1994 $10,000 is in arrears.
The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the terms of this transaction are at least as favorable as those which
could be obtained from independent third parties.
Note 3: Commitments and Contingencies. In January, 1994, the Company entered into a lease agreement for
18,000 square feet of office and warehouse space. The lease commencing January 15, 1994, is for a term of
three years with an option to renew for two additional one-year periods.
Rent during the initial term is $120,000 per year payable as follows: First year, $5,000 per month plus
8,000 shares of the company’s stock deliverable on July 1, 1994. During years two and three rent is to be
$10,000 per month payable monthly.
In May, 1994, the Company entered into a capital lease arrangement with Maritime Financial Union to
acquire a Houdini 5000 model ROV. This equipment was capitalized at $900,000 and requires monthly payments
of $22,850 for five years.
Note 4: Equipment. The Company employs two primary types of equipment in its search and recovery
operations: a surface ship, and remotely operated underwater vehicles (ROVs). A description follows:

The Seahound Retriever is a 200 foot, 489 gross ton, tug/supply vessel built in 1978 for the offshore oil
industry. Drawing a full load draft of 17 feet and having a breadth of 40 feet, the vessel has an open deck
working area of 112 feet by 35 feet. The ship has berthing and stores space for a crew of 20 in a totally
climate controlled environment. In addition to the generators supplying the ship’s own electrical needs, an
independent 100 kilowatt on-board generator supplies the power required to operate the ROVs.
During February, 1994, the Company entered into a ship’s bare boat charter with Imperial Marine, an
unrelated company, for use of the Seahound Retriever for a twelve month period. Simultaneously with the
execution of the Charter, the Company also entered into a stock option agreement with Imperial Marine.
By exercising this option Imperial would exchange ownership of the Seahound Retriever for 575,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock and $1,000,000 cash. During June, 1994, Imperial exercised the option
and received cash and shares valued at $2,250,000.
The Company currently owns two Questor ROVs: (1) Questor LD, and 2) Questor Utility. These
remotely controlled underwater vehicles provide a cost-effective method of inspecting wrecks and bottom
structure down to 2,000 feet. These, together with the leased Questor SHD (Note 2) and Houdini 5000 (Note
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3), provide the ability to photograph and safely retrieve marine artifacts using the Seahound Retriever as a
base of operations.
Note 5: Shipwreck and Treasure Museum. The Company plans to construct a museum to serve as a center for
displaying artifacts and for entertaining and educating the general public about undersea technology, archaeology,
conservation, and the colorful history of the artifacts and the treasures they represent. The Mel Fisher Maritime
Heritage Society Museum in Key West, Florida indicates how successful such a venture can be. Each day five
hundred people visit the museum; the gift shop run by the museum sells selected artifacts such as silver coins,
pearls, and pottery fragments. The Company believes that shipwreck artifacts have greater value as museum
displays and gift shop souvenirs than as items to be auctioned piecemeal to collectors. The Antiquities Research
and Assessment, Inc., appraisal takes this plan into consideration.
Note 6: Market Quotations for Company Stock. SEA, Inc., stock is traded in the over-the-counter market.
NASDAQ reports high and low bid quotations for 1994 as follows:

Bid
Quarter Ended

High

Low

March 31, 1994
June 30, 1994
September 30, 1994
December 31, 1994

$4,125
$4.50
$3.00
$ .875

$3.75
$3,125
$1,125
$ .375

1995 OPERATIONS

Poseidon Ltd. During February 1995, SEA, Inc., formed Poseidon, Ltd., a Florida limited partnership, and
agreed to serve as the sole general partner. Poseidon is structured similarly to Nautilus except that the expenses
of the Partnership include a payment of 5% of all items salvaged to a fund for the crew. During the year
Poseidon commenced its proposed business of attempting to locate deep water wrecks in a specific area off the
east coast of Florida and found what is believed to be a colonial era shipwreck. A cooking pot and piece of
rigging were recovered from the site to perfect the admiralty claim.
By the end of 1995 approximately 120 artifacts were recovered including seven cannons, more than a dozen
copper cooking pots, 6 Spanish silver coins, scores of musket and pistol balls, pulley blocks, and other
miscellaneous items. Jim Stokley, a consulting archeologist employed by the Partnership, estimates the coins and
cannon are from the early 1700’s. Mr. Stokley believes that the vessel discovered was primarily used to carry
mail and official communications between the king and government officials. While these ships were never
authorized to carry treasure, contraband treasure was sometimes carried. Stokley stated that there is no way he
can say whether this shipwreck contains substantial amounts of treasure.
Poseidon, Ltd. currently has very little cash. The partners are considering various options including
salvaging the site (which would require additional financing) and selling the site to another partnership for its
salvage. If it appears that additional financing is not likely, SEA, Inc., may consider terminating the partnership.
SEA, Inc. has written off its entire investment in Poseidon, Ltd.

Legal Proceedings. On June 11, 1995, Maritime Financial Union, the entity from which the Company leases
its large Houdini 5000 ROV, filed suit in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida,
Tampa Division in Admiralty against SEA, Inc., and the Seahound Retriever.
In its complaint Maritime Union alleged that the Company had committed a breach or default under its Lease
Purchase Contract with Maritime Union since the Company failed to make its payment due January 3, 1995 and
all payments due thereafter. Within the provisions of the contract, Maritime contended that it was entitled to
recover the loss value of $808,396.69. Maritime also contended that it was also entitled to receive the amount
of the Company’s arrears equal to $137,100 plus interest on the arrears of $6,169.50, and legal fees and costs
estimated at $156,113.20. Therefore, Maritime Union was seeking a judgment against the Company in the
amount of $1,107,779.39 as of June 11, 1995 plus interest accruing at the rate of $273.15 per day.
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Maritime Union, in its complaint, also sought a maritime lien against the Seahound Retriever, her engines,
tackle, equipment and appurtenances and asked that the ship be sold and the proceeds be paid toward the amount
of any judgment.
As of December 31, 1995, the Court has ordered the sale of the Seahound Retriever on February 25, 1996,
without minimum bid. The proceeds of the sale will be held by the Court until the litigation and appeals in the
case are completed.
The Treasure Museum. Early in 1995 the Company leased space and began construction of the shipwreck and
treasure museum in Tampa. During July 1995, the Company was no longer able to make lease payments and
negotiated a termination with the lessor. As part of the settlement, the Company issued 40,000 shares of common
stock to the lessor.
Marketing Agreement. In October 1995, the Company signed a marketing agreement with Global Telecommuni
cations Marketplace, Inc. The agreement sets out the terms under which the Company’s artifacts, products
derived from the artifacts and products derived from the Company’s archive material will be marketed by Global
on a worldwide exclusive basis. Sales resulting from this marketing effort will result in royalty payments to the
Company. Similar agreements were signed with Nautilus, Ltd. and Poseidon, Ltd.. The effect of these
agreements will be to produce revenue for the Company and, to the extent that their artifacts are used, for the
Partnerships, without any corresponding cost of product development or marketing. While it is too early to
quantify the amount and timing of potential revenue, Global guarantees $1,000,000 minimum revenues to the
Company during the five year initial term of the agreement. Global also provided the Company with a loan of
$250,000 at 10% per annum interest for two years. The loan is secured by 3,500 of the pearls owned by the
Company.

Selected 1995 Financial Statement Data. The following data is taken from SEA’s December 31, 1995 financial
statements:
Inventory of Artifacts........................................................................................................................
Total Liabilities................................................................................................................................
Retained Earnings (Deficit)..............................................................................................................
Total Stockholders’ Equity .............................................................................................................
Net Loss for the Year ......................................................................................................................

$ 1,376,450
$ 3,089,000
$(4,640,800)
$ 469,200
$(3,429,420)

The 1995 audited statements were issued on April 30, 1996.

1995 Market Quotations for Company Stock. NASDAQ reports high and low bid quotations for 1995 as follows:

Bid
Quarter Ended

High

Low

March 31, 1995
June 30, 1995
September 30, 1995
December 31, 1995

$1,125
$1,625
$1.00
$ .875

$.25
$.50
$.625
$.125

1996 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
On February 9, 1996, the Company and Maritime Union signed a joint Stipulation and Emergency Motion to stop
the sale of the Retriever and for Settlement of Action. The Joint Stipulation was an agreement in principle to
settle the action and release the Retriever to the Company in return for a cash payment of $400,000, a deferred
payment for 1 year of $800,000 (such deferred payment to be secured by the Retriever) and an issue of Warrants
to purchase 400,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock for $0.3125 per share. On April 3, 1996, the
agreement was completed. The Houdini was sold to a third party to raise the cash payment of $400,000.
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QUESTIONS

Financial Accounting Issues:

1.

How does GAAP require that the artifacts be valued on SEA’s financial statements? Does it appear that the
1994 valuation is appropriate? Explain. What alternative balance sheet classification of the artifacts could
you suggest? Do you believe that SEA’s classification is appropriate?

2.

What additional information does SEA need to provide to adequately disclose its transactions with related
parties?

3.

How should stock issued in exchange for goods and noncash assets be valued? Are the values used by SEA
appropriate in the stock for rent and stock for assets transactions described in the case?

4.

How should the post-balance sheet events between SEA and Maritime Union be accounted for and disclosed
in the 1995 statements? Explain.

5.

What other disclosure, classification, or accounting issues do you recognize from your study of this case?

Auditing Issues:
1.

What would be considered sufficient, competent evidence in evaluating the appropriate carrying value of the
artifacts?

2.

Should a specialist be consulted in attempting to determine the value of artifacts? If so, how should the
qualifications of the specialist be determined and evaluated?

3.

Has the Company complied with GAAP in the valuation of inventory, and disclosure of related party
transactions? If not, what are the implications for the auditor’s report language?

4.

Should the auditor consider the need for a going concern paragraph in the audit report of SEA or either of
the two limited partnerships?

REFERENCES:

Primary

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
"Subsequent Events" (AICPA, 1972).

Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1 (AU 560),

______ .

Statement on Auditing Standards No. 11 (AU 336), "Using the Work of a Specialist" (AICPA, 1975).

______ .

Statement on Auditing Standards No. 19 (AU 333), "Client Representations" (AICPA, 1977).

______ .

Statement on Auditing Standards No. 31 (AU 326), "Audit Evidence" (AICPA, 1980).

______ .

Statement on Auditing Standards No. 45 (AU 334), "Related Parties" (AICPA, 1983).

______ . Statement on Auditing Standards No. 58 (AU 508), "Reports on Audited Financial Statements"
(AICPA, 1988).
______ . Statement on Auditing Standards No. 64 (AU 334), "Omnibus Statement on Auditing Standards —
1990" (AICPA, 1988).
Financial Accounting Standards Board. Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6
Financial Statements," (Stamford, CT: FASB, 1985).

"Elements of

______ . Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5 "Accounting for Contingencies," (Stamford, CT:
FASB, 1975).
______ . Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 16 "Prior Period Adjustments," (Stamford, CT:
FASB, 1977).
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______ . Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 57 "Related Party Disclosures," (Stamford, CT:
FASB, 1982).

Secondary
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 "Consolidated Financial
Statements," (New York, NY: AICPA, 1959)
Financial Accounting Standards Board. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13 "Accounting for
Leases," (Stamford, CT: FASB, 1976).

______ . Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 94 "Consolidation of All Majority-Owned
Subsidiaries," (Stamford, CT: FASB, 1987).
______ . Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95 "Statement of Cash Flows," (Stamford, CT:
FASB, 1987).

Background
Goddio, Frank. "The Tale of the San Diego." National Geographic (July, 1994), pp. 34-57.
Starr, Mark; Moreau, Ron; and Friday, Carolyn. "Treasure Hunt: Wrecks to Riches." Newsweek (August 5,
1985), pp. 18-20, 23.
Stall, Sam. "Treasures of the Atocha." The Saturday Evening Post (November, 1986), pp. 50-55, 100.
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SEA, Inc.
TEACHING NOTES
Robert M. Keith, Professor
University of South Florida, Tampa, Florida
David M. Dennis, Professor
University of South Florida, Tampa, Florida

Peter Rodriguez, Jr., Partner
Ernst & Young, Tampa, Florida

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND CASE OBJECTIVES
This case is concerned with four primary financial accounting issues — valuation and classification of unusual
inventory assets, disclosure of related party transactions, valuation of stock exchanged for rent and noncash assets
and the accounting treatment of a post balance sheet date event. In addition, the case contains fertile material
which would support discussion of a number of evidence and reporting-based auditing questions. The case was
written primarily for use in financial accounting courses such as Intermediate II (Financial II) or Accounting
Theory. However, it could also be used effectively in Auditing courses. With adequate out-of-class preparation
by members of the class, the case discussion time could range between one and two hours depending on the
number of issues (financial and/or auditing) that the instructor elects to address.

BACKGROUND OF THE CASE

The content of this case has been adapted from a number of public documents related to a public company named
Seahawk Deep Ocean Technology, Inc. The documents utilized include a ruling by an administrative law judge
dated May 26, 1993, two 8-K filings by the company and the company’s 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1993. In the allegations which led to the administrative law judge’s ruling, the SEC argued that Seahawk had
filed a registration statement which was misleading for a number of reasons. One of the most significant of the
SEC’s complaints was the allegation that Seahawk overvalued certain shipwreck artifacts disclosed on its balance
sheet and elsewhere in the registration statement. That issue plays an important role in the case that we have
written.
Although the views of the SEC and those of the administrative law judge on the accounting issues of this case
are clearly evident in the case source materials referred to above, this information does not appear in the case
as written. We did not want the SEC’s views to bias student judgments as they sought to answer questions raised
by the case.
In our write-up of this case, we have renamed Seahawk Deep Ocean Technology as SEA, Inc. and two
related partnerships are dubbed Nautilus, Ltd. and Poseidon, Ltd.
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CLASSROOM USE OF THE CASE
At the undergraduate level, this case is well suited for the Financial II (Intermediate II) course and the first
Auditing course. In courses which normally precede these, accounting majors are typically exposed to concepts
underlying the definition of an asset and related valuation issues, asset classification concepts, and disclosure
guidelines. When used in the Auditing course, the case falls naturally into the discussion of the auditor’s
responsibility to understand a client’s accounting methods, accumulate and evaluate necessary audit evidence,
determine whether compliance with GAAP has been achieved, negotiate audit adjustments with the client, render
an opinion on the application of accounting principles and report on the client’s financial statements.
At the graduate level, the case fits well into an MBA financial accounting course, an Accounting Theory
course or an Auditing course.

TEACHING METHODOLOGY

It is not uncommon to find that student recall of prior course material is below the instructor’s expectations. To
deal with this problem, we recommend that appropriate advance readings relevant to the case be required prior
to the assignment of the case or coincident with its assignment. (Suggested readings are identified at the end of
the student version of the case.) This reading requirement helps to equalize the students’ knowledge base and
enhance the quality of class participation.
A classroom technique which should increase student input is to divide the class into teams of three or four
students and have them corporately develop their views of the issues in the case prior to the in-class discussion.
A potentially effective variation on the team approach involves role playing — i.e., one student takes the part of
the company controller, another is a bank loan officer who is considering a loan application from the company,
a third team member could be a current stockholder, etc.

ACCOUNTING ISSUES
We will begin our discussion with the issue of the valuation and classification requirements for SEA’s artifact
inventory.

THE ASSET VALUATION AND CLASSIFICATION ISSUE

Asset valuation. In discussing the asset valuation issue, it is important to refer to the activities of Mel Fisher,
a famous treasure hunter. In 1985, Fisher discovered a lost Spanish galleon, the Atocha. This ship was one of
the lead galleons of a 1622 Spanish fleet. This fleet carried historically important passengers. The Atocha, its
cargo, its crew and passengers, and their possessions were all described in documents in archives in Seville,
Spain. These archives allowed researchers to determine the owners of some of the artifacts recovered from the
Atocha wreck. For example, some of the silver bullion was tax receipts belonging to the King of Spain.
The ability to link the Atocha artifacts with historical figures enhanced the value of this find. As a result,
Fisher’s discovery led to a Hollywood produced movie, National Geographic television specials and numerous
magazine articles. Fisher also established the Mel Fisher Maritime Heritage Society Museum in Key West,
Florida at which he displays artifacts from his various discoveries. Five hundred people a day visit this museum.
(Supplemental readings about the Atocha and other sunken treasure finds are listed in the Background section of
the References in the student version of the case.)
In "Elements of Financial Statements," Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, the FASB defined
assets as "probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by a particular entity as a result of past
transactions or events." In most cases, assets are carried at historical cost, but this value may have to be written
down when the estimated recovery value is below historical cost. In discussing the historical cost issue, the
instructor could ask the class whether SEA’s activity should be viewed as equivalent to an historical cost
production function, a research and development activity, or a process which should be accounted for using the
successful efforts vs. full costing concept in the extractive industries.
On its consolidated statements, SEA lists artifacts discovered by one of its affiliated partnerships (Nautilus).
The appropriate carrying value for this asset is historical cost, if current recovery value is at least equal to this
cost. Therein lies one of the critical issues of this case — how should the recovery value of these artifacts be

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-03: SEA, Inc. ♦ 11

determined? SEA intends to display some of its artifacts in a museum at which the public will pay an admission
fee. Can Mel Fisher’s experience be related to the proposed museum to be created by SEA? Would the two
museums be equivalent?
Some of SEA’s artifacts are held for future sale either in the planned museum gift shop or at auction. Their
value has been established as a result of an appraisal by Paul Cavendish of Antiquities Research and Assessment,
Inc. Since the appraised value exceeds cost, SEA believes that historical cost has not been impaired.
The following significant facts relate to Cavendish’s appraisal:
1.

Mr. Cavendish’s expertise is in valuing coins for museum exhibits. There is no indication in the case that
he has any experience or training related to valuation of pottery, astrolobes, pearls, etc.

2.

He based his appraisal value on the assumption that the appraised artifacts would be placed on display in a
museum, or sold at souvenir prices.

3.

He appraised the artifacts at the "high end" of a possible range of values. In the actual case facts, Seahawk’s
management actually told the appraiser to give them a "high-end" valuation.

4.

He had never appraised olive jars before and based his appraisal on SEA management’s statement that it had
recently sold one such jar for $10,000.

5.

He had never appraised astrolabes before but he appraised SEA’s astrolabes at $200,000 to $275,000 each
which was twice the value of the astrolabes recovered from the Atocha.

6.

He appraised recovered gold bars at 5.5 times their melt down value. Gold bars found at the Atocha site
had sold for three times their melt down value.

7.

Based on a review of a few dozen pearls, and a photograph of some other pearls, he appraised them at $600
each. Similarly, he appraised silver coins at $250 each by inspecting a small sample of the amount
recovered. However, most of the recovered pearls and silver coins were heavily corroded.

8.

His pottery appraisal was based upon an assumption that a high church official had been traveling on the
vessel. An assumption that was not confirmed by evidence found at the shipwreck or in historical documents.

9.

His total appraised value for the entire artifact inventory was $2,750,000, despite the condition of the artifacts
and the fact that the discovered ship could not be specifically identified by name or country of origin.

In a very early ruling [In the Matter of Haddam Distillers Corporation, 1 SEC 37 (1934)], the SEC stated its
views on the use of appraisal values. The Commission’s position was that the appraiser must accurately and
fairly follow appropriate norms. Failure to do so would cause the derived values to be misrepresentations of fact.
A few years later, the SEC gave more specific guidance [In the Matter of Breeze Corporations, Inc., 3 SEC 709,
717, (1938)]. Two tests for appraisals were created: 1) A valuation which was not based solely on scientific
method but instead was based wholly or partially on arbitrary or capricious foundations could not be represented
as an appraisal, and 2) any valuation methods purported to be followed had to be applied both fairly and
accurately.
In establishing an appraisal value, the concept of "comparables" is typically employed. After obtaining a full
and adequate description of the item to be appraised, the appraiser then seeks a recent market based transaction
value for a comparable item in the same market in which the item to be appraised would likely be sold. Only
documented or published values should be used. Especially for items like artifacts, offering prices would be an
inappropriate gauge, since actual sales tend to be made at discounts from such prices.
The student version of the case does not provide alternative appraisal values for the company’s artifacts. In
the real situation on which this case is based, alternative testimony before the administrative trial judge indicated
that SEA’s artifacts had an appraised value that was 75% lower than the appraised value set by Cavendish and
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approximately 60% lower than SEA’s recorded book value of the artifacts. Since SEA’s consolidated balance
sheet reports the artifact inventory at $1,251,600, there is an obvious asset over valuation by SEA if the
alternative appraisal is valid. The instructor might want to give the class a low alternative appraisal value and
ask them what the implications of such a value would be for the company. If the true value of the artifacts is
only, say, $350,000, the company would have a negative net worth at the end of 1995.
One piece of information that students might focus on in leaning toward a lower value for the artifacts is the
agreement between SEA and Global Telecommunications Marketplace. In this agreement, 3,500 pearls are
serving as collateral for a loan of $250,000. Thus, the collateral value per pearl is only approximately $70,
significantly less than the appraised value of $600 per pearl.
Classification. For most industries, account classification schemes are broadly separated into two groups —
current and long term. Definitionally, assets and liabilities are separated into these two classes based on such
factors as:
1.

the length of time required to realize the asset value in cash

2.

the period during which the asset will be consumed rather than sold

3.

the length of time during which the liability must be liquidated, or

4.

the period during which the liability claim will be resolved by means other than payment in cash.

Again, for most industries, current assets and current liabilities are those which will be realized, paid, etc. within
one year from the entity’s current balance sheet date or its operating cycle, whichever is the longer.
For SEA, Inc., the major classification question concerns its artifact inventory. Classification of this account
as a current asset assumes that SEA will be able to sell the inventory items or consume them for its own purposes
within the next 12 months. The case facts identify two conditions which raise serious questions about the
propriety of reflecting the artifacts inventory in the current asset category. First, it is not clear that these assets
are readily marketable. Auction sales of valuable artifacts are typically made to a limited market composed of
collectors of such items. Because of the limited number of individuals in this market, it may already be saturated
by previous sales made by Mel Fisher’s organization. Sales of artifacts as souvenirs at a high mark-up is
contingent upon the success of the proposed museum. Secondly, SEA has stated its intent to use some, perhaps
most, of these artifacts in the museum that it plans to build. If the company does plan to sell certain artifacts,
but it is unlikely that some sales would occur more than 12 months from the current balance sheet date, these
inventory items should be reclassified to a long-term asset category. If the items will be placed in a museum,
and not offered for sale, then they should be classified either as Investments, Property and Equipment or as
Other Long-term Assets.
An interesting side issue could be brought up at this point. If these assets are reclassified to Property and
Equipment, should they be depreciated. If so, how would you estimate a salvage value and useful life? Should
depreciation be taken even if the sales value of the artifacts were to rise? If you operated a museum which owned
the Mona Lisa, would you depreciate that painting? Are shipwreck artifacts equivalent to the Mona Lisa?

THE RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Discussion of this topic might be initiated by asking the class the following question: "Should a related party
transaction be accounted for any differently from one which is at arm’s length?". The accounting literature seems
to be quite clear on this point. Codification of Statements on Auditing Standards, Section AU 334, "Related
Parties" notes that"... established accounting principles ordinarily do not require transactions with related parties
to be accounted for on a basis different from that which would be appropriate if the parties were not related."
There is a heightened risk, however, that the reporting company’s accounting for the transaction will follow form
rather than substance. SFAS No. 57 recognizes this concern when it states that "[t]ransactions involving related
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parties cannot be presumed to be carried out on an arm’s-length basis, as the requisite conditions of competitive,
free-market dealings may not exist."
Assuming that the identified related party transaction has been accounted for properly, the primary financial
statement issue becomes one of adequacy of disclosure. Here the rules are very precise. The required
disclosures are (per SFAS No. 57):

1.

The nature of the relationship(s) involved.

2.

A description of the transactions ... for each of the periods for which income statements are presented, and
such other information deemed necessary to an understanding of the effects of the transactions on the
financial statements.

3.

The dollar amounts of transactions for each of the periods for which income statements are presented and
the effects of any change in the method of establishing the terms from that used in the preceding period.

4.

Amounts due from or to related parties as of the date of each balance sheet presented and, if not otherwise
apparent, the terms and manner of settlement.

In having the class evaluate the related party note in the SEA, Inc. financials, the following questions could be
raised:

1.

Should the note include the specific identity of the related parties? According to FAS No. 57, footnote 3 to
paragraph 2, the answer is no, unless identity of the related parties is necessary to an understanding of the
relationship.

2.

Does the note comply with the basic four disclosure requirements enumerated above? Although the aggregate
annual revenue received from the related party (Nautilus) is not contained in the footnote, it is disclosed on
the face of the income statement. The note is deficient, however, in its failure to disclose the nature of the
relationship of the second related party which is referred to solely as a related party in the second paragraph.
The note should indicate whether this party is a stockholder, an officer, a director, etc.

3.

Is it appropriate for the company to state in the last sentence of the note that the related party transactions
were conducted on terms at least as favorable as those which could be obtained from independent third
parties? According to FAS No. 57, paragraph 3, such an equivalence comment is appropriate only if it can
be substantiated. Given the unusual nature of the transaction between SEA and these related parties (lease
of the ROV and rental of a large vessel), substantiation by comparison with similar transactions in the
marketplace might be difficult, if not impossible. In such a case, the equivalence comment would have to
be removed from the note in order to comply with GAAP.

THE STOCK VALUATION ISSUE
Under generally accepted accounting principles, assets are normally valued at historical cost. In some instances,
the dollar value to be designated as "historical cost" is not readily apparent. Such is the case when, for example,
common stock is exchanged for land and the common stock is not traded regularly on an exchange. When
historical cost is not clearly discernible, accounting theory indicates that the values in the exchange which are
most readily measurable, if any, should be used in valuing the exchange. For example, in the land for stock
example, if comparable land had recently been sold for $100,000, then the land in the current exchange would
be viewed as being worth an equivalent amount and the stock would then be valued at $100,000. If no similar
land sales had occurred and there was no clear value for the land but a broker could legitimately value the
common stock at $100,000, the land would then be assumed to be worth $100,000.
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In the case of SEA, Inc., the stock is traded in the over-the-counter market. NASDAQ reports the high and
low bid quotations that occur during a set period of time. These prices are believed to be representative
inter-dealer quotations, without retail markup, markdown or commissions, and may not represent actual
transactions.
Under the lease agreement that SEA has with its lessor, the rent is to be paid in part cash and part common
stock of SEA. The total rent per year has been contractually set at $120,000 for both 1994 and 1995. For 1994,
half of the rent payment was to be made in cash ($5,000 per month) and half in common stock. For 1995, the
cash payment was to be $10,000 per month. Therefore, for 1994, $60,000 of the rent [$120,000 — ($5,000 x
12)] was to be paid in common stock. In this instance, since the value of the rent to be paid in stock during 1994
is clearly defined ($60,000), the stock should be valued at the defined rent payment.
It doesn’t appear that the valuation of the stock in the rent transaction is valid, but the valuation in the vessel
acquisition may be acceptable. In both cases, SEA has issued stock at implied valuations of approximately double
the quoted market values surrounding the issue dates.

The instructor should note that the settlement of the lease litigation with Maritime Union involved issuing
warrants for 400,000 shares of stock. A quick calculation will reveal that, since the cash and deferred payment
total more than the amount sought by Maritime, the parties are implicitly treating the warrants as if they have
no separate value.
THE POST BALANCE-SHEET DATE ISSUE

According to accounting theory, post balance sheet date events can potentially affect the reporting entity’s
financial statements in one of two ways:
1.

The effect of the event may need to be reflected retroactively in the account balances on the entity’s year-end
financial statements.

2.

Information about the event may need to be disclosed in the entity’s year-end financial statements.

Criteria which would indicate which of the two possible impacts should prevail in a given case are provided in
AU 560 of the Codification of Auditing Standards, various pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board
and the Financial Accounting Standards Board. According to these guidelines, retroactive restatement of prior
financials is appropriate under any of the following three conditions:
1.

The event provides evidence which allows for improved year-end estimates (AU 560).

2.

The event provides evidence which reveals that prior financial statements contained errors (FAS No. 16).

3.

The event is required under generally accepted accounting principles to be accounted for as if the event had
occurred on or before the previous year end date (See, for example, APB No. 15 [accounting for the issuance
of stock splits and stock dividends], APB No. 30 [accounting for discontinued operations] and FAS No. 5
[accounting for litigation losses]).

Disclosure of pertinent information is the only requirement if:

1.

Under the periodicity concept, the effect of the event is clearly identified with the post balance sheet date
accounting period, and

2.

Information related to the event should be reported in footnotes to the prior year financial statements in order
for financial statement users to understand and effectively utilize those statements.
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In the case of SEA, Inc., the post balance sheet date event could be thought of as the resolution of a lawsuit or
as the renegotiation of a lease contract. Depending on how the accountants assess the event, the financial
statement treatment could differ.
There was, of course, an actual lawsuit between the parties. The suit related to SEA’s default on a capital
lease obligation. In accordance with FAS No. 13, SEA had capitalized this lease. In early 1995, SEA had
defaulted on the lease payment and all subsequent payments. The lessor had filed suit to recover a defined lease
loss value of approximately $800,000, lease payments in arrears of approximately $137,000, interest on the
arrearage and legal fees of approximately $162,000. To assure its recovery of these amounts, the lessor also
sought a maritime lien against another vehicle owned by SEA.
In 1996, prior to the issuance of its 1995 financial statements, SEA entered into an agreement with its lessor
under which the lessor would abandon its lawsuit. The agreement required that SEA:

1.

Pay the lessor $400,000 in cash.

2.

Sign an $800,000 non-interest bearing note payable in one year.

3.

Grant the lessor warrants for 400,000 shares of SEA’s common stock at an exercise price of $.3125.

If this agreement is treated as the resolution of a lawsuit, then the requirements of Financial Accounting Standard
No. 5, "Loss Contingencies," would apply. Following paragraphs 35 and 36 of this pronouncement, the
resolution of the uncertainty, through the agreement reached by the parties, would lead to a retroactive
restatement of the 1995 financial statements.
On the other hand, one could argue that the critical event in 1996 is simply a renegotiation of the contract,
and the effect of that renegotiation, following the periodicity concept, should be booked in 1996. The 1995
financial statements would address the event solely through footnote disclosure of the contract changes and their
impact on the obligations of SEA to the lessor.
OTHER ISSUES

Other financial accounting issues that could be discussed include such matters as accounting for and disclosure
of capital lease commitments and consolidation methodology.
AUDITING ISSUES
First, we will consider the issue of the evidence an auditor would seek in attempting to evaluate the artifact
inventory.

AUDIT EVIDENCE

According to AU 326.03, there are five categories of assertions which are either explicitly or implicitly reflected
in an entity’s financial statements. Two of those five categories are valuation/allocation and presentation/disclosure. Both of these categories are of interest in this case.
In attempting to determine that SEA has properly valued its artifact inventory and has properly classified it
on the balance sheet, the auditor would use professional judgment to determine the nature, timing and extent of
audit procedures to apply. In applying this judgment, the auditor would need to consider the competence of
available evidence and the sufficiency of such evidence for the purpose of reaching valid audit conclusions.
According to the case facts, the company spent significantly more money to locate and retrieve the artifacts
than they ended up capitalizing as the cost of these items. This fact raises the question: How did the company
allocate these costs between expense accounts and the inventory account? The case does not answer that question,
but it is clear that an auditor would need to evaluate that process.
Once the inventory cost of $1,251,600 is accepted, the remaining valuation question for the auditor is whether
or not that value is realizable. The critical issue is the nature of evidence in support of that value. One piece
of evidence would be the inclusion of an assertion by management in the representation letter to the effect that
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this inventory value is realizable. AU 333 indicates that such a letter should be obtained in every audit
engagement. The letter should cover any assertions that the auditor wishes the client management to address
[333.06]. However, covering the valuation issue in the representation letter does not relieve the auditor of a need
to seek independent verification of the value [333.02]. Since SEA’s financial statements are consolidated
statements, the instructor may also want the class to deal with the need to have management represent that their
comments apply to the consolidated financial statements, if appropriate, the separate statements of the parent
company.
Since the auditors must seek independent verification of the artifact inventory value, they would undoubtedly
wish to do so through reliance on the appraisal performed by Mr. Cavendish. At this point the case discussion
could turn to the requirements of AU 336, "Using the work of a specialist." This pronouncement includes
appraisers as a specific example of a specialist on whom an auditor might rely [336.01]. Valuation of an asset
is also given as a specific example of a matter which could be referred to a specialist [336.03]
It is apparently permissible for an auditor to rely on the work of a specialist who has been hired by the client.
Section 336 simply expresses a preference for a specialist who is unrelated to the client. However, a number
of the requirements set forth in Section 336 have not been followed by SEA and its outside auditors. These
requirements are:
1.

There is no indication that the auditor attempted to verify the competence of Cavendish or his reputation in
his field [336.05].

2.

There was apparently no understanding reached between the client, Cavendish and the auditor with respect
to such factors as:

a.

The objectives and scope of the specialist’s work.

b.

The methods or assumptions to be used by the specialist.

c.

The specialist’s understanding of the auditor’s corroborative use of the specialist’s findings in relation
to the representations in the financial statements.

d.

The form and content of the specialist’s report [336.07].

Once the auditor has been given the results of the specialist’s work, the auditor should consider whether this work
supports the representations of the client. The auditor is also required to consider whether the specialist’s
conclusions are reasonable in the circumstances. Given the fact that Cavendish’s appraisal values are higher than
those from the Atocha, and given that the Atocha was a more important find, Cavendish’s appraisal values are
certainly questionable.
In a case where the auditor has significant doubts about the reliability of the specialist’s conclusions, AU
336.09 states that the auditor should apply additional audit procedures in an attempt to resolve the matter. If such
procedures fail to resolve the issues, the auditor should consider hiring a second specialist. This feature of AU
336 should raise the issue of legitimate costs of the audit and the burden of such costs being born by either the
client or the audit firm.
THE GAAP ISSUE
If an auditor determines that a client’s financial statements are in violation of generally accepted accounting
principles (measurement rules, disclosures or both), the initial attempt should be to discuss necessary changes in
the financial statements to conform them to GAAP. If the client resists such changes, the auditor must then
evaluate the materiality of the departures to determine whether the appropriate report is a qualified opinion or
an adverse opinion [AU 508]. In this case, students need to consider the magnitude of the possible overstatement
of the artifact inventory, the omitted disclosure data in the related party footnote and the inappropriateness of the
equivalence comment in the related party footnote. The case indicates that SEA’s 1994 financial statements
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reflect a loss of approximately $1.2 million. If the artifact inventory is overstated by approximately $400,000,
the reported net loss would be increased by that amount. This adjustment would also change currently reported
working capital from $963,520 to $563,520 and the current ratio from 3.97 to 2.73. Based on considerations
such as these, the class could consider the seriousness of the violations of GAAP and attempt to conclude on the
type of report to be issued. In this discussion, it could be interesting to have a practitioner come to the class and
play the role of a member of senior management. Students would then have to present their arguments regarding
financial statement adjustments and report language, while also addressing likely client rebuttals.
THE GOING CONCERN ISSUE
By the end of 1995, SEA’s balance sheet reflects a stockholders’ equity of only $469,200. If the artifact
inventory continues to be overvalued by $400,000 or more, the true equity position could be negative.
Furthermore, the net loss for 1995 is dramatically greater than the loss for the prior year. The company’s cash
position is obviously very poor, as indicated by the need to sell the Houdini in order to meet the capital lease
obligation.
According to AU 341, the auditor is obligated in every audit engagement to determine whether there is
substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to operate as a going concern for a period not to exceed one year
beyond the current balance sheet date. In carrying out such an evaluation, the auditor should consider such
factors as:
1.

negative trends (such as such as operating losses and negative cash flows)

2.

financial difficulties (such as loan defaults and credit denials)

3.

internal matters (such as strikes or unfavorable long-term purchase commitments), and

4.

external matters (such as lawsuits, loss of critical customer) [AU 341.06]

The auditor should also consider mitigating factors such as planned asset sales, restructuring of debt agreements,
expense reductions and equity sales [AU 341.07]. Here the discussion might focus on the agreement that SEA
has entered into with Global Telecommunications Marketplace, Inc. The agreement indicates that Global will
"guarantee" SEA a minimum of $1,000,000 during the five-year term of the agreement. Several questions
regarding this agreement arise. Does this mean a minimum of $1,000,000 per year during the life of the
agreement? Does it mean $1,000,000 total? If the proper interpretation is the latter, could the entire $1,000,000
be paid in the last month of the fifth year? Can SEA survive that long? What is the quality and enforceability
of Global’s guarantee?
The client may need to include a footnote to its financial statements to adequately address its financial
problems. Such a footnote may be required to meet the disclosure requirements of GAAP even if no explanatory
paragraph is added by the auditor to the audit report. However, if after considering all relevant factors, the
auditor continues to believe that there is substantial doubt about the ability of the client to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period, the audit report should be modified by the addition of a going concern
explanatory paragraph. Note that AU 341.13 requires that the language used in this paragraph specifically contain
the words "substantial doubt" and "going concern." The auditors who reported on the financial statements of the
real company on which this case is based worded their explanatory paragraph approximately as follows:

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as
a going concern. As shown in the financial statements, the Company incurred a net loss of $XX for
19XX and has incurred substantial net losses for each of the past several years resulting in an
accumulated deficit of $XX. This factor, in addition to other factors as discussed in Note X, raise
substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include
any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded assets, or the amounts and
classification of liabilities that might be necessary in the event the Company cannot continue in operation.
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PURITY OIL SALES - SUPERFUND SITE
A CASE ON ACCOUNTING FOR ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Douglas Cerf, Associate Professor
California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo, California
David W. Zechnich, Partner
Price Waterhouse, San Jose, California

We would like to acknowledge the help of Steve Dehmer of Chevron’s CRTC/Superfund Team who provided
the majority of the facts and circumstances on which this case is based. Many of the facts are also available in
Environmental Protection Agency documents. We would also like to thank M. Kathleen Carnevale and Jim
Lawrence of Chevron’s Comptroller’s Division who helped to arrange this project. This case description is based
completely on fact. Chevron neither approves nor endorses this case or any solution provided herewith or
subsequently developed. This case may only be used for an academic purpose at a College or University. Any
other use requires prior written approval of the authors and Chevron Corporation.

INTRODUCTION

This case discusses the Purity Oil Sales Superfund hazardous waste site and the related financial circumstances
from the point of view of Chevron Corporation. Congress enacted the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) or Superfund in 1980 to facilitate the remediation of abandoned
hazardous waste sites. A 1992 study1 suggested that the total cost to clean up known hazardous waste sites in
the United States was 752 billion dollars. The purpose of this case is to evaluate the facts and circumstances of
the Purity Oil Sales Superfund site and the related accounting standards to gain a better understanding of the
issues involved in accrual and/or disclosure of environmental matters.
Chevron never owned and was not directly involved in the creation of the hazardous waste site. They
became involved in the cleanup after the facility that generated and disposed of the hazardous waste was closed.
Chevron became involved in the cleanup because they allegedly had operations*
2 that dealt with the hazardous
waste site and they are an established, financially sound company with engineering expertise. The previous
owners who created the hazardous waste are apparently neither technically or financially capable of dealing with
the magnitude of the cleanup which has been estimated at various times between $15 and $130 million. The

1 Lavell, "Superfund Studies Begin to Fill Hole in Data-Dry Field," National Law Journal (January 20, 1992).

2 As explained later in the case, Chevron had minimal operations that allegedly dealt with the operator of the
facility that created the hazardous waste.
Copyright 1994 by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and donated to the public domain for educational use.
Cases developed and distributed under the AICPA Case Development Program are intended for use in higher education for
instructional purposes only, and are not for application in practice. The AICPA neither approves nor endorses this case or any solution
provided herewith or subsequently developed.
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environmental legislation allows the government to seek a remedy from parties who may have been involved with
the site regardless of the extent of their involvement. The legislation calls for joint and several liability of
responsible parties.
Accounting for environmental matters involves informational uncertainty. At different points in time there
are different degrees of uncertainty in the following areas: (1) Has the reporting company incurred a liability?
(2) Are there reliable estimates or ranges of estimates of the expected future cost of cleanup? (3) How is the
responsibility for cleanup going to be allocated between multiple responsible parties? and, (4) Is there a potential
of recovery from other parties? Generally, as you move across the time continuum from the actions that
originally caused the environmental damage to the cleanup, the uncertainty is reduced. The critical issue is: how
do levels of uncertainty affect the decision for and timing of accrual and/or disclosure? This issue must be
resolved in light of possible financial reporting tendencies.
The general guidelines in this area call for accrual when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and
the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. While this guideline is theoretically appropriate, it is
difficult in practice to determine when the level of uncertainty has declined enough to meet these requirements.
Current accounting standard setters realized that additional guidance is needed to provide benchmarks that can
be used to trigger accrual and/or disclosure of the liability. Additional guidance has become available in the
Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 92 (SAB No. 92) issued June 1993 and in
the forthcoming AICPA Accounting Standards Executive Committee’s Statement of Position "Environmental
Remediation Liabilities."
One objective of this case is to take the students through the continuum of uncertainty in an environmental
liability situation in order for them to appreciate how that uncertainty can change over time and force them to
take a careful look at the appropriate trigger point for accrual and/or disclosure. The theory of reporting
environmental matters is not difficult; it is the implementation of the theory for the indefinite circumstances that
makes accounting for environmental matters a challenge.
The student’s role as the user of this case is to evaluate the facts, circumstances and financial information
to determine the appropriate financial reporting at various points throughout the case (see the questions at the end
of the case). This case presents facts and circumstances in chronological order over a fairly long period of time;
therefore, it may be helpful to make a timeline of the facts, circumstances, and financial estimates as you work
through the case. A significant amount of detail is necessary to appreciate the risk of a liability at the different
stages of a very long process from the start of operations of Purity Oil Sales in 1934 until approximately 2030
when the post-remediation monitoring is expected to be complete.

HISTORY AND BACKGROUND

Purity Oil Sales, Incorporated3 (Purity) was a used oil recycling facility that operated in Malaga, California about
one-half mile south of the Fresno City limits4 from 1934 until the early to mid-1970s when the facility was closed
by the Fresno County Board of Health. Purity gathered used motor oil from gasoline service stations, truck
stops, electrical transformer yards, car dealerships, military facilities and various other businesses. Purity
collected the used oil from a region that included much of California from Redding to Bakersfield, and parts of
Nevada . Purity gathered the used oil from the various locations and transported it by both truck and railroad
to the Purity site via collector stations. Once the oil arrived at Purity, they put the oil through various chemical
and physical filtering processes. The output from the processes was clean oil, that could be resold, and
byproducts of the oil recycling process that could not be sold (petroleum waste). Purity dumped the petroleum
waste into pits (uncontained holes in the ground) on the property. By the time that Purity was closed in 1975
the waste pits, full of petroleum waste, were up to ten feet deep and covered most of the seven acre site.

3 Other names of Purity included Para Penn (1934-1948), Paraco Incorporated (1948-1965) and O. J. Oil
(starting in 1975).
4 Fresno is a metropolitan area in California’s central valley with a population of approximately 350,000 as of
1994.

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-04: Purity Oil Sales — Superfund Site ♦ 3

THE LOCATION AND THE ENVIRONMENTAL RISK
Purity’s seven-acre parcel is in a mixed-use area with industrial, agricultural and residential property in the
vicinity. The Purity property is within the boundaries of a groundwater aquifer which has been designated as
a sole-source aquifer by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) under the Safe Drinking Water Act. There
appears to be three hydrogeologically confined aquifers beneath Purity to depths of several hundred feet.
THE OWNERS/ OPERATORS OF PURITY
Purity had three sets of owners that operated the facility. From 1934 to 1948 William Dicky and Ray Turner
operated the facility followed by William Siegfried and Robert Hall until 1965 when the property was sold to
Michael Marcus. Marcus owned the facility when the environmental awareness and concern intensified. Marcus
filed for bankruptcy in 1976 and the site was taken by the State of California for nonpayment of taxes. The State
of California sold the site in 1979; however, a few years later when the owner found out that the site included
significant hazardous waste, the sale was rescinded.

THE ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERN HEIGHTENS (THE 1970s)

In June 1973 Purity began complying with the Fresno County Superior Court order to remove the petroleum
waste and backfill the waste pits. By January 1975, Purity had back filled the pits with construction demolition
debris, including concrete blocks, bricks, steel, wood and tires. However, there is no evidence to indicate that
the petroleum waste stored in the pits was ever removed. In 1975 the California Regional Water Quality Control
Board (RWQCB) issued a cleanup and abatement order and the Fresno County District Attorneys office enforced
a preliminary injunction prohibiting the operation of the plant. In 1976, all records of deliveries were destroyed
in a suspicious fire and no written records exist of the sources of the used oil brought to the facility. The site did
not receive any significant attention from federal and state environmental agencies until the late 1970s and early
1980s when there were an increased number of complaints about the stench caused by the oil sludge left in the
pits.
THE INVESTIGATION PERIOD (THE 1980s)

The State of California Department of Health Services (DHS), the RWQCB and the EPA started doing surface
and subsurface investigations of the site in the early 1980s. In December 1982 Purity was placed on the EPA’s
National Priority List (NPL).5 Superfund was passed in 1980 so Purity was one of the earlier sites to be put on
the NPL. The NPL is the EPA’s list of most serious hazardous waste sites identified for long-term remedial
action under superfund. The list is based primarily on the score a site receives from the Hazard Ranking System.
In the early 1980s the EPA was in the very early stages of determining the extent of the damage at the site, the
estimates of the cost to clean up the site and the parties that were potentially responsible for the cleanup.
Chevron received a Request for Information (RFI) from the EPA in September 1983. The RFI stated that
its purpose was to determine the nature, cause and extent of contamination at the Purity site, and to assess the
effects of the contamination on the environment and the public health. The letter did not state that Chevron had
responsibility for the site; it merely claimed that the "EPA has reason to believe that Chevron is in possession
of critical information pertaining to our investigation." This RFI did not name Chevron as a Potentially
Responsible Party (PRP). A PRP is any entity — including owners, operators, transporters, or arrangers for
disposal or treatment — identified by the EPA as potentially responsible for, or contributing to, the environmental
impacts at a Superfund site. The EPA has the authority to require PRPs through administrative and legal actions,
to remediate such sites. Chevron responded to the EPA’s RFI in 1983.
Chevron did not receive any further notification from the EPA for approximately 6 years until early 1990;
they assumed that their involvement was insignificant. In the meantime, the EPA and DHS performed numerous
investigations, studies and remediations at the site. This is usually called an EPA-driven Remedial Investiga
tion/Feasibility Study (RI/FS) process. Sometimes, if the PRPs have been identified, this process is PRP-driven;

5 As of mid-1994, there were approximately 1,250 sites on the NPL.
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however, in this situation the PRPs had yet to be formally identified. Typically, PRPs prefer a PRP-driven RI/FS
because they may have significant resources to find and utilize improved techniques. In December 1983 DHS
retained a consultant to perform a remedial investigation. The consultant removed approximately 1,800 cubic
yards of hazardous oily/tarry materials from the site and issued the results of their investigation report in May
1986. A remedial investigation is a comprehensive study, usually performed by environmental engineers, that
seeks to delineate the nature and extent of hazardous substances at a site, assess potential risks posed by the site,
and define potential pathways for exposure. The remedial investigation usually involves extensive sampling of
soil and groundwater in and around the vicinity of the site. In 1986 the EPA usurped the lead role at the site and
expanded the scope of the remedial investigation work done by DHS. The EPA report was completed in October
1988. As part of their work the EPA removed 33,000 gallons of waste oil from a storage tank on the facility.
The costs incurred by both the DHS and the EPA were quite significant. Chevron was not aware of the remedial
investigation reports issued by the DHS and EPA, the amount of costs incurred by these government agencies,
or the estimates of the future cleanup costs. Also, the EPA had not identified the PRPs nor issued any opinion
regarding the PRPs respective responsibilities.
In April 1989 the EPA issued its feasibility study. A feasibility study summarizes the information generated
by the remedial investigation and presents alternative remedial actions as well as recommending one. The soil
was found to be contaminated to levels of 40 feet below the surface with the most serious contamination to 14
feet. The groundwater was found to be contaminated to levels 100 feet deep. The EPA proposed to clean up
the facility by pumping and treating the contaminated groundwater, along with excavation, treatment and capping
of soils. The cost estimates presented in the feasibility study were broken into two parts: (1) the costs necessary
to remediate the groundwater and (2) the costs necessary to remediate the soil. These costs from the 1989
feasibility study are presented in tables 1 and 2. The EPA listed cleanup alternative number 3 as the preferred
alternative for the groundwater remediation and number 2 for the soil remediation. Although estimates for the
cleanup were now available, Chevron was not yet aware that they may have responsibility or the degree of that
responsibility.
In September 1989 the EPA issued a Record of Decision (ROD) on the groundwater portion of the
remediation. A ROD formalizes the decision on the appropriate remediation alternative chosen by the EPA and
publishes this information in the Federal Register for public comment. The ROD endorsed alternative number
3 for the groundwater remediation. At this time the EPA did not take any action on the soil portion of the
remediation.

Table 1
Groundwater Cleanup Alternatives

Alternative No.

1
2

3
(Preferred
alternative)

Description of the cleanup alternative

Estimated cost of this
alternative

Groundwater extraction at 400 gallons per minute,
On-site treatment and disposal

$5,450,000

Groundwater extraction at 1,450 gallons per minute, On-site
treatment and disposal

$9,300,000

Groundwater extraction at 700 gallons per minute,
On-site treatment and disposal

$7,500,000
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Table 2
Soil Cleanup Alternatives

Alternative No.

Description of the cleanup alternative

Estimated cost of this
alternative

Soil Vapor Extraction (SVE) and Capping

$

Excavation and on-site incineration of soil 0-14 feet, SVE
and Capping

$ 46,180,000

Excavation and off-site disposal of soil 0-14 feet, SVE and
Subsurface Capping

$ 53,989,000

Excavation and on-site incineration of soil 0-40 feet, and
Capping

$103,306,000

5

Excavation and off-site disposal of soil 0-40 feet

$110,915,000

6

Excavation and off-site incineration of soil 0-40 feet, SVE
and Capping

$125,955,000

Excavation and on-site solvent extraction of soil 0-14 feet,
SVE and Capping

$ 44,240,000

1
2
(Preferred
alternative)

3

4

7

6,631,000

IDENTIFICATION OF PRPs AND EPA’S ESTIMATION OF THE PORTION
OF RESPONSIBILITY (THE 1990s)
In 1989 and 1990 the EPA put on a big push to create their list of PRPs. The list was potentially enormous
because of the significant number of parties either directly or indirectly involved with Purity over its forty years
of operations. This task was extremely difficult because the fire in 1976 burned the records. The EPA obtained
much of their information from two truck drivers who worked for the company. They obtained depositions from
these drivers that included general information. The information was based primarily on the memories of the two
men about the locations where they picked up the oil, how much oil they picked up, and the frequency with which
they picked up the oil. This required the drivers to recall events that occurred many years earlier and, therefore,
much of the data was quite general. For example, they would list street names without cross streets or specific
addresses.
In April 1990 the EPA sent a General Notice Letter (GNL) to Chevron. This is the first time that they had
been contacted by the EPA or any state agency since 1983 regarding the Purity site. Eighty eight other PRPs
also received the same notice which urged the formation of a formal Steering Committee (SC) to address the
cleanup of the site. This is the first time that Chevron was formally notified that they were a PRP. Chevron’s
notification listed 36 service stations, most of which were dealer-owned and operated. Chevron estimated that
there were less than 10 company-owned and operated stations that had dealings with Purity, therefore Chevron
felt that their responsibility would be quite low. The list of PRPs included the following types of firms: oil
companies, car dealers, transit districts, municipalities, school districts, air force bases, railroads, major grocery
store chains, trucking companies, package delivery companies, bus companies, construction companies and
national parks.
In April 1991 Chevron and the other 88 PRPs received a Special Notice Letter (SNL) on the groundwater
portion of the remediation. The SNL gave the PRPs 90 days to provide a good faith offer to do the cleanup of
the groundwater and enter into a consent decree with the EPA. A consent decree is a legal document, approved
by a judge, that formalizes an agreement reached between the EPA and PRPs through which PRPs will conduct
all or part of a remedial action at a Superfund site. The SNL also demanded recovery for the past costs incurred
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by the EPA and various state agencies that did investigation, feasibility and remediation work in the late 1980s.
The combined demand for recovery of past costs was $6,100,000. The demand called for the payment of this
amount plus interest at a rate that approximates the prime rate on any unpaid balance.
In May 1991 an EPA attorney developed an Estimated Contribution List (ECL) which was an informal
attempt at an estimation of allocation of responsibility for settlement purposes only. The ECL applied to the
cleanup of the entire site, both groundwater and soil. It listed Chevron’s responsibility at 19.66%, the highest
of any PRP. The next highest responsibility was listed at 13.6%. Seven major oil companies were listed as
being responsible for 70% of the volume contributed to Purity and the other 82 PRPs were responsible for
contributing the remaining 30%. Chevron’s responsibility was calculated based on an estimate of the volume of
oil they contributed to the facility compared to the total volume of oil contributed by the rest of the PRPs.6 The
ECL was based on an EPA attorney’s estimate of each party’s responsibility. The estimates were based on the
depositions of the two former truck drivers and assumptions by the attorney. For example, the GNL listed 36
Chevron stations, however, the EPA attorney used 50 stations in the calculation because of the uncertainty of the
number of stations identified by the truck drivers. The EPA attorney did not distinguish between dealer- and
company-owned stations. This estimate also assumes that the contribution from each gas station was the same,
and the contribution was the same during each year and that the gas station operated for all 20 years. The EPA
admitted that the estimates were guesses.
Starting in May 1991, after receiving the SNL and the ECL, Chevron became seriously involved in defending
their position and determining their responsibility at the Purity site. They entered into negotiations with the EPA
and other PRPs to define the terms of the consent decree that was required by the SNL. The EPA declined to
accept a partial settlement and these negotiations failed. Determining the responsibility of the companies was
quite difficult. Many of the oil companies involved claimed that they did not have responsibility because the
service stations that contributed oil to Purity were not company operated. Oil companies, including Chevron,
generally had agreements with dealers that made the dealer responsible for disposal of the dealer’s used oil.
In May 1991 a revised estimate of the cost of the groundwater portion of the cleanup was submitted to the
EPA (table 3). This is a revised estimate of the preferred alternative which shows that the expected cost is now
considerably greater than the estimates in the EPAs 1989 feasibility study (table 1).
Table 3

Revised Groundwater Cleanup Cost (preferred alternative)
Expected Construction Cost of Groundwater Treatment Facility
(one time cost)

$5,054,000

Annual Cost of Operations and Maintenance (O & M) of the Treatment Facility
expected to be in operations for 15 years.

$

915,000

Because no agreement was reached among the PRPs, in September 1991 the EPA issued Chevron and eight of
the other PRPs an Administrative Order (AO) for the remedial design and remedial action (RD/RA) on the
groundwater portion of the cleanup. An AO is enforceable by law. RD includes development of a complete site
remediation plan, including engineering drawings and specifications for site remediation. RA includes the actual
construction and implementation of the remedial design that results in site remediation. The 8 other companies,
in addition to Chevron, included Unocal Corporation, Phillips Petroleum Company, Pacific Gas & Electric
Company, Inc., Southern Pacific Transportation Company, California Department of Transportation, MorrisonKnudsen Engineers, Inc., Foster Poultry Farms, and Cummins West, Inc. Phillips Petroleum declined to
participate in the AO because they claimed that they did not have any company-owned service stations in the area

6 The following calculation is based on EPA assumptions and not on fact.

3,600,000 =
(gallons of oil contributed by
Chevron to the Purity facility)

300
(gallons contributed per month)

X

50
(stations contributing)

X

20
(number of years)
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serviced by Purity. There are large fines for not complying with an AO if the PRP is later found to be
responsible. At this time, the EPA did not take any action on the soil remediation.
Because the 9 firms mentioned in the AO needed to carry out the requirements of the AO they formed a
Steering Committee (SC) to work out the financial, legal and implementation details. After the original SC was
set up, the Air Force joined the SC because the truck drivers deposed by the EPA implicated the Air Force.
Texaco voluntarily joined the SC. Some PRPs volunteer to join in the process because they prefer to have some
influence over their destiny. The EPA generally will go after the PRPs that are easiest to identify and easiest
to get to clean up the site. The rest of the original 89 PRPs are not participating or "hiding in the weeds."7 A
nonparticipating PRP is one that denies potential responsibility despite evidence that points to their responsibility.
A "hiding in the weeds" PRP is an unproven PRP that has been identified by the EPA but denies liability because
there is no evidence to link them to the site. Many members of the SC felt that there was as much evidence
against some of the other PRPs as against the PRPs involved in the SC.
In early 1992, the EPA and the state agencies made a demand directly to all 89 PRPs for recovery of the
$6,100,000 of past costs originally requested in the SNL.
The SC worked on the RD for the groundwater throughout 1992 and incurred costs of $1,300,000. In June
1992 the EPA issued a revised plan for the soil portion of the remediation. Table 4 presents the revised cleanup
alternatives for the soil remediation. Alternative number 2 is the EPA’s preferred alternative. Some of the
remediation alternatives are new while others are the same as those presented in the 1989 feasibility study. The
more expensive alternatives from the 1989 feasibility study have been eliminated because less expensive
alternatives have been developed that will accomplish the same cleanup objective. The alternatives in the 1989
feasibility study that called for on-site incineration are not feasible because of the construction debris used to
backfill the pits. The old preferred alternative that includes incineration is included in order to compare costs.

Table 4
Soil Cleanup Alternatives

Alternative
No,

Description of the cleanup alternative

Estimated
cost of this
alternative

RCRA8 Equivalent Cap

$24,686,000

2
(Preferred
alternative)

Soil Vapor Extraction (SVE) and RCRA Equivalent Cap with Slurry
Walls

$36,254,000

3
(old preferred
alternative)

Excavation and On-site Incineration of soil 0-14 feet, SVE and
Capping

$74,756,000

4

Excavation and Solidification of soil 0-10 feet, SVE and Capping

$41,918,000

5

Excavation and Solidification of soil 0-14 feet, SVE and Capping

$53,073,000

6

Excavation and Solidification of soil greater than 500 ppm of lead,
SVE and Capping

$55,861,000

7

Excavation and off-site treatment and Disposal of soil 0-14 feet, SVE
and Capping

$63,659,000

1

7 These are terms used in the AcSEC’s draft of a Statement of Position (SOP) entitled "Environmental
Remediation Liabilities"), pp. 62-65.

8 RCRA is the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 which was originally intended to provide
"cradle to grave" management standards for hazardous wastes.
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By June 1993 the SC had spent an additional $700,000 completing the groundwater RD. The SC’s cost estimate
for the RA specified in the RD is $7.5 million. This estimate includes the construction of the groundwater
treatment facility followed by operations and maintenance of the facility for 15 years. The estimate is different
than the revised groundwater estimate of May 1991 because of numerous changes in the specifications. In
December 1993 the SC signed a voluntary consent order for the RD on the soil remediation.
The construction of the groundwater treatment facility was started and completed during the first half of 1994
at a cost of $2,080,000. The facility has passed its final inspection.
As of August 1994, the SC had not paid the past costs incurred by the EPA and the state agencies. The
remedial design on the soil has started and is expected to be completed in approximately two years.

POTENTIAL RECOVERY FROM OTHER PRPs

Since its organization in late 1991 the SC has worked to improve the probability of recovering costs from other
PRPs. The SC plans to make a major push to collect a portion of past costs from nonparticipating PRPs and to
get them to agree to pay a portion of future costs to complete the soil cleanup. In the meantime the SC is
working on the following projects: an improved allocation scheme, an arbitration process, and development of
a more complete list of nonparticipating PRPs.
The revised allocation system is to be based on better information than that recommended by the EPA in its
May 1991 ECL. On numerous occasions the EPA’s attorney, who created the ECL, has tried to convince
nonparticipating PRPs that the ECL is incorrect. As of September 1994, the system to allocate the responsibility
among parties is still a hotly contested issue. The SC is using a temporary allocation system among themselves.
This allocation system is not available. There is some possibility of recovery from both nonparticipating PRPs
and participating PRPs.
The SC, with the endorsement of the EPA, plans to hire a firm to help them set up an extensive arbitration
system to resolve the allocation issue. Once the arbitration system is set up, the SC plans to invite all the non
participating PRPs to participate in the arbitration process.
The SC has also been working on a more complete list of responsible parties. At this time there are over
200 PRPs associated with the Purity site, some of which have not been named by the EPA. This includes the
firms in the SC, the 89 firms that received the SNL in 1991 and other firms that the SC believes are responsible
but have never been formally named by the EPA.
Remediation costs can in some cases be recovered from insurance companies. Chevron keeps the insurance
companies aware of the remediation costs incurred. Currently, there are no suits pending between PRPs.
CASE QUESTIONS
At what point along the time continuum is it appropriate for Chevron to accrue and/or disclose a liability for their
potential responsibility to cleanup the Purity site? The disclosure choices that should be considered are: (1)
Accrue a loss and record a liability on the face of the financial statements and describe the circumstances in the
footnotes, (2) Disclosure without accrual which includes describing the circumstances in the footnotes with an
estimate or range of estimates or a description of why an estimate is not available, or (3) No disclosure.
It is possible that Chevron’s portion of the liability need not be disclosed because it does not meet the
minimum materiality requirements. Materiality should be ignored when answering these questions. For each
of the following questions explain your reasoning including reference to the appropriate accounting guidance
(e.g., generally acceptable accounting principles) that supports your position. If there are multiple possible
solutions, present the possibilities and the pros and cons of each. Current accounting guidance and practice at
the time this case was written should be used to answer these questions. For example, to answer the question,
What are the disclosure issues for the year ended 1989?, the user of this case should answer the question as if
current accounting practice and guidance existed as of the end of 1989. Consider the following when answering
the questions:

•

Is there enough evidence to determine that a liability has been incurred by the balance sheet date?

•

Is there enough information to estimate a liability or a range of liability?
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•

Is there enough information to determine the firm’s allocation of the responsibility in relation to the other
parties that may also be responsible?

•

Is there enough information to determine if there is a possibility of recovery from third parties or non
participating PRPs? Do not consider possible recovery until the SC is formed. Do not consider the
possibility of recovery from insurance companies eventhough the possibility could exist.

(1) What are the disclosure issues at the end of 1981 prior to Purity being placed on the NPL?
(2) What are the disclosure issues at the end of 1982, just after the site was placed on the NPL?
(3) What are the disclosure issues given the information at the end of 1983 , just after the RFI was received?
Chevron was contacted by the EPA; however, they were not formally named as a PRP.
(4) What are the disclosure issues for the years ended 1984 through 1988 when the EPA was doing their
investigations, emergency remediation and publishing investigation reports that did not include estimates of
the cost of cleanup?
(5) What are the disclosure issues for the year ended 1989 after the EPA had published cost estimates, but
before the EPA had identified or formally contacted PRPs? Include the following in the answer to your
question.
• Because a range of estimates is now available what estimate in the range should be used?
• How does the fact that the estimates are for the entire Purity site affect your conclusion?
• How does the EPA’s preferred alternative affect the estimate that might be selected?
• How does the fact that the EPA issued a ROD on the groundwater remediation and did not take any
action on the soil remediation affect your estimate?

• How do the costs to administer the remediation affect your estimate?

(6) What are the disclosure issues for the year ended 1990 after the EPA published cost estimates and named
the PRPs, but had not specified the portion of the responsibility to be allocated to each PRP?
(7) What are the disclosure issues for the year ended 1991 after the following had occurred: (1) the EPA
published cost estimates for the soil and revised estimates for the groundwater, (2) information was available
(possibly poorly estimated) on the respective responsibility of the 89 parties, (3) nine of those 89 parties
were issued an administrative order that required them by law to act on the groundwater remediation, and
(4) the SC was formed made up of 10 of the key PRPs? Include the following in your answer:

• Is it appropriate to discount the expected cash flows related to the future operations and maintenance
costs for the groundwater treatment facility? If so use a discount rate of 5%. This is an arbitrary rate.
Chevron uses its borrowing rate that has a term that is consistent with the term of the liability.
• How should the demand for these past costs be handled? By the end of 1991 the PRPs are now aware
of the demand made by the EPA and DHS for costs that they incurred in the 1980s when they did the
RI/FS and some emergency remediation work. Assume 5% interest, which approximates the prime rate,
will be charged on any impaid past costs incurred by the EPA and DHS in the 1980s.
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• Would you handle the soil and groundwater portions of the remediation differently because the EPA has
taken more action on the groundwater remediation than on the soil portion of the remediation?
• How is your answer affected by the possibility of recovery from the PRPs named in the GNL and SNL
who were not also named in the AO?

(8)

What are the disclosure issues for the year ended 1992 after the revised estimates become available for the
soil portion of the remediation? How do the costs incurred on the groundwater remedial design affect your
disclosure?

(9)

What are the disclosure issues for the year ended 1993 after completion of the remedial design for the
groundwater, after more definite specifications of the RA that are required for the groundwater are known,
and after signing of the voluntary consent decree for the RD of the soil?

(10)

What are the disclosure issues for the year ended 1994? Include the following in your answer:

• How should the actual costs incurred be handled related to the construction of the water treatment
facility?
• In addition to the possible recording of a liability, take a particular look at the potential of recovery from
nonparticipating PRPs. Should the facts for the liability be considered in conjunction with the facts for
the recovery or should they be considered independently of the facts for a potential recovery? If the
circumstances in this case warrant the recording of a recovery, would it be appropriate to net that
recovery with the liability?

(11)

What financial statement disclosures should be furnished with recorded and unrecorded environmental
liabilities?

(12)

Where on the income statement are environmental expenses or accruals recorded?

(13)

Discuss the tax ramifications of the costs incurred by Chevron for environmental remediation.
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Purity Oil Sales — Superfund Site
A Case On Accounting for Environmental Matters
TEACHING NOTES

Douglas Cerf, Associate Professor
California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo, California
David W. Zechnich, Partner
Price Waterhouse, San Jose, California

The circumstances of this case are unique to Purity. Because other situations may differ, in fact or as a result of changes
in accounting or legal precedents, these solutions may not be projected onto seemingly similar situations.
CASE OBJECTIVES/EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The objectives of this case are to expose readers to:

•

A contemporary accounting issue: Reporting of Firms’ Environmental Responsibilities. The importance of
environmental responsibilities is evidenced by:
— the magnitude of a potential liability,9
— increased attention that it has received by the federal and state governments (e.g., EPA) in the last 15
years since the enactment of the superfund legislation,
— the increased interest in the area by the SEC (e.g., Issuance of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 92 (SAB
No. 92) in 1993), and
— the increased interest in the area by the Accounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC) of the AICPA
(e.g., draft of a Statement of Position (SOP) entitled "Environmental Remediation Liabilities").10

9 As mentioned in the introduction to the case, the expected cost to clean up existing hazardous waste sites is
752 billion dollars.

10 The draft was approved by the AcSEC in September 1994. This SOP must be cleared by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board before it is exposed for comment. It may be issued with changes or not issued
at all, however, it is used in this case as a teaching tool because it provides examples of possible ways to
handle various environmental reporting issues.
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Information that will help users of financial statements evaluate events that could affect future operations.
Accountants must be aware of potential liabilities related to hazardous waste cleanup as part of this
evaluation. A firm does not have to be a direct contributor to an environmental situation to incur a potential
liability. The potential liability may be disproportionate to the relative contribution. To understand these
potential liabilities accountants must:
— Understand the authoritative and the legal remedies available to the EPA and the superfund remediation
process.
— Understand the role of a firm’s involvement in determining the degree of responsibility.
— Be aware of the tremendous amount of time generally involved in hazardous waste cleanup.

— Understand the SEC’s push to encourage earlier accrual and/or disclosure of the liabilities related to
environmental matters.
— Understand legal precedents in the environmental area and their interaction with the financial reporting
process.

•

Accounting under uncertainty. This objective will help the user appreciate the point at which the level of
uncertainty becomes acceptable to accrue and/or disclose the environmental liability.

•

The tradeoff between the level of uncertainty and financial reporting tendencies. Tolerance for informational
uncertainty could be affected by financial reporting tendencies. If a firm would rather not report an
environmental liability, they will be more sensitive to information that it is not definite and determinable.

•

The difference between two vastly different financial reporting options, accrual and disclosure of a liability
versus only disclosing the liability.

•

The difficulty in estimating future costs associated with hazardous waste cleanup.

•

To illustrate that measurement can be difficult in some very substantial areas, but the reporting of estimated
amounts which are approximately correct is preferable to nondisclosure.

•

To illustrate that there are some major areas in financial reporting that are still evolving.

•

To illustrate that some standard-setting bodies set standards to mitigate financial reporting tendencies.

•

To implement some of the objectives of the Accounting Education Change Commission (AECC), namely,
solving unstructured problems, locating and organizing the appropriate data, and determining acceptable
solutions.

COURSES FOR WHICH THIS CASE WOULD BE APPROPRIATE
This case would be appropriate in various classes. It could be used in the first intermediate financial accounting
class just after the discussion of contingencies. It could also be used after students are exposed to pensions and
post retirement benefits which are similar in that companies report a liability for costs that will not be incurred
until many years into the future. The case could be used in an advanced undergraduate course after completion
of an auditing course to integrate financial reporting issues and audit reporting issues related to environmental
matters. Finally, the case could be used in an MBA course where the professor’s objective is to demonstrate
the need to manage the financial reporting process.
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PREREQUISITES TO THIS CASE
Students should have studied Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5 (SFAS No. 5), "Accounting for
Contingencies," in detail. In addition, students should review Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 92. If the instructor
would like to cover this case in depth, the student should read the draft of the AcSEC Statement of Position
"Environmental Remediation Liabilities." There is also a list of references at the end of the student portion of
the case write-up.
TIME NEEDED TO TEACH THIS CASE

For most situations it would be appropriate to teach this case in three one-hour sessions. The first session would
be used for a quick review of the prerequisites, and discussions of the objectives of the case, the facts and
circumstances and the first five questions. The second session should include a discussion of questions six
through ten. The last session should be used to complete the questions and summarize the objectives met by the
case.
USES OF THE TEACHING NOTES
The teaching notes have been written with the intention that they could be provided to the student after the second
one-hour session. The professor may want to collect the students’ work at the end of the second session and
make the teaching notes available to the students. Because of the complexity of the circumstances and the number
of possible interpretations of the guidance the teaching notes should be viewed as one possible suggested solution.
Other interpretations are possible depending on the financial reporting tendencies against reporting of
environmental liabilities and tolerance for uncertainty.

MAIN ACCOUNTING ISSUE
At what point in time has an environmental liability been incurred? Where along the remediation continuum from
the disposal of the hazardous waste through implementation of the remediation is it appropriate to accrue and/or
disclose a liability? What set of circumstances generally triggers the accrual and/or disclosure of loss
contingencies or the changes therein? At what point does the degree of certainty of the estimates compel the firm
to accrue and/or disclose them?
The following list is presented to demonstrate the various points at which the liability related to an
environmentally damaged site could be accrued and/or disclosed:11

•

At the time the site is being used as part of, or in connection with, the operation of the business and steps
being taken are not sufficient to prevent environmental damage.

•

Upon (internal) discovery that there will be future cleanup costs.

•

Upon investigation, but before notification as a PRP by a regulatory authority such as the EPA.

•

Upon official notification by a regulatory authority that the firm is a PRP.

•

Upon consent to conduct a remedial investigation and feasibility study (RI/FS).

•

During or upon completion of the RI/FS, at which point the firm is aware of alternative cleanup approaches
and the respective estimates of the cost to remediate even though firms may be unable to determine their
portion of the responsibility.

•

When the EPA issues an Administrative Order requiring particular action that is enforceable by law.

•

Upon completion of the remedial design.11

11 This list is adapted from the Price Waterhouse Publication; Accounting for Environmental Compliance:
Crossroad of GAAP, Engineering and Government.
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•

When the EPA issues an Administrative Order requiring particular action that is enforceable by law.

•

Upon completion of the remedial design.

•

When the allocation of responsibility is known.

•

When the firm actually incurs costs to remediate.

•

When the firm has exhausted all of their potential recovery alternatives (i.e., recovery from other potential
responsible parties that did not participate).

Environmental liabilities should be accrued when the criteria of SFAS No. 5 are met. SFAS No. 5 requires
accrual of a liability when (a) information available prior to issuance of the financial statements indicates that it
is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements
and (b) the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. If the requirements of accrual are not met, then the
loss contingency should be disclosed in the footnotes unless the probability that a loss has been incurred is remote.

An enterprise’s environmental remediation obligation that results in a liability generally does not become
determinable as a distinct event, nor is the amount of the liability normally fixed and determinable at a specific
point in time. Rather, the existence of a liability for environmental remediation costs becomes determinable and
the amount of the liability becomes estimable over a continuum of events and activities that help to frame, define,
and verify the liability.12
SUGGESTED ANSWERS TO CASE QUESTIONS

In this section the appropriate accounting issues will be raised in order to answer the questions at the end of the
case write-up. Current accounting guidance and practice at the time this case was written will be used to address
these issues. For example, to answer the question, What are the disclosure issues for the year ended 1989?, the
user of this case should answer the question as if current accounting practice and guidance existed as of the end
of 1989. As explained in the directions to the questions near the end of the case write-up materiality is ignored
when answering the questions. Because current accounting guidance is being used as opposed to the guidance
that existed at the time of the circumstances and materiality is ignored the recommended disclosures in these
teaching notes can not be compared to Chevron’s expected or actual disclosures.
The same accounting issues will be evaluated to varying degrees at different points in time as the
circumstances of the case warrant. Addressing the issues in a chronological order allows the teaching notes to
accomplish two important objectives. First, the user will be able to appreciate how the information set increases
over time which allows the reader to develop their own ideas about the level of uncertainty that is acceptable for
accrual and/or disclosure; and (2) the reader will be able to pull all the issues together and make a reporting
decision at each point in time.
The table on the following page summarizes the accounting issues and assesses the certainty with which these
issues have been resolved at the end of each year. This table shows how uncertainty typically diminishes over
time and is an excellent tool to organize the information in the case.13

12 SOP, pp. 44
13 There is a blank copy of the table at the end of the teaching note.

Potential Recovery from other PRPs.
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•
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The amount

•

•

•

•

Liability has been incurred by the balance sheet date

1982

NI

NI

NI

6

6

10

10

1988

1984-

NI

NI

PI

6

6

10

10

1989

NI

VPI

PI

9
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Answer to Question No. 1:

In order to answer question No. 1 the first accounting issue that needs to be evaluated is: does the information
available prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicate that it is probable that a liability has been
incurred.
The underlying cause of an environmental remediation liability is the owning, operating, contribution or
transportation of waste to a site at which remedial actions must take place. For a liability to be recognized, in
the financial statements, this underlying cause must have occurred on or before the date of the financial
statements.14 By the end of 1981, it is fairly certain that remedial actions will be necessary as evidenced by
the closure of Purity in 1975, the severe environmental damage that has been done at the site, the Fresno County
Superior Court order to empty and backfill the pits that was never completed and the ongoing investigations by
the Department of Health Services (DHS) and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). The underlying
cause of Chevron’s potential liability was the contribution of waste oil to the recycling facility prior to the 1981
financial statements when many firms, including Chevron, contributed waste oil to the site.
SFAS No. 5’s probability criterion consists of two elements both of which must have been satisfied on or
before the date of the financial statements in order for such a liability to be accrued.
• Litigation, a claim, or an assessment must have been asserted, or, based on available information, assertion
of litigation, a claim, or an assessment must be probable. [It has been or will be asserted that the entity is
responsible for participating in a remediation process because of a past event.]
• Based on available information, it must be probable that the outcome of such litigation, claim, or assessment
will be unfavorable. [An entity will be held responsible for participating in a remediation process because
of the past event.]

Given the legal framework within which most environmental remediation liabilities arise, AcSEC concluded that
there is a rebuttable presumption that, if litigation, a claim, or an assessment has been asserted or is probable
of assertion and if the reporting entity is associated with the site — that is, if it in fact arranged for disposal or
transportation of hazardous substances to a site or is the current or previous owner or operator of the site — the
outcome of such litigation, claim, or assessment will be unfavorable. 15
As of the end of 1981, no litigation, claim or assessment has been asserted against any parties by federal
environmental agencies. However, state and local authorities have filed a claim against Marcus, the owner of
Purity at the time it was closed. The claim against Marcus will not be fulfilled because he has filed bankruptcy
and does not have the resources or expertise to complete the remediation. This creates the possibility that an
assessment will be made against parties who contributed waste oil. State and federal agencies are authorized to
hold parties responsible even though they were only indirectly involved with a site. If a claim is asserted,
AcSEC’s forthcoming SOP would require Chevron to presume that the outcome of the claim will be unfavorable,
i.e., they will be held responsible for a portion of the remediation.
The second accounting issue that must be evaluated to determine the appropriate disclosure for 1981 is: Can
the amount of the loss be reasonably estimated? Estimation of environmental remediation liabilities is riddled with
uncertainties which in many situations decrease as the process moves along the continuum from identification to
assessment and remediation. The following items are important in developing cost estimates: (1) The extent and
type of hazardous substances, (2) The technologies that can be used for remediation, (3) The evolving standards
that define what is acceptable remediation, and (4) The possibility that the cost of remediation will be shared with
other responsible parties or insurance companies.16 The geological characteristics, such as its proximity to
groundwater and the use of the property in the vicinity, may also affect the cost estimates.

14 SOP, p. 44
15 Ibid., pp. 45-46

16 Ibid., p. 46
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At the end of 1981, no estimates of the cost of cleanup were available. SAB No. 92 states that it is not
acceptable to exclude a site because a specific estimate for that particular site is not available. Even in situations
in which the company has not performed a detailed remediation study or developed a strategy for remediation,
information necessary to support a reasonable estimate or a range of estimates may be available. However,
because of the severity of the damage and the uniqueness of Purity, it may be reasonable to argue that there is
not enough information available to estimate the cleanup costs as of the end of 1981.
The estimation of costs should include the enterprise’s portion of the estimated liability that will not be paid
by other PRPs. At the end of 1981, except for the responsibility of Marcus, there was very little information
available on any other parties potentially responsible for the cleanup. However, numerous other companies, in
a situation similar to Chevron, are faced with the possibility that an assessment will be asserted against them.
The existence of other potentially responsible parties is not substantiation for ignoring the possible liability that
Chevron may have incurred.
At the end of 1981, it would not be appropriate to record a loss and accrue a liability on Chevron’s financial
statements even though it is probable that cleanup will be necessary and Chevron, along with many others,
contributed waste oil to Purity. Although it is possible that an unfavorable assessment against Chevron will be
forthcoming, an accrual would not be appropriate because a reasonable estimate of the total cost of remediation
is not available. In addition, Chevron’s portion of responsibility is unknown. According to SFAS No. 5, a loss
contingency that fails to meet either or both of the requirements for accrual should be disclosed if there is a
reasonable possibility that a loss may have been incurred. Disclosure of the loss contingency should indicate the
nature of the contingency and should either (1) give an estimate of the probable loss or range of loss, or (2) state
that such an estimate cannot be made. Disclosure of the loss contingency without estimates would be appropriate
at the end of 1981.

Answer to Question No. 2:
At the end of 1982, the addition of the Purity site to the EPA’s National Priority List would not change the
disclosure recommended at the end of 1981. The placement of Purity on the NPL provides additional
substantiation that remedial action will eventually be necessary. However, it does not provide any additional
information about (1) the probability that an assessment will be made against Chevron, (2) the assessment will
be unfavorable, (3) estimates of the cleanup costs, or (4) the relative responsibility of the PRPs. The disclosure
recommendation is the same as at the end of 1981.

Answer to Question No. 3:
At the end of 1983, Chevron’s receipt of and reply to the Request for Information (RFI) increases the probability
(possibly minimally) that an assessment will be made against Chevron. The purpose of the RFI was to gather
information related to the Purity site. It did not state specifically that Chevron was being named a potentially
responsible party (PRP). Even though the RFI does not specifically name Chevron as a PRP, it may in some
people’s opinions increase the probability that an assessment will be made against Chevron. The receipt of the
RFI forced Chevron to evaluate their involvement at the site and, based on their lack of involvement with the
regulatory agencies at that time, must have concluded that their involvement was limited. No additional
information became available in 1983 about estimates of the cost of cleanup or the allocation of responsibility
among involved parties. Therefore, the criteria for accrual of the liability has not been met and there is no
change in the disclosure recommended at the end of the previous two years.

Answer to Question No. 4:
As of the end of the years 1984 through 1988, based on Chevron’s perceived level of involvement and practice
that existed at the time, Chevron did not need to follow the events that affected Purity. They were not involved
in the remedial investigations or the emergency remedial actions that were carried out by these agencies. The
actions by the governmental agencies almost certainly confirmed that remedial action would be necessary (as if
this was not known already). Even though the actions taken by these agencies were not directed at Chevron, the
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fact that the Purity site was receiving serious attention in itself increased the probability that an assertion would
be made against parties that were involved. The respective government agencies had published their investigation
reports; however, investigation reports do not usually include estimates of the cost of cleanup. In addition,
Chevron had not received any additional notification from the EPA after the RFI received in 1983. Therefore,
even though some of the uncertainty may have been reduced in these periods, the disclosure would not change
from the end of 1983.
Answer to Question No. 5:

The feasibility study issued in 1989 provided estimates of the future cost of cleanup of both the groundwater and
the soil for the entire site. While these estimates do resolve, to some degree, the uncertainty of being able to
estimate the cost of cleanup, a few significant uncertainties remain. The estimate of Chevron’s portion of the
entire cleanup is still unknown so it is difficult to know what portion of the total cleanup cost to allocate to
Chevron. It is also still not probable that an assessment will be asserted against Chevron.
The estimates made available in the 1989 feasibility study are the first estimates available on the Purity site.
Estimates generally go through numerous revisions; therefore, the first estimates for a site are generally not
precise. In addition, these estimates were generated as a result of an EPA-driven Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study (RI/FS) without the input of the Potentially Responsible Parties (PRP). Generally, PRP
input has a significant effect on cleanup methodology and consequently the estimates because PRPs may have
significant resources to find and utilize improved management and remediaiton techniques. Because these
estimates were created without the participation of the PRPs, they are probably not based on the methodology
that is going to be used to complete the remediation effort. The SOP17 provides guidance in this area: the
remediation action plan that is used to develop the estimate of the liability should be based on the methodology
that is expected to be used to complete the remediation effort. Therefore, while these estimates are better than
no estimates at all, they may not be "reasonably estimated" because they were developed without the participation
of the PRPs.
If the assumption is made that the 1989 feasibility study estimates are "reasonably estimated" the question
becomes: if a specific point estimate is not available, then can a range of estimates be considered an estimate?
Estimates have been presented for various alternative cleanup methods as well as the EPA’s preferred alternative.
FASB Interpretation No. 14, "Reasonable Estimation of the Amount of a Loss," concludes that the criteria for
recognition of a loss contingency in paragraph 8(b) of SFAS No. 5 that "the amount can be reasonably
estimated" are met when a range of loss can be reasonably estimated. When some amount within the range
appears to be a better estimate of the loss than any other amount within the range, that amount should be accrued
by a charge to income. If no single amount within the range appears to be a better estimate of loss than any
other, the minimum amount in the range should be accrued. SAB No. 92 offers the additional guidance:18
notwithstanding significant uncertainties, management may not delay recognition of a contingent liability until only
a single amount can be estimated. Recognition of a loss equal to the lower limit of the range is necessary even
if the upper limit of the range is uncertain. The estimate that is appropriate to be used if the liability is accrued
and/or disclosed would be the EPA’s preferred alternative because they generally enforce the implementation of
the preferred alternative. The preferred alternative could be interpreted as the "best" estimate in the range. The
EPA issued a record of decision on the preferred alternative for the groundwater remediation alternative. They
did not take similar action on the soil portion of the remediation; however, it is still appropriate to use the
preferred alternative for the soil as opposed to the range. The amount that should be accrued and/or disclosed
for all parties responsible for Purity, if it is determined that accrual or disclosure is appropriate, would be
$53,680,000 plus a percentage of this amount to cover administrative costs.19

17 SOP, p. 60
18 SAB No. 92.
19 $7,500,000 (groundwater, alternative 3, table 1) + $46,180,000 (soil, alternative 2, table 2). The amount of
the additional percentage to cover administration of the remediation process ranges on average between 20 and
35% of the total remediation costs.
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The level of responsibility of Chevron in relation to the other potentially responsible parties is still unknown.
According to the SOP,20 additional complexities arise when other PRPs are involved in an identified site. The
costs associated with remediation of a site ultimately will be assigned and allocated among the various PRPs.
The final allocation of costs may not be known, however, until the remediation effort is substantially complete,
and it may or may not be based on the enterprise’s relative direct responsibility at the site. An enterprise’s final
obligation depends, among other things, on the willingness of the enterprise and other PRPs to negotiate a cost
allocation, the results of the enterprise’s negotiation efforts, the ability of the other PRPs to fund the remediation
effort, and the number of PRPs identified as associated with the particular site. Uncertainties relating to the
enterprise’s share of an environmental remediation liability should not preclude an enterprise from recognizing
its best estimate of its share of the liability or, if no "best" estimate can be made, the minimum estimate of its
share of the liability, if the liability is probable and the total remediation liability associated with the site is
reasonably estimable within a range. Uncertainties regarding an enterprise’s share of the liability will affect the
measurement of the liability to be recorded by the enterprise.21
In summary, at the end of 1989 accrual would probably not be appropriate for the following reasons: first,
it is not probable that a liability has been incurred by Chevron because they have not been named as a PRP or
given a direct order to be involved in the cleanup and, second, estimates are somewhat questionable because the
PRPs were not involved. Estimates are available for the entire site; however, reasonable estimates are not yet
available for Chevron’s portion. It is reasonably possible that a liability has been incurred by Chevron and that
some minimum portion of the responsibility could be determined and, therefore, it would be appropriate to
describe the situation in the footnotes with estimates.

Answer to Question No. 6:
The uncertainty regarding the assertion of a claim against Chevron was resolved in 1990 when Chevron received
the General Notice Letter (GNL) from the EPA. This was the first time that Chevron had been officially named
as a PRP. The uncertainties that existed regarding the validity of the estimates for the entire site remained in
1990, as no new estimates became available.
The uncertainties regarding the allocation of the responsibility has been reduced only slightly now that it is
known that there are 88 named PRPs. However, this information is of minimal help in the allocation because
it is not known how to allocate among those 88 parties. In addition, there may be some yet-to-be identified
responsible parties. It is possible that the portion allocated to Chevron will be quite small because of the small
number of Chevron company-operated stations. The GNL listed a small number of service stations contributing
oil of which about three quarters were dealer-operated.
At the end of 1990, it would be possible to accrue a minimum allocation of the total cleanup costs. A liability
has been incurred based on the naming of Chevron as a PRP. Based on the previously mentioned SOP guideline
"Uncertainties relating to the enterprise’s share of an environmental liability should not preclude the enterprise
from recognizing its best estimate of the share of the liability...," it would be appropriate to accrue a minimum
allocation of the preferred alternative for both the groundwater and the soil. A description of the basis for the
allocation should be explained in the footnotes. While the range of costs associated with the alternatives may be
broad, the minimum clean-up cost is unlikely to be zero.22 The primary change which occurred in 1990 that
influenced the change in recommended disclosure from disclosure in the footnotes to accrual of a minimum
portion of the potential liability was the certainty that a claim would be assessed against Chevron. This made
it possible to be more tolerable of the uncertainty in the estimate of the total cleanup cost and the uncertainty in
the allocation among PRPs.

Answer to Question No. 7:
The requirement in the Special Notice Letter (SNL) that the PRPs enter into a consent decree on the groundwater
constitutes an assessment against the PRPs for that portion of the remediation. This is further confirmed for nine

20 SOP, pp. 47-48.

21 Ibid., p. 48

22 SAB No. 92, p. 9
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of the PRPs who were named in the administrative Order (AO). An official assessment had yet to be asserted
against Chevron on the soil portion of the remediation.
The May 1991 revised estimate for the groundwater remediation improved the quality of the estimate because
the estimate was up-to-date, it was for a specific alternative, and it was the basis for the work required by the
AO. The estimate still has the same limitations as the estimate from the 1989 feasibility study; namely, they are
not based on the methodology specifically decided upon for the remediation and the estimate was not a result of
PRP involvement. As additional information becomes available, changes in estimates of the liability should be
reported in the period that these changes occur.23 The measurement of the liability should be based on currently
available facts, existing technology and presently enacted laws and regulations. No changes in the above should
be anticipated until those changes have actually occurred.24
The revised estimate for the groundwater remediation was divided between a one-time construction cost and
an annual operations and maintenance cost. It is appropriate to discount the operations and maintenance costs
if the costs include the effect of inflation and if the amounts are fixed and readily determinable. Estimations in
filings with the EPA usually include the effect of inflation on the estimates.25 The rate that should be used to
discount the cash payments should be the rate that will produce an amount at which the environmental liability
can be settled in an arm’s-length transaction with a third party.26 If the rate is not readily determinable, the
discount rate used to discount the cash payments should not exceed the interest rate on monetary assets that are
essentially risk free27 and have maturities similar to that of the environmental liability. If the liability is recog
nized on a discounted basis to reflect the time value of money, the notes to the financial statements should at a
minimum include (1) the discount rate used, (2) the expected aggregate undiscounted amount, (3) expected
payments for each of the five succeeding years and the aggregate amount thereafter, and (4) a reconciliation of
the expected aggregate undiscounted amount to the amount recognized in the statement of financial position.28
As of the end of 1991, the firms have been specifically notified of the past costs incurred by the EPA and
DHS in the late 1980s to do the investigation work and some remediation work. These costs should be added
to the estimates used for the groundwater and the soil.
The estimate that would be appropriate for the entire site would be determined as follows (Chevron’s portion
would depend on the allocation among responsible parties):
Groundwater treatment facility construction

$ 5,054,000

Present value of the operations and maintenance of the groundwater treatment
facility29

9,498,000

46,180,000

Total expected cost for soil remediation30

Past costs due to the EPA and state agencies

6,100,000

Cost of administrating remediation process31

16,708,000

Total expected remediation costs

$83,540,000

23 APB No. 20
24 SAB No. 92

25 SOP, p. 60

26 SAB No. 92, p. 9
27 Risk free rate as described in Paragraph 4(a) of SFAS No. 76

28 SAB No. 92, p. 10
29 15 year ordinary annuity at 5% times the $915,000 expected annual cost.

30 From 1989 EPA feasibility study.

31 Assumes the administrative costs are approximately 25% of the total expected remediation costs.
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The allocation of responsibility among the PRPs was one of the remaining uncertainties at the end of 1990. The
SOP32 provides guidance on the allocation of responsibility. The estimation of an enterprise’s allocable share
of the aggregate remediation liability for a site requires an enterprise to: (1) identify the other PRPs for the site,
(2) assess the likelihood (based primarily on the financial condition of the responsible party) that other PRPs will
pay their full allocable share of the aggregate remediation liability, and (3) determine the percentage of the
liability that will be allocated to the enterprise. By the end of 1991, the PRPs have been identified by the EPA;
however, the list may not be complete and the type of each PRP is not known. The SOP33 identifies five
different types of PRPs based on their willingness to accept responsibility. These types are: (1) Participating
PRPs that do not deny their potential liability, (2) Nonparticipating PRPs that deny their potential liability despite
evidence that points to their liability, (3) Unproven or "hiding in the weeds" PRPs that have been identified by
the EPA but deny liability because there is no evidence at that time to link them to the site, (4) Unknown PRPs
that have not yet been identified as PRPs, and (5) Orphan Share PRPs that are PRPs but cannot be located or
have no assets. The uncertainty of the financial status of the PRPs is assumed not to be an issue for the
participating PRPs (those involved in the Steering Committee (SC)). The receipt of the Estimated Contribution
List (ECL) sheds some light on the allocation of responsibility among the parties. The ECL does provide some
information about the relative responsibility; however, it does not reduce the uncertainty as much as it might have
because the allocation was based on unreliable information. The EPA admitted that the allocations were guesses.
The issuance of the AO on the groundwater designating only 9 out of the 89 PRPs reduced the uncertainty of
the allocation of the responsibility. The participating PRPs in the SC have the right to seek recovery from the
other PRPs. The 9 companies mentioned in the AO were not necessarily the firms that had a majority of the
responsibility according to the ECL.
At the end of 1991, it would be possible to accrue some allocation of the total cleanup costs. The estimate
of the total cleanup cost is improved over the previous year because it includes a new estimate of the groundwater
remediation and it includes the past costs. The main uncertainty remaining is the allocation of the total cleanup
cost. While there is new information from the ECL in 1991, it is not clear if the information is reliable. The
naming of the 9 firms in the AO and the formation of the SC is the best new information to be used in the
allocation because the SOP indicates that the allocation should be among participating PRPs. In estimating its
allocable share of the aggregate remediation liability for a site, there is a rebuttable presumption that costs will
be allocated only among participating PRPs, as that category exists at the balance sheet date.34 According to
SAB No. 92, responsible parties only have to show the portion of the total clean-up costs that they are responsible
for if it is probable that other responsible parties will pay costs apportioned to them. If there are some
uncertainties about the other parties’ ability or willingness to pay, those uncertainties must be discussed in the
footnotes. A note to the financial statements should discuss any additional loss that is reasonably possible because
of these uncertainties.
If the user interprets the costs on the groundwater as costs for which it is probable that a liability has been
incurred, but feels that the costs on the soil portion of the remediation are reasonably possible, those additional
reasonably possible losses should be disclosed in the footnotes. The SEC has been seeking to ensure the proper
disclosure of reasonably possible additional losses — i.e., the amount of the loss over and above the amount
already accrued.35 SFAS No. 5 par. 10 suggests that the amount of reasonably possible additional losses should
be disclosed in a note to the financial statements, or if such possible losses cannot be estimated, the company
should so state.

32 SOP, p. 61.

33 Ibid., pp. 62-64.
34 SOP.
35 Petracca, D. and J. Surma, 1994, "The Continuing Environmental Challenge Facing the Petroleum Industry,"
Price Waterhouse.
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A firm may have accrued a loss for the probable future costs to clean up environmental damage. If this
accrual was made at the minimum of a range, there could be reasonably possible losses for an amount greater
than the probable portion. Disclosure should be made of the existence of (additional) reasonably possible loss
contingencies, as well as an estimate of the (additional) possible loss or a statement that an estimate cannot be
made and the reasons.36

Answer to Question No. 8:

The disclosure at the end of 1992 is the same as at the end of the previous year. Additional information on the
allocation of responsibility among participating parties did not become available in 1992; therefore, the strength
of the accrual estimate cannot be increased. The liability (either accrued and/or disclosed) could be decreased
as a result of the new lower estimates on the soil remediation. However, many companies do not elect to
decrease accruals if estimates go down unless the remediation is substantially complete. Reduction of the accrual
would involve recording income for the amount the accrual was reduced. Companies generally have an
asymmetrical tolerance for recording the loss and the income. They are more inclined to record the loss than
record the income.37
The receipt of the demand for the past costs by all 89 PRPs in 1992 should not affect the liability because
the past costs were included in the liability as of the end of 1991. Interest at 5% should be accrued on the unpaid
past costs.
The costs actually incurred as part of the groundwater remedial design will reduce the liability accrued
previously by the actual costs incurred times the portion of the liability that Chevron assumed was allocated to
them when they accrued the liability.

Answer to Question No. 9:
The disclosure at the end of 1993 is the same as at the end of the previous year. The revised estimate that was
received on the groundwater after the completion of the remedial design is the best estimate that has been
available so far in the process because it is based on the actual methodology to be used for the cleanup and it was
developed with PRP involvement. The problem with estimates with these characteristics is they tend to become
available late in the process. This estimate should be used in the accrual and/or disclosure at the end of 1993.
The SOP38 provides guidance on the voluntary consent order signed for the remedial design of the soil.
Environmental remediation actions are sometimes undertaken at the sole discretion of management, that is, they
are undertaken voluntarily and are not induced by the threat of assertion of litigation, a claim, or an assessment.
Within the framework established by Statement No. 5, such discretionary environmental remediation actions do
not represent liabilities that should be accrued. What constitutes assertion of litigation, a claim, or an assessment
in relation to particular environmental laws and regulations may require legal determination. Therefore, if the
remedial design is being undertaken with the threat of assertion, which is probably true in this case, then an
accrual would be required.
Answer to Question No. 10:

The disclosure at the end of 1994 is the same as at the end of the previous year. The estimates however should
take advantage of the allocation system that is available between the members of the SC (participating PRPs).

36 SOP, pp. 77-78

37 This income and the tendency for recording it should not be confused with the potential income related to
recovery of costs from third parties.
38 Ibid., p. 45
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The circumstances of the potential recovery should be evaluated independently from the circumstances of the
liability. Any loss arising from the recognition of an environmental liability should be reduced by a potential
claim for recovery only when the claim is probable of realization.39
Generally, the third party should acknowledge its obligation under the claim and have the financial ability to
perform. If the recovery is subject to litigation, a rebuttable presumption exists that realization of the claim is
not probable. For the amount of the recovery to be reliably determinable, the amount and timing of the cash
receipts should be based on contractual terms or other objective, verifiable information.40
An asset that is recognized relating to a claim for recovery of the liability that is recognized on a discounted
basis also should be discounted to reflect the time value of money.41
Separate presentation of the gross liability and related claim for recovery in the balance sheet most fairly
presents the potential consequences of the contingent claim on the company’s resources and is the preferable
method of display. The risks and the uncertainties associated with the registrant’s contingent liability are separate
and distinct from those associated with its claim for recovery from third parties.42 This is consistent with the
conclusion of the Emerging Issues Task Force No. 90-5 that the liability and the related recovery should be
estimated and evaluated independently. Accounting guidance generally forbids the offsetting of assets and
liabilities unless a right of setoff exists. The right of setoff exists only when all of the following conditions are
met (it would be rare that the circumstances surrounding environmental remediation liabilities and related potential
recoveries would meet all these conditions): (1) Each of the two parties owe the other determinable amounts,
(2) The reporting party has the right to setoff the amounts owed with the amount owed the third party, (3) The
reporting party intends to setoff, and (4) The right of setoff is enforceable by law.43 If netting does occur,
disclosures should be included to indicate the gross amount of any claim for recovery.
In most circumstances, the point in time at which a liability for environmental remediation is both probable
and reasonably estimable will precede the point in time at which a related recovery is both probable of realization
and reliably determinable.44
Answer to Question No. 11:

Environmental liabilities are generally significant enough to disclose details regarding the judgment and
assumptions underlying the recognition and measurement of the liability. This may include more detailed
information on the individual sites that the company is responsible for, including such things as the status of
identification by a regulatory agency as well as the outcome of those efforts taken to estimate the cost of
remediation.
According to Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 22 disclosure of accounting principles in the
accounting policies note should include (among other things) the event, situation, or set of circumstances that
generally triggers recognition of loss contingencies that arise out of an enterprise’s environmental remediation
obligations.
Answer to Question No. 12:

APB Opinion No. 30, "Reporting the Results of Operations," sets forth the criteria for reporting of an
extraordinary item. Environmental remediation provisions relate to the previous operating activities of the

39 SAB No. 92, p. 3.

40 SOP, pp. 67-68.

41 Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 93-5, Financial Accounting Standards Board
42 SAB No. 92
43 SOP, p. 70
44 Ibid, p. 68
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enterprise or its predecessor businesses and are not unusual and, therefore, do not meet the requirements for being
classified as an extraordinary item. It is particularly difficult to substantiate classification of environmental
remediation expenses as a component of non-operating expenses.
Because release of hazardous substances is caused by an enterprise’s operations, remediation costs should be
charged against operations as well. Although charging the costs of remediating past environmental impacts
against current operations may appear debatable under the matching concept because of the time between the
contribution or transportation of waste materials containing hazardous substances to a site and the subsequent
incurrence of remediation costs, environmental remediation-related expenses have become a regular cost of
operating a business.
Answer to Question No. 13:

The tax ramifications of costs incurred for environmental matters is discussed in the recently released Revenue
Ruling No. 94-38.45 This ruling covers an example very similar to the one presented in the Purity case and
concludes that the costs incurred to treat soil and water are deductible expenses, but that costs to construct
treatment facilities are capital expenditures. The ruling assumed that the remediation was being done on property
owned by the taxpayer. The ruling does not provide guidance when a group of companies is required to
remediate a third party’s property.
ADDITIONAL AREAS THAT COULD BE CONSIDERED
• The role of materiality and its interaction with the resolution of uncertainty.

• Insurance as a possible recovery mechanism.
• Changes in accrual estimates.

• Ramifications of the environmental remediation on external auditor’s procedures and reports.

45 IRS Revenue Ruling No. 94-38 (June 3, 1994).

•

Likelihood that there will be an assessment asserted against
Chevron.
Likelihood that the assessment against Chevron will be unfavorable.

The underlying cause of the damage by Chevron (i.e., contribution
of waste oil to the site) has occurred by the balance sheet date.

A site exists at which remedial actions will need to take place in the
future.

The allocation of the responsibility of Chevron compared to other
PRPs is available.
Potential Recovery from other PRPs.

An estimate of the cleanup cost is available for the entire site.

No disclosure.

Disclose in the footnotes with estimates.
Disclose in footnotes without estimates.

Accrue Loss, Record Contingent Liability and disclose in footnotes.

1982
1983

1988

19841989
1990
1991

1992

1993

1994

Certainty/Probability Ranking. (0 to 10); 0 = uncertain/ not probable; 10 = certain/probable.
NI = no information.; VPI = very preliminary information; PI = preliminary information; FCI = fairly certain information; CI = certain
information.

•

•
•
|| •

Disclosure Options

•

•

•

|| The amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated

||

•

•

•

Liability has been incurred by the balance sheet date

1981

Level of Certainty/Probability of Available Information
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FOREWORD

Corporate America is being shackled by an overwhelming occurrence of fraudulent activity. The U.S. Chamber
of Commerce estimates that the cost of fraud exceeds $100 billion annually. The financial services industry,
particularly savings and loan and investment firms, have been cited for an unprecedented amount of litigation
claiming fraudulent management behavior. The Silverado, Vernon, and Lincoln Savings and Loan cases alone
involved more than $4 billion in misused assets and funds. The Drexel Burnham Lambert and Solomon Brothers
brokerage firm cases also involved multi-million dollar improper use of funds. Reports of management
misconduct extends well beyond the financial services’ industry to other industries like retail, including the
granddaddy of merchandising — Sears (cited for overcharging auto repair customers), and television ministries
such as James Baker of PTL. Practically, every key industry within America has been faced with major cases
of management opportunistic behavior during the 1980’s and 1990’s.
Fraud impacts the macro and micro forces within our economy. On the macro level fraud imposes a major
financial burden on businesses and the government which ultimately is passed on to the consumer/taxpayer. For
example the snowballing estimated costs to bailout the financial services industry is more than a half a trillion
dollars. That is enough money to provide complete scholarships, including room and board, for each one of the
more than eight million college students. Likewise, fraud on the micro level also imposes a significant cost on
a respective organization. For example, the perpetration of fraud by Phar-Mor’s senior officers has placed the
once fast growing drug distributor and retail outlet into bankruptcy. Phar-Mor has closed more than 30% of its
stores and reduced its labor force by an even greater percentage. Thus, this fraud may lead to the demise of a
once solid company that had a bright future for success. More importantly, fraud has impacted the life of each
employee who no longer is employed by Phar-Mor. The macro and micro facets of fraud pose a major challenge
to both professionals and academicians. Both parties must gain a better understanding of the underlying causes
and develop effective training courses in the prevention and detection of fraud.
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Professionals and academicians must also address the challenges presented by the global economy which is
no longer dominated by the manufacturing sector. The economy is drastically changing from the industrial period
where low skilled labor dominated the production and distribution process to the information and service age
where customer’s dictate the operation of flexible, sophisticated, intelligent and responsive systems.
Consequently, professionals and academicians must gain an understanding of how to effectively design systems
which meet both customer demands as well as fulfill generally accepted internal control objectives. Specifically,
professionals must possess the requisite skills to develop effective preventive and detection management systems
which address the issues presented by the emerging information and service age control environment.
The following case study provides an opportunity for professionals and academicians to evaluate the impact
of fraud within a technologically advanced service organization. This case study presents an opportunity to focus
on a service company which has significantly and successfully integrated technology into its operation and
management process. The case study should challenge the student to gain an understanding of how technology
influences the audit trail, levels of control and audit risks. In addition, this case study should provide the student
an opportunity to evaluate the impact of a customer driven service environment on internal controls.

INTRODUCTION
Shipment Incorporated (SI) was founded in 1980 during the infancy stages of the personal computer (PC) as a
regional transportation service company. Si’s business goal was to become a national leader within the product
delivery segment of the industry. SI began operations with an initial venture capital investment of $10 million
and 100 employees. SI acquired a fleet of trucks, vans and automobiles and single engine planes to service the
Northeast region of the United States. SI sales projections for the first year was $500,000. However, unexpected
demand resulted in first year sales of more than $4 million.
Senior officers and the board of directors were both happy as well as concerned about the market response
to Si’s services. The Chairman of the board and CEO and Si’s independent public accounting firm recommended
adoption of state of the art scheduling and tracking systems for product delivery services. SI hired a leading
information systems company to develop a customized scheduling and tracking system which was based on the
mainframe.
In addition, due to the growing popularity of the PC, SI also requested the ability to interface with the
mainframe through PCs. Si’s accounting firm also recommended that the scheduling/tracking system should be
integrated into the financial reporting and budgeting system.
The consultant hired to develop the system completed the project with significant input from the Si’s CEO
but with little help from any of Si’s operational or financial personnel nor their CPA firm. The completed system
helped put SI in the forefront of the product delivery segment literally overnight. Heretofore, customers were
unable to schedule shipments in a Just-in-Time basis, maximize container loads for special orders or change
delivery schedules without significant costs. The integrated scheduling system, which SI labelled Tracker,
enabled SI to identify the optimal logistical distribution points, pickup and delivery times and sources of demand.
Tracker helped SI to grow from the Northeast region to cover the whole U.S. in less than five years. Assets
grew from the initial $10 million dollar investment to more than a half-billion in five years. The number of
employees grew from 100 to more than 20,000 in five years. SI started acquiring smaller regional companies
based in the U.S., Europe and Asia. By 1986, SI was a multinational corporation with offices in almost every
major country and a few developing countries. Si’s CEO continued to advocate the use of technology to enable
successful management of operations and growth. SI continued to invest in the latest technology to upgrade
Tracker. In 1987 Tracker was upgraded with the hand held computer technology known as electronic data
interchange (EDI). This technology allowed the grounds personnel, customer, and corporate operations to
interface in a real time manner. Therefore, the scheduling and tracking capability was greatly enhanced since
the customer and operations were in real time online communications. This helped to increase sales, reduce late
pickups and deliveries and maximize the utilization of operations personnel. The upgraded Tracker helped to
broaden the market for SI to include perishable and fragile goods.
Again Tracker assisted SI to experience rapid growth from 1987 to 1990. During this time period Si’s sales
went from $300 million to $1.5 billion which placed it on the Fortune 500 list. Assets exceeded $3 billion dollars
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and total employees worldwide was in excess of 60,000. During Si’s rapid growth the CEO promoted three key
themes:

1.

The customer pays our bills.

2.

Employees are all humans.

3.

Learning never stops.

These three tenets of management served as the basis for the corporate culture which existed at SI. Quality was
the number one goal and basis for measuring employee performance. The proverb that the "customer is always
right" was strongly upheld by senior management. Thus, whatever it took to satisfy the customer was the rule
of thumb which governed operations and management. These tenets also promoted fair and equitable treatment
of employees. This belief was manifested into Si’s diverse profile of employees throughout its ranks which
closely parallel the demographics of the U.S. In addition, SI aggressively sought to help high school graduates
who possessed basic learning skills but were not able to attend college. SI offered a very progressive college
assistance program to support continuing education for all employees.
Si’s commitment to customer service, treatment of its human resources, investment in technology and its
phenomenal sales growth led to its recognition as one of the 1991 Best Managed Firms of the Year. A
prestigious award granted by the CEO Association of America. This Award and Si’s financial performance
confirmed the CEO’s beliefs that quality results in success.

FRAUD SCHEME
Perpetrator’s Background
John Clandestine graduated with honors from Yale University in 1977 with a Masters in Economics. John was
hired by one of the major full service transportation companies as a project economist in the budget and planning
department. John worked his way up the corporate ladder until he assumed the position of purchasing manager
in 1983. During his tenure as purchasing manager, John discovered that the accounts payable system for services
required either a contract or a signature on the vendor’s invoice to authorize and initiate payment. The accounts
payable function considered the signature from the appropriate department manager to represent evidence of the
satisfactory receipt of goods or services.
John decided to test the ability of the system to detect fictitious vendors by changing the address on vendors
who had not been used in at least two years. John submitted the vendor change form and noted that the credit
department did not verify address changes. The credit department only verified financial stability of vendors
during their initial entry to the approved vendor list. John noted that subsequent checks were not conducted.
Thus, John was able to change the address of approved vendors to a post office box which he opened for his
benefit. Upon changing the addresses, John proceeded to submit invoices from the vendors that he had changed
the addresses. John had signed the invoices since they were for services related to his department. The invoices
were processed without question and were mailed to the new addresses. John had successfully circumvented
controls for his economic benefit. John continued this practice until he was caught. The controller noted that
John’s department was extremely over budget, particularly in the area of certain services such as training. The
controller asked the internal audit department (LAD) to confidentially investigate the circumstances. The IAD
reviewed the invoices in the expense categories noted by the controller and identified that the vendors expense
code did not match the services rendered. Subsequent investigation revealed that the payees’s address represented
John’s personal post office box.
John Clandestine was terminated immediately. The company was in the process of going public and did not
want to jeopardize their initial public offering with negative news. Thus, they elected not to file charges against
John. In fact, they offered John an excellent letter of reference for another position. John found another position
as a purchasing manager in a larger company within a few months of his termination. John was asked by his new
employer about why he left his former place of work. John provided a fraudulent response by stating that he was
a victim of corporate politics. Since he had a positive letter of recommendation from his former supervisor, his
new company believed his answer and hired John.
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John quickly noted that his new employers’ purchasing system possessed certain internal control weaknesses.
Specifically, John noted that blanket purchase orders did not identify a specific vendor and that payment approval
only required a signature on the invoice. John established four companies with post office box addresses. These
companies were too new and too small to receive a credit report so John’s employer’s credit department placed
them on "Monitor Status." This status indicated that no more than $5,000 in goods or services could be
purchased at one time until the vendor had been with the company for one year. John observed the order limit
and generated false invoices from these four dummy companies. John and his girlfriend forged the names of
department managers on the invoices. John then submitted the invoices through the office mail system. Again,
John had successfully abused weaknesses in internal controls for his personal economic gain.
John continued this practice for almost a year until the company started experiencing major financial losses.
The external and internal auditors assisted management to identify areas where budgetary variances existed due
to inefficiency and poor management. During this review they noted that four vendors classified in two
categories, training and supplies, were related to budget overruns in four departments. Further investigation led
to the discovery that these were fictitious vendors created by John Clandestine. Unlike John’s first employer,
this company wanted to send a message to its investors and its employees that they were diligently cutting costs
and that unethical behavior will not be tolerated. John was sentenced for three years in prison where he served
two years and was released early for good conduct.

Perpetrator Joins SI

In 1991, the same year SI received recognition as the best company of the year, John Clandestine joined the
company as a product delivery specialist in a field office in Kansas City, Kansas. Si’s application form requested
information regarding any criminal records. John answered the question honestly and provided a three page essay
which offered a compassionate response and explanation for his prior unethical and illegal conduct. The local
office manager was touched by the essay and could empathize with John since his son had just been convicted
of petty theft. The local office manager believed that John should be given a chance and hence delayed the paper
work for new personnel to the SI corporate office where all personnel and payroll files are maintained. The local
office manager only provided the essential forms to initiate employment. By the time the essay and criminal files
from the police department were accessed, John had been working for three months. By this time, John had
become a model employee and was already considered for promotion to lead product delivery specialist.
The corporate human resource department specialist assigned to that region was embarrassed to learn that
his region had hired a someone with a criminal record. The human resource specialist determined that John’s
essay and his academic record justified his employment and consequently decided to delete his criminal record
from the personnel files. Furthermore, the human resource specialist believed that Si’s tenet of all employees
are human suggests that everyone should be given a second chance. Hence, John Clandestine was a full fledged
employee and one who did not have the cloud of his past record hanging over him. At least not at SI, since his
criminal record had been removed from his personnel file.
John worked diligently through the ranks and within eighteen months was promoted to the corporate office
in New York City. John was promoted to senior operational analyst. He was responsible for the planning,
budgeting and administration of the short distance transportation services (SDTS). SDTS operated a fleet of
single engine planes and mini-vans. SDTS provided a service function for SI by assisting delivery connections
between Si’s ten distribution centers and each respective customer location. John was promoted in time to
develop the next annual budget, conduct competitive bids for repair and maintenance services and help implement
the next phase of the Tracker integrated purchasing system.
Perpetrator Receives Organizational Authority
John’s prior purchasing experience and related transportation background enabled John to become productive
within a relatively short period of time. Shortly after John’s promotion to NYC the manager of SDTS was
promoted to the Director of Operations. John was the only person familiar with SDTS processes; thus, he was
promoted to replace the manager. Also during this time period, John had moved to a lavish apartment in
Manhattan. John had initially lived in a very meager efficiency across the Hudson river in New Jersey. John
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was tired of commuting, especially since he worked long hours. Although John earned a good salary living in
NYC was very expensive. In addition, John wanted to live the "good life" like everyone else who lived on Park
Avenue. John determined that his salary would barely pay rent and utilities. He needed more money for
entertainment, expensive clothes and traveling in order to live the life he had always wanted and dreamed of while
he was in prison.

Perpetrator Devises a Fraud Plan
John began to devise a plan to increase his income through fraudulent activities. John’s prior work experiences
helped him to identify the strengths and weaknesses of Si’s purchasing process. SI has three methods to authorize
purchases, (1) incidentals and supplies less than $3,000 can be approved without a purchase order, bid or contract
by the department manager; (2) purchases exceeding $3,000 but less than $100,000 must be supported by a
properly approved purchase order; and, (3) purchases in excess of $100,000 must be supported by a contract.
John noted that methods one and three only required a properly approved invoice for payment authorization. In
addition, John noted that the newly implemented Tracker purchasing system did not require signatures on invoices
rather, payment was authorized through the entry of the appropriate approval codes. Since John was part of the
implementation team for the Tracker Purchasing Module he was given access to everyone’s code. John also had
the authority to submit new vendors for addition to the master vendor file.
John established a post office address and bank account for two fictitious companies. One company provided
propeller repair service and the other company provided pilot safety training. John contacted the credit
department and notified them that during the conversion process from the old system to the new Tracker
Purchasing Module that two vendors were inadvertently omitted from the master vendor file. The credit manager
felt that this was a plausible explanation and approved their addition without challenge. The credit manager had
worked with John on a previous project and was impressed by his performance. John had also helped the credit
manager move to a new house in New Jersey. Thus, John was able to add the two companies PropRepair and
PilotSafe to the masters vendor file.
John began to generate invoices and submit them through the company mail system. John accessed the
Tracker purchasing system and issued the approval codes to authorize payment. Accounts payable department
received the invoices and sought approval via Tracker by determining if the appropriate approval codes had been
entered for the invoices received. Upon noting approval, accounts payable would process the invoices for
payment. John had initially generated invoices for incidentals and supplies in order to test the system. Once he
was successful in generating unauthorized payments and the checks were received — he issued a contract where
he forged the Director of Operations’ signature. This allowed John to generate invoices for larger dollar values.
Since the services were based on a contract, payment authorization worked in the same manner as incidentals.
The only support represented the vendor’s invoice and the payment authorization code.
During a two year period John successfully embezzled over $750,000 through the two fictitious vendors.
Si’s annual sales revenue exceeded $3 billion during this same period and assets exceeded $4 billion. John visibly
enjoyed the monetary benefits of his scheme. John was always going on trips and often invited his peers,
subordinates and friends to come along for free. John hosted several parties throughout this time period for no
apparent reason other than to have a good time. Everyone thought John was a hard worker who knew how to
really enjoy life. No one questioned his ability to afford his lifestyle since most people believed that being single
meant you could save money and spend it as you please. John was planning a big Christmas party for everyone
in SDTS and Operations which was to be held at major Manhattan hotel. John had already hosted several
homeless people during the past Thanksgiving at a major church in Manhattan for dinner. Being a host was
nothing new for John Clandestine, he was building a reputation in that regard.
Perpetrator’s Scheme is Uncovered
The week after Thanksgiving Si’s LAD embarked on their bi-annual audit of SDTS. John was a gracious host
and took them out to lunch to conduct their entrance conference and identify the IAD’s audit scope and objectives.
John promised full support of the IAD’s effort and assigned one staff person to work with them in order to help
them gather data and observe operations. The IAD team elected to focus on the effectiveness of the new Tracker
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Purchasing Module and began to randomly select vendors and trace their activities to supporting documents. The
IAD team selected PropRepair as part of their sample.
The detailed tests of the automated Tracker Purchasing Module included the following steps:

1.

Verify that all vendors had been properly approved by the credit department.

2.

Verify that all incidental purchases were reasonable and within the department’s budget and related payments
were properly authorized.

3.

Verify that all contracts were properly executed and accounted for and subsequent purchases were in
compliance with contract terms and authorization procedures.

The IAD, which used an integrated audit approach, also sought to determine the integrity of the information
system dimension of the purchasing function. In other words the IAD team members examined the financial,
operational and systems aspects of purchasing as part of a comprehensive audit process.
The IAD noted that PropRepair was the only vendor which had not been formally approved by the credit
department. When the credit manager added PropRepair to the master vendor list he failed to generate a
confirmation for distribution to accounts payable, the ordering department and for the purchasing department.
The Tracker system requires that an e-mail message be distributed to the appropriate personnel for each new
customer or vendor added to the master file. The credit manager did not perform these steps since John had
convinced him that PropRepair was a formerly approved vendor which had been mistakenly deleted during the
Tracker Purchasing Module system conversion. The credit manager shared the reason why PropRepair was not
formerly approved with the IAD. The IAD immediately launched an investigation regarding the propriety of this
transaction by executing audit software to generate a vendor history report. The report indicated that SI had
remitted approximately $480,000 during the last two years to PropRepair.
During the IAD audit of PropRepair the manager of accounts payable and the director of operations went on
their annual hunting trip. During this trip the accounts payable manager asked the operations manager why he
was spending so much on propeller repairs when they should be covered by the manufacturer’s warranty. The
director had no idea what the accounts payable manager was talking about. John had successfully re-coded the
expenses to other accounts which distorted the reports the director of operations reviewed on a monthly basis.
Upon returning from the hunting trip the director of operations, with the assistance of the accounts payable
manager, discovered that PropRepair was the source of the repair expenditures. The director of operations
immediately contacted corporate security to investigate.
Si’s IAD and corporate security maintain a team relationship which seeks to maximize the protection of the
company’s assets. Thus, corporate security notified the IAD of their investigation into PropRepair. In turn, the
IAD notified security that they had determined that PropRepair was not a properly authorized vendor and that
John Clandestine was the source of their entry into the master vendor file. Security used their extensive resources
including law enforcement agencies to ascertain the exact location of the PropRepair address, who established
the address, and who opened the bank account where the checks were deposited. Meanwhile the IAD obtained
the canceled checks and invoices. The canceled checks were all endorsed by an official "For Deposit Only"
stamp which had PropRepair’s name. IAD’s audit software indicated that the invoices from PropRepair did not
cross reference with the Tracker Asset Maintenance Logs for any of the planes in the SDTS fleet. Further
investigation by security revealed that John had two post office boxes, one under the name of PropRepair and
the other under the name PilotSafe. IAD’s audit software indicated that PilotSafe had been issued over $270,000
in payments in the last fourteen months. Likewise, security noted that there was another bank account opened
by John in the name of PilotSafe. IAD ’s audit software was unable to confirm that pilots received the purported
training since the Tracker Pilot Training File did not reflect any hours attending courses offered by PilotSafe.
The IAD began to conclude that PropRepair and PilotSafe were fictitious vendors and that the services had
never been rendered since there was no evidence in the Tracker Maintenance Logs and Pilot Training Files.
Security’s investigation revealed one common factor, John Clandestine, was related to the post office boxes and
the bank accounts. Further investigation into the background of Clandestine through the local authorities revealed
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that he had a previous criminal record. The IAD and security consulted with Si’s legal counsel who immediately
determined that the case was beyond their jurisdiction of authority and contacted the FBI and local magistrate.
A warrant for John Clandestine was issued and he was escorted by the FBI and held by local authorities for
further prosecution.
Clandestine was prosecuted and sentenced for 10 years on several counts of embezzlement, mail fraud, and
forgery. Clandestine had managed to abuse the authority of his management position and fraudulently
misallocated over $750,000 for personal benefit. The local FBI was overwhelmed with multi-million dollar drug
cases and thus could not allocate any man power to the Clandestine case. Hence, the SI IAD and security
department had provided all of the requisite evidence to convict John Clandestine. Yet the FBI did not pursue
the disposition of the monies collected by John. For example, SI subsequently learned that Clandestine had
transferred more than two hundred thousand dollars to a foreign bank account. However, because the FBI
concluded the investigation SI was prohibited from pursuing financial recovery against any assets held by
Clandestine. If SI had withheld the case from the FBI or local law authorities long enough to ascertain the
location of any tangible or liquid assets they would have been permitted to seek legal recourse against such assets.
SI had to settle for the prison sentence of Clandestine and the mitigation of the fraudulent act due to the work
of the IAD and security. In other words SI had to fully absorb the loss of more than $750,000.

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-05: Detecting Vendor Fraud in a Service Company ♦ 8

Detecting Vendor Fraud in a Service Company
A Case Study of Shipment Inc.
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LEARNING OBJECTIVES
1.

To gain an understanding of the impact of customer driven market environments on internal controls.

2.

To gain an understanding of the impact of technology on the system of internal controls.

3.

To identify the opportunities for fraud to occur and effective methods for detection and prevention.

CASE SUMMARY
This case involves an industry leading transportation service company, Shipment Inc. (SI), which has significantly
integrated information technology into its management process. John Clandestine, who was formerly convicted
of embezzlement, joins SI and works his way to a key position which enables him to perpetrate fraud.
Clandestine developed a reputation as a nice guy, hard worker, reliable and very bright. Thus, he was able to
circumvent stated policies without being challenged. Clandestine eventually embezzled more than $750,000 from
SI. He was subsequently prosecuted and imprisoned through the initial investigation of the internal audit and
security departments.
The case highlights behavioral dimensions, organizational issues and technology issues which play a role
in the system of internal controls. The case also illustrates the importance of internal audit and corporate security
working together as a team in order safeguard and protect a company’s assets. Finally the case, based on an
actual fraud case, provides a hands on opportunity to train professionals and students to develop effective fraud
detection and prevention skills.
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APPLICATION OF THIS CASE
This case is designed for use in the first or second course in external auditing, any course in internal auditing,
a research projects class or information systems course. An abridged version of this case has been provided in
the appendix for use in an introductory accounting course or any beginning level course where internal controls
and ethics are being discussed. This case could also be used for a Human Resource Management course which
focuses on hiring and selection policies. We recommend that students be placed into groups to work on this case.
The audit process is performed by groups and accordingly students should gain experience working in teams.
Groups should seek to respond to the issues (instructors can elect to assign all or a select number of the following
issues to each respective group) listed below in a comprehensive report about the fraud case. The instructor
should require both a written response as well as provide an opportunity for a class presentation. Accountants,
auditors and professionals in general must have excellent written and oral communication skills. This case study
provides an opportunity for students to refine these skills. In addition, there is no correct solution to this case
thus it challenges the students to critically analyze the case. However, a list of key issues to be discussed has
been provided to assist instructor to determine if the underlying objectives for each question has been satisfied.
It is also imperative that students develop problem solving skills since the real world does not always have a
simple multiple choice answer.
We recommend that the case be distributed at least a month in advance. This will allow the students
sufficient time to develop a meaningful response. The instructor should discuss the nature of the case and their
specific requirements e.g. class presentation and length of report while distributing the case. The instructor
should schedule time for class presentations and/or to discuss the submitted responses. In addition, the comments
received should be correlated to the course material to enhance the relevance of the case. If time allows it may
be helpful to solicit the assistance of a professional auditor and/or your respective institution’s professional auditor
to help assess group presentations or reports. This would enhance the students understanding of how important
these issues are to the practice of auditing.
The case should take students an average of three to four hours to complete if all of the questions are
assigned and a written and oral presentation is required. The instructor can use this information to determine the
points to be allocated, the amount of time to allocate for presentations and the scope of questions to be addressed
by the student or student groups. The following questions have been categorized into four areas to facilitate
discussion, responses and case assignment. For example, the instructor may elect to assign a category to a
student or group to minimize the workload and diversify the responses.

ISSUES TO BE CONSIDERED BY STUDENT GROUPS

Ethical Concerns
1.

Is it important to gain an understanding of the corporate culture which surrounds an internal control system?
Did Si’s corporate culture increase their vulnerability to fraud?

2.

How important is a person’s reputation? How did John’s image impact his ability to perpetrate fraud?

3.

Studies show that white collar crimes are committed by very intelligent individuals who are very knowledge
able, particularly of the business where the fraud occurs. How important are technical skills in the
perpetration of fraud? What can the combination of an employee’s reputation as a capable and qualified
professional along with being well liked by other employees have on a fraud perpetrator? How does this
relate to this case?

4.

What happens when people decide to make their own rules because they believe that it is the right thing to
do? What impact does this have on the control system? Who made up their own rules in the SI case and
what was the subsequent impact?

5.

Several employees assisted Clandestine to successfully perpetrate fraud. Are these individuals guilty of
collusion with a criminal or failing to comply with company policies or both?
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The U.S. Labor laws specifically limit the ability of employers to solicit information regarding a prospective
employees former work record. In fact, only an employees dates of employment and confirmation of
employment can be obtained. Should employers solicit the use of private investigators to determine additional
moral character information? Should these investigations continue periodically, i.e. if an employee continues
to receive more authority and responsibility? Would you recommend that the internal audit department have
access to these investigations?

Auditing Factors
7.

Why should internal audit and corporate security have a working relationship? Do they have common goals
and objectives? What type of requisite skills are needed for each respective function? What type of
relationship existed at SI?

8.

This case does not mention the existence of an external auditor. SI was publicly traded on the NYSE thus
we can assume they had an independent auditor. According to SAS No.’s 53 and 54 what role should the
external auditor have played in the SI case?

9.

If the external auditors properly followed GAAS and the internal auditors properly followed the Institute of
Internal Auditors Professional Standards then how could they miss detecting the fraud perpetrated by
Clandestine? Is the $750,000 really significant in view of the $3 billion in revenues SI earned last year?
Is monetary levels the only criteria used to determine materiality? If not provide references to support your
response from professional standards such as Statements of Auditing Standards.

Internal Control Assessment
10. The Tracker system was state of the art for Si’s industry. Describe the benefits and weaknesses of this
system in terms of internal controls. Review the Internal Control Chart listed in the appendix. Recommend
potential solutions to mitigate any weaknesses noted. Will your recommendations meet the cost/benefit
objectives of a corporation?

11. How does the internal control environment at SI match up to the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
description of the five key elements of an effective internal control environment. A listing of the five key
elements is listed in the Appendix.

12. How important are people to a system of internal controls? What role should the human resource function
play in the internal control system? How ethical was the practice of Clandestine’s first employer--providing
a "glowing" recommendation?
13. Some organizations obtain insurance called bonding to minimize losses from an employee who perpetrates
a fraud such as embezzlement. The corporate culture at SI did not support bonding because they believed
it was a signal of distrust. Do you agree with Si’s position regarding bonding? Should Clandestine be
bonded?

Information Systems
14. What role should auditors play in the design, implementation, and maintenance of a management information
system? What audit risks can occur if the auditors do not play a role in the design stage? How was Tracker
affected by the lack of auditor input?

15. Can an internal audit department or an external audit firm participate in the design, development and
implementation of an information systems project without impairing independence? Can the auditors still
evaluate and monitor the final system?
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KEY ISSUES TO BE DISCUSSED
Ethical Concerns

1.

According to the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) description of an internal control
system, corporate culture is a key element. SI supported the tenet that the customer must always be
satisfied. Furthermore, SI valued employees who could deliver quality customer service and
rewarded them accordingly. Perhaps Si’s management was willing to assume the risks associated
with placing more emphasis on service than internal controls.

2.

"Perception is greater than fact." This age old saying is very true and must be recognized. Clearly
we often judge books by their covers, hence we stress professional appearance and presentation. In
fact, more emphasis is placed on how good a product looks rather than its substantive qualities.
Likewise, employees who appear to be outstanding often are viewed to be beyond reproach.
Clandestine apparently took advantage of his reputation within SI.

3.

Clandestine graduated from Yale with honors which indicates the level of his intellectual ability.
Clandestine also had to go beyond mere perception and actually produce effective and meaningful
results during his tenure at SI. His performance on the technical design and development and
subsequent implementation of the Tracker system required a high level of managerial and technical
competency. Circumvention of the Tracker system required a comprehensive understanding of its
operation, strengths and weaknesses.

4.
through
6.

SI believed that employees should be empowered to do their jobs. Empowerment generally requires
a substantial amount of authority and responsibility being transferred to a certain level of the organi
zation. Empowerment also assumes a high level of trust in an employee. Thus, Si’s corporate
culture promotes decisions and judgments of its employees. However, it is probably not the intent
of Si’s management that employees use empowerment to make decisions which could be detrimental
to the company. Although decisions such as the credit manager allowing Clandestine to add two
vendors to the list was not an act of collusion by itself, it did however, allow the subsequent perpe
tration of fraud. The nature of Si’s corporate environment would also not support the penetration
of an employee’s personal life and thus would denounce any practices of background checks or
internal sharing of confidential information across departments for control purposes.

Auditing Factors

7.

Internal auditors and security professionals are bound by common goals of protecting a company’s
assets, resources and personnel and to ensure the authorized use of such assets. Internal auditors
are traditionally trained in accounting, finance or business along with information systems. In
contrast, security personnel generally have law enforcement and other investigative backgrounds
gained through serving on a police force or with the FBI or similar agency. These two departments
can complement each other to ensure that all resources are effectively accessed to safeguard assets.

8.
and
9.

External auditors and internal auditors both follow respective professional standards. Both auditors
have a degree of responsibility to detect fraud during their course of their audit if it would avail
itself through the execution of prescribe and standard procedures. The guiding factor is materiality.
SI is a very large company and $750,000 is not material to the financial statements. However,
Clandestine violated federal laws via mail fraud as well as circumvented a system which could lead
to larger embezzlement. The auditors and sometimes the courts must decide what is material and is
it only based on monetary criteria or is it also based on the nature of the fraud perpetrated.
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Internal Control Assessment
10.
through
13.

SI believes in providing the best customer service possible. Employees who posses that capability
are highly valued. John Clandestine was viewed by his superiors and peers as extremely intelligent,
diligent, aggressive and hard working. However, his most important attributes were his personality
and his ability to satisfy customers. These two attributes dominated the profile that was maintained
by SI of John. Thus, when he sought to circumvent processes such as vendor approval he was not
challenged. John was viewed as the model employee. No one questioned his lavish and highly
visible lifestyle because they liked him and actually admired John. More importantly, his
employment with SI occurred in spite of his criminal record primarily due to his personality and SI
culture of quality first. The behavioral dimension of a control system along with the corporate
culture will always be an inherent risk that management, external auditors and internal auditors must
consider and work diligently to address. Si’s corporate culture supported empowerment, trust and
customer service at all cost. Thus, efforts to bond employees or check their integrity would
contradict the philosophy and management style at SI.

Information Systems
14.
and
15.

Technology offers businesses a medium to literally expand operations overnight to new markets,
reduce costs and more effectively manage operations. However, information technology also
presents some major risks which must be considered during the planning phase. As traditional
functions are integrated the historical levels of checks and balances are greatly reduced or
eliminated. Functions which formerly consisted of several layers of controls have collapsed to one
level. This greatly enhances the accessibility of assets by a smaller set of employees with a lower
degree of controls. Tracker helped SI to rapidly advance into the upper echelon of Corporate
America as an industry leader. However, the elimination of various control levels and the increased
authority to execute a broad range of transactions placed Si’s assets in jeopardy or at risk. The
benefits of automation must be effectively balanced with the related control risks while being
flavored by the realities of cost/benefit analyses. SI did not aggressively involve external or internal
auditors in the design of Tracker. Consequently, auditors could only respond to the completed
system’s control issues rather than address these concerns during the development stage. Auditors
can play an important role during the development and implementation process. The extent of this
role must be controlled to minimize the potential impact on independence.

The above issues represent a set of recommended responses or major points which should be discussed. We
recommend that the instructor follow the guidelines above to generate meaningful written and oral responses.
We have included a list of readings and an organizational chart for SI to assist students to understand the flow
of information and the operational structure of SI and the related opportunities for fraud to exist.
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3. Summary of SAS No.’s 53 and 54
SAS No. 53 (The Auditor’s Responsibility to Detect and Report Errors and Irregularities) defines errors as
unintentional misstatements and irregularities as intentional misstatements. Irregularities as defined by SAS
No. 53 represents fraud which results in a benefit to the organization, e.g., misrepresentation of earning to
influence an upward surge in security prices. SAS No. 54 (Illegal Acts by Clients) defines illegal acts as
violations of laws or government regulations which is directly related to the business. Illegal acts can be for
the benefit of either the organization or individual.
The AICPA, due to its financial statement focus, distinguishes between illegal acts with a direct impact
on financial reporting versus illegal acts with an indirect affect on financial statements. SAS No. 54 requires
an external auditor to detect illegal acts which have a direct impact on financial statements in the same
manner errors and irregularities should be pursued — as part of the routine audit. On the other hand, SAS
No. 54 does not require an external auditor to detect illegal acts which indirectly impact financial statements.
However, SAS No. 54 provides guidance to be alert for the potential of these indirect acts to occur. Thus,
the AICPA draws a line of responsibility for detection and prevention of fraud based on its affect on financial
statements.
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5. Internal Control Criteria Per COSO

THE FIVE COMPONENTS OF AN INTERNAL
CONTROL STRUCTURE
The control environment.
Management’s risk assessment.

Accounting information and communication system.

Control activities:
Adequate separation of duties.
Proper procedures for authorization of transactions.

Adequate documents and records.

Physical control over assets and records.

Independent checks on performance.

Monitoring.
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ABRIDGED VERSION OF CASE
This case involves an industry leading transportation service company, Shipment Inc. (SI), which has significantly
integrated information technology into its management process. SI grew from a mere concept in 1971 with initial
sales of $4 million and total assets less than $1 million to a Fortune 500 company traded on the New York Stock
Exchange with current revenues exceeding $3 billion and total assets of more than $2 billion.
In 1989 John Clandestine (JC), who was formerly convicted of embezzlement, joins SI and works his way
to a key position which enables him to perpetrate fraud. JC graduate with honors from Yale and held two
professional positions prior to joining SI. In both positions JC abused the system of internal control and
perpetrated a fraud. JC fully disclosed his criminal record to JC personnel but he convinced them that his life
had turned around and he had been reformed.
During JC’s tenure with SI he developed a reputation as a nice guy, hard worker, reliable and very bright.
JC’s professional experience provided valuable support for SI's decision to fully integrate operations and
purchasing through a sophisticated system called Tracker. JC played a major role in the development of the
Tracker purchasing system as well as the implementation of the system. JC had access to all approval codes and
fully understood all the internal control strengths and weaknesses. Everyone at SI believed that JC was the key
to the timely and successful implementation of the Tracker system.
JC eventually took advantage of his authority and began to circumvent the internal control system by
establishing fictitious vendors and authorizing payments to companies he established. His reputation and position
within SI allowed JC to circumvent stated policies without being challenged. Clandestine eventually embezzled
more than $750,000 from SI. He was subsequently prosecuted and imprisoned through the initial investigation
of the internal audit and security departments.
This abridged case can be used for an introductory class in accounting or business. The instructor may select
any one of the above issues/questions which may fall within the course objectives and scope.

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-06: Day Care in Public Housing ♦ 1

DAY CARE IN PUBLIC HOUSING

William T. Geary, Associate Professor
The College of William and Mary, Williamsburg, Virginia

Thomas D. Turnbull, Associate Vice President
Volunteers of America, Metaire, Louisiana

Dan Schaefer, Executive Director of the Petersburg, Virginia office of the Volunteers of America (VOA), has
carefully followed the progress and problems of Alta Vista Gardens—a low income residential community located
in a nearby suburb. Dan’s interest is due in part to VOA’s early involvement with the concept and design of the
community. The complex of approximately 200 single family units was developed by VOA in 1971 under a
program funded by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (section 236). In recent years, Alta Vista
Gardens has had its share of unexpected problems stemming primarily from drug abuse and drug related criminal
activity.
As a consequence of criminal activity, community life in Alta Vista Gardens was severely undermined. Early
in 1990, a small group of residents organized for the purpose of improving the quality of life and establishing
community support systems. Because Alta Vista’s reputation suffered greatly during its decline, rebuilding would
not be an easy task and community leaders were receptive to suggestions from Dan and the VOA staff.
Volunteers of America, Inc. has been active in the United States since 1896, providing quality human care
in a Christian atmosphere. VOA, Inc. is a national, nonprofit, Christian human service organization. Succinctly
stated, VOA’s mission as originally expressed is "reaching and uplifting all people and bringing them to the
immediate knowledge and active service of God." Local VOA corporations are highly autonomous operating
within the guidelines established by the national board. VOA is also an interdenominational church with the
president of the national organization serving as the chief officer of the corporation as well as the head of the
church. In 1990, VOA provided services to almost 1 million people in 200 communities throughout the United
States.
Social programs initiated by a local office of VOA are developed in response to community needs. A high
degree of autonomy allows VOA offices to work in close partnership with local government, civic groups,
religious organizations, and human care providers. VOA provides services and programs for many groups
including: the elderly, families, youth, the prison population, the homeless, alcoholics, drug abusers, and persons
with mental or physical disabilities.
Community leaders from Alta Vista met often with Dan and other VOA staff members in the Petersburg
office. Together they came up with what they thought would be an excellent initiative: a first-rate day care center
located in an available community building in the heart of the Alta Vista complex to be staffed by Alta Vista
residents. In many ways this was an ideal initiative. Day care and the added employment opportunities would
contribute substantially to the lives of the families in Alta Vista and provide excellent support for rebuilding the
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community. In addition, new directives at the state level required welfare recipients with children to seek
employment or receive training — either way, the demand for child care would increase.

After several staff meetings to discuss the idea, Dan decided to take the project to his board for preliminary
approval. In preparation, he worked with Peggy Kressen, the office controller, to develop financial projections.
Peggy, working through the national office of VOA, was able to gather information from other VOA offices that
had experience with day care (See Attachment A).
Prior to the board meeting, Dan summarized the advantages associated with the project. The major points
are listed below.
•

Day care would meet a critical need for the families of the Alta Vista Community. While it is hard to
overstate the importance of high quality child care for any community, the argument is even more compelling
in the case of low income families where there are few or no alternatives available. It is exceedingly difficult
for members of this group to lift themselves and their families out of poverty without some assistance. Lack
of transportation, job skills and affordable child care are principal obstacles.

•

An on-site day care program located within the heart of the Alta Vista complex would be an important factor
in the rebuilding of community life. An increase in the number of homeless families in the Petersburg area
argues strongly for the importance of low cost housing that is suitable for family life. Day care might be
just what community leaders need to turn around living conditions in Alta Vista. Instead of viewing this
community as a choice of last resort, families might be attracted to Alta Vista because of its high quality,
year round, child care facility (while enrollment will not be limited to Alta Vista residents, they will have
first priority).

•

VOA staff members are confident they can organize a day care program that will truly reach the children
of the community. They have already identified an ideal candidate who lives in Alta Vista to serve as
program director. The curriculum will consist of planned activities that are designed to foster a positive self
concept, develop social skills, extend and encourage language and cognitive development, and promote an
appreciation for the creative arts. A balance of indoor and outdoor activities will include physical
development, art, music, and dramatic play. Enthusiasm for the project is very high and the staff feels that
this program is "a good example of what VOA is all about."

•

The recent directives requiring welfare recipients to seek employment or training will create additional
demand for child care. Effective October 1, 1990, recipients of Aid to Dependent Children (ADC) whose
children reach age three are required by the Family Support Act of 1988 to seek employment and/or
education, or lose ADC benefits. Under the provisions of this program, the Department of Social Services
(DSS) will pay between $80 and $85 per week for each child enrolled in day care. Because VOA can
operate a center on premises without incurring transportation and rent costs, the state stipend should be
adequate to cover costs.

•

The Petersburg office has been looking for new programs. Having been a director for almost ten years in
several locations, Dan has come to understand the "business side" of his operation. Programs, like
everything else, have life cycles. An office that is not creating new initiatives will find its influence on the
decline. To win the trust of local funding agencies, it is important to be known by the work that you do and
the services you provide. Also, though the Petersburg office does operate programs for youths it does not
presently sponsor any services for young children. The day care center would help raise public awareness
of VOA within the community and this could translate into increased financial support for additional services
for children and other VOA programs.

•

The day care proposal is especially interesting from the business perspective because it has many
characteristics of an enterprise activity. A day care facility requires a "user fee" that can be validated in the
market place by comparison with other providers. In the future, day care (for children and the elderly) will
be in even greater demand. The Alta Vista program could provide valuable experience in this area. If day
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care can be run as an enterprise, Dan will be able to generate badly needed funds. These discretionary funds
could be returned to the community in many ways including tuition assistance and program enhancements
for the students in the day care program at Alta Vista. The Petersburg Office had previously relied upon
a franchised thrift shop for discretionary funds. Since the closing of the shop several years ago (because of
mismanagement by the franchisee), the Petersburg office has not been able to generate adequate discretionary
funds.

•

The proposal would have a good chance of qualifying for start up funding by the national organization of
VOA. Funds generated by the VOA endowment are sometimes made available to local offices to cover start
up costs and initial expenditures such as equipment purchases. If the proposal is approved, the most that
Petersburg could hope for is a grant of $50,000. Dan’s best guess is that about half of the grant would be
needed for furniture and equipment and the other $25,000 would be required to finance operating deficits
during the start up period.

•

The space that is available has not been used for many years and it has been offered without charge by the
National Housing Partnership, the firm responsible for the residential management of Alta Vista Gardens.
The center was originally intended for use as a pre-school and will accommodate up to 37 children. The
main area is 1,250 square feet with an adjoining office, kitchen, and two bathrooms. Initial research
indicates a large unmet need and there is no reason to think that private providers will locate in or near the
Alta Vista complex.

Dan’s board responded very positively to his presentation. Peggy was also present to explain the details of her
analysis and answer questions. She pointed out that her revenue projections assumed only 80% of the potential
revenue because the Department of Social Services only pays for the actual days that an enrolled student attends.
The daily reimbursement rates established by DSS are based on age and the expectation that children who are
five will be enrolled in a public school kindergarten and will attend day care for only a half day. Except for one
question about the director’s benefit package, board members were not much interested in pouring over the
numbers.
At the close of the meeting, it was "full steam ahead." Dan will complete the papers for the grant proposal
to be sent to the national organization of VOA, and the board will discuss the timetable for bringing the center
into operation at their next meeting.

Required:
1.

What is the mission of the Petersburg office? Is financial planning important to Petersburg’s success in
achieving its mission?

2.

Develop a cost-volume-profit model to describe the financial implications of the proposal (see Attachment
A — Financial Projections). Using monthly data, prepare an analysis that includes projected revenue, variable
costs, and fixed costs for enrollment levels of 20, 25, 30, and 37 students. Salary costs should be treated
as fixed costs that "step-up" when increased enrollment requires an additional teacher or teacher’s aide.
Also, compute the break-even points for the various levels of operation.

3.

Describe the financial risks associated with the proposal.

AICPA Case Development Program
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DAY CARE IN PUBLIC HOUSING:
A POSTSCRIPT

Dan remembers vividly the cold and icy day in November 1990, when he first learned about the asbestos problem
at the site of the new day care center in Alta Vista Gardens. When he thinks back he recalls the sound of a tree
branch snapping under the accumulated weight of the frozen rain.
Despite the unexpected costs of over $8,000 to remove the asbestos the center did eventually open, but not
until February 1991 — two months later than planned. Approximately $34,000 of the $46,000 grant from the
VOA national organization had to be used to prepare and equip the facility (see Attachment B) and the late start
had the side effect of causing an increased operating deficit.
Looking back, it is still hard to believe. But, the simple truth is that the children did not come. On an
average day, 14 children would be in the center. State assistance was awarded on a daily basis and no payment
was received for a day that a regularly enrolled child did not attend. By all accounts the children were well cared
for. Despite demonstrable success and testimony from community leaders and parents, new children did not
appear.
In May of 1991, after three months of disappointing attendance and mounting deficits, Dan asked for and
received assistance from the national office. Help came in the form of Patrick Lewis who agreed to serve as a
project consultant. Patrick’s report was both objective and supportive. Clearly, enrollment was the problem.
Patrick pointed out the following.
•

The greatest unmet need for day care is in families who make the minimum wage and cannot afford to pay
more than $20 per week. While limited funding is available under a government sponsored Low Income
Sliding Scale Fee System, new funding to meet the existing demand of the "working poor" is not expected.

•

A nearby day care facility for military dependents is at capacity with a waiting period of six to twelve
months. However, fees range from $41 to $52 per week depending on income.

•

The Department of Social Services (DSS) has stated that if the Alta Vista Child Development Center enrolls
children at rates below their current funding rate of $80-$85 per week, DDS will reduce their payment
correspondingly. Only in the case that the lower rate is augmented by charitable contributions to match the
DSS rate, will they agree not to lower their payment.

•

According to DSS all recipients of Aid to Dependent Children who are required under the Family Support
Act of 1988 to seek educational or vocational training who currently want day care can get it. There are no
funding shortages and there is no unmet need.

•

A private provider of day care is located two miles away. This provider charges $78 per week and is
operating at 60% of capacity.

AICPA Case Development Program
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Sources of additional students and unmet need include: another housing project within a ten minute drive,
children who are housed in nearby homeless shelters, infants and toddlers who are under the age of two, and
families who require care at very early and late times of the day. The Petersburg office has vans available
on a short term basis to provide transportation. However, expanding the program to include infants and
toddlers would not make sense economically because of the staffing and space requirements needed to serve
this population.

Patrick’s recommendations were direct and to the point. Petersburg needed to raise money, recruit children from
the most likely sources, provide transportation, enroll students at a reduced rate and find a way to raise a
compensating charitable contribution, extend operating hours, operate with the minimum allowable staff, and
change the name from the Alta Vista Gardens Child Development Center to remove the stigma associated with
the poor reputation of Alta Vista Gardens.
Following Patrick’s report, Dan organized a Herculean effort to save the center involving a door-to-door
campaign in Alta Vista and a major effort to recruit children from other communities. The initiatives were for
the most part unsuccessful. In the middle of these rescue attempts, volunteers conducted with little success a
telephone fund-raiser to raise money and buy time.
An examination of the cash flow statement made it clear that the center was hemorrhaging. The decision
to sell the furnishings and equipment to the Head Start Program and close the center did not come easily. At first
it appeared that the local Head Start program might enter into an arrangement with VOA to operate the center
as originally planned. However, the funding and legal problems soon proved insurmountable. In the end, Head
Start was willing to take over the facility and pay VOA $10,000 for the furnishings and equipment. Ironically,
after several months of operation, the Head Start program, which provides limited services during eight months
of the year that parallel the regular school term, is thriving in the Alta Vista location.
Dan admits that it is still hard to talk about the day care project. More than anything, he is concerned about
the energy drain. He and his staff lost a lot of momentum the day the center closed. While they feel pleased
that the community has gained an excellent Head Start Program, they are disappointed that the original goals were
not realized. Reflecting on the business aspects of the project, Dan recognizes that there is no business technique
that can eliminate uncertainty. One source of comfort to all is that they feel confident they did everything they
could to make it go.
Required:

With the benefit of hindsight, how could the outcome have been different?

♦ * *

$ 9,360
$ 8,840

$17,680
---------$64,816

Cook ($4.25/hr. x 2,080 hrs.)

Teacher’s aide (2) ($4.25/hr. x 2,080 hrs.)

1

Teacher 2 ($4.50/hr. x 2,080 hrs.)

Teacher

$11,440

$17,496

ANNUAL

($5.50/hr. x 2,080 hrs.)

Program Director

Salaries (see Note 1)

7000

(7002)

ACCOUNT NAME

ACCT. #

EXPENSES

$ 8,400
_______
$111,400

$ 38,400

Twelve (12) DSS 4-5 year olds
$16/day x 250 days x 80%

Six (6) DSS 5 year olds
$7/day x 250 days x 80%

$ 64,600

ANNUAL

Nineteen (19) DSS 2-3 year olds
$17/day x 250 days x 80%

INCOME (assume all DSS with 80% attendance)

VOLUNTEERS OF AMERICA
ALTA VISTA CHILD DEVELOPMENT CENTER
FINANCIAL PROJECTION

ATTACHMENT A

$3,126

497
(27 hrs/wk)

527
(27 hrs/wk)

644
(27 hrs/wk)

$1,458

20

$4,583

$ 700
(6)

$1,333
(5)

$2,550
(9)

20

(80 hrs/wk)
$5,462

(40 hrs/wk)
$3,928---------------- $4,665

780

953

$1,458

37

$ 700
(6)
$9,283

$3,200
(12)

$5,383
(19)

37

1,474

737737

780

953

$1,458

30

$7,350

$ 700
(6)

(9)

$2,400

$4,250
(15)

30

737

737
(40hrs/wk)

780
(40hrs/wk)

953
(40hrs/wk)

$1,458

25

(6)
$5,967

$ 700

$1,867
(7)

$3,400
(12)

25

MONTHLY PROJECTIONS BASED ON ENROLLMENT
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8100

8000

7200

48

Membership in other Organizations NAEYC

(8010)

0

0

0

Food and Beverage supplied by USDA

Housekeeping Supplies/Cleaning Items
($2/student)

Office Supplies

Telephone Expense

Postage

(8104)

(8105)

(8106)

(8111)

(8112)

360

1,680

120

888

50
40

888

Recreational Supplies (restock) ($2/student)

25

140

5

40

25

140

5

50

75

(8103)

60

1,332

Educational Supplies (restock) ($3/student)

(8102)

3

4

9

Supplies and Expenses
Medical/First Aid Kit Supplies
3

4

9

33

(8101)
36

108

Help Wanted Ads

(8005)

33

30

140

10

60

0

60

90

3

4

9

33

5

0

396

11

11

0

357

$875

30

11

300

$700

25

60

239

$175

20

132

4,956

Staff Development Training

Professional Fees
Employee Fees Paid
First Aid/CPR Class
Criminal records check ($5.20 x 2)

Payroll Taxes
Required FICA Taxes ($7.65)

$12,600

ANNUAL

(8004)

(8001)

(7201)

Employee Benefits
$175/full-time employee

7100

(7103)

ACCOUNT NAME

ACCT. #

ATTACHMENT A

30

140

10

74

0

74

111

3

4

9

33

5

11

413

$1,050

37
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8700

8600

8500

8400

Equipment Maintenance/Security Monitor

Mortgage/Note/Loan Interest

Utilities
Water and Sewage
Electric (Heat and Air Conditioning)

(8402)

(8404)

(8406)

Subscriptions and Publications

(8606)

540

576

Van Maintenance/Insurance/Gas
(Field Trips, Misc., Emergencies)

Staff Mileage
Director and Cook (100 mi./month
X .24 X 2 = $48.00)

(8706)

24

(8702)

Vehicle Expense

Outside Printing— Flyers, Newsletters, etc.
($25/month)

(8601)
300

228

Workmen’s Compensation

(8502)

Printing and Publications

1,104

General/Liability/Accident

48

45

2

25

10

92

40
200

48

45

2

25

13

92

40
200

0

0

0
480
2,400

22

0

$835

25

22

0

$642

20

264

0

$15,600

ANNUAL

(8501)

Insurance

Occupancy
Rent of Space (Donated)

(8401)

Administrative (see Note 2)
Administrative Expense (14%)

8200

(8201)

ACCOUNT NAME

ACCT. #

ATTACHMENT A

48

45

2

25

15

92

40
200

0

22

0

$1,029

30

48

45

2

25

19

92

40
200

0

22

0

$1,300

37
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During the start-up phase of the day care center, the demands on the VOA staff in Petersburg will be intense. In addition to extensive staff
support, the office will provide the initial capital and financial support. Once established, the director must participate in personnel decisions,
meet regularly with the program director, and ensure compliance with complex and ever-changing state and local regulations. The VOA office
will also provide full accounting support for the center including budgets, payroll, and accounts receivable and payable.

ADMINISTRATION. The VOA office in Petersburg must provide the funds to cover the cost of operating the Petersburg Office including the
salaries of the director and all staff. Sources of funding include revenue provided from programs directed by the VOA (typically 14% of the
program revenue, see account 8201), grants, and contributions. For a VOA office to be a strong and vital force in the local community, it is
essential that the office generate sufficient revenue to be self-supporting. An office that is not financially viable is a candidate to be merged
with another office and in some cases it has been necessary to close offices.

$111

2.

($530)

$9.172

____ 0

$10

37

STAFFING. Staffing needs are dictated by licensing requirements. Additional staff are required when enrollment exceeds 25, 30, and 35
students. At full capacity, the center can enroll 37 students.

($698)

$7.880

____ 0

$10

30

1.

NOTES:

($463)

$6.665

$5.046

$110.056

TOTAL EXPENSES

$1,344

____ 0

____ 0

$10

25

$10

20

_______

$120

ANNUAL

Depreciation

NET INCOME (NET LOSS)

9500

Miscellaneous Expenses ($10/month)

Other Expenses

9400

(9402)

ACCOUNT NAME

ACCT. #

ATTACHMENT A
AICPA Case Development Program
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ATTACHMENT B
ALTA VISTA GARDENS CHILD DEVELOPMENT CENTER
BUILDING AND EQUIPMENT COSTS

Day Care Center Equipment Costs

Asbestos Removal/Inspection/Testing..............................................................
Building and Grounds Maintenance ................................................................
Security/Fire Alarm System..............................................................................
Office Equipment ..............................................................................................
Phone System Equipment...................................................................................

8,132.00
5,105.00
1,547.00
1,185.00
935.00

Child Care Equipment...........................................................................................
Includes:

8,664.00

Wall Locker and Storage Units..................................................... 6
Book Display and Stand ................................................................ 1
Single Storage Units........................................................................ 6
Golden Oak Tables ........................................................................ 4
Teak Tables...................................................................................... 4
Refrigerators ................................................................................... 2
Freezer.............................................................................................. 1
Range/Sink Combo ........................................................................ 1
Mini Kitchen................................................................................... 1
Hutch................................................................................................ 1
Butcher Block Table........................................................................ 1
Chairs — Adult................................................................................ 8
Chairs —Child...................................................................................40
Deluxe Cupboard ........................................................................... 1
Puzzle Case...................................................................................... 1
Double Easel................................................................................... 4
Mirror.............................................................................................. 1
Activity Gym................................................................................... 1
Workbench ...................................................................................... 1
Mobile Storage................................................................................ 1
Pedal Pusher ................................................................................... 2
12" Trike ........................................................................................ 1
Carry All ........................................................................................ 1
Table-Only ...................................................................................... 1
Standard Cots..................................................................................... 40
Education Bench.............................................................................. 1
Education Cubes.............................................................................. 1
Initial Stock — Toys/Books/Etc................................................................................ $ 8,308.00

TOTAL

$33,876.00
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Day Care in Public Housing
TEACHING NOTES

William T. Geary, Associate Professor
The College of William and Mary, Williamsburg, Virginia

Thomas D. Turnbull, Associate Vice President
Volunteers of America, Metaire, Louisiana

This case provides an excellent opportunity for students to apply cost-volume-profit (CVP) analysis in a social
services organization that is dedicated to "making a difference" by responding to difficult social problems.
Students will learn how to develop a break-even model when there is more than one "product" and they will
understand the importance of financial planning and informed decision making in the not-for-profit context. Also,
the case emphasizes an "integrated business approach." Students are required to consider simultaneously factors
such as mission, marketing, strategy, and financial flexibility.

ALTERNATIVE WAYS TO USE THIS CASE
This case is very flexible and can be employed in a variety of settings including executive education. We have
prepared several supplements to this teaching note to support the alternative uses described below.
Introductory Course in Accounting (Managerial)
If the instructor decides to emphasize both the concepts of cost-volume-profit analysis and the use of spreadsheets,
the case can be used with the set of questions provided in the case.
For many applications at the introductory level, using the case without further guidance will be too
ambiguous. To provide additional structure, the instructor can provide students with an outline of the report that
they are to prepare (see Exhibit 1). This outline will clarify exactly what is expected and define the format of
the report. Finally, if the instructor wishes to minimize involvement with spreadsheet calculations and emphasize
a user perspective, the students can be provided with a complete analysis (see Exhibit 2).

Advanced Course in Managerial Accounting
In an advanced course, it is more likely that the instructor will want to use the case without providing the students
with Exhibit 1 or 2. By asking the students to prepare the analysis, they will be required to model an
unstructured problem. This mental activity is vital to the preparation of students who can function as independent
professionals. In addition, students will gain valuable experience using spreadsheets.
This case also provides an excellent vehicle for an oral presentation or a within-class case competition
between student teams. Students can be asked to make a presentation to the board using handouts and an
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overhead. Or, if facilities permit, students can use a computer and project their analysis and responses to
questions onto a screen.

Executive Education
Executives can expect to have the accounting analysis done by a staff member. The challenge to the executive
is to understand the model that is used and the implications of the analysis. Executives can be provided with a
copy of the "Financial Worksheet" (see Exhibit 2) as part of the case material.
Some or all of the following questions can be substituted for the ones provided with the case.
This case illustrates the role of financial planning and cost-volume-profit analysis in a not-for-profit social
service organization. After reading the case and reviewing the supplemental Financial Worksheet,
respond to the following questions.
1.

Risk Analysis.
If you had reviewed the Financial Worksheet prior to the decision to open the center, how would
you have described the financial risk associated with opening the center?

2.

Sensitivity Analysis.
A) Compute the break-even points at the four levels (20, 25, 30, and 37 students) considered in the
Financial Worksheet, if the student mix is changed and all the part-time students in the 5-yearold category are replaced with full-time 2-3 year old students.

B) VOA has included an administrative fee of 14% to provide a contribution to the administrative
costs of the VOA office. Compute the break-even numbers if the 14% provision for overhead
is not included and comment on whether the fee should be included or excluded from the
analysis.

3.

Management Analysis.
Assume that the local VOA Board decided to keep the center open and provide operating subsidies
for a three year period. Make recommendations regarding how the Board should use the financial
analysis to establish financial management controls for monitoring operations and for evaluating the
performance of the project leaders.

This case along with the completed supplemental financial worksheet (Exhibit 2) has also been used successfully
as part of a take-home final examination with executive MBA students.
Time Required for Case
The time required for teaching the case depends on the how the instructor chooses to use the case. To fully
develop an understanding of the not-for-profit context and the use of cost-volume-profit analysis in financial
planning, a minimum of one class period is required (preferably a period of approximately 80 minutes).
If the case is extended to include a student-constructed model using a spreadsheet, then two class periods are
recommended. The first class can be used to analyze and critique the various models students submit with the
goal of arriving at a consensus on the best financial model to use. The second class can then be devoted to the
financial management issues raised in the case.
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NUMERICAL ANALYSIS
Students will be inclined to overlook the options to operate the center at 24, 29, and 34 attendees rather than at
full capacity of 37. Assuming 80% attendance, the center shows a profit of $297 at 24 attendees, $94.50 at 29
attendees, and $284.80 at 34 attendees (the monthly profit for 37 attendees is $111).
The financial data do not include a provision for depreciation. Equipment will need to be replaced. If
replacement is not funded by user charges, then another source (e.g., VOA office, donors) must be found.
Students may wish to argue for break-even statistics without providing for the administrative charge of 14%.
Some might claim that in the short term the center is financially viable as long as tuition revenue covers the direct
costs at the center. However, this does not correspond with the facts of the case. The director and his staff have
made a substantial commitment to the day care center and the cost of maintaining the VOA office must be
addressed. While it is possible to imagine a case where administrative costs are not recovered and discretionary
funds are used to "subsidize" an operation such as a day care center, this is not financially feasible in the
Petersburg office.

CASE ANALYSIS
The broad mission of the Petersburg office is dictated by the mission of the Volunteers of America. The specific
mission of the Petersburg office is to implement programs that will meet urgent needs within the Petersburg
community. However, in order to achieve its religious and social goals, the Petersburg office must remain
financially self-reliant.
The case clearly demonstrates that good intentions are not enough. Programmatically, the day care center
is an excellent idea. Financially, the day care center is a risky proposition. When the project was approved by
the local board in Petersburg, everyone was optimistic. There is no indication in the case that anyone anticipated
the financial disaster that was waiting ahead.
Disaster is not too strong a word to describe the impact of the failed day care center on the Petersburg office
of the VOA. As the case indicates, the Petersburg office did not have financial reserves. Indeed, one advantage
of the proposed day care center was the prospect of generating additional cash reserves to finance the operation
of the Petersburg office. After the center failed, the Petersburg office was far worse off than before the start of
the project. They had used all available cash flow and the $46,000 grant in an effort to save the sinking ship.
The day care operation had taken tremendous energy from the staff and preempted other possible initiatives for
almost a year. And, the closing left everyone drained and demoralized.
The initial optimism for the project is understandable. The day care center can do a lot of good for a lot of
people. The children benefit, the employee-residents benefit, and the community benefits. The space is available
at no charge, the daily rate offered by DSS is at or above the going market rate established by commercial
providers, and food is available at no charge.
What can be learned from the analysis?
•

In the arrangement described in the case, VOA assumed the business risk. If the day care center was
financially successful, VOA would be the beneficiary. If the day care center was not financially viable, VOA
would bear the loss. This is unlike many contractual arrangements that protect not-for-profit organizations
from the risk of loss.

•

The requirements and regulations of day care dictate the cost structure of the operation. Fixed costs are
relatively high and there is almost no financial flexibility allowing for costs to be curtailed or deferred.

•

Given that costs are predominately fixed and unavoidable, the financial success of the operation depends on
revenue. The major risks associated with revenue are that children will not enroll; that once enrolled a child
will not attend 80% or more of the time; and, that the mix of enrolled children will include too many five
year-olds (note that the center has agreed to accept a five year-old if the child is from Alta Vista or if the
child has a younger sibling in the program).
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The day care center forfeits flexibility because of the limitations of the free space. The space does not allow
the center to expand beyond 37 students or to serve infants and it makes it difficult to serve students from
outside of Alta Vista.

In summary, the project can be characterized as one that presents significant financial risk to an organization that
does not have financial reserves. The financial structure of the project is inflexible and financial viability depends
on enrollment. The limitations deriving from the location and the relationship with DSS restrict management’s
flexibility to attract enrollment. With the benefit of hindsight, how could the outcome have been different? To
mitigate the significant market risk, the office could have considered steps such as: fund raising in advance of
opening the day care center, seeking a sponsor or a partner (e.g., a governmental agency or a church) who would
be willing to assume or share the financial risk, advance enrollment of children, and a thorough study of the
behavior of day care consumers in the Alta Vista community. Also, given the precarious financial position of
the office, they may have needed to defer the project until they were better able to absorb possible losses.
One final note, the instructor has the option of withholding the postscript until after the initial discussion has
taken place. This approach is especially appropriate if the case is covered in two class sessions.

ADDITIONAL READING
The Wall Street Journal carried a series of three articles in the summer of 1994 that provide excellent and easyto-read commentaries related to day care.

"It’s Hard to Do Day Care Right —and Survive," The Wall Street Journal, July 20, 1994.
"A Week in the Life of a Day-Care Center: Tears, Hugs, Blocks, and Bounced Checks," The Wall Street
Journal, July 21, 1994.
"Companies Help Solve Day-Care Problems," The Wall Street Journal, July 22, 1994.
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Exhibit 1

Day Care In Public Housing
Financial Worksheet
Revenue

20

25

30

37

15-24

25-29

30-34

35-37

2-3 Year olds ($17 a day x 250/12 x 80%)

4-5 Year olds ($16 a day x 250/12 x 80%)
5 Year olds ($7 a day x 250/12 x 80%)

Total Revenue
Variable Costs
8102

Educational Supplies ($3.00/Stutent)

8103

Recreational Supplies ($2.00/Student)

8105

Housekeeping Supplies ($2.00/Student)

8201

Administrative Expense (.14 x Total Rev.)

Fixed Costs

7002

Salaries

7103

Employee Benefits

7201

FICA Taxes

8001

Employee Fees

8004

Staff Development Training

8005

Help Wanted Ads

8010

Memberships

8101

Medical/First Aid Kit Supplies

8104

Food and Beverage

8106

Office Supplies

8111

Telephone Expense

8112

Postage
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Exhibit 1

15-24
8401

Rent

8402

Equipment Maintenance

8404

Mortgage/Note/Loan Interest

8406

Utilities

8501

General Insurance

8504

Workmen’s Compensation

8601

Outside Printing

8606

Subscriptions and Publications

8702

Van Maintenance/Insurance/Gas

8706

Staff Mileage

9402

Miscellaneous Expenses

9500

Depreciation

Total Fixed Costs
Excess of Revenue Over (Expenses)

Weighted Average Contribution Margin
Break-Even Number

25-29

30-34

35-37
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Exhibit 2

Day Care In Public Housing
Financial Worksheet
Revenue

20

25

30

37

2-3 Year olds ($17 a day x 250/12 x 80%)

$2,550

$3,400

$4,250

$5,383

4-5 Year olds ($16 a day x 250/12 x 80%)

$1,333

$1,867

$2,400

$3,200

$700

$700

$700

$700

$4,583

$5,967

$7,350

$9,283

5 Year olds ($7 a day x 250/12 x 80%)
Total Revenue
Variable Costs

8102

Educational Supplies ($3.00/Stutent)

$60

$75

$90

$111

8103

Recreational Supplies ($2.00/Student)

$40

$50

$60

$74

8105

Housekeeping Supplies ($2.00/Student)

$40

$50

$60

$74

8201

Administrative Expense (.14 x Total Rev.)

$642

$835

$1,029

$1,300

15-24

25-29

30-34

35-37

$3,126

$3,928

$4,665

$5,402

Fixed Costs
7002

Salaries

7103

Employee Benefits

$175

$700

$875

$1,050

7201

FICA Taxes

$239

$300

$357

$413

8001

Employee Fees

$11

$11

$16

$16

8004

Staff Development Training

$33

$33

$33

$33

8005

Help Wanted Ads

$9

$9

$9

$9

8010

Memberships

$4

$4

$4

$4

8101

Medical/First Aid Kit Supplies

$3

$3

$3

$3

8104

Food and Beverage

$0

$0

$0

$0

8106

Office Supplies

$5

$5

$10

$10

8111

Telephone Expense

$140

$140

$140

$140

8112

Postage

$25

$25

$30

$30
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Exhibit 2
15-24

25-29

30-34

35-37

8401Rent

$0

$0

$0

$0

8402Equipment Maintenance

$22

$22

$22

$22

8404Mortgage/Note/Loan Interest

$0

$0

$0

$0

8406Utilities

$240

$240

$240

$240

8501General Insurance

$92

$92

$92

$92

8504Workmen’s Compensation

$10

$13

$15

$19

8601Outside Printing

$25

$25

$25

$25

8606Subscriptions and Publications

$2

$2

$2

$2

8702Van Maintenance/Insurance/Gas

$45

$45

$45

$45

8706Staff Mileage

$48

$48

$48

$48

9402Miscellaneous Expenses

$10

$10

$10

$10

9500Depreciation

$0

$0

$0

$0

$4,264

$5,655

$6,641

$7,613

($463)

($698)

($530)

$111

$190.07

$198.26

$203.70

$208.77

22.43

28.52

32.60

36.47

Total Fixed Costs
Excess of Revenue Over (Expenses)

Weighted Average Contribution Margin

Break-Even Number
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Exhibit 2

Daily Fee per
Student

Total
Revenue

Number of
Students

Total
Var. Costs

Total
Cont. Margin

Average
Cont. Margin

37 Students

$17

$5,383

19

$886.62

$4,496.38

$236.65

$16

$3,200

12

$532.00

$2,668.00

$222.33

$7

$700

6

$140.00

$560.00

$93.33

37

Totals

Weighted aver.

$7,724.38

$208.77
30 Students

$17

$4,250

15

$700.00

$3,550.00

$236.67

$16

$2,400

9

$399.00

$2,001.00

$222.33

$7

$700

6

$140.00

$560.00

$93.33

$6,111.00

30

Totals

Weighted aver.

$203.70

25 Students

$17

$3,400

12

$560.00

$2,840.00

$236.67

$16

$1,867

7

$310.38

$1,556.62

$222.37

$7

$700

6

$140.00

$560.00

$93.33

$4,956.62

25

Totals
Weighted aver.

$198.26
20 Students

$17

$2,550

9

$420.00

$2,130.00

$236.67

$16

$1,333

5

$221.62

$1,111.38

$222.28

$7

$700

6

$140.00

$560.00

$93.33

20

Totals

Weighted aver.

$190.07

$3,801.38

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-07: Linamar Corporation: Doing Business in Hungary ♦ 1

LINAMAR CORPORATION: DOING BUSINESS IN HUNGARY

Charlotte W. Heywood, Lecturer
Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Ontario
David E. Graham, Partner
Coopers & Lybrand, Waterloo, Ontario

Note: Unless otherwise stated, all dollar amounts are Canadian currency.

Seated at his desk in the offices of Linamar Corporation, George Sims thought back to that day in July 1992 just
six months after Linamar had acquired its Hungarian subsidiary, Mezõgép. "What fools they must have thought
we were!" He had been looking at the contents of the newly opened envelope. Six pages, one for each month,
each bearing two lines — "Balance per bank" and "Balance per books". And in each case the amounts were
identical. He’d wanted bank reconciliations from the Hungarian subsidiary and he’d received them. The trouble
was there were no reconciling items — the book and bank balance were in perfect agreement. Hence the foolish
feeling. It had seemed like a good idea at the time — he needed some method of management control over the
distant operation and bank reconciliations had seemed to be the perfect tool.
During George’s first visit to Orosháza, Hungary, communication had been difficult even through an
interpreter. His questions directed to Mezõgép’s managers, as passed through the translator, appeared to use
many more words in Hungarian than they did in English. Similarly, the lengthy Hungarian responses seemed
to translate into very short English sentences. Compounding the natural language problem was the difficulty of
communicating the language of accounting. In a country where financial reporting was basically income tax
reporting, could accounting questions be accurately communicated? He recalled learning at some point in the
interview that the company routinely had cash on hand equivalent to $8 to $10 thousand. The chief accountant
said they needed the cash to pay bills. He had since learned that large invoices were usually paid by bank
transfer. Similarly, payments owing to the company were deposited directly into the bank. No wonder that the
bank and book balances reconciled perfectly. Clearly all of his talk about outstanding cheques could not be
communicated to the managers of a company who never wrote cheques.

LINAMAR CORPORATION: THE CANADIAN PARENT COMPANY
In 1964 Frank Hasenfratz, a native Hungarian, started a small machining business in a workshop in his home in
Guelph, Ontario where he machined oil pump parts for Ford Motor Co. Linamar Corporation was incorporated
under the laws of Ontario in 1966 and made a public offering in 1986. Frank named Linamar after his daughters
Linda and Nancy and his wife Margaret.

Copyright 1994 by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and donated to the public domain for educational use.
Cases developed and distributed under the AICPA Case Development Program are intended for use in higher education for
instructional purposes only, and are not for application in practice. The AICPA neither approves nor endorses this case or any solution
provided herewith or subsequently developed.
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Today, Frank is Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of a company with $72.5 million in net
assets. By its June 30, 1993 year end, Linamar had eleven principal subsidiary companies and two significant
business segments. The primary business segment manufactures and assembles automotive components for
original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) and their suppliers in North America. The secondary business segment
assembles and sells rotary combines, com heads, grain dryers, and related parts for the European and North
American market. In fiscal 1993, the precision machining segment accounted for approximately 91.1 percent
of the consolidated sales of $250.4 million. This segment made 35.5 percent of its sales to the General Motors
group of companies, 19.2 percent to Detroit Diesel Corporation and 13.0 percent to the Ford Motor group of
companies. (Exhibit A).
Consolidated revenues in 1993 were 40.2 percent higher than in 1992 primarily as a result of increased
volume in the precision machining segment (Exhibit B). At June 30, 1993, the net book value of fixed assets
was $90.8 million. This was $24.7 million in excess of the previous fiscal year. During the year the company
made equipment purchases for the automotive group of approximately $28 million and constructed a plant in
Hungary at a cost of $1.5 million.
Linamar is a certified supplier of many of its parts. The quality of the parts is such that they can be placed
directly into production by Linamar’s customers. Thus the company can supply parts to the OEMs on a just-intime basis. There are a large number of manufacturers in the precision machining industry in North America.
As a result, manufacturers such as Linamar tend to have a relatively small share of the North American market.
Its competition includes customers (OEMs), other direct competitors, product alternatives, and high precision
machining companies which have several manufacturing locations and substantial capital resources to invest in
the high-volume, high-precision equipment necessary to obtain long-term contracts. Linamar competes in its
market on the basis of technical expertise, product reliability, quality, price, and the ability to react quickly to
customers’ needs.
The company has approximately 2,100 employees with 12 manufacturing facilities in Canada and one in
Hungary. (Exhibit C) There are approximately 400 employees in the Hungarian corporation. All of Linamar’s
facilities are autonomous and operate as profit centres. Each is managed by a general manager who has
considerable discretion, within broad guidelines, to determine rates of pay, hours of work, sources of supply, and
contracts to be performed. Because each facility is independent, it can react quickly to opportunities. Local
managers are responsible for decision-making and for cost control. As a result, management incentive programs
have been very effective.
Many of Linamar’s supply and sales contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars; however, the company does
not speculate on currency exchange rates. It minimizes its net foreign currency exposure by entering into forward
exchange contracts designed to protect margins and by entering into supply and sales contracts designed to
provide exchange rate protection.
The corporate office is located at Linamar Corporation’s Guelph, Ontario site. Frank Hasenfratz and the
President and Chief Operating Officer, Larry Pearson, manage the technical and operating aspects of the
company. George Sims directs its accounting and financial functions. George earned his MBA in 1976 and his
CA in 1978 then worked in public practice with a Big Six firm for a further eight years. He joined the company
as Corporate Controller in 1986 and now holds the position of Director of Finance.
HUNGARY: HISTORICAL OVERVIEW

The Republic of Hungary, a landlocked country in Eastern Europe, is bounded by the Ukraine to the northeast,
Romania to the east, the former Yugoslavia to the south, Austria to the west, and the Czech Republic and
Slovakia to the northeast. With an area of 93,030 sq. km. (35,919 sq. mi.), it is the second smallest of its
neighbours. Its population of 10,600,000 is relatively homogeneous thus sparing it the ethnic tensions of some
of the other countries in the region. The capital of Hungary, Budapest, is the crossroads city of eastern and
western Europe. The official language of Hungary is Magyar and the currency is the Hungarian forint (Ft).
Hungary’s roots lie deep in history — from the early 16th century until 1918 Hungary formed a part of the
Austro-Hungarian empire. From 1918 until the beginning of World War II, Hungary was a kingdom without
a royal family. Toward the end of the World War II , Hungary was occupied by Nazi Germany and then, for
a short period, by the USSR. In 1946 Hungary briefly became a Republic but later that year was once again
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dominated by the communists. What was to become a forty-five year term of communist domination was broken
for a brief period of time in October of 1956 when the fiercely independent people of Hungary launched an illfated revolution. The revolution ended when the Soviets invaded a month later. In the bloody aftermath, scores
of anti-communists fled the country.
Even during the decades of Soviet repression, Hungary began to implement economic reforms: the abolition
of rigid central planning, the transfer of economic power from central government to individual enterprises, and
the institution of indirect economic regulators such as taxes, subsidies, and wage and price controls. Further
reforms included competitive wholesale prices in industry, the reduction of subsidies on basic goods, and a unified
exchange rate for the currency. In 1982, Hungary became the first socialist country to join the International
Monetary Fund and the World Bank.
Hungary became a Republic in 1989 and in 1990 held its first free elections in over forty years.
In a March 1994 newspaper interview, Laszlo Lengyel, president of independent Financial Research Ltd., stated
that "Our [current] problem is nearer to the West European problems than those of other East European
countries." "They just left centrally planned economies three years ago and we were free of the centrally planned
economy for the last 25 years. Now we are more similar to the Austrians than to the Slovaks."
HUNGARY: ECONOMIC OVERVIEW

In 1991, the new Finance Minister unveiled a three-year policy action programme entitled "Stabilisation and
Convertibility". The main priorities of the plan were to meet debt obligations and to fight inflation — primarily
through tight fiscal policies, wage control, reduction of state support,_ and a decreasing state role in the
distribution of income. Among other objectives were the maintenance of confidence in the economy, the
stabilisation of the forint, increased privatization of property, the encouragement of local private enterprise, and
the creation of a favourable environment for foreign capital inflows (Exhibit D).
The country is also carrying out an active program to strip away the remnants of the bureaucracy built up
over the past. In reporting on the economic slow-down in 1992, when export growth declined, unemployment
rose, and the profitability of enterprises deteriorated, placing the banking system in a difficult position, the
National Bank of Hungary reported that:

The internal reasons are ultimately linked to the transitions to a market economy. The impact of the
instruments and institutions of market economy now bring the efficiency problems, hidden under the
former conditions to the light of day. Economic pressures lead to the fast reduction of low-efficiency
productions, which the unfolding of new and efficient activities cannot follow at the same rate.
The year 1992 is of particular importance in the process described. This was the first year when
Hungary practically operated a market economy. A few new laws — primarily the new Bankruptcy Law,
the new Accounting Law and the new Banking Law — launched far-reaching changes not only in the
way of thinking of economic agents, but also in their practical behaviour: market-driven forms of
behaviour, the endeavour aimed at security, liquidity, increasing incomes and assets and the selection
of business partners on the basis of financial reliability increasingly characterize their decisions, actions,
and responses
HUNGARY: OVERVIEW OF THE BANKING SYSTEM

The central bank is the National Bank of Hungary. Although no longer required to do so, most enterprises
conduct their banking through it. The National Bank controls the interest rate, sets the exchange rate policy,
and manages the conversion of forints into hard currency and export earnings into forints. During 1992, the
National Bank reduced the interest rate to signal its expectation that the rate of inflation was falling. It also
devalued the forint against the basket of foreign currencies in three separate steps to a total of 5.5 percent.
The banking system in Hungary, although more advanced than other of its Eastern European counterparts,
would require extensive modification to come up to the modem standards of western financial institutions. The
new Banking Law will allow for foreign investment in Hungarian banks. It is hoped that foreign banks will be
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attracted by the opportunity to obtain as much as 25 percent ownership in Hungarian banks and that they will then
provide the expertise and technology needed to modernize the banking system.
Common western banking conveniences such as chequing accounts, consumer loans, credit cards, and banking
machines simply do not exist in Hungary as they do in North America. As a result, the bank is the transaction
link for enterprises. When an account between companies must be settled, the bank simply transfers the funds
from the debtor’s account to the creditor’s account and notifies the parties by letter. In the case of a currency
devaluation, the bank makes the adjustment required and notifies the enterprises affected.
HUNGARY: ACCOUNTING EDUCATION

There are three levels of accounting education and certification in Hungary: the first level is balance analyst, the
second level is balance master, and the third, and highest level, is auditor. All designations require a university
degree in any discipline with three years of accounting course work given by the Ministry of Finance. At this
point, students receive a diploma certifying them as balance analysts and qualifying them for work in small
enterprises. Students who wish to become balance masters must complete three years of work experience with
the Ministry of Finance. Balance masters are considered to be bookkeeping experts. Those who wish to become
controllers or chief accountants and work in the largest firms must earn the designation auditor. This requires
several more years of experience in accounting and increased knowledge of industry, commerce, and foreign trade
and the successful completion of a series of six examinations.
The controller or chief accountant of a firm is usually second in command to the general manager. He or
she is responsible for ensuring that the company complies with the financial laws and regulations applicable to
it, that the accounting records are accurate, and that the income taxes paid are correct. The controller is, in fact,
legally bound to report any violation of accounting rules to the governing minister.
HUNGARY: TAX INCENTIVES

The standard corporate income tax rate in Hungary is 40 percent; however, the government offers a number of
incentives to attract foreign investment in Hungarian business. To be eligible for a 60 percent reduction in the
tax rate for the first five years and a 40 percent reduction for the next five years a joint venture must have start
up capital of at least 50 million forints, must have foreign participation of at least 30 percent, and must derive
at least 50 percent of its income from manufacturing or from the operation of a hotel. The state will allow a 100
percent tax holiday for five years and a 60 percent reduction for a further five years if the activity of the joint
venture is of significant importance to the economy.
It appears that a "joint venture" is defined as any enterprise with a degree of foreign investment.
Imported capital manufacturing assets which are supplied to a company by its foreign partner will not be
subject to customs duties or Value Added Tax.

It was now November 1993 and George had still not entirely resolved the control problem. With the subsidiary
growing as it was and becoming more and more material to the consolidation, the control issue and other issues
needed to be addressed. Compounding the problem was the fact that Linamar had changed its year end from June
30 to December 31 in order to conform with the year end of its European subsidiary and make the consolidation
easier. The auditors would arrive in late January so that the financial statements would be ready for the annual
meeting of shareholders in April. Right now one of his main concerns was getting a clean cut-off at Mezõgép.
George smiled when he thought about Mezõgép. It was amazing how much he had learned in two short years
about doing business in an eastern European country that was making the difficult transition from a socialist
economy to a market economy. All of his accounting and problem solving skills had been put to the test and
probably would continue to be.
Time to get back to work, he thought — he had an appointment with the cooperative education student from
the local university within the hour. As part of her semester-long work term at Linamar, Janine Stricker had to
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prepare a report under George’s direction. In preparation for this meeting, George had prepared a list of issues
for discussion (Exhibit F).
REQUIRED:
Assume that you are Janine, the university student who has been working at Linamar during the fall semester.
Prepare the report for George. He has given you the following direction.

In general:

1.

Identify the accounting issues at Mezõgép that George has had to address in the past or will have to address
in the future.

2.

Discuss the appropriate accounting treatment for the issues that you identify.

Specifically:
3.

How can George ensure that amounts included in the consolidated financial statements are in accordance with
GAAP?

4.

How should George solve the potential cut-off problem at Mezõgép?

5.

In the long-term, how can George satisfactorily address the communication issue?

6.

Given that Mezõgép will pay no income taxes for five years how can George maximize the company’s
income tax position?

7.

Given the uncertainty surrounding economic reforms in Hungary and the potential inability to repatriate
earnings, how can George deal with the risk of doing business in Hungary?

8.

Given the need for accurate, reliable and timely accounting reports, what kind of system can George
implement to deal with information coming from Hungary?

9.

Linamar accounts for its investment as a self-sustaining foreign operation. Discuss the appropriateness of
this treatment.
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EXHIBIT A
LINAMAR SEGMENTED INFORMATION
(thousands of dollars)

The company currently operates in two significant industry segments:

— The precision machining segment consists primarily of the manufacturing and assembly of automotive
components for original equipment manufacturers and their suppliers. Substantially all automotive revenue
is derived from sales to major North American manufacturers. In the year ended June 30, 1993, sales to the
company’s largest customers amounted to 32.4%, 17.5% and 11.8% of total revenue.

~ The agricultural equipment segment consists of the assembly and sale of rotary combines, corn heads and
grain dryers.
June 30
1993
Industry Segments

Precision
Machining
$
Total revenue

Inter-segment sales

Sales to customers
outside the company
Operating earnings (loss)

Identifiable assets

228,277

Geographic Segments

Agricultural
Equipment
$
22,299

127

Canada
$

Hungary
$

241,277

21,013

107

11,734

241,170

9,279

228,150

22,299

21,841

(2,148)

18,799

894

145,546

48,035

166,854

26,727

534

27,743

5,153

13,877

1,141

Capital expenditures
Depreciation and
amortization

Total
$

1,404

Export sales to the United States amounted to $196.9 million.

Export sales to Europe and Asia amounted to $18.1 million.

250,449

15,018
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EXHIBIT B

LINAMAR SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(Millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

Years Ended June 30
1993

1992

1991

1990

1989

250.4

178.6

171.0

128.6

113.7

13.4

8.7

5.1

3.3

1.6

1.48

1.07

0.64

0.41

0.20

Total Assets

193.6

133.0

109.3

104.6

85.5

Long-Term Debt

35.3

27.8

25.0

25.4

26.7

Shareholders’ Equity

72.5

57.9

38.6

33.4

30.5

1.8

15.1

19.3

3.1

(1.8)

Capital Expenditures

32.9

21.5

16.7

11.9

8.6

Depreciation and Amortization

15.0

11.1

8.8

6.7

6.4

Working Capital

2.9

21.2

16.3

16.5

19.7

Statement of Earnings
Sales
Net Earnings

Per Share
Net Earnings

Financial Position

Other Financial Information
Cash from Operating Activities
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EXHIBIT C

LINAMAR FACILITIES IN CANADA, UNITED STATES AND HUNGARY

CANADA

UNITED STATES

Linamar Corporation — Ariss Plant
Ariss, Ontario

Linamar U.S.A. Inc.
Romulus, Michigan

Linex Manufacturing Inc.
Guelph, Ontario
Hastech Inc.
Guelph, Ontario

HUNGARY

Spinic Manufacturing Co. Ltd.
Guelph, Ontario

Mezõgép Incorporated
Orosháza

Emtol Manufacturing Ltd.
Guelph, Ontario
Invar Manufacturing Ltd.
Batawa, Ontario
Roctel Manufacturing Ltd.
Guelph, Ontario

Rocomb Mfg. Ltd.
Guelph, Ontario
Transgear Manufacturing Inc.
Guelph, Ontario

Quadrad Manufacturing Ltd.
Guelph, Ontario
Western Combine Corporation
Portage La Prairie. Manitoba

Traxle Mfg. Ltd.
Guelph, Ontario
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EXHIBIT D

HUNGARY KEY STATISTICS

Official name:

Republic of Hungary

Total area:

93,030 km2

Population:

10.4 million at December 31, 1992

Main towns:

Budapest
Debrecen
Miskolc

Currency:

Hungarian Forint (Ft.) Exchange rate:
1992 Annual average: Ft79=US$l; June 30, 1993:
Ft91.62=US$l

GDP:

1992: US$35.5bn

Real GDP change:

1992: -4.5%

Inflation:

1990: +28%
1991: +35%
1992: +23%

Unemployment:

1991: 7.5%
1992: 12.3%

Sources:

2,016,000
212,000
196,000

Coopers & Lybrand, Central Eastern Europe: a business and investment guide, National Bank of
Hungary, Annual Report 1992
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EXHIBIT E
THE PRESCRIBED BREAKDOWN OF THE BALANCE SHEET
Appendix 1 to Law XVIII of 1991
Assets
A.

Invested assets
I. Intangible assets
1. Rights representing value
2. Goodwill
3. Intellectual property
4. Capitalized value of research and development
5. Capitalized value of establishment/restructuring
II. Tangible assets
1. Real estate
2. Technical equipment, machinery, vehicles
3. Other equipment and fittings
4. Investments (non-financial)
5. Advance payments made towards investments (non-financial)
III. Financial investments
1. Profit sharing
2. Securities
3. Loans granted
4. Long term bank deposits

B.

Current assets
I. Inventories
1. Raw materials
2. Goods
3. Advance payments made towards inventories
4. Livestock
5. Unfinished goods and work in progress
6. Finished products
II. Receivables
1. Accounts receivable from supply of goods and services (purchasers)
2. Draft receivables
3. Unpaid issued capital
4. Claims against founding members
5. Other receivables
III. Securities
1. Bonds bought for sale
2. Own shares, share quotas, shares bought for sale
3. Other securities
IV. Liquid assets
1. Cash, checks
2. Bank deposits

C.

Prepaid expenses
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Sources (Liabilities):

D.

Owner’s Equity
I. Issued capital
II. Capital reserves
III. Accumulated profit reserves
IV. Losses carried forward from previous years
V. Balance sheet profit figure

E.

Special reserves
1. Reserves for expected losses
2. Reserves for expected obligations
3. Other reserves

F.

Liabilities
I. Long term liabilities
1. Investment and development loans
2. Other long term loans
3. Long term loans
4. Debts on the issue of bonds
5. Obligations to founders
6. Other long term liabilities
II. Short term liabilities
1. Advance payments received from purchasers
2. Account payable (for purchases of goods and services from suppliers)
3. Overdraft debts
4. Short term debts
5. Short term loans
6. Other short term liabilities

G.

Accrued expenses

12
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THE PRESCRIBED BREAKDOWN OF THE PROFIT AND LOSS
STATEMENT
Appendix 2 to Law XVIII of 1991

01 Domestic sales revenues
02 Export sales revenues
I. Sales Revenues (01 + 02)
II. Other Revenues
03 Capitalized value of self manufactured assets
04 Change in self manufactured inventories
III. Capitalised Value of Own Performance (03 + 04)
05 Raw material costs
06 Value of material type services used
07 Purchase price of goods sold
08 Value of subcontractors’ work
IV. Material type expenditures (05 + 06 + 07 + 08)
09 Wage costs
10 Other payments to personnel
11 Social security contribution
V. Payments to personnel (09 + 10 + 11)
VI. Depreciation expenses
VII.
Other costs
VIII.
Other expenditures
A. Profits from business activity
(I + II +— III - IV — V — VI — VII - VIII)
12 Interest received and interest related revenues
13 Dividend and profit sharing received
14 Other revenues from financial transactions
IX. Revenues from financial transactions (12 + 13 + 14)
15 Paid interests and interest related payments
16 Write-off of financial investments
17 Other expenditures on financial transactions
X. Financial transaction expenditures (15 + 16 + 17)
B. Result from financial transactions (IX — X)
C. Income before taxes (pre-tax profits)
(excluding extraordinary gains or losses) ( + — A + - B)
XI. Extraordinary revenues
XII.
Extraordinary expenditures
D. Extraordinary profit figure (XI - XII)
E. Income before taxes (+ — C + — D)
XIII.
Tax liability
F. Profit after taxes (+ — E — XIII)
18. Use of retained earnings for dividends and profit sharing
19. Dividends and profit sharing paid (approved)
G. Balance sheet net profit figure (+ - F + 18 - 19)

Source: The New Hungarian Accounting Law, 1992
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EXHIBIT F

OTHER INFORMATION (See Exhibit G for a Summary of Hungarian Accounting Practice)
1.

On January 1, 1992 Linamar purchased all of the issued and outstanding shares of Mezõgép Incorporated,
a manufacturer of combine parts supplies in Orosháza, Hungary. Frank Hasenfratz was attracted by the
investment for three reasons: because Mezõgép was in the same line of business as his Canadian
companies, because Mezõgép had considerable excess manufacturing capacity, and because he would once
again have a close connection to his native Hungary.
At acquisition, Linamar gave cash consideration of $233,000 and received non-cash working capital
of $1,517,000, fixed assets of $4,486,000 and assumed bank advances of $4,727,000 and long-term debt
of $1,043,000.

2.

Mezõgép, as required by Hungarian law, has a December 31 year end. Enterprises in Hungary must
report in accordance with Hungarian Accounting Law and the annual financial statements must be
prepared and submitted to the Ministry of Finance by May 31 each year. As a result, the company keeps
its books open as long as possible after December 31 in order to ensure that all transactions relating to
the year under report are noted and recorded. The company is then also in a position to take advantage
of any favourable currency fluctuations that occur after the year end.

3.

Pieces of paper generally drive accounting recognition. Receipt of evidence of a bank transfer signals
a completed transaction regardless of whether or not title has passed. On the other hand, arrival of goods
before paper is not a recordable economic event.

4.

During 1992, Mezõgép received a loan of approximately US$1 million from the Hungarian government.
In return, Mezõgép issued shares to the government. The amount must be repaid in three years and the
shares redeemed. Under Hungarian law the transaction is an issue of shares and Mezõgép has booked
the transaction accordingly as a debit to cash and a credit to equity. George believes that the transaction
is in substance a loan and should be recorded as such.

5.

On January 1, 1993, Mezõgép, under a plan developed by Larry Pearson, purchased the vacuum pump
production line and certain other assets for U.S. $2.5 million from Saginaw Overseas Corporation
(Saginaw), a Delaware corporation located in the United Kingdom. Saginaw is a subsidiary of General
Motors. The assets acquired include the exclusive license to make, use, and sell vacuum pumps under
certain patents for vehicles manufactured in countries other than Japan, and the non-exclusive license for
vehicles manufactured in Japan. The patents expire in approximately five years.
Mezõgép sent several production employees to England for training in the production process. While
the employees were being trained at Saginaw’s plant, Linamar constructed a 3,240 square metre plant for
$1.5 million at its Mezõgép location in Hungary and moved the production line to it in mid 1993.
Mezõgép did not record any part of the transaction until August 1993. Mezõgép depreciated all assets
in the automotive segment using the declining balance method at a rate of 34 percent. Sales of vacuum
pumps from the date of acquisition to June 30, 1993 were approximately $7 million in North America and
$1 million in Europe.

6.

The company has been given a 100 percent income tax reduction for five years and should be eligible for
a 60 percent reduction for a further five years. Since Hungarian companies are taxed on the basis of the
income they report to the Ministry of Finance, certain non-deductible expenses by-pass the income
statement and are recorded as direct reductions to equity.

7.

George is not usually aware of currency fluctuations in Hungary until he receives notice from the National
Bank of Hungary through Mezõgép. This is often three to four months after the event. George became
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aware of the problem because the amount of the U.S. dollar denominated loans on Mezõgép’s interim
financial statements were increasing rather than decreasing. During 1992, he had carried on extensive
correspondence with Mezõgép before discovering the reason.
8.

As noted above, communication can be quite difficult. The language barrier exists on two levels. Unlike
countries in western Europe where English is often the language of commerce, only about five percent
of the population of Hungary speak English. Engaging an interpreter may or may not help because the
translator often becomes another filter of the language and precise meaning can be lost. Complicating this
basic difference is the language of accounting as communicated in the west. It’s not clear that this level
of communication is successful either since the practice of accounting is itself so different in Hungary.
Some familiar North American accounting concepts are simply undefined in Hungary.

9.

Linamar has changed its year end from June 30 to December 31, effective December 31, 1993 in order
to facilitate the consolidation of its subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements must be issued and
audited by early February so as to be available for the annual meeting of shareholders.

10.

Mezõgép’s financial statements are prepared according to Hungarian law using a standard, prescribed
chart of accounts. (Exhibit E) The statements are sent to George denominated in Hungarian forints. He
translates the statements to Canadian currency using the assumption that Mezõgép is a self-sustaining
operation.

11.

The office of the auditors, Coopers & Lybrand, in Hungary consists of a Hungarian practice and a
European practice. The Hungarian professionals audit the financial statements to ensure that they conform
to Hungarian accounting and reporting requirements. The European professionals act as liaison with other
Coopers & Lybrand offices. George has been communicating with one of the auditors in the Hungary
practice who is there on a posting from the London, England office. Avery Eaton-Jones has helped
George considerably by sending him copies of relevant Hungarian law and by explaining some of the
Hungarian accounting rules to him. George has relied on Avery in the past and is sure that he can
continue to use the auditor’s expertise to his advantage.

12.

The following statement appears in Management’s Discussion and Analysis in Linamar’s June 30, 1993
Annual Report:
Risks associated with Linamar’s operations in Eastern Europe and Asia include political
and currency instability, poor infrastructure, the potential inability to repatriate earnings,
and the lack of an established legal framework. While reforms directed at political and
economic liberalization have been advanced in these jurisdictions, there can be no
certainty that these reforms will continue or, if continued, will be effective.
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EXHIBIT G

SUMMARY OF HUNGARIAN ACCOUNTING PRACTICE

Accounting practice in Hungary is a mixture of both the 1992 Hungarian Accounting Law, (which tries to set a
new standard for accounting principles) and past practice. While the law attempts to approach international
standards, practice must cope with the realities of the banking system and the training and habits of the past.
Under the Law, all financial statements must be prepared as at December 31 and prepared by May 31.

Banking
Cheques are still almost unheard of and cash transactions are either carried out in cash (currency) or by
bank draft. Recording of these latter transactions occurs when notification is received from the bank.

Fixed and Intangible Assets
—

the
—
—
—
—

Law prescribes depreciation periods:
"rights representing value" — 6 or more years
goodwill — 5 or more years but not more than 15
research and development costs — no more than 5 years
all others — over the expected life

Investments

Investments are to be carried at lower of cost or market but equity value not recognized for significantly
influenced investments.

Foreign Currency
Accounts receivable must be valued at official buying rates except if that has decreased by date of
preparation (up to May 31).
Accounts payable are treated similarly to accounts receivable but selling rate used and if the debt
repayable is greater than the original amount the difference must be included in prepaid expenses.

Source: The New Hungarian Accounting Law, 1992
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Linamar Corporation: Doing Business in Hungary

TEACHING NOTES
Charlotte W. Heywood, Lecturer
Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Ontario
David E. Graham, Partner
Coopers & Lybrand, Waterloo, Ontario

SUMMARY

This case is designed to give students an idea of the accounting complexities brought about by doing business in
another country, Hungary — an Eastern European country that has legislated a rudimentary accounting system.
Practice in Hungary has blended The Accounting Law with past customs and habits. The Canadian parent
company accountant is faced with a number of issues:
•

communication

•

form versus substance

•

cash basis accounting

•

financial reporting

•

accounting for income taxes

•

a variance between accounting rules and practice

•

accounting for a foreign operation

OBJECTIVES

The case requires students to deal with an environment that has a different set of rules and an unique way of
living with those rules. They must interpret the data coming out of the environment by understanding it on its
own terms and then translating it into their standards. They must determine how the information coming from
Hungary could be incorrect. They should also consider that it is produced in an environment that has a different
set of rules and one in which practitioners interpret those rules in an unique manner. They must translate the
accounting information into the Canadian standards environment.
SPECIFIC ISSUES

1.

In the valuation of certain assets, both the rules and practice in Hungary are very dependent upon the date
that the company prepares its financial statements. All business organizations must have a December 31
year end but are allowed considerable leeway in the interpretation of data up until the preparation of the
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financial statements. Therefore, the date on which those financial statements are prepared is crucial,
particularly when one considers that the accounting profit is also the income for tax purposes. As a result,
there could be a different evaluation of assets than that which is required for Canadian accounting
purposes.
2.

At present, in Hungary, the practice is to record transactions only when hard evidence is received of their
occurrence. Therefore, various banking transactions, exchange fluctuations, etc may be recorded by the
company upon notification some period of time after they actually occur. There is apparently a preference
for form over substance in the recording of such transactions.

3.

Government investment was seen as a share investment by the Hungarian company but, because of the
terms of the investment, as a loan by the Canadian parent. Again, this is evidence of the preference for
form over substance.

4.

The purchase of tangible and intangible assets is recorded at different times (in Hungary only after the
transaction is completed; in Canada when the transaction arises). This also affects the recording of
amortization.

5.

There may be some opportunities for creative tax planning during the tax holiday. In addition, the tax
holiday could have a significant affect on the effective tax rate of the parent company.

6.

The official rate of exchange in Hungary affects all foreign transactions but the information is not always
recorded on a timely basis as was pointed out previously. This affects monthly reporting as well as year
end financial statements and again suggests the need for mechanisms to reduce the effects of the problem.

7.

Communication is a very significant problem for this company. No one on the Canadian accounting staff
speaks Hungarian and no one on the Hungarian accounting staff speaks English. Language translation
often occurs through non-accountants which tends to increase the confusion. Even when language
translation occurs, George Sims often has the impression that the essential understanding is lost.

8.

The preparation of consolidated annual financial statements can be a frantic occurrence in the best of
times. Linamar has a foreign subsidiary which prepares its financial statements according to a different
set of principles and discussion with the preparing accountants is difficult.

9.

The student should deal with how to account for an investment which is a self-sustaining foreign
operation. Discussion could contrast this with an integrated foreign operation. In addition, there is a
restricted exchange on the currency and there could be future political instability.

APPROPRIATE COURSES
We suggest that this case is appropriate for Intermediate Financial Accounting, International Accounting or
Financial Statement Analysis courses. The latter two suggested courses could be at either the undergraduate or
MBA level.

TEACHING STRATEGIES
The assignment should be prepared by students for classroom discussion. Accounting students would prepare
a detailed report addressing all of the issues of the case. MBA students would likely prepare either a detailed
report or the outline of the contents of a report which deals with the accounting management aspects of the case.
In an advanced accounting class where this case was tested, the instructor asked students to first explain (from
their reading of the case) what they knew about a) Linamar, b) doing business in Hungary, and c) Mezõgép. This
helped the students to understand the environment. Next, he asked them to identify the issues and finally to

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-07: Linamar Corporation: Doing Business in Hungary ♦ 19

discuss the most important issues. We developed a series of overheads from the discussion that took place in that
class and reproduce them as Exhibit H.
There are some differences between GAAP in Canada and GAAP in the United States. Instructors can
easily tailor requirements to conform to U.S. practice.

TIME FRAME

To cover all of the material, we suggest that the case could be reviewed and discussed in two to three hours.
Less time would be required if selected questions are used.
DISCUSSION ISSUES

It is probable that the accounting information coming from Mezõgép shortly after the December 31 year end is
not accurate by North American standards or for Canadian reporting purposes:

For domestic accounting use, the Hungarian accounting staff would keep the books open until a propitious
time up to May 31 to ensure that the advantage of hindsight is fully utilized. Therefore, accurate cut off
is likely not obtained soon after December 31.
The Hungarian system is apparently paper driven. The recording of receipt of goods, exchange
fluctuations, bank debits etc. will only be recorded on receipt of documentation. This will delay the
timely recording of year-end information —possibly until after reports are sent to Canada.

Currency revaluations are not being recorded until months after they occur and Mezõgép has significant
balance sheet and operations data denominated in foreign currencies. Linamar will have to be aware of
all of the affected balances and transactions and make appropriate adjustments.
There may, in fact, be motivation to achieve a certain cut-off in Hungary that presents the most favourable
result for tax purposes since the accounting result is the taxable result (see further discussion below).
Accounting principles are interpreted differently in the two countries (Canada and Hungary) thus necessitating
adjustment when information is received.
The Hungarians see the loan secured by shares as an issuance of shares though there is no intention of
either giving or receiving an equity interest. Thus, the loan will have to be set up each time financial
statements are received from Mezõgép and before they are consolidated. Discussion of substance over
form may be appropriate.

Mezõgép’s accounting staff have recorded the acquisition of a plant at a time other than when it occurred.
This affects the calculation of depreciation. In addition an apparently inappropriate rate of depreciation
is being used in Hungary. Depreciation will have to be adjusted each time the financial statements are
consolidated.
Statements prepared for accounting purposes are also used for tax calculations.

Discussion should recognize that measures taken for tax reasons could make the financial information
coming from Hungary even less acceptable by Canadian standards thus requiring further adjustment.
The discussion should include recognition of the propensity to maximize income in Hungary without
violating accepted accounting norms in that country since there is a five year tax holiday for Mezõgép.
An example of this would be choosing depreciation rates which will maximize earnings during the time
period the company is exempt from income taxes.
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Also, certain non-deductible expenses are charged directly to equity - another item requiring adjustment
before the statements can be used in Canada.

Communication and the difference in accounting environments is causing significant problems and misunderstand
ings. The requirements of a public company to produce consolidated financial statements in an expedient fashion
are somewhat exasperated when information that requires significant adjustment is received from people who have
a different accounting environment and speak a different language. Students should be encouraged to consider
mechanisms for easing this problem.
One solution may be to use of an international accounting firm with offices in Hungary that both have an
understanding of the Hungarian and international accounting standards and are able to translate between
Hungarian and English.

Consider hiring an accountant in Canada who has facility in the Hungarian language.

It would be useful to set up a computer template with standard adjustments already included in it so that
the information can be translated into Canadian standards as efficiently as possible once received.

Also suggest setting up corporate wide accounting policies that are translated into Hungarian.
Mezõgép is accounted for by Linamar as a self-sustaining foreign operation.
challenged to discuss the appropriateness of this policy.

Accounting students may be
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EXHIBIT H

SAMPLE CLASS OVERHEADS

1.

TEACHING OBJECTIVES
a.
b.
c.

2.

SAMPLE CLASS AGENDA

a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
3.

What Linamar does
How is Linamar doing
Key sucess factors

WHAT LINAMAR DOES

a.
b.
c.
d.
5.

Linamar — The Parent Company
Doing business in Hungary
Mezõgép
Identify Issues
Discuss Issues

LINAMAR — THE PARENT COMPANY
a.
b.
c.

4.

International perspective
Why things are different
Accepting differences

Precision machining
Agricultural equipment
Automotive parts
International scope

HOW IS LINAMAR DOING?
Various graphs showing growth and performance curves

6.

KEY SUCCESS FACTORS

a.
b.
c.
7.

DOING BUSINESS IN HUNGARY

a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.

8.

Sound engineering
Quality and service to OEMs
Corporate organization

Political climate
Economic climate
Legal climate
Social/cultural climate
Difference from North America
Nature of industry

MEZOGEP
a.
b.
c.
d.

Significance
New plant
Similarity to Linamar
Labour intensive
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9.

ISSUES
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.

10.

COMMUNICATION
a.
b.
c.
d.

11.

Petty cash
Distance
Communication

INCOME TAX

a.
b.
c.
d.

17.

Currency translation
Cut-off
Adjusting from Hungarian GAAP

MANAGEMENT CONTROL
a.
b.
c.

16.

Debt versus equity
Transaction recognition

CONSOLIDATION

a.
b.
c.
15.

Revenue recognition
Currency fluctuations
Plant purchase
Depreciation
Non-deductible expense
Prescribed reporting date

FORM VERSUS SUBSTANCE
a.
b.

14.

New Accounting Law
Conceptual framework
Specific issues

GAAP-P SPECIFIC ISSUES

a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
13.

Information lag
Information exchange
Accounting management
How to solve the problem?

HUNGARIAN GAAP-P
(GAAP versus practice)

a.
b.
c.
12.

Communication
Hungarian GAAP — P
Form versus substance
Consolidation
Management control
Tax planning

Expense to equity
No tax for 5 years
Transfer pricing
T2S(1) or M-1(1120)

OTHER CLASSROOM MODELS
a. Group Assignment
b. Individual Assignment
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PUTTING AWAY FOR A RAINY DAY...
’’ANTICIPATING" THE LOS ANGELES EARTHQUAKE
[The Evolution of EITF No. 93-6 and its application
of SFAS No. 113 risk transfer conditions]

Wanda A. Wallace, The John N. Dalton Professor of Business Administration
College of William and Mary, Williamsburg, Virginia

John M. Althoff, Partner
Price Waterhouse, New York, New York

As the president of a small, publicly held property and casualty insurance company in 1990, you have enjoyed
some good times but are certain that given the nature of your business, natural disasters will inevitably lead to
large claims. You are increasingly aware of the value the market seems to place upon stable earnings. Volatility
of earnings tends to be interpreted as a problem with management, increased risk, and lower stock price. You
could eliminate a portion of the risk through a "traditional" reinsurance program. But the reinsurer would
demand a significant premium to assume the risk. It happens that your college roommate is now a reinsurance
intermediary who specializes in designing creative reinsurance contracts. You arrange a meeting and explain your
concerns.

President: I am wondering if I am missing something that I ought to be looking into.
Reinsurance Intermediary: Well, have you considered multiple-year retrospectively-rated reinsurance contracts?

President: No, I have heard that some of our competitors have entered into those contracts, but I am not really
sure how they work.
Reinsurance Intermediary: Well, they are similar to traditional reinsurance contracts except they contain a
retrospective rating provision which automatically adjusts your future premiums based on property and casualty
claims experience. This essentially lets you "bank" the good times and have them available to draw out when
the inevitable natural disasters you’re fretting about strike! On the other hand, if disaster strikes sooner than
expected, this provision lets you "draw" on your coverage against future premiums. Because the reinsurer knows
they will eventually receive sufficient premiums to cover your claims, the economic cost of these contracts may
be much smaller than traditional reinsurance contracts.

Copyright 1994 by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and donated to the public domain for educational use.
Cases developed and distributed under the AICPA Case Development Program are intended for use in higher education for
instructional purposes only, and are not for application in practice. The AICPA neither approves nor endorses this case or any solution
provided herewith or subsequently developed.
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President: This sounds promising. I would like to have my controller join us to go over this in more detail.
I want to make sure that we understand how the contract works, as well as how we account for it.
The Controller joins the meeting and the Reinsurance Intermediary passes out a memorandum describing multipleyear retrospectively-rated contracts.

SERVICES BY REINSURANCE INTERMEDIARIES

Multiple-year retrospectively-rated contracts
A reinsurance contract is an agreement in which a reinsurer (assuming enterprise) assumes all or part of a risk
undertaken originally by another insurer (ceding enterprise) in return for a specified premium. Multiple-year
retrospectively-rated contracts (RRCs) are similar to traditional reinsurance contracts, except that they include
a "retrospective rating" provision. This provision generally provides for at least one of the following based on
contract experience (e.g., depending on whether losses are incurred):

1.

changes in the amount or timing of the reinsurer’s compensation,

2.

a refund to the ceding enterprise, or

3.

changes in the contract’s coverage.

Part or all of the retrospective rating provision is obligatory. This is accomplished by either prohibiting
cancellation of the contract for some period of time or allowing cancellation only upon payment of a penalty.
Thus RRCs are unlike most traditional personal, commercial, and reinsurance coverages, which are also
underwritten and rated based on past losses, because in those coverages either party can cancel the contract (or
allow it to expire unrenewed) at least annually, without making further payments.
There are a variety of reinsurance contracts that would meet the definition of an RRC provided above.
Examples of the two basic types of RRCs are traditional retrospectively-rated contracts, and transactions referred
to as "funded catastrophe covers" ("funding covers").

Traditional multiple-year RRCs

Traditional multiple-year RRCs are used to reinsure any type of property or casualty insurance risk, providing
for an adjustment to future premiums or commissions based on experience to date. The contract often has a
definite term, with both parties obligated to the premium and commission adjustments specified during that
contract’s term. For example, a three-year retrospectively-rated contract might accumulate premiums and losses
from the contract in an off-balance-sheet tracking account referred to as an experience account or "fund balance."
Premiums in each contract year are determined by the balance in the experience account at the beginning of the
year. If the experience to date has been unfavorable (i.e., cumulative losses have exceeded cumulative
premiums), then the premiums paid by the ceding enterprise in future years increase according to a predetermined
schedule. If the experience to date has been favorable (i.e., cumulative losses are less than cumulative
premiums), then the premiums paid in future years remain constant or decrease according to a predetermined
schedule.
Funding covers

Funding covers differ only in degree of complexity from RRCs, as they may contain significant adjustable
features. Funding covers require a reinsurer to make payments to an insurer based on insured losses from a
variety of property and casualty risks. The coverage may also be linked to experience in other contracts.
In addition to an initial periodic "deposit" premium that may be significant in relation to the coverage to be
provided under the contract, funding covers are retrospectively rated. While the retrospective rating takes place
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through various types of contingent contractual provisions, those provisions can be summarized as either (1)
adjusting the amount of future cash flows or coverage under the contract based on prior experience, or (2)
providing a refund to the ceding enterprise if its premiums are not needed to pay losses.
The experience account in a funding cover is conceptually the same as in the traditional RRC but may be
referred to by other names, such as "reinsurance fund balance" or "deposit premium account." The fund balance
may take a more complex form because, in addition to premiums and losses, it may accumulate interest credits
and debits and other charges and credits not related to experience under the contract, such as the reinsurer’s
charge for its risk and expenses.
Compensation to a reinsurer under the contingent contractual provisions may take several forms. Among
the most common are:

Premium and commission adjustments, which usually are based on a percentage of the fund balance as described
previously.

Coverage adjustments, which may be effected through a reduction of the contract’s limit, an increase in the
amount of losses retained by the ceding enterprise, or other provisions that reduce the probability of future
recoveries under the contract. For example, the ceding enterprise might continue to pay the same deposit
premium, but receive a 50 percent reduction in limit. Or the coverage might not begin until more than one loss
has occurred, so that the ceding enterprise has to report, and retain the risk of, more losses before the first dollar
of coverage begins.

Settlement adjustments, which are determined at the earlier of contract termination or, for definite-term contracts,
the expiration of the contract. The amount of the settlement adjustment generally is based on a formula applied
to the fund balance amount and may be affected by which party initiates the termination.
Funding covers also typically provide for premium refunds to the ceding enterprises (which include reductions
in future cost or expanded coverage) if experience under the contract is favorable (premiums and interest credits
exceed the sum of losses, interest debits, and the amount the reinsurer charges for its risks and costs). For
example, if a positive fund balance exists at the end of the contract, the ceding enterprise might receive all or
a portion of the fund balance.
SERVICES BY REINSURANCE INTERMEDIARIES

After reading the memorandum, the reinsurance intermediary begins his sales pitch.
Reinsurance Intermediary. It looks like multiple-year retrospectively-rated contracts are exactly what you need.
Let me give you an example of what I can do for you. I can arrange to have a reinsurer issue you a funded cover
that will work like a bank account. You will deposit your premiums into the account each year for five years.
The reinsurer will then deduct all covered losses from the account as they occur plus, a small administrative
charge for handling the paperwork. In addition, the reinsurer will credit you with interest on your account
balance as long as it is positive. Of course, the reinsurer will have to charge your account with interest if it goes
negative. Then at the end of the contract term, or if you decide that you want to cancel the contract, you just
settle up. If your account balance is negative, then you pay an additional premium. If the account balance is
positive, then the reinsurer refunds you the balance. Sounds great, doesn’t it?

President.

Well, it does sound promising, but how do you account for these contracts?

Reinsurance Intermediary. Oh! I saved the best part for last. You account for this using what is called the payas-you-go method. I have talked to several contacts in the industry and learned that everyone who has RRCs and
funded covers uses that method. Each year you recognize expense for the amount of the premium paid to the
reinsurer. Therefore, you have fixed your expense for the next five years and no matter when disaster strikes
you will not have an additional charge. Of course, you will have a settlement adjustment in the sixth year.
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However, by averaging your experience over five years, I would expect it to be small. Who knows, if there are
fewer than expected losses, you will have income in year six!
President. It certainly seems like it will solve my income volatility concerns. And I like that idea of income in
year six. This way the reinsurers don’t get to keep any of the profit on the insurance contracts that we
underwrite. What do you think?

Controller. RRCs definitely have very appealing aspects to them, but I am concerned about the accounting.
There is just no transfer of risk to the reinsurer in your proposal. I really don’t see how our independent
accountants could accept the pay-as-you-go method in these circumstances.
Reinsurance Intermediary. Well, if your accountants are more conservative than the independent accountants for
the rest of the industry, you might want to consider a more traditional RRC.

President. How would that work?
Reinsurance Intermediary. Not as well as the funded cover, but I think it might alleviate some of your concerns
over volatility and the Controller’s concerns over risk transfer. For example, the contract would provide for
deposit premiums of say $1 per year for $6 of coverage in excess of a stipulated retention. Your coverage is
limited to one catastrophic event each year. If one or more covered losses occur during the term of the contract,
then you will owe a $4 premium adjustment, which will be paid proportionately over the remaining contract term.
However, if you have no covered losses during the term of the contract, then you will receive a refund for 20%
of the total premiums paid. Therefore, if you have a covered loss in the third year, then you will have to pay
an additional $2 premium in years four and five. But if there are no losses during the entire contract term, then
you will get $1 back.
Of course, this will likely cost you more than the funded cover I suggested because the reinsurer must be
compensated for assuming risk. But because the reinsurer is guaranteed to receive an additional $4 if a second
loss occurs, the price is lower as compared to a traditional reinsurance contract with similar coverage and
retention.

President. You’re right! It is not as beneficial as a funded cover, but I think I can work with that type of
contract and achieve part of my goals. If a second loss does occur in year three, then I will at least get to
recognize the additional premium over years four and five. Can you live with the accounting?

Controller. I think our independent accountants will be more comfortable with this transaction because there is
clearly a transfer of risk to the reinsurer. But I should discuss it with them before we sign any contracts.
President. Fine. You contact the independent accountants and meanwhile, I will start working with the
Reinsurance Intermediary to structure a deal to reinsure our risk of loss for earthquake insurance sold in Southern
California.
The Controller calls the Independent Accountant and describes the transaction and the proposed accounting. The
Independent Accountant admits that he had not previously encountered this type of transaction and indicates that
he would have to look into it more. He requests that the Controller send him whatever information he had and
preferably a draft of the contract. After the call, the Independent Accountant contacts several colleagues to
discuss the transaction and the proposed accounting. He learns that others share his concerns over the use of the
pay-as-you-go method, but apparently many larger companies, including Aetna and RLI, are using that method.
A week later the President, Controller, and the Independent Accountant meet to discuss the proposed transaction.

President. What do you think? Great reinsurance contract isn’t it? Of course I realize that this is a relatively
small contract for us. But if this works out over the next few years, I can see us getting into this in a big way.
By entering into these multiple-year retrospectively-rated contracts, I can reinsure a portion of my risk and

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-08: Putting Away For A Rainy Day... ♦ 5

eliminate some of the volatility in my earnings. And that is exactly what the investment analysts, and more
importantly, my shareholders want to see me do. I certainly hope you are not going to stand in our way!
Independent Accountant. I understand why you like these contracts, but I must admit that I am uncomfortable with using
the proposed pay-as-you-go method. The way I understand how these contracts work, if you have just one covered loss
then your premiums will be automatically increased over the remaining life of the contract — and you are obligated to
pay this penalty, even if you cancel the contract. That seems to be a liability which should be recognized at the date
that the insured event occurs. I think that Statement 5 is pretty clear.
In addition, if you never have any losses, then you will be refunded a portion of the premiums paid over
the life of the contract. One could argue that this is an asset as long as an insured event does not occur. You
are just setting funds aside to use in the event an earthquake hits. Again, this seems to be contrary to Statement
5’s prohibition of contingency reserves. It appears to me that some combination of pay-as-you-go and deposit
accounting may be more appropriate.
Controller. I understand your concern, but I think you are looking at this all wrong. First of all, RRCs were
not around when Statement 5 on accounting for contingencies and Statement 60 on accounting for insurance
enterprises were developed. The literature does not specifically address RRCs and therefore it is not clear exactly
how to account for these contracts. In the absence of specific guidance, I believe that you have to look at the
accounting for similar transactions. In this case, these contracts are very similar to our traditional reinsurance
contracts where we expense all premiums each year as incurred. Clearly, the assuming company in these
contracts is at risk of loss. I grant you that our premium will increase in later years if a covered loss occurs.
But if we sustain significant losses this year on our traditional reinsurance policies, don’t you think the cost of
reinsurance will go up next year? You can count on it! And if we get any of our premium back, so what.
Expensing these payments up front is conservative. How is the investor harmed?
Secondly, I think we also have to look at industry practice. As you know, we have determined that RLI,
Aetna, and others have entered into some form of RRCs. While we cannot verify the exact terms of those
contracts or all aspects of their accounting, it does appear that they are using some form of accounting very
similar to the pay-as-you-go method we propose. I don’t see how you can hold us to a higher standard than other
independent accountants hold our competitors. Besides, the premiums for the contracts that we are proposing
to sign this year relate only to our exposure to earthquake losses in Southern California. Our annual premiums
on these contracts are clearly immaterial.

The President, Controller, and Independent Accountant continue to debate the accounting for the proposed RRC
contract. At one point they discuss taking the issue to the SEC for their review, however, the Controller vetoes
this suggestion. Ultimately, the Independent Accountant agrees.
TIME ELAPSES...
The company proceeds with the proposed RRCs, public reports are filed, and 1990, 1991, and 1992 pass with
no particular attention to the accounting treatment. Now it is early in 1993, and the Independent Accountant
learns that several publicly held property and casualty insurance companies have received communications from
the Securities and Exchange Commission requesting an explanation of the accounting treatment of multiple-year
retrospectively rated contracts. It seems that the SEC staff were expecting, after the widely publicized natural
disasters, to see some sizable effects in the financial statements. Yet, their expectations were not met. They’d
done some inquiry and discovered that the "pay-as-you-go" method was widely used by registrants in accounting
for RRCs. The SEC staff were not persuaded with the arguments supporting the use of the pay-as-you-go
method, and the fact that "bad" industry practice had evolved and persisted for several years was not considered
at all persuasive that such a practice should continue. Indeed, the SEC staff seemed rather incredulous that the
independent public accountants had concurred with the practice. The SEC staff believed that the prohibition of
contingency reserves contained in Statement 5 was violated and considered whether registrants should be forced
to restate their prior filings. As a result, the registration statements for several insurance companies were being
held-up pending the resolution of this issue.
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After a number of discussions by the SEC staff with several registrants with RRCs and their independent
accountants, the issue was added to the agenda of the Emerging Issues Task Force. The issue was discussed at
the March 16, 1993, May 20, 1993 and July 22, 1993 meetings, and the EITF reached a consensus (EITF Issue
No. 93-6) that essentially precluded the use of the pay-as-you-go method for RRCs. The consensus gave
companies the choice of applying the consensus by either recognizing the net effect of the consensus as a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting or restating the financial statements for all periods presented. The
consensus was required to be adopted no later than the third quarter of 1993 for calendar-year enterprises.
It is now nearing the end of the third quarter of 1993. The President and Controller are meeting with the
Independent Accountant to discuss the adoption of the consensus in EITF Issue No. 93-6. They have obtained
a copy of the July 1993 filing by RLI Corp, in which RLI management amended their 1992 Form 10-K to restate
their financial statements to reflect the accounting prescribed by EITF Issue 93-6. The following are excerpts
from that filing:
The Company sought to limit its net aggregate exposure to a catastrophic event in 1992 to approximately 16% of shareholders’
equity by purchasing various types of reinsurance. The Company manages its exposure to catastrophic events using a computer
modeling system to monitor its exposure to earthquake risk, the most significant catastrophic exposure to the Company. Within
this modeling system, detail is captured for each location covered for the earthquake risk and the Probable Maximum Loss
("PML") for each risk from faults to which it is exposed is determined. Underwriting decisions are based on PML as
determined by the system. Portfolio runs are made regularly to determine the Company’s overall exposure on each fault from
all risks covered. Total exposure after facultative reinsurance is managed by the Company to fall within the limits covered by
the Company’s chosen net retention, working layer treaty reinsurance and catastrophe reinsurance, (p. 11)

Since 1990, the Company has been party to a multiple-year retrospectively-rated contract which provides reinsurance on property policies
written by the Company. The contract includes provisions for additional premiums to be paid to the reinsurer or amounts to be returned
to the Company in the form of contingent commissions based on cumulative loss experience. As described below, the Company restated
its 1990, 1991, and 1992 financial statements to recognize an asset for contingent commissions due from the reinsurer based on experience
under this contract. The asset, which approximated $11,200,000 and $16,300,000 at December 31, 1991 and 1992, respectively, represents
funds held by the reinsurer which would be used to pay claims, if any, covered under the contract. Accordingly, dependent upon future loss
experience, the actual amount of contingent commissions received by the Company could be less than the amount accrued.
The Company has restated its previously-issued financial statements to recognize an asset for the amounts due from reinsurers related to the
multiple-year retrospectively-rated reinsurance contract discussed previously. The agreement provides for amounts to be returned to the
Company based on cumulative loss experience. The accounting for multiple-year retrospectively-rated reinsurance contracts is currently being
discussed at the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) and the recognition of an asset as noted above is consistent with the tentative
conclusions reached at the May 20, 1993 EITF meeting. Although a majority of the EITF Task Force members expressed a preference for
applying any consensus reached as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, the Company has retroactively restated its 1990,
1991 and 1992 financial statements in accordance with the views expressed by the staff of the SEC at the May 20, 1993 EITF meeting.

The effects of the restatement were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)
1991

1992

$2,970,588
$ 325,010
$2,645,578

$10,489,290
$ 3.627.573
$6,861,717

$14,753,187
$ 4,776,029
$9,977,158

$2,645,578
$.47

$4,216,139
$.75

$3,115,441
$.54

1990
As of December 31:
Total assets
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Year ended December 31:
Net earnings
Net earnings per share

(pp. 11-12)

Independent Accountant. A consensus was recently reached on EITF Issue 93-6, Accounting for Multiple-Year
Retrospectively Rated Contracts by Ceding and Assuming Enterprises. The bad news is that the consensus
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precludes you from using the pay-as-you-go method for the RRCs you entered into to reinsure your exposure to
risk from earthquakes in Southern California. The good news is that I believe the effect will be to recognize an
asset for the amount of the cash the assuming company owes you, given you have not had any covered losses
under the contracts. Fortunately, the EITF gives you a choice on how to adopt the new accounting. You can
either recognize the adoption of the consensus as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting or alternatively,
you can elect to restate prior years’ financial statements.

President. Restate prior financial statements! No way! I have seen what happens to other companies that have
had to restate their financial statements. I don’t want to run the risk of getting sued over this. I think we should
take the cumulative effect.
Controller. I don’t think you have to worry about getting sued. I believe you may be thinking about companies
who have had to restate their financial statements as a result of a correction of an error. This is not the same
situation. The EITF has given us a choice, and we are free to elect either one.
Independent Accountant. That is correct. Either one is acceptable under GAAP. Normally, all EITF
consensuses are adopted prospectively. In this case, I guess they wanted to get everyone on the new accounting
method right away and decided to allow you the option of restating or recognizing the change as a cumulative
effect. So you don’t have to worry about any adverse effects from restating. In fact, by resolving this issue the
way they did, one could argue the EITF has in a sense absolved you from any negative repercussions from the
SEC over the prior accounting method.
I suggest that you look over this filing by RLI Corp. and give serious consideration to restatement. The
primary advantage is that when analysts look at your earnings trend they will be comparing apples to apples.
Of course, choosing the cumulative effect will help your bottom line this year.
After much debate the Company elects to restate their financial statements for the adoption of the consensus
reached in EITF Issue 93-6.

TIME ELAPSES...

It is March 1994, and a meeting is held between the President and the Controller to discuss the preparation of
the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 1994. In advance of the meeting, the Controller sent the
President the following excerpts from the 1993 Annual Report for RLI Corp.:

The Letter to the Shareholders in the 1993 RLI annual report states:
Total earnings for 1993, however, were restrained by catastrophic claims stemming from several natural disasters. Many of our
insureds suffered extensive property damage early and again in mid-year when Mother Nature released unexpected, severe floods
both in California and the Midwest. Claim payments to restore our policyholders’ business and livelihoods lowered the year’s
earnings by $.99 per share. (p. 4)
1994 began on a sobering note, as the Northridge Earthquake rocked California’s San Fernando Valley in the pre-dawn hours of
January 17. We are proud of our Claims Department’s response. Two days after the quake, nearly three dozen adjusters were on
the scene verifying claims and issuing drafts enabling our customers to remain in business and begin the arduous task of rebuilding.
RLI and other insurers play a crucial societal role during times of crisis. It is our business to help our insureds recover from
devastating losses. Richter scale estimates of this particular earthquake are 6.7 and possibly still rising. It is extremely gratifying
to be able to lend meaningful assistance to insureds when our help is so sorely needed.

The raw numbers of this event are staggering. Current damage estimates of insured losses as high as $3 billion make it one of the
costliest disasters in recorded history. On January 26, 1994, we estimated $13—$17 million in expected net after-tax costs — the
largest event ever endured by the Company. Even so, our reinsurance program operated as designed. The computerized earthquake
simulation program Company underwriters use to evaluate such risks estimates our insureds’ claims to be well within reinsurance
resources.
Will we continue to underwrite such catastrophic exposures? Our wider perspective provides the answer.
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From 1989 through 1993, the Company wrote $204.2 million of gross premium subject to flood and earthquake perils. Gross losses
from earthquakes and floods during the period totaled $20.1 million. In 1993 alone, RLI wrote $56.0 million of such coverage,
paying out $10.4 million to claimants. While 1993 was an aberration from our normal loss experience, it did not elevate our historic
five-year loss ratio before reinsurance above an acceptable 40% level. The Company will continue to confidently participate in this
historically profitable line of business, (p. 5)

Industry Issues—A Discussion with Jon Michael, President and Chief Operating Officer, RLI Insurance Company
(p. 19)
Q. Generally, how did FASB 113 affect RLI?
JEM: In 1993, a significant amount of our catastrophe reinsurance program was backed by multiple-year retrospectively-rated
reinsurance contracts. We had built up significant positive balances in these contracts to be used in the event of a catastrophe. But
FASB 113 and the subsequent Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) consensus reduced the effectiveness of these contracts. During
the SEC filing of our convertible debt issue in the summer of 1993, we were required to change our accounting for those contracts
and restate our earnings through March 31, 1993.
The Midwestern floods had a significant effect on our operating results. Most of those claims would have been covered by
retrospectively-rated contracts and the financial statement burden of those losses would have been greatly reduced. Had the
Northridge Earthquake been covered by retrospectively-rated contracts, we would have reported much less of a financial statement
impact, as well.
Our property reinsurance contracts are renewed every January. We placed everything we intended to place this year. All of
our catastrophe covers are in place and have been reinstated after the Northridge Earthquake. But because of the EITF consensus,
we believe we were required to take on a larger net line in the event of a catastrophe than we would like to have done.
Catastrophe reinsurance at very low attachment points is not cost effective. We made a judgment call to be more volatile in
the event of a catastrophe. We think it’s a calculated risk that will pay off in the long run. (p. 19)

Elsewhere in the 1993 Annual Report is the following account:
Extraordinary floods overwhelmed many Midwesterners. The cumulative effect of assisting our policyholders in these devastated
areas reduced Company earnings by $.99 per share for the year, but proved once again the essential value of our services.
On January 17, 1994, the Northridge area of greater Los Angeles woke to the terror of a significant earthquake. Registering
at least 6.7 on the Richter scale, the quake focused its energy vertically, rather than horizontally, and created the most significant
claims event in Company history. RLI recovery teams rushed to the scene, touching bases with insureds in the affected area,
regardless of whether they filed a claim. At this writing, the anticipated net after-tax cost could range from $14 to $17 million, or
9.3% to 12.2% of shareholders’ equity.
While the magnitude of this incident is severe, and the impact on personal and commercial property immense, the bottom-line
results pay tribute to a key tool utilized by RLI and the seasoned judgment of the underwriters who use it. An earthquake simulation
and risk evaluation software system, developed at Stanford University, augments carefully crafted underwriting guidelines with
objective seismological data. Underwriters of Difference in Conditions (earthquake and flood coverages) and Residential Earthquake
policies analyze risks with this tool before binding policies. The result: net losses for the Northridge Earthquake were predictable
and are expected to fall within the amount of net premium collected for this line of business this year. (p. 22)

"The Company is party to multiple-year retrospectively-rated reinsurance contracts which include provisions for additional premiums
to be paid to the reinsurer, or amounts to be returned to the Company in the form of contingent commissions based on cumulative
loss experience. As described in note 1, the Company has complied with the provisions of EITF 93-6 and has recognized an asset
for contingent commissions due from reinsurers based on experience under these contracts. The asset, which approximated $16.3
million and $10.8 million at December 31, 1992 and 1993, respectively, represents funds held by reinsurers which would be used
to pay claims, if any, covered under the contracts. During December the Company canceled its multiple-year retrospectively-rated
reinsurance contracts. The Company received the entire contingent commission owed on one of the contracts during December 1993
and has $10.8 million recorded as reinsurance balances receivable representing the contingent commission owed to the Company on
the second contract." (pp. 43,44)

President. How do we explain that hit we will have to take due to the California earthquake in January. I really
regret making that restatement in the third quarter. If we had only taken the cumulative effect it wouldn’t be as
bad. Now last year looks better than it was, and this year looks worse than it really is. The analysts are going
to really pound our stock for this mistake.
Controller. But nothing has really changed. We are the same company whether we restated or not. I think we
just have to explain this to the analysts properly.
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President. The EITF ruined a great reinsurance product, and we will not have any RRCs in the future. Let’s
just put the blame where it belongs — the EITF. As they said in the RLI Annual Report, "... the subsequent
Emerging Issues Task Force consensus reduced the effectiveness of these contracts."
REQUIRED:

a. Assume you are a new staff member who is asked by the partner of your CPA firm to analyze RRCs’
proposed accounting treatment as originally described in the materials from the Reinsurance Intermediary.
Bring relevant accounting literature to bear in your analysis. What do you propose as the preferable
accounting treatment and why?

b. The Independent Accountant ultimately accepted management’s proposed accounting for the RRC contracts.
Discuss the merits of each of the reasons cited by management to justify the use of the pay-as-you-go method.
Do you think there is sufficient support for the Independent Accountant to accept the proposed accounting?
Which arguments are the most compelling?
c. Evaluate the behavior of the "key players" in the case, i.e., the President, the Reinsurance Intermediary, the
Controller, the Independent Accountant, and the SEC staff. Do you believe their behavior is in line with
public expectations? Do you believe they each behaved ethically? Why or why not?

d. Reconcile your responses to a. and c. For example, if you believe the President, the Controller, or the
Independent Accountant behaved inappropriately, and you were a staff member on the audit engagement,
aware of the analysis performed in a., what actions would you take?
e. The President proposed that the company take the issue to the SEC. Without regard to the SEC’s specific
opinion on the case, discuss the pros and cons of taking an accounting issue to the SEC from the perspective
of the company and the Independent Accountant.

f. Given the initial industry practice evolved in 1990 and the SEC action began in 1992, with the FASB
pronouncements effective in 1993, what are your views about the standard-setting and regulatory actions? Do
you believe these processes were timely and effective? Why or why not? What would you suggest be the
approach to similar scenarios likely to arise in practice?
g. Use the following worksheet, based on the 1992 annual report, the 10-K filing, and the 1993 annual report
disclosures by RLI, to analyze RLI’s restatement in 1993 for the adoption of the consensus reached in EITF
Issue No. 93-6. What are the pros and cons of restating prior period financial statements? How do you think
an investor who purchased RLI’s stock in 1990 and sold it in early 1993 (i.e., before the restatement) feels?
How do you think an investor who purchased RLI’s stock in 1990 and still holds the stock feels? What do
RLI’s creditors think of the restatement? Support your position using quantitative analysis and ratios based
on the worksheet. How would your views change if the EITF never discussed the issue, and the SEC forced
companies with RRC contracts to restate their financial statements?
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INFORMATION ON RLI CORPORATION

Annual Report
1992. p. 46

1993

1992

1992 Adjusted

1991 Adjusted

1991

Total Assets

$514,906,911

$341,211,501

$473,082,572

$303,553,201

Total Liabilities

$407,491,318

$233,795,908

$380,266,306

$210,736,935

1990 Adjusted

Note 1L is cross-

FORM 10-K/A
1992

referenced in
Auditor’s Report

Retroactive re
statement infor

Amount of In
creases Due to

pp. 49, 53

mation p. 42

Restatement

1993

Effects on 1993

1992 Restated

Increase in 1992

1991 Restated

Increase in 1991

1990 Restated

Total Assets

$668,920,881

$355,964,688

$14,753,187

$314,042,491

$10,489,290

$269,757,705

Total Liabilities

$529,621,550

$238,571,937

$4,776,029

$214,364,508

$3,627,573

$189,906,763

Equity

$139,299,331

$117,392,751

$9,977,158

$99,677,983

$6,861,717

$79,850,942

Net Earnings

$15,797,075

$16,207,127

$3,115,441

$16,800,050

$4,216,139

$14,267,002

$2.71

$2.83

$.54

$2.97

$.75

$2.52

Shareholders'

Net Earnings Per

Share
Approximate
Asset of Contin
gent Commis
sions Due from
the Reinsurer

$16,300,000

Annual Report

Note 1 cited in
Auditor's Report

1993

p. 49

Approximate
Asset of Contin
gent Commis
sions Due From
Reinsurer (p. 44)

$10,800,000

$16,300,000

$11,200,000

Worksheet
Continued on
Next Page...
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1989

1988

1987

1986

1985

1984

1983

Total Assets

Total Assets

Total Assets

Total Assets

Total Assets

Total Assets

Total Assets

1990

Increase in Total
Assets
$2,970,588

Increase in Total
Liabilities
$325,010

$243,345,655

Total Liabilities
$173,069,480

$227,824,251

Total Liabilities
$163,797,980

Increase in
*Stockholders

Stockholders’

Stockholders’

Equity

Equity

Equity

$70,276,175

$64,026,271

$2,645,578

Increase in Net
Earnings
$2,645,578

Net Earnings
$8,200,264

Net Earnings
$7,253,913

$220,199,152

Total Liabilities
$162,435,301

Stockholders’
Equity
$57,763,851

Net Earnings
$13,965,174

$188,653,700

Total Liabilities
$139,361,955

Stockholders’
Equity

$49,291,745

Net Earnings
$10,978,773

$157,586,743

Total Liabilities

$121,276,616

Stockholders’
Equity
$36,310,127

Net Earnings
$4,321,537

$66,704,529

Total Liabilities
$47,472,963

Stockholders’
Equity
$19,231,566

Net Earnings
$3,591,398

$47,944,169

Total Liabilities
$31,589,820

Stockholders’

Equity

$16,354,349

Net Earnings
$1,692,933

Increase in Net
Earnings Per
Share

$.47

Net Earnings Per
Share
$1.43

Net Earnings Per
Share

$1.21

Net Earnings Per
Share
$2.27

Net Earnings Per
Share
$1.82

Net Earnings Per
Share
$.85

Net Earnings Per
Share
$.78

Net Earnings
Per Share
$.37

h. Management of RLI has expressed a point of view in its actions as well as in its disclosures in the 1992 and
1993 financial disclosures. Do you believe such a point of view is in the best interest of users of the financial
statements? Why or why not? Discuss the pros and cons of entering into a transaction to achieve a desired
accounting result but does not substantially change the economics of a company. Do you think this is a good
business decision by management? Do you think it is ethical? Can you provide other examples of transactions
designed primarily to achieve a desired accounting result? How has the marketplace reacted to these
transactions?

Note: Adapted and quoted materials from EITF Abstracts and EITF minutes and issue summaries, copyright by
Financial Accounting Standards Board, 401 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06856, are reproduced by
permission.
The discussions in the case materials are hypothetical, developed for pedagogical use. Information was
obtained from the 1992 and 1993 Annual Reports for RLI Corporation, as well as that company’s 10-K filing for
1992 and its filing in July 1993 to amend the 1992 Form 10-K. In addition, annual reports for Aetna Life &
Casualty in 1992 and 1993 were reviewed.
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Putting Away For a Rainy Day...
"Anticipating" the Los Angeles Earthquake
[The Evolution of EITF No. 93-6 and its application
of SFAS No. 113 risk transfer conditions]

TEACHING NOTES

Wanda A. Wallace, The John N. Dalton Professor of Business Administration
College of William and Mary, Williamsburg, Virginia

John M. Althoff, Partner
Price Waterhouse, New York, New York

Area of Case: Financial Accounting/Auditing/Ethics

Courses For Which This Case Will Be Appropriate: Intermediate Accounting II, Accounting Theory, Financial
Accounting, MBA courses directed at managers’ choice of economic contracts in light of accounting treatment,
courses tackling financial statement analysis and regulation issues, and auditing
Time frame for teaching the case: minimum 1 hour

This case facilitates a discussion of:

• Substance versus Form Considerations
• Potential implications for other practice areas where the nature of transactions and claims create incentives for
"offsets" in reflecting liability exposures

• A management strategy attempted in an industry that has been evaluated and addressed by the regulatory and
standard-setting process
• The demonstration of incentives for creative transactions, attendant problems of narrow interpretation of
existing standards, and the increased technical nature of standards that result, being particularly useful in an
Intermediate Accounting course.
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MOTIVATION FOR CASE
The writing of this case was motivated by the fact that this case:

I. Addresses an accounting issue that is fundamental in nature, as it involves Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 5, rather than merely being industry specific.

II. Allows for discussion of ethical issues relative to the behavior of management, industry accountants,
consultants, independent accountants, and the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Moreover, this
discussion is particularly timely given the Public Oversight Board’s recently issued report on Strengthening
the Professionalism of the Independent Auditor.
III. Explores several of the typical arguments that arise during discussions between management and their
independent accountants in resolving accounting issues in practice settings.

IV. Allows for a discussion of the standard-setting process, including the objectives of standard-setting, due
process, the SEC’s role, and the Emerging Issues Task Force.

V. Explores the issue of entering into transactions to achieve desired accounting rather than economic results.

VI. Discusses restatements in the litigious environment in which business operates.
VII. Facilitates a discussion of a variety of related issues, including
• international accounting, such as German standards relative to U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP)
• materiality as defined in Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 47

• GAAP hierarchy as defined in SAS No. 69
• SEC clearance procedures

SUGGESTIONS FOR TEACHING APPROACH
An opportunity is available to form groups and have them separately debate the perspectives of the key players
in the case: independent accountants, controllers, management (CEO), standard-setters, regulators, and
reinsurance intermediaries. Ethical perspectives and key decisions can be explored. In exploring ethical
dimensions, it may be useful to explain to the students that when this issue was initially raised with several "Big
6" partners specializing in the insurance industry and they were asked to "vote" as to what was the "right"
accounting approach for RRCs, the vote was a virtual four-way split. The point, of course, is that reasonable
people can disagree as to how GAAP should be applied to specific transactions.
The case can be approached at a variety of levels, depending on whether the class is undergraduate or
graduate, the time available is one hour or three hours, and the professor wishes to set the scope of discussion
narrowly — the issue of SFAS No. 5 general standards vs detailed standards — or broadly, to address each of the
questions posed in the case, as well as the "other issues" described in these teaching notes.

RESPONSES TO REQUIREMENTS OF CASE
a. Assume you are a new staff member who is asked by the partner of your CPA firm to analyze RRCs’ proposed
accounting treatment as originally described in the materials from the Reinsurance Intermediary. Bring
relevant accounting literature to bear in your analysis. What do you propose as the preferable accounting
treatment and why?
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The students’ responses should entail an analysis similar to that undertaken at the Financial Accounting
Standards Board. Hence, we draw from staff minutes and issue papers to highlight key ideas, including
relevant literature. The form of students’ analysis will be expected to cite SFAS No. 5, to recognize
differences in reinsurance and retroactively-rated reinsurance, to address the risk transfer and matching
questions, and to identify such complications as an indefinite term contract. These issues are included in the
following excerpts. Note that additional discussion and examples are in the original full text of minutes and
associated issues papers that are a part of the public files of the FASB and EITF. The subheadings are
inserted for ease of reference and were not a part of the original excerpts. To help in discussing the general
approaches, sample journal entries are illustrated, as is the "tracking account" maintained in the RRC setting.

Traditional Reinsurance Journal Entries
(1) Prepaid Reinsurance
Cash

XX

XX

Recognition of Premium Payment
(2) Reinsurance Expense
Prepaid Reinsurance

XX
XX

Amortization of Prepaid Reinsurance

(3) Cash
Reinsurance Expense

XX

XX

Recognition of Refund

ALTERNATIVELY:
Reinsurance Expense
Cash

XX

XX

Recognition of Additional Premium Payment
Deposit Accounting Journal Entries

(1) Deposit
Prepaid Reinsurance
Cash

XX
XX

XX

Recognition of Premium Payment

(2) Reinsurance Expense
Prepaid Reinsurance

XX

XX

Amortization of Prepaid Reinsurance
(3) Cash
Deposit

Recognition of Refund

XX

XX
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ALTERNATIVELY:
Loss
Deposit
Liability

XX
XX
XX

Recognition of Experience Causing an Increase in Future Premiums

Tracking Account Overview

EXPERIENCE ACCOUNT/ FUND BALANCE
(Multiple-Year Retrospectively-Rated Contracts)

REINSURANCE FUND BALANCE/ DEPOSIT
PREMIUM ACCOUNT
(Funded Catastrophe Cover)

DEPOSIT PREMIUM
Cumulative PREMIUMS

Cumulative LOSSES

BALANCE: Refund Premiums

BALANCE: Adjust Cash Flows to reflect
experience

INTEREST

INTEREST

OTHER DRs (risk related)

OTHER CRs (risk related)

OFF BALANCE SHEET TRACKING

END OF PERIOD SETTLING UP

Definitional Materials
An issues paper prepared by FASB Staff was made available to participants in the FASB Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 93-6 meeting on May 20, 1993, entitled "Accounting for Multiple-Year Retrospectively-Rated
Contracts by Ceding and Assuming Enterprises" (Prepared April 23, 1993). This paper observed that RRCs
are unlike most traditional personal, commercial, and reinsurance coverages, which also are underwritten and rated based on past
losses, because in those coverages either party can cancel the contract (or allow it to expire unrenewed) at least annually, without
making any further payments. Therefore, condition (b) [part or all of the retrospective rating provision is obligatory] is not met
for those types of contracts. The traditional contracts represent, in substance, a series of annual (or shorter) contracts, rather than
the multiple-year contracts that result from the obligatory retrospective rating provisions.
An insurer (ceding enterprise) may enter into a multiple-year retrospectively-rated reinsurance contract (RRC) with a reinsurer
(assuming enterprise). Examples of these contracts may include transactions referred to as "funded catastrophe covers."

RRCs may have either definite or indefinite terms. Like many other insurance and reinsurance contracts, RRCs include a
"retrospective rating" provision that provides for at least one of the following based on contract experience: (1) changes in the
amount or timing of the contractual cash flows, including premium adjustments, settlement adjustments, or refunds to the ceding
enterprise, or (2) changes in the contract’s coverage. A critical distinguishing feature of RRCs is that part or all of the
retrospective rating provision is obligatory such that the retrospective rating provision creates future rights and obligations as a
result of past events. A retrospectively-rated contract that could be canceled by either party without further obligation is not
covered by this Issue.

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-08: Putting Away For A Rainy Day... ♦ 16

At the March 16, 1993 meeting, the FASB staff made the following announcement concerning "funded
catastrophe cover" reinsurance contracts.
An insurer has incurred significant losses (for example, due to hurricanes) in 1992. The insurer received payments from a reinsurer
in 1992 based on these losses, but the insurer has an obligation under the reinsurance contract to make significant future payments
to the reinsurer. The likelihood of future recoveries from the reinsurer commensurate with those payments is remote.

The future payments to the reinsurer may take various forms, including increased premiums, cancellation penalties, and settlement
adjustments, all of which in substance represent compensation to the reinsurer.
The question is whether such an obligation for future payments to the reinsurer should be recognized as a liability in 1992. The
staff believes that FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, clearly requires recognition of a liability in 1992 if the
insurer has an obligation for future payments that will not result in a commensurate future economic benefit.

SEC Perspective Cited
The SEC Observer indicated the SEC staff
agrees with the FASB’s staff’s announcement on "funded catastrophe covers," emphasizing that public companies must recognize
the liability arising from catastrophe events or transactions that occurred in 1992 in their 1992 financial statements. The SEC
Observer stated further that if material amounts received or to be received by an insurer from a reinsurer related to losses under
a funded catastrophe cover are recognized in income instead of as a liability in the insurer’s financial statements for 1992 (or any
other year), those financial statements would be viewed by the SEC staff as false and misleading.

Risk Transfer Issues

Definite-term retrospectively-rated contracts (RRCs) that do not meet risk transfer conditions of Statement No.
113 are to be accounted for as a deposit by the ceding enterprise.
The Task Force reached a tentative conclusion that the ceding enterprise should recognize a liability to the
extent it has an obligation to pay cash (or other consideration) to a reinsurer that would not have been
required absent experience under the contract. The amount recognized as a liability in the current period
should be the difference between the total cash flows before and after the loss.

Asset Recognition
The Task Force also reached a tentative conclusion that the ceding enterprise should recognize an asset to the
extent of any cash (or other consideration) that would be received from a reinsurer based on experience to date
under a contract.

Restatement or Cumulative Effect?
A majority of the Task Force members expressed a preference for applying any consensus reached as a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. Some Task Force members suggested that restatement
should be permitted or required. The SEC Observer indicated a preference for restatement and suggested it might
be characterized as "retroactive restatement to conform to the consensus under EITF Issue No. 93-6." The Task
Force discussed the practicability of restatement.

Splitting Contracts for Evaluation Versus the Whole

Minutes of the May 20, 1993 FASB Emerging Issues Task Force Meeting: Issue 93-6 "Accounting for MultipleYear Retrospectively-Rated Contracts by Ceding and Assuming Enterprises"
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A Task Force member questioned whether a contract could be split for purposes of evaluating risk transfer
conditions in SFAS No. 113. A FASB staff representative responded
Statement No. 113 applies to "a contract" and that determining the substance of a contract is a judgmental matter. If an agreement
with a reinsurer consists of both risk transfer and nonrisk transfer coverages that have been combined into a single legal document,
those coverages must be considered separately for accounting purposes. The FASB staff representative noted that paragraphs 59
and 60 of Statement No. 113 indicate that the Board did not intend for different kinds of exposures combined in a program of
reinsurance to be evaluated for risk transfer and accounted for together because that would allow contracts that do not meet the
conditions for reinsurance accounting to be accounted for as reinsurance by being designated as part of a program that in total meets
the conditions for reinsurance accounting.

With and Without Method
Extending the earlier consensus, the Task Force agreed:

The amount recognized in the current period should be computed using a with-and-without method, as
the difference between the ceding enterprise’s total contract costs before and after the experience under
the contract as of the reporting date, including costs such as premium adjustments, settlement adjustments,
and impairments of coverage should be measured in relation to the original contract terms. Future
experience under the contract (that is, future losses and future premiums that would be paid regardless
of past experience) should not be considered in measuring the amount to be recognized.

The ceding enterprise should recognize an asset and the assuming enterprise should recognize a liability
to the extent that any cash (or other consideration) would be payable from the assuming enterprise to the
ceding enterprise based on experience to date under the contract.
The ceding enterprise and the assuming enterprise should account for changes in coverage in the same
manner as changes in other contract costs. For example, the effects of decreases in coverage without a
commensurate reduction in premium should be recognized as a loss by the ceding enterprise and as a gain
by the assuming enterprise when the event causing the decrease in coverage takes place.
The Task Force noted that deposit accounting cannot be used to avoid loss recognition that would
otherwise be required (for example, the ceding enterprise has no future coverage relating to the deposit
with the reinsurer and therefore the deposit is not recoverable).

The Task Force agreed that recognition should be as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in
accordance with paragraph 20 of APB Opinion No. 20 Accounting Changes.
Another SEC Perspective Cited
The SEC Observer stated:
in addition to the disclosures provided under Opinion 20, the SEC staff will require registrants to disclose the nature and the
significance of the transactions giving rise to the change. The SEC Observer also noted that registrants would be required to make
SAB No. 74 disclosures for the financial statements filed prior to the period in which this change is adopted.

Indefinite-term Contracts: a Complication

Minutes of the July 22, 1993 FASB Emerging Issues Task Force Meeting Issue No. 93-6:
Multiple-Year Retrospectively Rated Contracts by Ceding and Assuming Enterprises"
Indefinite-term contracts raise several additional accounting questions

"Accounting for
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Definitional
The distinction between definite-term and indefinite-term contracts is a matter of substance rather than form.
Contracts with a stated term may be indefinite-term contracts if the stated term, in substance, represents only a
minimum term. Accordingly, contracts with either of the following written or oral features are indefinite-term
contracts:

a. Provisions that would allow balances due upon termination, or contract experience, to be carried forward into
a new contract. The ability to roll over balances or experience into a new contract is, in substance, a renewal
provision that nullifies the stated term
b. Provisions that create potential economic incentives that may keep the contract in force beyond the end of
the stated term. For example, if a reinsurer could forfeit potential compensation for past losses (for example,
losing the right to a potential 80 percent settlement adjustment), or if a ceding enterprise could forfeit a
potential refund (for example, losing the right to a potential 80 percent premium refund), by canceling or
failing to renew a contract at the end of the contract’s stated term, the contract’s term is indefinite because
the timing of cancellation or nonrenewal is uncertain.

Contracts that are not considered insurance or do not meet the risk transfer conditions are accounted for as
deposits. Some believe that indefinite term RRCs cannot be accounted for as reinsurance because long-duration
reinsurance of short-duration risks is inherently a financing transaction.
Some note that even contracts having a stated term cannot be considered to have a "fixed" term when there
are incentives, such as settlement adjustments, that may keep the contract in force beyond the stated term.
Therefore, the stated term of the contract should be regarded as a minimum term when the cancellation provisions
provide an incentive that may keep the coirtract in force indefinitely.
Some observe that a long-duration contract covering short-duration risks cannot be accounted for as
reinsurance because the contract is, in substance, a financing.
Some observe that the cancellation provisions of indefinite-term RRCs and the nonrecognition of assets
...giv[es] the ceding enterprise the ability to control the timing of loss recognition. For example, when a loss
has occurred that creates a negative fund balance, the ceding enterprise has two choices available. It can cancel
the contract and pay the settlement adjustment, which under current practice triggers accounting recognition of
the loss. Or it can keep the contract in force and defer the loss to later periods, when it will be recognized
through payment of premiums or a settlement adjustment.

Issues paper by FASB Emerging Issues Task Force, Issue No. 93-6, Meeting Date July 22, 1993, Summary A,
dated June 28, 1993
At the May 20, 1993 Task Force meeting, the Task Force made an analogy, in discussing indefinite-term contracts, to a personal
auto insurance policy that renews annually. While an annual renewal provision would be considered a definite rather than an
indefinite term, such a policy could theoretically be written on a continuous basis and therefore have an indefinite term. To
continue the analogy, in such a policy the insurance company can raise the policyholder’s rates each year, but the policyholder has
the choice of either terminating or renewing at the new rates. Even if a schedule of rate increases based on experience under the
policy is agreed to in advance, the policyholder is not obligated to pay until it decides to renew the contract.

In this example, the premiums paid each year are the result of a decision to renew in that year, and need not be recognized earlier.
The indefinite term would not make any difference for accounting purposes because there is no obligatory retrospective rating
provision that creates future rights and obligations as a result of past experience. The policy would be accounted for as a series
of individual contracts.
Now consider how the continuous auto insurance policy described... would be accounted for if it had obligatory retrospective rating
provisions. For example, suppose the policyholder could not terminate the contract except by paying 80% of any negative
cumulative experience on the contract (that is, the policyholder is relieved of the 80% settlement adjustment only if the insurance
company cancels the policy). Further, assume that, if there is a loss, the policyholder also would be required to pay increased
premiums and the amount of coverage provided would be reduced unless the policyholder terminates and pays the settlement
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adjustment. Finally, because the contract has an indefinite term, there is no specified contract period over which the effect of these
obligatory retrospective rating provisions can be evaluated.

Key Differences in Definite and Indefinite Terms
The latter feature gives rise to the three significant differences between an indefinite-term RRC and a definiteterm RRC: The ability to qualify as a short-duration contract, the ability to meet the conditions for risk transfer,
and the ability to apply accrual accounting when there is no definite termination date.
The second significant difference created by an indefinite-term RRC relates to risk transfer. For a definite-term
RRC, the risk transfer test can reasonably be performed based on expected outcomes. For example, if the
contract is for three years, an estimate of the amount of losses and the timing of potential claims payments related
to those three years can be made. The required estimates take place over a known period, which constrains the
amount of premiums and losses that can be paid — only a limited number of years can be included in a contract
that will qualify as "short-duration."

For indefinite-term contracts that have no obligatory retrospective rating provisions, the contract’s minimum term
is used to evaluate risk transfer because at the end of that term, the ceding and assuming enterprises may cancel
the contract or adjust the contractual provisions without incurring any additional costs. This approach cannot be
used for an indefinite-term contract with an obligatory retrospective rating provision because, depending on
contract experience, the obligatory retrospective rating provision may prevent the parties from unilaterally
modifying the contract at the end of any particular term.

Significant contingencies in the contract generally prevent the risk transfer test from being reasonably applied.
This is another factor indicating that reinsurance accounting is not appropriate.
Under current practice, because the contract theoretically may never be terminated, any settlement adjustment
or other effect of contract termination often is excluded from the liability measurement on the basis that the
ceding enterprise does not intend to terminate the contract.
Use of a deposit or similar profit-deferral method would not break new ground. Accruing the entire fund
balance was the approach adopted by the United Kingdom Department of Trade and Industry when it dealt
with a similar issue in 1992.
The Issue of Controllability of Loss Recognition

Some believe that the ability to control recognition of the loss is fundamentally incompatible with the insurance
model and any other generally accepted accounting principles.
Consider a one-year homeowner’s insurance policy reinsured using a two-year contract. The insurance risks
have a duration of one year, regardless of the term of the reinsurance contract. "Reinsuring" the risks over
a significantly longer period is merely spreading the payments over a longer period — that is, financing.

In a universal life contract, short-term risks (annual term life insurance contracts) are insured in a single longduration insurance contract. However, Statement No. 97 acknowledges universal life as a form of risk
financing, and requires the financing element to be accounted for separately. Further, unlike indefinite-term
RRCs, the financing ends when the insured event (policyholder’s death) occurs. In contrast, indefinite-term
RRCs may continue the financing process after the loss — allowing the ceding enterprise to pay back the
reinsurer after the insured event has occurred.

Issues paper by FASB Emerging Issues Task Force, Issue No. 93-6, Meeting Date July 22, 1993, Summary A,
dated June 28, 1993
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Tangential Issues Associated With Estimations and Timing
The following items may be integrated into the discussion to explore the challenges currently being debated that
concern estimation of expenses and their propriety as current charges.

AICPA, January 26, 1994, transmittal to SEC Regulations Committee from the Technical Manager of Federal
Government Division (File No. D-1-103)

Discounting Certain Other Liabilities
The staff has previously indicated its position for using a risk-free rate in discounting liabilities, such as
environmental and insurance claims reserves. If a registrant that is not currently using a risk-free rate in
discounting other liabilities would like to change to a risk-free rate, the change should be accounted for as a
change in accounting principle.

Restructuring Reserves

A Committee member asked whether accruals for corporate downsizing plans qualify as restructuring charges.
Mr. Schuetze noted that there is a theoretical gap/disconnect between the guidance found in SFAS No. 5,
Accounting Contingencies, and that found in APB No. 30 with respect to whether accruals for such items are
appropriate. He emphasized, however, that accruals for future expenses (such as repair and maintenance expense
and training costs) should not be included in restructuring reserves. (p. 3)
Key Questions And Answers Associated With RRCS

SOURCE: Financial Accounting Series, Status Report (February 26, 1993, No. 123-B) FASB Viewpoints:
Accounting for Reinsurance; Questions and Answers about Statement No. 113 by Alice D. Schroeder,
FASB Project Manager (pp. 5-11)
Q.

Do the Task Force’s conclusions for the contracts covered by this Issue have implications for other
retrospectively rated contracts?

A.

The consensus is based on the concept that there is a substantive difference between a contract that contains an
obligatory retrospective rating provision and one that does not. This distinction derives from Statement 5, which
requires recognition of liabilities (which are defined as present obligations) as of a financial reporting date, but
prohibits recognition of losses and expenses that will result from future events.
For example, it may be a virtual certainty that a company will pay employee salaries next year. But
because there is no present obligation to pay those salaries, they are not recognized today. Similarly,
under Statement 5 even if there is a high probability that an asset will be impaired in the future or a
liability incurred in the future, the conditions for accrual have not been met because there is no present
impairment or obligation to be recognized. Consistent with this principle, the Task Force’s conclusions
on this Issue would not permit recognition of the effects of retrospective rating provisions unless those
provisions are obligatory. The staff believes that is an appropriate result, and does not view this as a first
step toward changing the accounting for reinsurance contracts not covered by this Issue.

Q.

What is the definition of past insurable events that governs whether reinsurance coverage of short-duration
insurance policies is prospective or retroactive? For example, could a reinsurance contract that covers
losses from asbestos and pollution claims on occurrence-based insurance policies effective during previous
periods be considered prospective if the reinsurance coverage is triggered by a court interpretation that
a loss is covered within the terms of the underlying insurance policies?
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A.

...[T]he distinction between prospective and retroactive reinsurance is based on whether a contract
reinsures future or past insured events covered by the underlying insurance contracts. In the example
above, the insured event is the occurrence of loss within the coverage of the underlying insurance
contracts, not the finding of a court. Therefore, the fact that the asbestos exposure or pollution is covered
under insurance policies effective during prior periods makes the reinsurance coverage in this example
retroactive.

Q.

Would the answer ... change if the reinsurance were written on a claims-made basis?

A.

No. The form of the reinsurance — whether claims-made or occurrence-based — does not determine
whether the reinsurance is prospective or retrospective. Paragraph 95 states, "A claims-made reinsurance
contract that reinsures claims asserted to the reinsurer in a future period as a result of insured events that
occurred prior to entering into the reinsurance contract is a retroactive contract." (p. 9)

Q.

Paragraphs 22 and 23 require gains arising from retroactive reinsurance to be deferred and losses to be
charged to expense immediately. How is this requirement affected by paragraph 24, which provides for
a catch-up adjustment to reflect changes in estimates of amounts recoverable from reinsurers?
For example, assume Company A pays $100 of premium in 1993 for $150 limit of retroactive
reinsurance and has recorded related liabilities of $110. Assuming a 5-year settlement period, how would
adverse development of $30, or favorable development of $15, be accounted for in the subsequent year?

A.

At inception, Company A recorded a reinsurance recoverable of $110 and a deferred gain of $10.
If adverse development of $30 occurred in the first year, paragraph 24 requires an adjustment to bring
the balance of the deferred gain to the balance that would have existed had the revised estimate been
available at inception, less cumulative amortization. The balance that would have existed at inception is
$40 ($140 reserves less $100 premium) and cumulative amortization to date is $8 ($40/5 years).
Therefore, a net $32 deferred gain balance is required. Company A would defer $30 of additional gain
($40 less the $10 already recorded) and credit income for $8 amortization. (Note: Straight-line
amortization is used for simplicity of illustration rather than the interest or recovery methods required in
paragraph 22.)
If favorable development of $15 occurred in the first year, the amount of ceded premiums ($100)
would exceed the related revised liabilities ($95). Paragraph 24 states that decreases in the estimated
amount of the liabilities reduce the related amount recoverable and reduce previously deferred gains.
Further, if the revised estimate of the liabilities is less than the amounts paid to the reinsurer, the
difference must be charged to earnings. Company A would therefore reduce the reinsurance recoverable
by $15, reduce the $10 deferred gain to zero, and charge $5 to earnings. (p. 10)

A Useful Conceptual Discussion of Related Issues

FASB "Response to Inquiries Dated February 19, 1991 from the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations
to the Financial Accounting Standards Board," portions of which are excerpted as follows:
The "Response to Inquiries from the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigation" was prepared by the FASB
staff in 1991 in response to congressional inquiries relating primarily to accounting for loss contingencies. The
staff believes the Response is a useful supplement to the guidance provided in the Basis for Conclusions to
Statement 60, which is minimal because that Statement was an extraction of AICPA guidance. While substantially
all of the Response is relevant to the issues discussed in this Issue Summary, the following excerpts are of
particular interest.
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Page 6:
Contingency reserves and loss deferral are two sides of the same coin. Both are attempts to stabilize reported
net income and to avoid variations caused by irregularly occurring events. Neither is based on the recognition
and measurement of assets and liabilities.
Page 28:

[An accounting problem] involves insurance contracts that cover risks that are in themselves cyclical. Flood and
hurricane insurance are common examples of these contracts. An insurer may write flood insurance in a
particular locale each year, with the reasonable expectation that floods occur, on average, every seven years.
GAAP does not permit the insurer to include the consequences of a flood in its estimate unless a flood is probable
during the current policy period and the amount of loss can be estimated. There is no probable obligation to
existing policyholders.
Some have suggested that an insurer, faced with this situation, should recognize the cost of one-seventh of a flood
each year. While the approach may have some superficial appeal, an analysis of practical and theoretical
considerations reveals it to be no more than an income-smoothing device. One might begin by asking why this
contingency reserve reflects only one-seventh of a flood. If a flood occurs, the insurer must bear the entire cost
of claims. Should the insurer then recognize the full cost of the periodic flood? Few companies could enter a
new market if forced to immediately recognize the full cost of events that are only expected every few years.
What if the flood occurs two years after the insurer has begun the practice of accumulating contingency reserves?
Should the insurer defer the excess as if it were an asset to be recovered in future years? Some might argue that
the deferred item is not an asset, but the contingency reserve is not a liability. In this case, deferral and reserve
are merely two approaches to the same goal — to report a predetermined amount of income. In the Board’s view,
years when no flood occurs should not be reported as if one-seventh of a flood did occur. Years when a flood
does occur should not be reported as if only one-seventh of a flood occurred.
Page 8:

The concept of a short-duration contract, and many other of the accounting conventions employed, rests on an
insurer’s ability to terminate or reprice coverage at the end of each contract period.
Page 19:
The promises inherent in the short-duration and long-duration contracts are different and present different
accounting problems. Short-duration contracts extend the insurer’s promise for a limited period. At the end of
the period, the insurer can reprice or discontinue coverage. Long-duration contracts commit the insurer to an
arrangement that spans several years. The insurer typically cannot terminate the contract, change the amount of
premium, or alter scheduled benefits.

Consideration of Deposit-type Accounting Methods
EITF Issue No. 93-6
Summary A
Attachment B
Examples of Other Uses of Deposit-type Accounting Methods

Following are some examples of accounting literature in which deposit-type or similar profit-deferral methods
are used in the presence of significant uncertainties:
a.

Under paragraph 23 of FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, which addresses impairment
of receivables, the inability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss from uncollectible
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receivables may, if there is sufficient uncertainty, suggest that the installment method, the cost recovery
method, or some other method of revenue recognition be used.
b.

Paragraph 15 of SOP 92-5, "Accounting for Foreign Property and Liability Reinsurance," requires the
use of the deposit method if the assuming company does not have sufficient information to estimate both
the ultimate premiums and the appropriate periods of recognition.

c.

Paragraph 32 of SOP 81-1, "Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain ProductionType Contracts," indicates that the completed-contract method of income recognition should be used when
contract estimates cannot meet criteria for reasonable dependability.

d.

FASB Statement No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate, requires use of a deposit or cost recovery
method for sales of real estate that retain significant uncertainties, as specified in the Statement’s criteria
for sales recognition.

e.

FASB Statement No. 45, Accounting for Franchise Fee Revenue, provides for installment or cost recovery
accounting for franchise fee revenue when the revenue is collectible over an extended period and no
reasonable basis exists for estimating collectibility.

f.

SOP 92-1, "Accounting for Real Estate Syndication Income," requires real estate syndicators to defer
profit recognition until both losses or costs from syndicator involvement in the properties, partnerships,
or partners and uncertainties regarding collectibility of partnership notes can be reasonably estimated.

g.

Revenue recognition for computer software under SOP 91-1, "Software Revenue Recognition," is
consistent with the guidance above for real estate sales and long-term construction contracts. If
collectibility of receivables cannot reasonably be assessed, the installment or cost recovery method of
revenue recognition is used.

FASB Staff prepared issues paper prepared June 28, 1993 for FASB Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 93-6,
Meeting Date July 22, 1993, Summary A (Attachment B)
Note that a retrospectively rated contract that could be canceled by either party without further obligation is not
included in the scope of this issue because it does not create rights and obligations in the future period. [FASB
Staff Views on Issue No. 93-6, August 19, 1993 transmittal of "Topic: FASB Staff Views on Issue No. 93-6,
"Accounting for Multiple-Year Retrospectively Rated Contracts by Ceding and Assuming Enterprises," Date
Discussed July 22, 1993"
Other Related Topics That Could Be Cited or Drawn Upon in Analyzing Part A.

Self-Insurance and Hedging

Minutes of the EITF Process
FASB associated publications on Statement No. 113
Commentaries by regulatory and standard-setting participants

SEC Filings by RLI Corporation
A NAARS search of other companies in the industry influenced by SFAS No. 113 and EITF No. 93-6.
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Determinants of Accounting Method Selection: industry practice; bookkeeping or other direct costs;
management’s conservatism or aggressiveness in reporting on financial position; regulators’ attitudes toward the
company and the likely reaction to reported numbers — regulatory accounting principles; bond covenants or
similar restrictions on activities tied to accounting numbers; ownership and capital structure: agency
relationships; compensation plans and bonuses tied to accounting numbers; affect on income controllability and
volatility; management’s reporting goals — desire for steady growth...; planned financing, production, and
investment decisions; recent and anticipated actions of standard-setters; the portfolio of accounting methods
already in place; benchmarks and conventions applied by financial statement analysts, bond raters, etc....;

What comes to mind as one discusses whether the RRC is insurance or a deposit is a quote attributed to Abraham
Lincoln:

"If you call the tail of a dog a leg, how many legs does the dog have?" When others would inevitably
answer "5," he would smile and respond "No. You can call the tail a leg all day, but it doesn’t make the tail
a leg..."
References Expected to be Identified in Analyzing Part A.
FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies (paragraphs 8, 17, 40-45, 59-73, and 76-101) (March
1975)

FASB Statement No. 60, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises (paragraphs 1, 7, 13-14, 33, and
44) (June 1982)
FASB Statement No. 113, Accounting and Reporting for Reinsurance of Short-Duration and Long-Duration
Contracts (paragraphs 8-11, 21-25, 26, 56-58, 62, and 121)
Other Relevant Accounting Literature Includes:
FASB Statement No. 97, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprisesfor Certain Long-Duration Contracts
and for Realized Gains and Losses from the Sale of Investments (paragraphs 17-25)

FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements (paragraphs 25 and
35)
FASB Interpretation No. 14, Reasonable Estimation of the Amount of a Loss (paragraph 2)

FASB Viewpoints, "Accounting for Reinsurance: Questions and Answers about Statement 113," of Status Reports
No. 239, February 26, 1993 (questions 15 and 29)

AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Audits of Property and Casualty Insurance Companies (paragraph 6.06)
AICPA Statement of Position No. 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain
Production-Type Contracts (paragraph 85)

b. The Independent Accountant ultimately accepted management’s proposed accounting for the RRC contracts.
Discuss the merits of each of the reasons cited by management to justify the use of the pay-as-you-go method.
Do you think there is sufficient support for the Independent Accountant to accept the proposed accounting?
Which arguments are the most compelling?
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There are five primary arguments cited by management in justifying the use of the pay-as-you-go method for
RRCs:
(1) Because RRCs were not directly addressed in the literature and the standard-setters did not contemplate
this specific type of transaction, they should analogize to the accounting for traditional reinsurance
contracts.
(2) The automatic increase in premiums in future years is no different than the tendency for traditional
reinsurance rates to increase in future years as a result of adverse claims experience.
(3) At least initially (i.e., until a covered loss occurs), expensing all premiums without regard to any potential
refund is conservative accounting.
(4) The proposed accounting is consistent with industry practice.

(5) The premiums on the proposed RRCs are immaterial.
When discussing the merits of the above arguments, the following issues should be considered:

• How specific does an issue have to be to warrant analogy to a particular standard? Management is
implying that standard-setters should be setting very detailed guidance. Is this reasonable to expect?
Some of the implications of requiring detailed standards are: there will always be a period (i.e., until
standard-setters can act) where there will be no guidance for new transaction types; standard-setting will
take even longer because of the time required to develop guidance for every conceivable aspect of an
issue; and GAAP will become a cookbook with little or no judgment allowed. The issue of detailed
versus broad guidance is one that often arises at the FASB. The answer seems to lie in a balance between
both ends of the spectrum.

The professor may wish to cite the following quote:
"Just because everything is different doesn’t mean anything has changed." — Irene Peter

This emphasizes the point that different names for financial instruments and transactions may not represent
significantly different issues from those already addressed in general standards, such as SFAS No. 5.
• Although there is a whole spectrum of standards in terms of broad versus detailed, the relevant standard
in this case, Statement 5, is a fairly broad standard. Therefore, management should not be as quick to
rule out applying Statement 5 as it would another standard that may be unique to a certain industry or
limited to very unique circumstances.
• The fact that the RRC has elements of both traditional reinsurance and a contingency reserve makes
resolution of the issue more difficult. In these circumstances, should they determine which one is most
dominant or significant and apply that accounting? In other words, if the RRCs are deemed to be largely
a form of reinsurance, then their analogy to traditional reinsurance accounting is more supportable.
Alternatively, is it better to bifurcate the transaction and account for its parts separately? This may be
particularly relevant when the parts are easily distinguishable.
Unlike traditional reinsurance, the retrospective-rating provision is obligatory. The Company has to pay
the additional premium even if the policy is canceled. Under traditional reinsurance contracts, the ceding
enterprise is always free to cancel the policy without penalty if the subsequent premium increase is
unacceptable.
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• Management’s desire for conservatism must be balanced with the need for reliable information. There
is a need for conservatism in financial reporting because of the inherent uncertainty. However,
deliberate, consistent understatement of net assets and profits is likely to raise questions about the integrity
of the financial statements. The instructor may wish to refer to paragraphs 91-97 of Concepts Statement
2 for discussion of conservatism.

In addressing the issue of conservatism, the discussion should also focus on the objectives of financial
reporting. Specifically, financial reporting should provide information that is useful to present and potential
investors and creditors in making rational investment and credit decisions. These two groups are likely to
have different views on conservatism. Creditors are likely to be in favor of conservative accounting because
an understatement of assets increases the margin of safety when they assess the adequacy of their security
interest in an entity. Investors may view conservatism less favorably because understated assets or earnings
will not likely be reflected in a valuation of their equity interest in the entity. The instructor could discuss
the differences between U.S. GAAP and German GAAP on contingency reserves to further illustrate this
point. German accounting has traditionally focused on creditors’ interests and has commonly used reserves.
See C.W. Nobes and R.H. Parker, 1988, Comparative International Accounting (Philip Allan Publishers Ltd.,
Oxford, Second Edition) for a discussion of accounting differences between U.S. and German GAAP, as well
as among other countries.
• If Statement 5 is relevant, can industry practice override it? Statement 5 is clearly "A" level GAAP and
industry practice is "D" level GAAP. An opportunity exists to discuss the resolution of issues when
conflicting guidance exists. The discussion should focus on Statement of Auditing Standards No. 69.
Paragraph 10 of SAS 69 establishes the GAAP hierarchy for entities other than governmental entities as
follows:

a. FASB Statements, FASB Interpretations, APB Opinions, AICPA Accounting Research Bulletins.
b. FASB Technical Bulletins, and if cleared by the FASB, AICPA Industry Accounting Guides and
AICPA Statements of Position.

c. AICPA Accounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC) Practice Bulletins that have been cleared
by the FASB and consensus positions of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force.
d. AICPA accounting interpretations and implementation guides published by the FASB staff and
practices that are widely recognized and prevalent either generally or in the industry.

In the absence of one of the above established sources of accounting principles, the auditor may
consider other accounting literature, depending on the relevance in the circumstances.
• If other members of the industry are wrong in their conclusions, can that justify adoption of the same
"wrong" accounting. The argument for industry practice is only relevant so long as that accounting is
correct.

The instructor can cite the typical query of parents to their kids: "Just because someone jumps off a cliff,
doesn't mean you have to follow..."
Or, you might challenge whether the representation as to industry practice is accurate, as nebulous ideas that
"everyone is doing it" has often been proven to be in error. A useful quote follows:
"The biggest liar in the world is They Say." — Douglas Malloch
• Notwithstanding a conclusion that a transaction is immaterial, an assessment that the accounting is correct
or not is still required. An Independent Accountant must still assess the materiality of all waived
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adjustments individually and in the aggregate. This is discussed in SAS 47 on "Audit Risk and
Materiality in Conducting an Audit," Sections 312.27 to 312.32, in particular.

A determination that a $1 annual premium is immaterial is not sufficient, as this is a multi-year contract
for which materiality should be assessed relative to the possible effects in future years. In addition, the
clause requiring a $4 additional premium if a covered loss occurs should be assessed for materiality. If
the Independent Accountant waives the adjustment now based on the $1 premium, how easy will it be to
require adjustment later when a covered loss occurs? In addition, the Independent Accountant should also
consider the President’s comment about getting into these transactions "in a big way" when assessing
whether the accounting should be waived on the basis of materiality. How easily will the Independent
Accountant be able to object when the company expands the use of these contracts to other types of risk
exposures and beyond Southern California?

c. Evaluate the behavior of the "key players ” in the case, i.e., the President, the Reinsurance Intermediary,
the Controller, the Independent Accountant, and the SEC staff. Do you believe their behavior is in line
with public expectations? Do you believe they each behaved ethically? Why or why not?
This is an opportunity to discuss the responsibilities and expectations of society with respect to company
management, investment bankers, reinsurance intermediaries, consultants, controllers, independent
accountants, and regulators.

In discussing ethics, the instructor might share the quote:

"The measure of a man’s real character is what he would do if he knew he never would be found
out." — Thomas Babington Macaulay (1800-1859)
The most cynical of depictions would include:

•

company management cares most about management performance assessment which ties to the lack of
volatility and strives to control and smooth reported earnings, regardless of whether the results of such
smoothing suggest less riskiness in cash flows than actually exists

•

Reinsurance Intermediaries, as do investment bankers, constantly try to create instruments that work around
the rules to facilitate managerial game-playing

•

the Controller’s first responsibility is to company management and he or she is justified in aligning with
industry practice, regardless of the disparity of such practice from the essence of underlying economic activity

•

management subtly threatened to replace the Independent Accountant to pressure him or her into accepting
the proposed accounting

•

the independent accountant’s client should be permitted to exercise discretion within the domains of industry
practice and existing accounting pronouncements; if the standard-setters lag in providing direction in a new
area of contracting, then it is acceptable to let the client and industry develop an accounting approach with
minimal intervention by the independent accountant (see later discussion of the Public Oversight Board for
some contrasting perspective)

•

the SEC tends to react to crises rather than systematically monitoring the compliance of accounting treatment
with the conceptual framework of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
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The most positive of depictions would include:

•

company management is an agent for the stockholders whose wealth is positively associated with stock price,
which appears to be improved by decreased volatility; moreover, if the risks are better diversified as to their
financial statement effects, the insurance company will be better able to service policy holders’ claims and
will offer coverage of more risky natural disaster exposures that could be beneficial to society at large

•

the Reinsurance Intermediary seeks to assist managers in effectively diversifying risk and managing risk
exposure to minimize the likelihood of corporate failure; facilitating contracts to accomplish less volatile
performance is a social good

•

the Controller abides by GAAP and is the conscience of the corporation; the perceived benefits of risk
diversification and less volatile earnings offset the conceptual drawbacks of the pay-as-you-go approach to
accounting and would seem to justify the latter’s application as a reasonable business endeavor, similar to
other hedging activities

•

the Independent Accountant acts as an independent monitor of the selection of accounting approaches for yet
unmarked territory of new contracting opportunities and often looks to industry practice as a reasonableness
test, in line with GAAP guidance

•

the SEC has limited resources and should regulate on an exception basis; the implications of RRCs needed
a natural disaster of substantial magnitude to highlight the financial statement consequences.

An opportunity is at hand to discuss

•

certain CONCLUSIONS in the Report to the Public Oversight Board of the SEC Practice Section, AICPA
from the Advisory Panel on Auditor Independence (September 13, 1994) entitled Strengthening the
Professionalism of the Independent Auditor:
"To increase the value of the independent audit, corporate boards of directors and their audit committees must hear from
independent auditors their views as professional advisors on the appropriateness of the accounting principles used or proposed to
be adopted by the company, the clarity of its financial disclosures, and the degree of aggressiveness or conservatism of the
company’s accounting principles and underlying estimates." (p. 30)

"Auditors must assume the obligation to communicate qualitativejudgments about accounting principles, disclosures, and estimates.
By doing so, independent auditors can add to the effectiveness of boards of directors in monitoring corporate performance on behalf
of shareholders and in assuring that shareholders receive relevant and reliable financial information about company performance
and financial condition." (pp. 30-31.)

These ideas are elaborated upon within the body of the report:
"The audit committee should...hear directly from the auditors on whether management’s choices of accounting principles are
conservative, moderate, or extreme from the perspective of income, asset, and liability recognition, and whether those principles
are common practices or are minority practices"

"... discuss with the auditor how the company’s choices of accounting principles and disclosure practices may affect shareholders
and public views and attitudes about the company" (pp. 16-17)

Other conclusions concern the SEC:
"Because they share the objective of providing the public with relevant and reliable financial information, the public accounting
profession, the standard setters, and the SEC must have more cooperative, less adversarial relationships. CPA firms should be
careful in how they communicate their views to the FASB, the SEC, their clients, and the public at large. The SEC should help
identify accounting practice problems and look to the private sector standard setters to solve them. It should only be a standard
setter of "last resort" and then only after appropriate due process." (p. 31)
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"It is urgent that the SEC take the lead in helping the profession to reduce exposure to unwarranted litigation. There are dangers,
not just to the profession but to the investing public, if the current liability situation continues to drift without SEC leadership."
(p. 31)

•

Milton Friedman’s concept that the obligation of management is to watch out for shareholders’ interests as
sometimes compared to a societal expectation that management consider all stakeholders including employees,
policyholders, the public at large, and at times should sacrifice returns to shareholders for the greater good

•

the dilemma of consultants such as reinsurance intermediaries and investment bankers working around the
rules as opposed to optimizing resource allocation as encouraged by having substance versus form drive
contracting and information disclosure raises issues of ethical guidance for that sector of the economy and
various consequences of behavior (an opportunity exists to discuss the National Association of Securities
Dealers (NASD) self-regulation and to discuss the whole concept of insider trading related responsibilities
of brokers)

•

controllers face the problems of confidentiality and focus on achieving management goals, while expected to
exercise integrity in ensuring fair reporting to third parties; an opportunity exists to discuss the code of ethics
of the AICPA and the efforts by the association to expand certain expectations to include CPAs not in public
practice

•

Independent accountants are expected to serve the public interest as their first and foremost obligation, while
nonetheless maintaining client service as it relates to auditees; the ethical issues suggested by the wording of
the case include: competency issues implied by the Independent Accountant’s lack of knowledge about RRCs
in the initial discussion and his subsequent investigation of the issue; discussion of the conceptual problems
with the emerging industry practice and a likelihood that it would not withstand scrutiny by more than a
casual observer; the need to be true to the substance of a transaction rather than its form and to align with
the spirit of GAAP rather than merely the letter of GAAP which invariably will not mesh with new
contracting areas verbatim...

•

the role of the SEC and the extent to which it ought to expect help from the profession rather than resistant
or pro-client stances merits discussion; a useful reference here is the article by Walter P. Schuetze, "A
Mountain or a Molehill?" Accounting Horizons (Volume 8, Number 1, March 1994), pp. 69-75

•

One might argue that the removal of RRC accounting distortions provided increased incentive for real risk
diversification via both the cited Stanford program on earthquake probabilities (recall page 11 of the July 1993
SEC filing by RLI Corporation and pages 5 and 22 of the 1993 annual report of RLI) and via political action
to spread premiums over a larger base. See related discussion of lobbying with Congress to pass a national
disaster law that would require insurance for earthquakes and other disasters as part of standard homeowner’s
insurance, thereby spreading catastrophe costs over a larger base in the Wall Street Journal (Thursday, April
21, 1994), p. A5: "Insurers’ Losses From Earthquake May Top $6 Billion."

d. Reconcile your responses to a. and c. For example, if you believe the President, the Controller, or the
Independent Accountant behaved inappropriately, and you were a staff member on the audit engagement,
aware of the analysis performed in a., what actions would you take?
This question permits a discussion of new staff members’ responsibilities within a professional organization.
In particular, public accounting firms have an established process by which staff members can recognize their
disagreement in a formal manner. There should be discussion about the perception that such action might
be a "kiss of death" organizationally, in tandem with an analysis of the consequences to the individual staff
member should he or she be proven to have been correct. Ample role play opportunities exist here,
emphasizing (1) the possibility that added experience justifies the partner overruling the staff member, (2) the
pros and cons of deferring to experience, and (3) the issue of whistleblowing as it might be perceived in a
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professional organization and the consequence of its absence (e.g., what might have happened to Jose L.
Gomez the former managing partner of the Miami office of Alexander Grant & Co. in the ESM Government
Securities Inc.’s case had a staff member discovered and alerted the firm to the problem — for discussion of
this and other litigated matters see Wanda A. Wallace, Auditing, 3rd Edition, Cincinnati, Ohio: SouthWestern Publishing Co., 1984/5 — Chapter 5 in particular).
e.

The President proposed that the company take the issue to the SEC. Without regard to the SEC’s specific
opinion on the case, discuss the pros and cons of taking an accounting issue to the SEC from the perspective
of the company and the Independent Accountant.

The discussion should initially focus on the procedure to be followed in discussing an issue with the SEC.
Specifically, the registrant will have to prepare a memorandum describing the transaction in detail,
management’s analysis of the relevant accounting literature and the basis for conclusions reached. In
addition, if not otherwise stated in the memorandum, the view of the registrant’s independent accountant will
likely be requested by the SEC staff. The staff will review the submission and, if necessary, request
additional information. Although the staff are sensitive to the registrant’s need for a quick resolution of an
issue, this process can take several weeks to complete.
On the positive side, such discussions will likely lead to a resolution of the issue upon which the
registrant can confidently rely. This eliminates the registrant’s risk of being subsequently challenged by the
SEC staff. Challenges by the SEC staff can be costly; they can lead to delays in getting registration
statements approved or possibly restatements if the accounting is deemed to be in error.
On the negative side, such discussions may lead to a resolution of the issue that the registrant does not
like. At that point, the registrant may have little choice but to accept the SEC staff view. Registrants may
also be concerned that depending on the nature of the issue, the review process may lead to other similar
transactions being challenged. Moreover, the clearance process takes time.
The pros and cons for the Independent Accountant are similar to those of the registrant. In addition,
the Independent Accountant also faces the dilemma of taking a position on the issue. In this situation, this
could leave the Independent Accountant with a choice of agreeing with the company and defending accounting
that is not his or her first choice, or disagreeing with the client and probably damaging the company’s case
with the SEC. The instructor may wish to have a discussion on the ethical aspects of this dilemma facing
the Independent Accountant. An interesting question that can also be discussed is the manner in which SEC
clearance information is available. Since resolutions focus on registrants and public accountants have
numerous registrants in the same industry, the manner in which information can be "shared" within a firm
arises. This issue can be explored within the context of the "Funds of Funds" case and from the perspectives
of both confidentiality and quality control within a CPA firm. Reconsider the conclusions of the Public
Oversight Board’s Advisory Panel on Auditor Independence already discussed, particularly as they relate to
the SEC.
f.

Given the initial industry practice evolved in 1990 and the SEC action began in 1992, with the FASB
pronouncements effective in 1993, what are your views about the standard-setting and regulatory actions?
Do you believe these processes were timely and effective? Why or why not? What would you suggest be the
approach to similar scenarios likely to arise in practice?
The standard-setting process incorporates a very formal due process which is subject to sunshine throughout
its development. It therefore is quite time-consuming, sometimes taking better than a decade to move from
the agenda stage to resolution (pensions and stock options being two cases in point). The Emerging Issues
Task Force (EITF) is one approach to striving for more timely response, at the cost of some due process,
which at times has been criticized and praised by various constituencies. A problem faced by the standard
setters is that investment bankers and industries constantly innovate contracting and financial arrangements,
assign various hybrid features to these instruments, and label them distinctively from more traditional debt,
equity, and asset instruments. As a result, an automatic claim arises that guidance is not available for the
specific transaction’s accounting treatment, creating an opportunity for innovation. Since some real event
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prompted the innovation and accounting implications in and of themselves affect real events, there are reasons
to expect that accounting treatment may be structured to accomplish preferred reporting results, apart from
what may be the economic essence of the transaction.
The conceptual framework is intended to be adaptable to changing terms and contracting conditions to
focus on the substance of transactions in a consistent manner. Yet, we know that post-employment retirement
benefits, a liability according to the conceptual framework, required separable guidance, to be consistently
captured on the financial statements. Some would say that such specific guidance acts as an implicit
encouragement not to automatically apply SFAS No. 5 to this area, as well as to environmental liabilities and
other large financial exposures, and undermines the essence of the accounting framework. Others would
argue that the new contracting is distinctive, even conceptually, and deserves separate attention.
The result is that a tension exists between general and detailed guidance and between timely direction
and due process. Much debate can follow on such issues. A technical bulletin approach to enforcing existing
GAAP to avoid excessive proliferation of detailed guidance may be an appropriate means of resolution, but
the debate will surely be loud and active on such issues. Of interest is the United Kingdom’s experience that
has initially pursued limited standard-setting, reports that the result was unacceptable lowering of the quality
of reporting practices, and hence the current response of forming a standard-setting group with regulatory
power that has increased guidance. Nonetheless, one of the early statements issued for exposure by the
United Kingdom group was one on substance versus form, attempting to strike a balance between general
guidance and specialized detailed standards. The international harmonization that is evolving is struggling
with many of the same questions, and the students should be inspired to make a practice of learning about
these developments.
The EITF often is approached by public accountants who have questions about emerging practices;
indeed, based on participants’ accounts of the RRC issue, it was the profession which initially highlighted the
question. The attention of the EITF was expedited when:

One or more estimates indicated that unrecorded losses of $1 billion or more may have existed
following Hurricane Andrew because of funding covers. (1992)
g. Use the following worksheet, based on the 1992 annual report, the 10-K filing, and the 1993 annual report
disclosure by RLI to analyze RLI’s restatement in 1993 for the adoption of the consensus reached in EITF
Issue 93-6. What are the pros and cons of restating prior period financial statements ? How do you think
an investor who purchased RLI’s stock in 1990 and sold it in early 1993 (i.e., before the restatement) feels?
How do you think an Investor who purchased RLI’s stock in 1990 and still holds the stock feels? What do
RLI’s creditors think of the restatement? Support your position using quantitative analysis and ratios based
on the worksheet. How would your views change if the EITF never discussed the issue, and the SEC forced
companies with RRCs to restate their financial statements?
The primary advantage of restatement is that prior periods included for comparative purposes will be
presented on a basis consistent with the current year. This will assist the reader in assessing the company’s
performance relative to the prior periods. Both financial analysts and company management frequently
criticize standard setters for failing to require or at least allow restatements for changes in accounting.
In the case of RLI, the restatement had the effect of increasing net income in prior periods and
significantly changing the earnings per share trend line. RLI’s originally reported earnings per share for 1990
through 1992 was on an upward trend from $2.05 to $2.22 to $2.29. After restatement however, earnings
per share now appear to have peaked in 1991. The restated earnings per share for 1990 through 1992 are
$2.52, $2.97, and $2.83, respectively. Taking into consideration 1993’s earnings per share of $2.71, it now
appears that RLI’s earnings per share is on a downward trend.
Alternatively, if RLI had recognized the change in accounting as a cumulative effect instead of a
restatement, the 1990 through 1992 historical trend line would be meaningless. RLI would have likely
reported earnings per share in 1993 in excess of $4 as compared with the 1990, 1991, and 1992 periods of
$2.05, $2.22, and $2.29, respectively. Given the magnitude of the 1993 increase, it would seem likely that
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1994’s results would be lower. However, given the separate line-item treatment that a change in accounting
would receive, analysts may be able to approximate what 1993 would have looked like absent the cumulative
effect. Accordingly, analysts would have to start a new earnings trend line beginning in 1993.

In considering the views of investors, the following points should be discussed.
Short-term investors who purchased their stock in 1990 and sold in 1993 prior to the restatement may feel that
they did not get the benefit of the income that was later (after they sold) attributed to the periods that they owned
the stock. However, one might argue that to the extent the initial accounting reduced volatility, the market may
have given them the benefit of a better multiple (i.e., price earnings ratio). In addition, the market may have
given the stock an even lower multiple because of the apparent downward trend in earnings per share already
noted. What would have happened would depend on to what extent information provided by the restatement, if
known, would have changed the market’s view of the company’s future prospects. This, of course, is difficult
to determine.
Long-term investors who purchased their stock in 1990 and still intend to hold it may feel ambivalent because
intermediate price fluctuations are often meaningless to a long-term investor. Any aberrations in market value
that may have occurred prior to the restatement should now be corrected. However, in all likelihood, there was
an economic cost to the company for entering into this transaction for what appears to be purely accounting
purposes. They may not feel this was a proper use of the company’s assets.

In considering the views of creditors, the following points should be discussed.
Because the effect of the restatement was "positive" on the prior financial statements, RLI’s creditors may not
care as long as RLI is up to date on principal and interest payments and they are currently in compliance with
all debt covenants. However, it would be interesting to consider what, if any, security interest RLI’s creditors
would have had in the funds "on deposit" at the reinsurers.

In exploring whether views would change in the absence of EITF discussion and consensus, consider the
following perspective.
As was discussed in the case, the EITF gave companies an option to restate prior period financial statements, and
therefore, there should be no negative connotation to the restatement. Generally, the EITF is viewed as an
established standard-setting body that acts to prescribe specific guidance in areas in which the accounting was
previously unclear under the existing literature. Consequently, any changes made to adopt a consensus of the
EITF are not considered corrections of errors. In fact, some have stated that by virtue of the EITF undertaking
an issue, past accounting practices are to some extent absolved from being labeled as errors, because the EITF
would not address it unless the literature was unclear.
However, a forced restatement by the SEC would imply that the original accounting was in error and
therefore, required to be corrected. Accordingly, investors and creditors who have made investments or advanced
funds which subsequently proved to be "damaged" may have a cause of action. Indeed, management and
independent accountants frequently note that plaintiffs’ attorneys monitor registration statements for
unusual/unexpected charges to earnings, restatements, or disclosures that might indicate that an investor might
have a cause of action.
This facet of the case expects the student to set up a worksheet of the information provided in the case and
then to graph and illustrate the numbers, analyzing their importance.
Analyses might include:

•

Dispersion computations for various spans of time, e.g., standard deviation computations for like spans of
time [e.g., for 1991 and 1992 before adjustment, the total asset (liability) standard deviation is 26,628,439
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(16,305,156), while after adjustment it becomes 29,574,274 (19,250,991) and after restatement, 29,643 470
(17,117,237)]
•

bar chart of total assets for 1991 and 1992 and for adjusted 1991 and 1992

•

the ratio of total assets adjusted to total assets reported before adjustment — in bar chart and in differencing
form (1.509 for 1992 and 1.556 for 1991)

•

the proportion of restated numbers represented by increases arising from restatement

•

earnings restatement: the ratio of increase from restatement to restated earnings and EPS (. 1922 and . 1908,
respectively for 1992; .251 and .253 for 1991; .185 and .187 for 1990)

•

total assets in bar/area graph form for restated, adjusted, and reported in 1991 and 1992

•

total liabilities in bar/area graph form for restated, adjusted, and reported in 1991 and 1992

• Time Series Graphic of TA, TL, SE as would have been reported and as restated
•

Comparison of Earnings Trends With and Without Restatement

•

Comparison of EPS Trends With and Without Restatement

•

Setting Reported 1991-92 Standard Deviation to 1.0: How do the standard deviations of adjusted and restated
values compare when deflated accordingly?

•

Earnings Two-Year Standard Deviation (1991-92 before restatement 359,051): It was reduced relative to
historical (1988-89 669,171.21) and restated numbers (1991-92 restated 419,259.87)

•

EPS Two-year standard deviation (1991-1992 before restatement = .05) was reduced relative to historical
(1988-89 .16) or restated amounts (1991-92 restated .10)

•

Comparison of restated values to what would have been reported without restatement: Earnings/TA (1989
.0337; 1990 .0436; 1990 restated .0529; 1991 .0415; 1991 restated .0535; 1992 .0384; 1992 restated .0455;
1993 .0236)

•

Earnings/Total Asset Ratios 1990 through 1993

•

Earnings/TA: Time Series Patterns

It is anticipated that the students will come up with these types of analysis and the instructor will choose certain
ones to highlight. These could be generated using Windows Excel, Harvard Graphics, or other software for
screen projection use in the classroom, if preferred. An opportunity is at hand to discuss how the appearance
of trends and patterns in graphics are influenced by the selection of the scale and approach to presentation.
The messages of the graphics that could be generated are numerous, emphasizing:

• a plot of EPS historical and restated demonstrates that from 1990 to 1993, the general trends of these two
lines are exactly the opposite
• managers are not always striving to raise reported earnings, but as in this case wanted to smooth, giving up
some earnings in certain periods to achieve decreased volatility
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•

using basic statistics, the students should figure out a need to compute variance and standard deviation
numbers to determine whether the volatility of measures has been altered by the adjustment and restatement

•

the disclosures preclude detailed ratio analysis but do facilitate consideration of total asset, total liabilities,
stockholders’ equity, total earnings, and EPS patterns, all of which should be analyzed by the students

•

indexing relative to one, differencing, and percentage effects are useful in evaluating the extent of an effect
and its likely materiality to financial statement users.

The graphics bear out that assets were understated. Increases in total assets were less than 5 %, as were total
liabilities, but for stockholders’ equity, almost a 10% effect is observable, while for earnings and earnings per
share, the fluctuation is between 18 and 25% for the 1990 through 1992 period. Most would view such
percentages as material relative to conventional literature. Useful literature on which to draw for a discussion
of materiality includes:
•

Marianne Jennings, Dan C. Kneer, and Philip M.J. Reckers, "A Reexamination of the Concept of Materiality;
Views of Auditors, Users, and Officers of the Court," Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory (Spring
1987), pp. 108-112.

• James H. Thompson, Thomas G. Hodge, and James S. Worthington, "An Inventory of Materiality Guidelines
in Accounting Literature," The CPA Journal (Vol. LX, No. 7, July 1990), pp. 50-54.
•

Kurt Pany and Stephen Wheeler, "A Comparison of Various Materiality Rules of Thumb," The CPA Journal
(June 1989), pp. 62-63.

h. Management of RLI has expressed a point of view in its actions as well as in its disclosures in the 1992 and
1993 financial disclosures. Do you believe such a point of view is in the best interest of users of the financial
statements? Why or why not? Discuss the pros and cons of entering into a transaction to achieve a desired
accounting result but does not substantially change the economics of a company. Do you think this a good
business decision by management? Do you think it is ethical? Can you provide other examples of
transactions designed primarily to achieve a desired accounting result? How has the marketplace reacted to
these transactions?

The idea that the investors are well served by decreased volatility in reported earnings is controversial but
would appear to be a fatally flawed contention. Investors, definitionally, desire information of use in
rebalancing their portfolios to align risk and return preferences. This is made more difficult, not less
difficult, by the tendency to camouflage real volatility in underlying cash flows of the economic transactions
in which the business operates. The observation of management themselves in the RLI 10-K, cited by the
SEC staff member in the hypothetical case scenario, is that
One of the distinguishing features of the property and casualty insurance business is that its product must be
priced before the ultimate claims costs can be known.

This risk should be measured and communicated in a straightforward accounting treatment. The role of
accounting is one of neutrality: capturing the essence of the economic transaction to facilitate decision making.
The purpose is not to be biased toward or against volatility, but rather to be faithful to the substance of the
transaction’s effects.
From time to time, members of management and their independent accountants will face the issue of entering
into a transaction or structuring a transaction in a particular fashion in order to achieve a desired accounting
result. Generally, there is nothing unethical about this as long as GAAP is properly applied in the circumstances.
However, in doing so, management and their independent accountants should consider whether it is worthwhile
if there is no change in the economics of the transaction. Eventually, the accounting results will catch up with
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economics of a transaction. Unless the desired accounting better reflects the economics of the transaction,
incurring costs to structure the transaction in a certain way would not seem to be a prudent use of resources.
In addition, it should be noted that often times the market has a way of seeing the true economics of a transaction.
To illustrate, the instructor may wish to discuss the structuring of a lease for equipment such that the net
present value of the minimum lease payments is 89.9% of the cost of the equipment and will therefore qualify
as an operating lease instead of a capital lease. There is nothing unethical in structuring a lease as an operating
lease. While there is no substantive difference between a lease whose net present value of minimum lease
payments are 89.9% of the cost of the equipment and one whose net present value of minimum lease payments
is 90% of the cost, there is a significant difference in the accounting. Yet how many creditors are "fooled" by
this structure? The disclosures required by Statement 13 will clearly give any informed reader an indication of
the company’s future commitment under both operating and capital leases, as well as the knowledge that the
equipment under lease is not subject to a security interest by any of the company’s other creditors. Therefore,
the company should structure the lease to obtain the best economic terms rather than the best accounting result.
Managements often overlook the economic costs involved when structuring a transaction for accounting purposes.
Note that Financial Accounting Second Edition by Wanda A. Wallace and published by Southwestern-Publishing
Co. (1993) has a final chapter that discusses relevant research on the relationship of accounting to economic
reality and market reactions, as well as a description of various determinants of accounting policies chosen by
companies.

In this discussion, the instructor may wish to share the following quote:

"As I grow older, I pay less attention to what men say. I just watch what they do. "—Andrew Carnegie

Other Current Issues For Discussion
•

This case provides an opportunity to discuss Regulatory Accepted Accounting Principles (RAAP) and issues
that arise when they diverge from GAAP. This discussion can first focus on a current initiative involving
the insurance industry.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (i.e., state insurance regulators) have a statutory
accounting codification process in development.
Until now, accounting practices prescribed or permitted by state regulators have been afforded
"OCBOA" status. But, the accounting profession now believes the notion of "permitted" accounting practices
is broken ....
At stake is the regulatory reporting framework and the ability of auditors to continue to report on SAP
as OCBOA for a segment of our economy that accounts for well over $2 trillion in assets.

(Statutory Accounting Principles Statement of Concepts drafted August 25, 1994 begins the codification
process)

This discussion can be elaborated upon to consider the savings and loan industry. RAAP was an issue that
involved active testimony by the accounting profession to Congress and was later debated in the aftermath
of what has been labeled the "savings and loan debacle."
• To further establish the point that this case pervades far more than the insurance industry, the instructor may
wish to point out that the EITF is applicable to manufacturers who have been involved in negotiating various
RRC types of arrangements in which risk transfer is at issue.
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An opportunity is at hand to explore self-insurance practices and why insurance expense cannot be recorded
for such self-insurance. This discussion might be elaborated upon in the context of the public accounting
profession. The availability of professional liability insurance has changed over time, rates have escalated
as experience has included large payments to plaintiffs, and some might argue that the market for provision
of such insurance is "thin," resulting in the insured having a position similar to a retroactively rated insurance
policy holder.

Note: Adapted and quoted materials from EITF Abstracts and EITF minutes and issue summaries, copyright by
Financial Accounting Standards Board, 401 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06856, are reproduced by
permission.
The discussions in the case materials are hypothetical, developed for pedagogical use, Information was
obtained from the 1992 and 1993 Annual Reports for RLI Corporation, as well as that company’s 10-K filing for
1992 and its filing in July 1993 to amend the 1992 Form 10-K. In addition, annual reports for Aetna Life &
Casualty in 1992 and 1993 were reviewed.
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PIEDMONT EXPRESS FORMS:
PROCESS ANALYSIS FOR STRATEGIC DECISION MAKING
Paul E. Juras, Assistant Professor
Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, North Carolina
Paul A. Dierks, Associate Professor
Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, North Carolina

Henry Johns, President
Piedmont Express Forms, Winston-Salem, North Carolina

PART A — Introduction

Henry faces a tough decision. Although the forms business is undergoing structural changes, his business is
growing, so his organization needs to change and grow. However, there is no space for expanding in the building
rented by his company. He and his partner are planning to build a warehouse and office complex to house the
company to meet its space needs well into the future, but they are not sure how big a facility to build. To address
this issue, Henry needs to make an analysis of his firm’s existing operations, and in light of the industry’s change,
make a decision on how much emphasis to put on the various aspects of his business.
Company Profile

Piedmont Express Forms, Inc. (PEF) was started in 1983 by Henry Johns and Larry Atkins. There are now 9
employees generating revenues of approximately $2,000,000 per year. The company occupies about 1,500 square
feet of office space and 3,500 square feet of warehouse space in Greensboro, North Carolina.
PEF is a distributor organization providing business forms in both national and local markets. The firm
also provides other products and services to businesses, including printed products, plastic cards, data collection
and bar coding devices for information transfer, consulting work in the form of systems analysis for work
simplification, and advertising specialties (promotional products or "give aways"). The latter is expected to be
at least 10% of the company’s revenue in the current year.
For clients in its local market, consisting of the counties surrounding Greensboro, N.C. (referred to as
the Piedmont Triad Area), PEF specializes in providing forms management and inventory control for clients with
large forms budgets. Within this market PEF offers three levels of service:
Level 1. Clients with no warehousing needs for forms are serviced by having a sales representative go
by on a regular basis to take orders, offer solutions to problems, etc. Any goods purchased are shipped directly
to the client by the supplier and billed at the time of shipment. No warehouse or delivery service is provided.

Copyright 1994 by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and donated to the public domain for educational use.
Cases developed and distributed under the AICPA Case Development Program are intended for use in higher education for
instructional purposes only, and are not for application in practice. The AICPA neither approves nor endorses this case or any solution
provided herewith or subsequently developed.
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Level 2. For clients using large volumes of forms, but with inadequate storage space, PEF performs the
services outlined in level 1, plus receiving and storing goods in their warehouse for later distribution, usually on
a just-in-time basis. The goods are billed in full when they arrive at PEF’s warehouse.
This level of service requires much more activity. The warehouse must receive and store goods, generate
picking tickets, pick the items, and deliver them, while accounting must process the release, adjust inventory,
and process an invoice for a small amount of freight.
Level 3. Identical to level 2, except that a custom product is stored, and billings for the goods aren’t made
until the goods are delivered to a client.
PEF currently averages between 120 and 150 deliveries each month to Level 2 and Level 3 firms.
In their national market, PEF has formed strategic alliances with software vendors around the country to
provide the necessary forms for purchasers of the software. PEF guarantees the compatibility of their forms with
the software system. This market represents about 15% of PEF’s business and serves 210 clients in 30 states.
While the national market represents nearly 50% of the customer base and less than 20% of revenue, Henry
believes that once such a client is obtained, only 10 to 15 minutes of staff time per order is needed and little, if
any, warehouse support is required of these customers. PEF’s average gross margin on it’s national customers
is 38%.
Although he takes pride in keeping up with the changes in the forms industry, Henry Johns feels that the
main focus of his business is to help capture and manage the movement of information through an organization,
whether or not it requires a paper form. The services that help meet customer needs include ordering,
warehousing and distribution, the re-design of business forms to make them more useful, and gathering and
distributing management information relating to the use of these products. Form usage information includes
showing past usage and stock-outs by end users, past ordering behavior, the possibility of combining orders based
on expected usage to save on order processing and delivery costs, and information on what has been shipped
where and when. For example, an insurance client may want to know how many insurance application forms
were used each month nationwide for a two year period. PEF could provide this information in seconds, whereas
the client might take days to gather the same information.
Henry is aware that his firm must offer a variety of products and services, it must be service oriented,
and be ready to adopt or adapt to the latest trend. His firm has responded to these pressures through
diversification into such areas as bar coding services and a newly formed imaging division. However, Henry feels
that forms, as his "base business", provides an entree to new clients who will use the variety of other products
and services PEF offers. Thus, forms will always be a product line of PEF, and the only issue is how big the
local segments of PEF’s business will be — and how much warehouse space is needed.
PEF’s managers understand that different activities are required to support each service or product offered,
and a different markup is used for each service level. However, since management doesn’t know the costs of
providing the support required, they: a) don’t know how much net profit is generated from each level of service;
and b) have no way of knowing whether or not any given client is profitable.
More importantly, as PEF looks to the future, it becomes difficult to target any specific type of client (i.e.,
national or local) since they don’t know which type is the most profitable to serve. At the local level, they
prefer serving at level 2 and 3 because gross profits are higher and there are fewer competitors, but they think
the support required at those levels absorbs much of the gross profit. Thus, they are unsure over how
aggressively they should pursue this segment of the business, or, to focus their efforts on the national market.
This decision impacts their long run plan to build an office and warehouse facility, and, if they build, what
warehouse capacity to provide.
Financial Information

Table 1 presents PEF’s Sales, Cost of Sales and Profits for 1993. Table 2 shows the sales and gross profits for
the largest local customers not requiring warehousing and the largest local customers needing warehousing.
A quick computation of the costs and revenues involved in the delivery of goods, including running
"Forms Express" is given in Table 3 Some clients will not accept separate billing for "Forms Express" or
delivery services so the delivery charge is built into the selling price for these customers.
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Table 1

Sales

Sales — Custom
Sales — Stock
Sales — Other
Sales — Forms Design
Freight Out
Freight Out-Forms Express

$1,519,433
225,785
236,247
13,333
96,550
7,271
$2,097,619

Total Sales

Cost of Sales
Cost of Sales — Custom
Cost of Sales — Stock
Cost of Sales — Other
Forms Design Cost
Freight In

947,158
164,433
162,371
22,256
110,046
$1,406,264

$

Total Cost of Sales
Gross Profits

$ 691,355

Selling, General, and Administrative
Pretax profit

586,355
$ 105,000

Table 2

Local No Warehousing
Client
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

Totals

Local With Warehousing

Total Sales
$99,599
87,220
30,825
23,660
20,702
28,945
19,055
124,468

Gross Profits
$31,839
14,109
11,006
7,992
7,413
9,920
6,922
24,521

$434,474

$113,722

Client
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11

Total Sales
$147,789
33,079
181,545
210,300
66,739
21,413
24,472
209,580
71,679
76,617
22,437
$1,065,650

Gross Profits
$50,302
8,644
56,341
46,986
22,091
7,819
10,530
93,392
28,147
25,432
5,919
$355,603
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Table 3
EXPENSES
Local delivery expense
Gas expense
Van maintenance
General warehouse
Compensation warehouse
Insurance — medical warehouse
Insurance — disability warehouse
Insurance — van warehouse
Temporary help warehouse
Workman’s compensation warehouse
FICA warehouse
Rent

215.23
1,200.00
1,181.46
873.99
20,679.00
1,375.23
388.08
432.84
1,331.03
875.00
1,551.00
$ 8.250.00

Subtotal
Freight-in

$ 38,352.86
110.046.00

Total delivery costs

$148,398.86

$

REVENUES

Freight-out revenue
Forms Express revenue

$ 96,550.00
$ 7.271.00

Subtotal

$103,821.00

Reclassify sales as delivery revenue

$

Total delivery revenue

$108,821.00

5.000.00

PART A — Questions:
1.

Using only the information in Part A, prepare a brief report giving Henry Johns your assessment of the
situation at PEF in light of the decisions) they face (e.g., whether to build a warehouse) and the available
data. Your report should address PEF’s overall profitability, and the profitability of it’s various markets
and customers. How would you advise Henry at this point concerning the two local markets and the
construction of a warehouse? (Refer to this report as the Preliminary Analysis.)

2.

Read the Overview of the Forms Industry in the Appendix. In light of this overview, and the preliminary
analysis of PEF’s financial data, how you would advise Henry Johns?

3.

Henry Johns heard about activity-based costing at a professional meeting and wonders if it could be used
at PEF. Describe activity-based costing, explain "how it works" and point out how it might be useful to
PEF in their current situation. How would you go about applying activity-based costing at PEF? What
additional information would you want from PEF to apply it to their operations? How would you go about
acquiring this information?
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APPENDIX TO PART A

Overview of the Forms Industry
The forms industry is a mature, $8 billion industry, but it is declining even as new players enter. It’s an industry
that doesn’t have to build a need for the products it provides, since the need for forms to operate a business
already exists — and will probably continue to exist. But, the industry is facing a smaller market as technology
and hardware make it possible for end users to design and print their own forms.
Customers are also reducing the number of vendors they buy from. Suppliers that cannot "do it all" are
likely to lose out to those that can. Being a full service supplier (warehousing, distribution, consulting,
information support) is becoming more important.
Profits have been reduced and competition has increased significantly. Clients have always wanted price,
service and quality, but today they’ll switch suppliers as soon as something goes wrong, or for the difference of
"a few dollars". Also, the line between distributor and manufacturer has begun to blur. Many distributors now
have print shops and manufacturers are selling directly to customers. Mergers and acquisitions have been, and
will continue to be, a means of survival. But some owners, who are too close to retirement to start over, are
likely to sell out. Others will stay in the business through mergers.
The key word for the industry is "change". In order to survive, distributors must add services, expand
product lines or diversify to add value and maintain margins. However, diversification means that traditional
forms products are a smaller percentage of sales.
The industry SIC code (2761) description of the industry is "Manifold Business Forms”. In an earlier time
this may have appropriately described the central focus of designing, printing and distributing continuous, multi
copy, fan-fold, and custom business forms. However, today it is far too succinct a label for an industry whose
members refer to themselves as either distributors, manufacturers, "forms professionals", or "customer service
professionals" — the strength of this trend is seen by the latter group’s formation of a new association: Society
for Service Professionals in Printing (SSPP).
The degree of industry diversification is found in the product and service ads regularly appearing in FORM
Magazine, the official publication of NBFA, the Association for Independent Marketers of Business Printing and
Information Management Services. Segments of the industry include:
Forms — pre-printed, custom continuous, instantaneous (computer generated and forms composition
software), tax forms, "smart cards" (contain microprocessors), stock mailers, guest checks

Printers — of forms, checks, stationary, announcements
Graphics services

Office stationary supplies, like "plain" envelopes, peel apart envelopes, paper stock (cutsheet), rubber
stamps, cash register rolls

Labels and tags
Direct mail servicing

Bar coding scanners and supplies

Plastic cards (for credit cards, ATM cards, etc.)
Among the more popular products that firms in the forms industry have added are advertising specialties —
promotional products or "give aways". Ad specialties have had a strong growth pattern for several years. In
1990, sales of ad specialty items were more than $5 billion, which was an 11.9 percent increase from the prior
year. The following year saw a 2.9 percent increase.
Forms firms are also placing increased emphasis on security documents to reduce the chance of forgery
by using specialty papers and adding foil stamping, embossing, diffractional holographic foils, and artificial
watermarks.
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Greater use of computers and laser printers in firms of all sizes provides new opportunities to the forms
industry for supplying equipment, supplies and services. Laser printers and computer generated forms software
make it possible to create electronic templates for data entry, and the completed form can be saved and printed
on demand. Instead of stocking pre-printed multi-layer forms, low cost and high speed laser printers make it
faster and cheaper to print multiple copies of the same form.
A natural extension of an industry built on printing and distribution forms, is document imaging. Bulky
paper forms are converted to electronic format for storage and processing by an expanding service labeled as
"document imaging"
Also, the simplicity of form creation often results in non-standard forms, which open opportunities for
forms and work process consulting.
However, it is service that tends to set companies apart from their competition — "... it’s the little extras
that count the most." The most important service a distributor offers is information about new products and
technologies — "Distributors must become more knowledgeable and help customers find new solutions to their
problems".
The forms industry has matured and forms have become commodity items. To survive in a mature
marketplace, firms must expand product lines, add services, offer new value-added products, and become full
service vendors capable of providing just about any printed item or related service, including distribution. The
survivors will be those who proactively exploit the changes in the industry, not those merely reacting to them.
Some forms distributors and manufacturers may not survive the changes.
Epilogue
Despite the implications of the changes occurring in the forms industry, Henry Johns is confident of the
continued existence of the forms business, and it’s profitability. He once stated, "A forms professional could
move to Los Angeles tomorrow, open a forms business, and survive".

PARTB
The Preliminary Analysis confirmed Henry’s belief that forms firms must offer a variety of products and services,
be service oriented, and be ready to adopt, or adapt to, the latest "trend". Thus, he must closely manage his
current range of activities, but he must also be vigilant in finding and evaluating other forms-related business lines
that can "turn a profit". More specifically, the analysis didn’t provide a great deal of insight into the fundamental
problem he faced: how much emphasis to put on the local markets, especially those that use warehouse space,
in order to decide whether or not to build a new warehouse facility.
The preliminary analysis provided mainly firm-wide, general information. What is needed is detailed
information, including work done to run the warehouse (picking, loading and delivering orders by market and
client category), and a breakdown of administrative costs, especially those that relate to sales and customer
support for the local markets. To address this issue, Henry needs to analyze his firm’s sales, administrative and
support operations. A more sophisticated analysis was necessary, and process analysis was the logical step to
take.
As the initial step in this analysis, Henry prepared the organizational chart in Exhibit 1 and the description
of how PEF goes about doing it’s work, which appears in Exhibit 2.
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Exhibit 1 — Organizational Chart

Henry

President - Performs those duties, plus
handles 30 % of company sales

Charlie

Vice President - Performs those duties, plus
technical support and 25 % of company sales

Diana

Customer Service - works with local clients,
plus handles all national accounts

Louise

All accounting functions

Laura

Customer Service - local customers

Maria

Receptionist

Susan

Outside sales, plus consulting work

Toni

Jimmy

Outside sales

All warehouse functions

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-09: Piedmont Express Forms: Process Analysis For Strategic Decision Making ♦ 8

Exhibit 2 — Business Process Outline

Identify Person Who Performs The Activity

Description of Activity

National

Local — Direct

Local — Via PEF

Market

Shipment

Warehouse

Inside Sales

Sales Rep.

None

Sales Rep.

None

1.

Solicit new client(s)

2.

Solicit business from a client

3.

Client requests a quote

Inside Sales

Sales Rep.

None

4.

Follow up quote with a client contact

Inside Sales

Sales Rep.

None

5.

Contact plants to determine cost (bid)

Inside Sales

Customer Service

None

6.

Wait for arrival of bids

Inside Sales

Customer Service

None

7.

Select quote to give to client

Inside Sales

Sales Rep.

None

8.

Give quote to client

Inside Sales

Sales Rep./Cust. Serv.

None

9.

Client places order

None

10.

Write up order

11.

Do forms composition

12.

Key order into computer

Inside Sales

Sales Rep./Cust. Serv.

None

13.

Proof obtained

Inside Sales

Sales Rep./Cust. Serv.

None

14.

Send proof to client

Inside Sales

Sales Rep./Cust. Serv.

None

15.

Wait for proof from client

Inside Sales

Sales Rep./Cust. Serv.

None

16.

Proof approved by client

Inside Sales

Sales Rep./Cust. Serv.

None

17.

Order printed out of computer

Inside Sales

Customer Service

None

18.

Order sent to plant

Inside Sales

Customer Service

None

19.

Wait for acknowledgment of order

Customer Service

None

20.

Verify acknowledgment

Customer Service

Customer Service

None

21.

Contact plant if problem exists

Inside Sales

Sales Rep./Cust. Serv.

None

22.

File acknowledgement

Customer Service

Customer Service

None

23.

Plant ships order and Invoices IBP

Plant

Plant

None

24.

Key accounts payable into computer

Accounting

Accounting

None

25.

Invoice the client

Accounting

Accounting

None

26.

Assemble order and file it

Admin. Assist

Admin. Assist

None

27.

Pay invoice to plant

Accounting

Accounting

None

28.

Receive client’s payment

Accounting

Accounting

None

29.

Shipment arrives at warehouse (re: 24)

Warehouse

None

None

Inside Sales

Sales Rep./Cust. Serv.

None
None
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30.

Check shipment for damage

Warehouse

None

None

31.

Mark quantities on shipping papers

Warehouse

None

None

32.

If not damaged, put stock away

Warehouse

None

None

33.

Send shipping papers to accounting

Warehouse

None

None

34.

Write up a release

Inside Sales

None

Customer Service

35.

Enter release into the computer

Inside Sales

None

Customer Service

36.

Picking ticket printed by computer

Inside Sales

None

Customer Service

37.

Picking ticket forwarded to warehouse

Inside Sales

None

Warehouse

38.

Warehouse pulls product

Warehouse

None

Warehouse

39.

Warehouse ships or delivers order

Warehouse

None

Warehouse

40.

Warehouse files papers and forwards to acct

Warehouse

None

Warehouse

41.

Accounting completes the release

Accounting

None

Accounting

42.

Paperwork is filed away

Admin. Assist

None

Admin. Assist

43.

Invoice the client, if appropriate

Accounting

None

Warehouse

PART B — Questions:

1.

Henry was unsure of what process analysis was, and what kind of work it entailed. Describe process
analysis, including the steps involved and its benefits to an organization.

2.

Using the Business Process Outline provided in Exhibit 2, draw a process flow chart.

3.

a) Prepare a memo to PEF management evaluating the information added as the result of completing the
process flow chart in Part B2.
b) Point out what additional steps would be needed to use activity-based costing to determine the cost of
serving each of PEF’s major markets or service levels, and ultimately, to calculate the profitability of a
specific customer. Include the types of data needed and describe how it can be obtained.
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Piedmont Express Forms:
Process Analysis for Strategic Decision Making
TEACHING NOTES
Paul E. Juras, Assistant Professor
Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, North Carolina
Paul A. Dierks, Associate Professor
Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, North Carolina
Henry Johns, President
Piedmont Express Forms, Winston-Salem, North Carolina

SUMMARY AND OBJECTIVE

This is a multi-part case involving market/product line profitability, process analysis; introduction to activity-based
costing in a service setting; and exposure to strategic cost analysis.
TARGETED AUDIENCE

The targeted audience is upper division Cost or Advanced Management Accounting courses, or a first year
graduate level MBA Management Accounting course. However, the case may also be suitable for a senior level
strategy course.

CLASS USE, TEACHING APPROACH, AND TIME FRAME

It would be better to spread the case over two class days. Part A, which focuses on the data given that part,
would be done on the first day. The purpose is to get students to think about the available data in relation to the
objective(s), recognize the shortcomings of the data, and proscribe what information would be desired. The
remainder of the class session could be devoted to the analyzing the firm’s business processes and the preparation
of process flow charts. Students would prepare the process flow charts outside of class, in preparation for the
second class day. If the case is done in one class session, the early discussion would have to be "played as if"
the Part B material was not known, but, students should be expected to bring completed process charts to class.
SUGGESTED SOLUTIONS TO QUESTIONS

The original purpose of the case was to use activity-based costing to determine the cost of each major marketing,
warehouse, and administrative activity, and then calculate the profitability of the various markets, business lines,
customers, and service levels. This information was to be used in preparing scenarios to assess the firm’s
strategic options (e.g., drop/add/expand markets, business lines, customers, and service levels, and determine
what size warehouse to build). However, soon after beginning work on the project, it was apparent that much
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of the detailed data needed would not be available. This was a blend of consequences, including the way data
was captured and reported in PEF’s computerized accounting system, the fact that primarily administrative
processes were involved, and that the firm is small, with few employees, who were very busy doing the work
needed to be done to keep their customers happy.
PART A ANSWERS

Part A of the case focuses primarily on the financial data provided, and its limitations in addressing the issues
that PEF faces. The intention is to get the student started thinking about what needs to be done in an activity
based costing project that is not atypical, e.g., a manufacturing operation. Costing services and administrative
processes is a "different kettle of fish" in comparison to the "usual" ABC projects in manufacturing. The end
result of this part should be the identification of the data needed to properly address the issues facing PEF.
Answer — Question A.1:

Using only the information in Part A, prepare a brief report giving Henry Johns your assessment of the
situation at PEF in light of the decision(s) they face (whether to build a warehouse) and the data currently
available. Your report should address PEF’s overallprofitability, and the profitability of it’s various markets
and customers. How would you advise Henry at this point concerning the two local markets and the
construction of a warehouse?
Although expenses are not given, based on their gross profit margins, it appears that PEF has the potential to be
a profitable firm. And, in 1993, PEF had a $105,000 profit before taxes, which is 5% of sales. However, the
accounts are kept according to standard industry reporting requirements where sales are reported by product line,
which is at variance with the market and/or the customer focus of this inquiry.
Table TN-1 is an analysis of PEF’s sales and gross profits. It shows that together, the largest clients in
the two local markets make up 71.5% of total sales and bring in 67.9% of the firm’s gross profit. Also, the 11
clients in the local market with warehouse service make up 50.8% of total sales and 51.4% of the firm’s gross
profit. Although other, smaller firms are in each market, these two local markets are a substantial, and an
important part of PEF’s business. Adding facilities (a warehouse) or services to increase sales in these markets
appears to be a worthwhile objective to pursue.

Table TN-1

Number of
Clients

Category Sales amount

Sales % of
total

Gross profit
amount

Gross profit
% of sales

Profit as %
of total

8
11

No warehousing
Warehousing

$434,474
1.065.650

20.7
50.8

$113,722
355.603

26.2
33.4

16.4
51.4

19
431

Sub-total
All others

1,500,124
612.727

71.5
28.5

469,325
222.030

31.3
37.2

67.9
32.1

450

TOTALS

$2,097,619

100

$691,355

33.0

100

The local market with warehouse service also provides a higher gross profit as a percentage of sales than the local
market without warehousing, which should be expected since additional support is needed for the additional
service provided. The amount of this difference — 7.2% — provides the incremental dollars of contribution to
cover the additional costs involved in providing this higher level of service. In a worst case scenario, this extra
margin on warehouse orders provides $76,727 ($1,065,650 x 7.2%), which, by itself, is more than enough to
cover the deficit between the cost of "Forms Express" and transportation-in and the direct revenue from "Forms
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Express" and Transportation-out. However, none of the firm’s administrative or order processing costs related
to running the warehouse have been considered.

Answer — Question A.2:
Read the Overview of the Forms Industry in the Appendix. In light of this overview, and the
preliminary analysis ofPEF’s financial data, how you would advise Henry Johns?

The most significant information added by the overview of the forms industry is the amount of change impacting
the industry. It appears that the volume of the forms business is decreasing, and forms firms are facing increased
competition from both industry insiders, and new entrants. To keep "above water," form firms must be on their
toes to meet every challenge with better service, price cuts, and/or the addition of new product lines, some of
which are not logically related to the traditional forms business, e.g. advertising specialties. The future viability
of the forms business, and the volume of business it can provide to a lesser number of remaining firms, must be
considered in deciding whether or not to build a new warehouse, never mind what size to build that warehouse.'

Answer—Question A.3:
Henry Johns heard about activity-based costing at a professional meeting and wonders if it could
be used at PEF. Describe activity-based costing, explain "how it works" and point out how it might
be useful to PEF in their current situation. How would you go about applying activity-based costing
at PEF? What additional information would you want from PEF to apply it to their operations?
How would you go about acquiring this information?
Activity-based costing is a means of applying costs, particularly overhead costs, to products and services which
was developed as an alternative to the "traditional" cost accounting approach of applying overhead — typically
using only a single overhead rate based on direct labor hours. Using this approach requires that activities (the
work that is done) be identified, as well as the resources needed to perform those activities (buildings, machines,
labor, etc.). The costs of resources are assigned to activities based on their use by those activities, and
accumulated costs of activities are assigned to products through an activity driver—a product or process attribute
that "causes" the work that is done in an activity. Different activities can have different overhead bases (drivers)
and an activity can have one or more overhead rates, which contrasts with the single overhead rate commonly
used in a traditional cost accounting. Also, more varied bases of application than just direct labor hours are used.
As the result of this segmentation of overhead into a number of "activity pools", which are more directly
associated with the measure used to apply overhead (a cost driver), ABC systems are said to provide "more
accurate" results.
The "improved accuracy" of ABC results is a factor of how much variation there is in the nature of the
work being done (activities) in contrast to the measure (the overhead base) used to apply overhead in a
conventional cost accounting system. For example, in a labor-dominated production process, a majority of the
overhead costs would be related to the use of direct labor, and little difference would be created between ABC
costs and costs from a conventional costing system. But, if the production process is a "50-50 blend" of machines
and labor, then the single measure used to apply overhead in a conventional cost system correctly "relates" to
only half of the costs being applied, whether the overhead base is labor-oriented or machine-oriented. The
"other" half of the costs are "miss-applied" since the overhead base is not (or is poorly) related to the way
resource costs are accumulated and applied. In such instances, the overhead costs assigned to products are said
to be "distorted". Activity-based cost (ABC) systems were proposed to correct the distortion of product costs
associated with traditional cost accounting systems.
To set up an ABC system, the first thing to identify is the output produced. Second, trace the "demand"
that each unit of output places on the production (or service) process and identify the needed activities (the work
done). Next, from each activity, trace back to the resources consumed in getting the work done. Then, for each
resource-activity, and activity-output pair, identify the "dominant" product or process attribute — the item that
best explains the relationship between the volume of a resource consumed or the amount of work done and the
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amount of cost. This is the driver — a resource driver in the case of a resource-activity pair, or a cost driver in
the case of an activity-output pair. Finally, for an operating period, determine the financial data for all resources
and the operating data for each of the activities and the resource and cost drivers.
The procedures described relate to performing what is known as a process analysis. Process analysis
results in a mapping of the movement of objects or "products" through the organization to identify the resources
demanded to complete the object. This map can then be used to lay the foundation for the activity-based cost
system.

PART B ANSWERS
Part B of the case is concerned with process analysis, It is intended to provide the student with an insight to the
start up of a process analysis project. It focuses primarily on information Henry Johns provided on how PEF’s
personnel carry out their work. Although sufficient information is not provided to carry out a complete and
thorough analysis, like Part A, the student must think about what needs to be done, to deal with what is available,
and to do as much as they can. Process flowcharting "style" is one of the lessons of this part of the case.

Answer—Question B.1:
Henry was unsure of what process analysis was, what kind of work it entailed, and how it related
to activity-based costing. Describe process analysis, including the steps involved and its benefits
to an organization.
A process is a sequence of activities that performs work on an input in order to create an output (either a product
or a service). A process analysis focuses on the principal activities of an organization and documents the
sequence of steps in which the work is done in the form of a process map. The map is the key to attaching the
right costs to the orders, and ultimately the customers, that use the resources. The map serves as visual
representations of the problem and is invaluable for analyzing the activities underlying the provision of services.
Two types of process maps might be prepared: an "is" map showing the work steps as they are currently
performed; and, a "should" map that shows the system with changes made to improve it. A review of the "is"
map provides a means of classifying activities, which is useful in identifying the entity’s cost drivers.
The initial step in preparing for a process analysis is a tour of the facilities. While on this tour, sample
copies of forms should be collected, along with pertinent memos, organizational charts, and write ups of
procedures and polices. After the tour, interviewing is the primary means of gathering the detailed information
needed for completing a process analysis.
A process flow chart (process map) is developed using standard symbols that represent an operation
(circle), movement (arrow), storage (inverted triangle), delay (a capital D shape), inspection (square) or quality
inspection (diamond). Initially, this process flow chart helps to assure that all of the work performed is included
as activities. Later, this flow chart can be used to identify value-added and non-value-added activities, or to
identify where improvements can be made.
Answer—Question B.2:

Using the Business Process Outline provided in Exhibit 2, draw a process flow chart.

See Exhibit TN-1. In the body of the chart, N is national customers, D is customers whose orders are shipped
direct, and W is for orders handled through the warehouse.
Drawing flowcharts is more of an art than a science. What is "right" for one person, may be criticized
by another person. If a given number of people, say "X", made up a flowchart for a specific situation, there
could be "X" different results, or more. A variety of chart forms can be used, and everyone’s "style" of
approaching, and drawing, a flowchart is different, thus, flowcharts can "look" vastly different. The important
thing is that a chart is accurate, and easy to follow for a new reader.
Also, it takes a great deal of time to prepare a flowchart, and many re-starts and re-works are involved.
The chart in Exhibit TN-1 required two passes with the client just to get the labels that appear in the left side
column, and another visit to get the column headings and to fill in the columns. The body of the chart was re
worked several times before the version given.
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Exhibit TN-1
Inside Sales

Description of Activity
Solicit new clients
Solicit business from client

Client requests a quote

Follow up quote with client

Contact plants for cost (bid)
Wait for arrival of bids

Select quote to give to client
Give quote to client

Client places order

Write up order
Do forms composition

Key order into the compute

Proof obtained
Send proof to client

Wait for proof from client

Proof approved by client
Order printed from compute

Order sent to plant
Wait for acknowledgement
Verify acknowledgement

Contact plant if problem exists?

File acknowledgement
Plant ships & invoices IBP
Key invoice into computer

I

Customer
Sales Rep

Service

Amounting

Admin
Warehouse

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-09: Piedmont Express Forms: Process Analysis For Strategic Decision Making ♦ 15

Admin

Customer
Description of Activity

Inside Sales

Sales Rep

Accounting

Invoice the client

Assemble order, file it
Pay Invoice to plant
Receive client's payment

Shipment arrives at warehouse
Check shipment for damage

Mark quantities on shipping papers
If not damage, put stock away

Send shipping papers to accounting

I

Write up a release
Enter release into compute

Picking ticket printed by computer

Send picking ticket to warehouse
Pull product from stock

Ship order, or deliver it

Complete papers, send to accounting
Complete the release

Re paperwork

Invoice client

national

direct
warehouse

Warehouse

Assist
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In the end, the chart in Exhibit TN-1 is a pretty good graphical representation of the information given in Exhibit
2 in the case. This flowchart can be considered as just a "first pass", however, as it is still incomplete, and
contains/revealed some questions that have to be clarified with the client (See the answer to Part B.3b)).
Answer—Question B.3:

a) Prepare a memo to PEF management evaluating the
completing the process flow chart in Part B2.

information added as the result of

b) Point out what additional steps would be needed to use activity-based costing to determine the
cost of serving each of PEF’s major markets or service levels, and ultimately, to calculate the
profitability of a specific customer. Include the types of data needed and describe how it can be
obtained.

Part B.3.a)
The body of the memo to Henry Jones might appear as follows:
The process flow chart of the sales, administrative and warehouse areas is a fairly complete
representation of the activities needed to process orders for your national and local forms customers.
It clearly shows the work flow across your organization, the number and sequence of steps involved
in supporting each level of service, and the individuals who perform that work. However, it does
not provide information on the number of transactions handled, or the amount of time needed for
a transaction. Additional interviews will be required to gather this information.

A shortcoming of this chart is that it details only the activities for forms sales. It doesn’t show the
work done to support any other revenue generating activities of your firm. Thus, the "capacity"
available at each workstation can be misleading, as in the case of the Administrative Assistant, who
performs only two filing functions in this chart. The amount of "other work" done will have to be
factored in when the costs of individual workstations are assigned to the processing of only forms
business.

There are several questions we’d like to raise about this flow chart. First, no steps shown for
initiating orders that go through the warehouse. In the chart, writing up a release is the first
warehouse transaction. We need to determine the upstream events prior to this point. Also, much
of the work of the Sales Rep and Customer Service overlap. Do they actually "share" this work?
We will be contacting you in the next week to arrange a time to get together and discuss these items.

Part B.3.b)
ABC has become a fairly straight forward process for use in manufacturing firms. However, few advancements
have been made in service firms like PEF. In such service organizations, it becomes a bit more difficult to
identify activities (since people don’t work consistently on one procedure), and useful drivers (since a large
variety of different work is performed). These difficulties are compounded when an organization is small, like
PEF.
In such cases it may be necessary to resort to what is called "cost decomposition" — which means that
estimates are made "from the top" of an organization downward, of the proportions of overhead (resources)
amounts that are "assigned" to activities, e.g. twenty percent of a supervisors time is devoted to managing the
work in Department X. These estimates are obtained by interviewing the personnel involved, and they become
the resource drivers — although clock time is not a "legitimate" driver, but it is the best, if not the only, thing
available.
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The same procedure may have to be used at the activity level if adequate information is not available for
meaningful activity-drivers. Obviously, the accuracy and reliability of the results may be affected by applying
such subjective measures. However, such time-based "estimates" are a valid beginning, i.e., a pilot project.
Areas of further inquiry, and in-depth analysis, can be indicated by the results of the pilot study.
In PEF’s case, it would probably be necessary to use a cost decomposition approach for the resource-toactivity level. Then, at the activity-output level, determine the amount of time people in each activity devote to
each aspect of their job. For each area identified, it would be necessary to identify drivers that "cause" their
work for the various markets, customers and/or products that are to be costed. In such a business as PEF, the
cost drivers are things like orders placed, lines on an order form, shipments (or shipping order lines) made, or
deliveries made. In the case of the warehouse, the cost drivers can also include number of cartons picked and
loaded, distance traveled, stops made, or customers serviced. Each situation must be carefully reviewed to
determine the appropriate driver.
Some of the specific data needed are:
Sales per market and per customer

Number of orders processed per market and per customer
Allocation of work time at each workstation between forms business
and "other" business

Time required to process transactions at each workstation

Number of delivery trips made by Forms Express, distance traveled
to customer sites, number of stops made per trip, time spent at
customer sites, volume of orders delivered, etc.
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THE GREAT LAKES STATE TURNPIKE AUTHORITY

Philip L. Kintzele, Professor and Chairman
Central Michigan University
Vernon E. Kwiatkowski, Associate Professor
Central Michigan University

James M. Williams Jr., Parmer
Ernst & Young LLP, Cleveland, Ohio

Arthur (Chip) Nunukoni, the chief financial officer for the Great Lakes State Turnpike Authority, is preparing
for the next Board of Directors meeting. In addition to the usual matters such as the results of operations, one
special topic will be brought to the Board for its discussion and decision. This topic is the implementation of
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 20, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting." Chip recognizes
that this issue will be a major decision for the Authority and that the Board members will need a good
understanding of the requirements of GASB No. 20 as well as implications of each alternative. Chip starts
preparing his presentation for the Board on this topic by reviewing the accounting and financial reporting practices
currently being followed. Because the authority is a public entity in the State of Great Lakes, it has been
following the appropriate accounting and financial reporting requirements of both the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) and the GASB.

INFORMATION ON THE GREAT LAKES STATE TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
The Great Lakes State Turnpike Authority was created by an act of the State of Great Lakes legislature. It is
an instrumentality and an administrative agency of the State of Great Lakes to provide for the construction,
operation, regulation and maintenance of a system of toll roads within the State of Great Lakes. It is considered
to be a discretely presented component unit of the State of Great Lakes under GASB Statement No. 14, "The
Financial Reporting Entity." Under the act of the legislature, on April 1, 1968, the Authority assumed all of the
obligations, powers, duties, functions and assets of its predecessor agency, The Great Lakes State Turnpike
Commission. The legislative act authorizes the Authority to issue revenue bonds for financing reconstruction of
and improvements to the toll-road system and to issue refunding bonds for refunding any bonds of the Authority
then outstanding.
The Authority is governed by an 11 member board of directors. The Governor of Great Lakes and the
Secretary of the Great Lakes Department of Transportation serve as ex officio members. The other nine members
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of the board of directors are appointed by the governor with the advice and consent of the Great Lakes Senate
to serve four-year terms. Not more than five directors may be from the same political party. The governor
appoints one of the directors to serve as chairman of the Authority.
The Authority is empowered to enter into contracts to acquire, own, use, lease, operate and dispose of
personal and real property, including rights-of-way, franchises and easements. The Authority has the power to
establish and amend resolutions, by-laws, rules, regulations and toll rates. It can acquire, construct, relocate,
operate, regulate and maintain the toll-road system and has the power to exercise eminent domain and
condemnation. The Authority can contract for services and supplies, including services and supplies for the
various patron services on the toll-road system.
The toll-road system currently has 247 miles of limited access highway and is an integral part of the
expressway system of state of Great Lakes and the U.S. Interstate Highway System. The toll-road system began
operations in 1958. The most recent portion of the system was opened in 1989. Traffic on the toll-road system
has increased every year since the commencement of operations regardless of fuel supply problems, significant
increases in the prices of motor fuels, and economic recessions.
The Authority is responsible for earning all of its revenues. The State is not authorized to contribute to the
Authority. Approximately 98% of the revenues earned by the Authority in recent years have come from tolls.
Other revenues earned have come from concession operations at the seven patron service areas that sell motor
vehicle fuel and provide food and gift shop services to the Authority’s patrons. The patron service operations
are run by investor-owned operators contracted by the Authority. Compensation is paid to the Authority on a
price-per-gallon basis for fuel services and on a percent-of-gross-sales basis for the food and gift shop sales.
Other revenues are earned from overweight tickets, interest, and miscellaneous sources. All of the Authority’s
employees, including the State Police assigned to the Authority, are participants in the State Public Employees’
Retirement System. This is a non-contributory defined benefit plan operated by the State of Great Lakes for state
employees.
Financial statements for the years ended December 31, 1993 and 1992 plus the Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies from the notes to the financial statements are included in Exhibit 1.
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EXHIBIT 1

THE GREAT LAKES STATE TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
1993
Assets
Current unrestricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful
accounts (1993 - $951,000; 1992 - $1,030,000)
Intergovernmental receivable
Accrued interest receivable
Prepaid expenses
Total current unrestricted assets

Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents restricted for debt service
Investments restricted for debt service, at amortized
cost (market value: 1993 — $93,308,000;
1992-$110,486,000)
Accrued interest receivable
Construction funds held by trustee
Risk management restricted cash
Net assets available for pension plan benefits
Total restricted assets

Property, plant, and equipment, net
Deferred bond issuance costs, net of accumulated
amortization (1993 — $10,230,000; 1992 —
$7,920,000)

1992

$ 348,643,734

$ 305,217,224

7,879,826
5,518,199
1,087,523
4,736,555
367,865,837

4,496,703
5,740,115
2,385,460
3,618,582
321,458,084

74,508,969

47,166,148

95,328,522
2,559,998
68,093,310
6,539,483
1,498,762
248,529,044

111,354,445
3,297,171
252,594,366
5,414,865
386,328
420,213,323

1,616,268,465

1,455,615,267

26,555,280
$2,259,218,626

18,122,307
$2,215,408,981
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December 31,

1992

1993

Liabilities and fund equity
Current liabilities:
Payable from unrestricted current assets:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deposits and retainages
Current portion of capital lease obligation
Total current liabilities payable from unrestricted
current assets
Payable from restricted assets:
Current portion of revenue bonds payable
Risk management claims payable
Accrued interest payable
Total current liabilities payable from restricted assets
Long-term liabilities:
Capital lease obligation, less current portion
Revenue bonds payable, less current portion
Total long-term liabilities

Fund equity:
Reserved for revenue bond retirements and interest
Reserved for risk management claims
Reserved for construction funds held by trustee
Reserved for pension plan benefits
Unreserved

See notes financial statements.

$

14,801,175
29,989,873
23,202,100
248.672

$

2,495,484
28,715,979
21,326,525
248.672

68,241,820

52,786,660

21,545,000
5,799,708
27,362,081
54,706,789

17,710,000
3,959,911
28.687.818
50,357,729

746,016
1.007.155.000
1,007,901,016

994,689
983,645,000
984,639,689

123,490,408
739,775
68,093,310
1,498,762
934,546,746
1,128,369,001
$2,259,218,626

115,419,946
1,454,954
252,594,366
386,328
757.769.309
1,127,624,903
$ 2.215.408.981

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-10: The Great Lakes State Turnpike Authority ♦ 5

THE GREAT LAKES STATE TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF REVENUE, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND EQUITY

Year Ended December 31,
1993
1992

Operating revenue
Toll revenue
Concessions
Overweight tickets
Miscellaneous
Total operating revenue
Operating expenses
Engineering and maintenance of roadway and
structures
Services and toll collection
Traffic control, safety patrol, and radio
communications
Administrative
Insurance and employee benefits
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating income

Nonoperating revenue (expenses)
Interest income
Gain on sales of investments
Net gain (loss) on disposal of property
Interest expense and amortization of financing costs
Total nonoperating expenses, net
Income before extraordinary item
Extraordinary item — Loss on extinguishment of
debt
Net income
Fund equity at beginning of year
Fund equity at end of year

See notes to financial statements.

$ 260,096,186
3,933,836
59,914
130.569
264,220,505

$ 254,143,865
4,043,211
212,668
432,640
258,832,384

22,216,246
40,221,772

21,373,515
36,710,651

10,750,613
8,140,101
26,937,631
98,249,284
206,515,647

10,659,301
7,195,592
24,159,790
84,865,093
184,963,942

57,704,858

73,868,442

17,586,120
4,866,885
(9,873,442)
(37.466.204)
(24.886.641)
32,818,217

17,695,402
474,568
4,574,732
(39,477,497)
(16,732,795)
57,135,647

(32,074,119)
744,098
1,127,624,903
$1,128,369,001

57,135,647
1.070.489.256
$1,127,624,903
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THE GREAT LAKES STATE TURNPIKE AUTHORITY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,
1993
1992

Operating activities
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for uncollectible accounts, net of
accounts written off
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Increase in accounts receivable
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses
Decrease (increase) in net assets available for
pension benefits
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase in accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in deposits and retainages
Increase in risk management claims payable
Net cash provided by operating activities

Capital and related financing activities
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Proceeds from sale of equipment
Sale of excess property
Principal paid on revenue bonds
Issuance of revenue bonds
Purchase of escrow securities for advance refunded bonds
Principal paid on capital lease obligations
Interest expense and financing costs paid on revenue
bonds and capital lease
Net cash provided by (used for) capital and related
financing activities
Investing activities
Purchase of investment securities
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investment
securities
Interest on investments
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$ 57,704,858

$ 73,868,442

98,249,284

84,865,093

(79,111)

10,950

(185,818)
(75,652)

(310,807)
979,383

(1,112,434)
975,604
1,475,853
22,220
1,839,797
158,814,601

234,312
(1,445,878)
1,378,238
(1,405)
703,540
160,281,868

(257,625,322)
401,866

(319,337,170)
407,615
4,958,567
(16,680,000)
459,650,000

(17,710,000)
387,345,000
(374,424,154)
(248,673)

(248,672)

(49.674.462)

(45.515.815)

(311,935,745)

83,234,525

(329,808,445)

(172,878,881)

350,536,956
19.785.526
40.514.037
(112,607,107)
610.392.603
$497.785.496

119,140,171
14,435,079
(39,303,631)
204,212,762
406,179,841
$610,392,603
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Year Ended December 31,
1993
1992

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents restricted for debt service
Construction funds held by trustee
Risk management restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See notes to financial statements.

$348,643,734
74,508,969
68,093,310
6,539,483
$497,785,496

$305,217,224
47,166,148
252,594,366
5,414,865
$610,392,603
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies and financial reporting practices of The Great Lakes State Turnpike Authority (the
Authority), a component unit of the State of Great Lakes, conform to generally accepted accounting principles
as promulgated in pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. The following is a
summary of the more significant accounting policies:

Financial Reporting Entity
The Great Lakes State Turnpike Authority was created by an Act of the General Assembly of the State of
Great Lakes for the purpose of constructing, operating, regulating, and maintaining a toll highway or a
system of toll highways and, in connection with the financing of such projects, is authorized to issue revenue
bonds which shall be retired from revenues derived from the operation of the Authority. Under the
provisions of the Act, no bond issue of the Authority, or any interest thereon, is an obligation of the state
of Great Lakes. In addition, the Authority is empowered to issue refunding bonds for the purpose of
refunding any revenue bonds issued under the provisions of the above Act, which are then outstanding.
The enabling legislation empowers the Authority’s Board of Directors with duties and responsibilities
which include, but are not limited to, the ability to approve and modify the Authority’s budget, the ability
to approve or modify toll rates and fees charged for use of the system, the ability to employ and discharge
employees as is necessary in the judgement of the Authority, and the ability to acquire, own, use, hire, lease,
operate, and dispose of personal property, real property, and any interest therein.
The Authority’s employees and the State Police assigned to the Authority participate in the State
Employees’ Retirement System (SERS). The SERS is a statewide plan and is not included in the
accompanying financial statements. The Authority’s financial statements include all activities that are part
of the Authority’s reporting entity because of the significance of their operational or financial relationship
in conformity with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 14, "The Financial Reporting
Entity."

Basis of Accounting
The Authority uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenue is
recognized in the period in which it is earned and expenses are recognized in the period in which they are
incurred.

Reclassifications
Certain 1992 amounts have been reclassified to conform to 1993 presentation.

Investments
Investments are recorded at cost. Adjustments are made to cost for any premium or discount, which is
amortized over the term of the investment.
The 1985 Trust Indenture, as amended, under which the Authority’s revenue bonds were issued,
authorizes the Authority to invest in U.S. Treasury and agency issues, money market funds comprised of
U.S. Treasury and agency issues, repurchase agreements thereon, time deposits, and certificates of deposit.

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-10: The Great Lakes State Turnpike Authority ♦ 9

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment include the historical cost of land, roadway and structures, buildings, and
related improvements and equipment. Expenses for the maintenance and repairs of the roadway and
structures, buildings, and related improvements are charged to operations when incurred. Depreciation and
amortization are computed using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings and infrastructure
Machinery and equipment

20 to 40 years
3 to 10 years

Deferred Bond Issuance Costs

Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the 1993 Series A and B, 1992 Series A, 1987 and 1986
bonds are amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. Portions of the bond
issuance costs amortized during a construction period are capitalized and amortized over the life of the
capitalized asset using the straight-line method.

Risk Management
The Authority has self-insured risk retention programs with stop-loss limits for current employee group health
and workers’ compensation claims and has provided accruals for estimated losses arising from such claims.

Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Authority considers all highly liquid investments, including
restricted assets, with a maturity of three months or less when purchased and all investments held by the State
Treasurer’s office to be cash equivalents, as these investments are available upon demand.
QUESTIONS

1.

Given the characteristics of the Authority’s operations, explain the appropriate fund usage, measurement
focus, and basis of accounting that should be followed.

2.

Discuss the hierarchy of GAAP for state and local governments after the establishment of the GASB in 1984.
Which standards should the Authority follow in preparing its statement of cash flows and for disclosing
pension information? What were some of the problems associated with this hierarchy of GAAP?

3.

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) established a new hierarchy of GAAP in
its Statement of Auditing Standards No. 69, "The Meaning of ’Present Fairly in Conformity with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles’ in the Independent Auditor’s Report," in 1992. How does the new
hierarchy apply to the Authority?

4.

What is the appropriate accounting and financial reporting for the Authority if some of the outstanding bonds
were retired early at a loss? Cite the sources of GAAP for this question.

5.

Why did the GASB give proprietary activities an alternative under GASB No. 20 to adopt or not adopt all
FASB pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989? Why do you support or disagree with allowing two
alternatives?

6.

Which FASB pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989, would have the greatest impact on the
Authority’s financial report? Why?

7.

What are the pros and cons for a proprietary activity adopting all FASB pronouncements issued after
November 30, 1989?
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8.

On what basis should the Authority’s management decide which alternative under GASB No. 20 that it should
recommend to the Board of Directors?

9.

What concerns, that may be different from those of the Authority’s management, does the Authority’s Board
of Directors have to consider in deciding which alternative to adopt under GASB No. 20?

10. Prepare a memorandum that you believe that Authority management should submit to the Board of Directors
that reviews GASB No. 20 requirements and recommends a decision with justification for your
recommendation.
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The Great Lakes State Turnpike Authority
TEACHING NOTES
Philip L. Kintzele, Professor and Chairman
Central Michigan University

Vernon E. Kwiatkowski, Associate Professor
Central Michigan University
James M. Williams Jr., Partner
Ernst & Young LLP, Cleveland, Ohio

The case could be used in the undergraduate program in courses such as advanced accounting or governmental
and nonprofit accounting or in a graduate program. The case addresses several governmental topics and issues.
Individual faculty may choose among the questions they wish to assign. In an undergraduate program where the
students may be less familiar with a case assignment, faculty could assign the questions on a sequential basis.
At the advanced undergraduate level or graduate level, faculty may wish to assign the last five questions. The
assumption is made that the Board of Directors has the right to make the decision.
1.

2,

Given the characteristics of the Authority’s operations, explain the appropriate fund usage, measurement
focus, and basis of accounting that should be followed.

•

Enterprise fund usage is most appropriate because the Authority collects user charges from the general public
and is expected to operate on a self-supporting basis. The state is not authorized to contribute to the Authority.

•

The flow of economic resources measurement focus is appropriate for the Authority because there is an interest
in determining capital maintenance. This results in the need to determine all expenses including depreciation.

•

Enterprise funds use the accrual basis of accounting like business enterprises, revenues recognized when
earned and expenses recognized when incurred.

Discuss the hierarchy of GAAP for state and local governments after the establishment of the GASB in 1984.
Which standards should the Authority follow in preparing its statement of cash flows and for disclosing
pension information? What were some of the problems associated with this hierarchy of GAAP?

•

In many respects this hierarchy is similar to that established by SAS No. 69. The main difference was
FASB pronouncements, which were the second level — were required if the GASB had not pronounced
on a topic. Exhibit 2 presents this hierarchy.
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•

The statement of cash flows should be prepared following GASB No. 9, "Reporting Cash Flows of
Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund
Accounting," not FASB No. 95, "Statement of Cash Flows."

•

Pension information should be disclosed following GASB No. 5, "Disclosure of Pension Information by
Public Employee Retirement Systems and State and Local Governmental Employers," not FASB No. 87,
"Employer’s Accounting for Pensions."
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EXHIBIT 2
*

At May 31, 1990, the hierarchy of GAAP is based on the 1984 Structure Agreement. It provides that the
GASB will establish standards for activities and transactions of state and local governmental entities and the FASB
will establish standards for activities and transactions of all other entities. Under this approach, the hierarchy
of GAAP applicable to state and local governmental entities is as follows:

a.

Pronouncements of the GASB.

b.

Pronouncements of the FASB.

c.

Pronouncements of bodies composed of expert accountants that follow a due process procedure, including
broad distribution of proposed accounting principles for public comment, for the intended purpose of
establishing accounting principles or describing existing practices that are generally accepted.

d.

Practices or pronouncements that are widely recognized as being generally accepted because they
represent prevalent practice in a particular industry or the knowledgeable application to specific
circumstances of pronouncements that are generally accepted.

e.

Other accounting literature.

Category a includes GASB pronouncements and all pronouncements of the NCGA acknowledged as applicable
by the GASB. If the accounting treatment of a transaction or event is not specified by a pronouncement identified
by category a., category b. is presumed to apply. Categories c. and d. are both sources of established accounting
principles. If an established accounting principle from one or more sources in category c. or d. is relevant to
the circumstances, the auditor should be prepared to justify a conclusion that another treatment is generally
accepted. If there is a conflict between sources within those two categories, the auditor should consider which
treatment better presents the substance of the transaction in the circumstances. In the absence of a pronouncement
in any of the initial four categories, the auditor may consider other accounting literature depending on its
relevance in the circumstances. [GASBS No. 1, Appendix B]

Source: GASB Codification as of May 31, 1990
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The original governmental GAAP hierarchy had several problems:

— When the FASB issued a pronouncement in an area with no GASB pronouncement, GASB had to
let the FASB pronouncement become effective for governments, issue a "hurry-up" statement in the
area, or issue a "negative" statement telling governments not to follow the FASB pronouncement.
GASB No. 8, "Applicability of FASB Statement No. 93, ‘Recognition of Depreciation by
Not-for-Profit Organizations,’ to Certain State and Local Governmental Entities," is an example of
a "negative" statement.
— It was not clear when FASB pronouncements applied to governments since FASB may not have
considered such applicability.
— If the GASB had pronounced in only part of an area covered by a FASB pronouncement (e.g.,
investment risk), it was unclear whether the FASB pronouncement did not apply or only partially
applied (plus which part?).
— Some enterprise operations were tempted to apply FASB pronouncements even when they were in
conflict with GASB pronouncements.

3.

4.

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) established a new hierarchy of GAAP in
its Statement of Auditing Standards No. 69, "The Meaning of ‘Present Fairly in Conformity with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles’ in the Independent Auditor’s Report," in 1992. How does the new
hierarchy apply to the Authority?
•

Although the SAS No. 69 hierarchy "moves down" FASB pronouncements to the level of other
accounting literature, it was uncertain about its application to proprietary funds such as the Authority.
Did proprietary activities follow SAS No. 69 or did they follow FASB pronouncements because their
accounting and reporting are supposed to be like business enterprises? Exhibit 3 presents the GAAP
hierarchy summary from SAS No. 69.

•

GASB No. 20, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental
Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting," clarifies that proprietary activities follow
"nonconflicting" FASB pronouncements issued on or before November 30, 1989 and have the option to
follow such FASB statements issued after that date. Exhibit 4 presents the GAAP hierarchy under the
two alternatives of GASB No. 20. Exhibit 5 is a flow chart for the application of GASB No. 20.

What is the appropriate accounting and financial reporting for the Authority if some of the outstanding bonds
were retired early at a loss? Cite the sources of GAAP for this question.
•

Under APB Opinion No. 26, "Early Extinguishment of Debt," the loss on such bonds for proprietary
funds such as the Authority should be reported as a loss of the current period and separately identified.
(D14.103)

•

GASB No. 23, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Refundings of Debt Reported by Proprietary
Activities," changes the reporting for such losses on current and advance refundings for years beginning
after June 15, 1994, with early application to unissued financial statements encouraged and retroactive
application permitted.

— GASB No. 23 defers such losses and amortizes them as interest expense over the shorter of the life
of the old or new debt.

— Deferred amount of loss is deducted from the new debt liability for reporting purposes.
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— GASB No. 23 applies the same disclosures as GASB No. 7, "Advance Refundings Resulting in
Defeasance of Debt," which previously only applied to advance refundings.
5. Why did the GASB give proprietary activities an alternative under GASB No. 20 to adopt or not adopt all
FASB pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989? Why do you support or disagree with allowing two
alternatives?
•

There was confusion over whether proprietary activities were required or not required to follow FASB
pronouncements, so something had to be done. GASB No. 20 was issued as interim guidance until
completion of the business-type activities project.

•

GASB wanted to avoid evaluating new FASB pronouncements because it would divert GASB’s efforts.
GASB wanted to avoid issuing negative statements.

•

GASB No. 20 reinforces requirement for all state and local governments to follow all GASB statements.
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EXHIBIT 3

GAAP HIERARCHY SUMMARY*

Other Accounting Literature†

Established Accounting Principles

Nongovernmental Entities

State and Local Governments

10a. FASB Statements and Interpretations, APB
Opinions, and AICPA Accounting Research
Bulletins

12a. GASB Statements and Interpretations, plus
AICPA and FASB pronouncements if made
applicable to state and local governments by
a GASB Statement or Interpretation

10b. FASB Technical Bulletins, AICPA Industry
Audit and Accounting Guides, and AICPA
Statements of Position

12b. GASB Technical Bulletins, and the following
pronouncements if specifically made
applicable to state and local governments by
the AICPA: AICPA Industry Audit and
Accounting Guides and AICPA Statements of
Position

10c. Consensus positions of the FASB Emerging
Issues Task Force and AICPA Practice
Bulletins

12c. Consensus positions of the GASB Emerging
Issues Task Forced and AICPA Practice
Bulletins if specifically made applicable to
state and local governments by the AICPA

10d. AICPA accounting interpretations, "Qs &
As" published by the FASB staff, as well as
industry practices widely recognized and
prevalent

12d. "Qs & As" published by the GASB staff, as
well as industry practices widely recognized
and prevalent

11.

Other accounting literature, including FASB
Concepts Statements; APB Statements;
AICPA Issues Papers; International Account
ing Standards Committee Statements; GASB
Statements, Interpretations, and Technical
Bulletins; pronouncements of other profes
sional associations or regulatory agencies;
AICPA Technical Practice Aids; and ac
counting textbooks, handbooks, and articles

13.

Other accounting literature, including GASB
Concepts Statements; pronouncements in
categories (a) through (d) of the hierarchy for
nongovernmental entities when not specifical
ly made applicable to state and local govern
ments; APB Statements; FASB Concepts
Statements; AICPA Issues Papers; Interna
tional Accounting Standards Committee
Statements; pronouncements of other profes
sional associations or regulatory agencies;
AICPA Technical Practice Aids’, and ac
counting textbooks, handbooks, and articles

* Paragraph references correspond to the paragraphs of this Statement that describe the categories of the GAAP
hierarchy.
† In the absence of established accounting principles, the auditor may consider the other accounting literature, depending
on its relevance in the circumstances.
‡ As of the date of this Statement, the GASB had not organized such a group.

Source: Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69
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Alternative Application of SAS No. 69 Hierarchy under GASB Statement No. 20
For those not applying paragraph 7

For those applying paragraph 7

Category

a

GASB Statements and Interpretations

AICPA and FASB pronouncements
specifically made applicable by the GASB
FASB Statements and Interpretations, APB
Opinions, and ARBs issued on or before
November 30, 1989, that do not conflict
with or contradict GASB pronouncements

b

c

d

GASB Statements and Interpretations

AICPA pronouncements specifically made
applicable by the GASB
FASB Statements and Interpretations, APB
Opinions, and ARBs that do not conflict
with or contradict GASB pronouncements

GASB TBs

GASB TBs

AICPA Audit Guides and AICPA SOPs
specifically made applicable to SLGUs and
cleared by the GASB

FASB TBs, AICPA Audit Guides and
AICPA SOPs cleared by the FASB that do
not conflict with or contradict GASB
pronouncements, or which are cleared by
the GASB

Consensus positions of GASB EITF
(currently nonexistent)

Consensus positions of GASB EITF
(currently nonexistent)

AICPA Practice Bulletins specifically made
applicable to SLGUs and cleared by the
GASB

Consensus positions of FASB EITF, and
AICPA Practice Bulletins cleared by the
FASB that do not conflict with or contradict
GASB pronouncements, or which are
cleared by the GASB

GASB staff Q&As

GASB staff Q&As

Recognized and prevalent practice

Recognized and prevalent practice

FASB staff Q&As and AICPA accounting
interpretations that do not conflict with or
contradict GASB pronouncements

Other

Other accounting literature (including
FASB pronouncements not in category a)

Other accounting literature

Key to terms not previously defined:

Audit Guides = Industry Audit and Accounting Guides
Q&As = Question-and-answer implementation Guides
SOPs = Statements of Position

EITF = Emerging Issues Task Force
SLGUs = State and local governmental units
TBs = Technical Bulletins
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EXHIBIT 5

Source: GAAFR Review, September 1993
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Reasons for agreement

•

Allows governmental proprietary activities that want to follow FASB pronouncements to report like
businesses in their industry, but allows others to not do so.
It is an interim solution, so there is no need to resolve issues right now.

•

Allows GASB to not take any action on applicability when FASB issues statements.

•

Reasons for disagreement
•

It results in inconsistency, lack of comparability, and confusion in different applications — even within
the same government.

•

The divergence of standards between GASB and FASB for proprietary activities continues.

•

It would have been just as easy to require proprietary activities to follow all FASB pronouncements or
none of them.

6. Which FASB pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989, would have the greatest impact on the
Authority’s financial report? Why?

•

Participants may suggest different FASB pronouncements for a variety of reasons.

•

The following are FASB pronouncements that may have a significant impact on the Authority for the
reasons indicated:

FASB
Statement No.

Title

Reason

106

Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement
Benefits Other Than Pensions

Optional under GASB No. 12,
but would impact liability

107

Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial
Instillments

Large debt outstanding and
interest rates fluctuate

111

Rescission of FASB Statement No. 32 and
Technical Corrections

Could apply in specialized
areas

112

Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement
Benefits

Optional but would impact
liability

* The following FASB pronouncements would have little or no impact on the Authority for the reasons
indicated:
103

Accounting for Income Taxes — Deferral of the
Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 96

Don’t pay income taxes

104

Statement of Cash Flows — Net Reporting of
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments and
Classification of Cash Flows from Hedging
Transactions.

Hedging transactions unlikely
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Title

Reason

108

Accounting for Income Taxes — Deferral of the
Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 96

Don’t pay income taxes

109

Accounting for Income Taxes

Don’t pay income taxes

110

Reporting by Defined Benefit Pension Plans of
Investment Contracts

Not a pension plan

113

Accounting and Reporting for Reinsurance of
Short-Duration and Long-Duration Contracts

Not involved in reinsurance

114

Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a
Loan

Not a significant creditor

115

Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities

Intend to hold debt securities
to maturity

116

Accounting for Contributions Received and
Contributions Made

Do not receive contributions

117

Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit
Organizations

GASB guidance/commercial
reporting instead

39

Offsetting of Amounts Relating to Certain
Contracts

Such contracts are not
applicable

40

Applicability of Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles to Mutual Life Insurance and Other
Enterprises

Not engaged in activities
addressed

FASB
Interpretation

7. What are the pros and cons for a proprietary activity adopting all FASB pronouncements issued after
November 30, 1989?
Pros

•

Reporting would be as close as possible to business reporting.

•

It demonstrates concern over meeting standards and user needs.

•

It would enhance comparability with other stand-alone governmental entities that are following FASB
pronouncements.

•

Board members may be most familiar with looking at business reports.
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Cons

8.

9.

•

Most recent FASB pronouncements are not very applicable to the Authority.

•

The Authority has stable operations without unusual transactions or risks.

•

The other component units of the state are unlikely to adopt all FASB pronouncements.

•

Changes will be required when the GASB issues future statements on business activities.

•

The additional costs to comply may not be justified.

•

There is uncertainty regarding the requirements of future FASB pronouncements.

On what basis should the Authority’s management decide which alternative under GASB No. No. 20 that it
should recommend to the Board of Directors?

•

User needs, including the public, bondholders, and Board members.

•

Board’s policies and goals in financial reporting.

•

Cost effectiveness of following existing FASB pronouncements.

•

Cost effectiveness of meeting new FASB requirements.

•

State’s approach to GASB No. 20 for the reporting entity and other component units.

•

What other toll facilities have done or are likely to do.

•

The possibility that the system of toll roads may become freeway and the Authority be eliminated.

What concerns, that may be different from those of the Authority’s management, does the Authority’s Board
of Directors have to consider in deciding which alternative to adopt under GASB No. 20?

•

Independent evaluation of the Board and other users’ needs.

•

Policy concerns and decisions affecting the public and state.

•

The Board is responsible for overseeing and directing management.

•

Effect of the decision on the state and the relationship with the state.

10. Prepare a memorandum that you believe that Authority management should submit to the Board of Directors
that reviews GASB No. 20 requirements and recommends a decision with justification for your
recommendation. Participants will likely come up with a variety of organization and contents for this
memorandum to the Board of Directors. The following summarizes the important content:
•

GASB No. 20 effective date and requirements.

•

Alternatives under GASB No. 20.
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•

Information gathered and issues considered in preparing the memorandum.

•

The pros and cons of the two alternatives.

•

The recommendation of a specific decision with appropriate support.
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METEOR TECHNOLOGIES, INC.1

Ronald J. Patten, Professor of Accountancy and Dean
DePaul University, Chicago, Illinois

J. Donald Warren, Jr., Director
Coopers & Lybrand L.L.P., New York, New York

W. Gilmore Bennington was a partner in the accounting firm of Waterman & Peabody ("W&P"), a position he
has occupied for seven years. He was the engagement partner responsible for the fiscal 1987, 1988, and 1989
audits and interim reviews of Meteor Technologies, Inc. ("Meteor"), a publicly-held manufacturer of scientific
computers known as array processors.
Peter B. Zalenti had been a senior manager with W&P during this period of time and was to be considered
for partnership in 1990. Zalenti was the highest level non-partner staff person assigned to the Meteor
engagement. As senior manager, his duties included planning and coordinating the audit, supervising the audit
staff, and communicating with Meteor management.
METEOR AND SJA

In January 1989, Meteor entered into a joint research and development agreement with Scott Jordan & Associates
("SJA"), a super computer developer. The agreement called for Meteor to make advance payments to SJA to
fund the development of a new computer SJA called the Jordan II. The repayment terms called for one balloon
payment due in ten years. Under the terms of the agreement, SJA could only use the funds sent by Meteor to
conduct R&D on the Jordan II. SJA also granted Meteor a license to use SJA’s technology immediately and an
option to acquire SJA. The advances were secured by a lien on all of SJA’s assets.
Meteor’s fiscal year ended March 31, 1989, and by that date, Meteor had advanced $877,000 to SJA which
Meteor proposed to record as a notes receivable in its 1989 financial statements. Meteor made its first advance
payment to SJA in November 1988. Meteor continued to make advance payments to SJA until August, 1989,
when Meteor exercised its option to acquire SJA. SJA was dependent solely on Meteor for its working capital
and had no income or other source of cash to repay the advances received from Meteor. In addition, the
agreement restricted SJA’s use of the funds to R&D.
At some point, a member of the W&P staff obtained a draft of the joint research and development agreement,
dated "October__ , 1988." The draft agreement contained materially different terms from those contained in the
final executed agreement, dated January 6, 1989. Specifically, the draft provided for the advances to be repaid

1

This case is adapted from Release No. AAER-455, Federal Securities Law Reports.
Copyright 1994 by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and donated to the public domain for educational use.
Cases developed and distributed under the AICPA Case Development Program are intended for use in higher education for
instructional purposes only, and are not for application in practice. The AICPA neither approves nor endorses this case or any solution
provided herewith or subsequently developed.
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immediately upon termination of the agreement rather than at the end of ten years. W&P did not obtain a copy
of the final version of the agreement prior to the end of the fieldwork (June 15, 1989) and the subsequent issuance
of its audit report. Over the course of the audit, W&P was unaware that the draft contained materially different
terms than the final agreement. During the audit, Meteor supplied W&P with a two-page appraisal which set the
value of SJA at $1.5 million. The appraisal was silent as to the methodology and/or assumptions used by the
appraiser.
Bennington concurred with Meteor’s treatment of the advances to SJA throughout the audit. Near the end
of the audit, the W&P second partner reviewer called to Bennington’s attention that Meteor’s draft financial
statements described the SJA transaction as a "joint research and development agreement." In light of the
description of the SJA transaction, the second partner reviewer questioned the treatment of the advance payments
as an asset and suggested that Bennington refer to the pertinent auditing literature and consider whether or not
the payments should be expensed. Bennington responded by stating that the description of the transaction in the
draft financial statement was in error because it did not reflect the substance of the agreement between Meteor
and SJA.
Bennington informed Meteor’s chief financial officer ("CFO") of his discussion with the W&P second partner
reviewer and indicated to the CFO that the description of the transaction in the draft financial statements was not
consistent with the accounting treatment proposed by management. Following that conversation, Meteor’s CFO
caused all references to the SJA transaction as a research and development agreement to be deleted from the final
version of the financial statements. The final version described the agreement as a working capital agreement.

LATER EVENTS IN THE METEOR-SJA RELATIONSHIP

On August 31, 1989, Meteor exercised its option to acquire SJA. The acquisition was to be accounted for and
reflected in Meteor’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its second quarter of fiscal 1990 (The "Second Quarter
10-Q"), the quarter ended September 30, 1989. Meteor’s CFO asked W&P to review his proposed accounting
treatment for its acquisition.
In connection with evaluating the appropriate accounting treatment for the acquisition, Bennington and Zalenti
learned for the first time that the substance of the SJA research and development agreement was not as set forth
in Meteor’s financial statements.
Bennington and Zalenti consulted with and sought advice from personnel in the Auditing Services Department
of the W&P’s national office. Zalenti provided the national office personnel with documents and information
concerning the background of Meteor’s transactions with SJA and the accounting treatment afforded those
transactions in Meteor’s 1989 financial statements. He also noted that W&P had sent a receivables confirmation
to SJA, but no reply had been received.
As a result of reviewing the SJA transaction, a partner in W&P’s national office asked Bennington whether
the fiscal 1989 treatment of Meteor’s advances to SJA as a loan receivable was proper. The national office
partner concluded that, at minimum, the amounts advanced by Meteor to SJA between January 6, 1989 and
March 31, 1989, amounting to approximately $400,000, should have been expensed in Meteor’s 1989 financial
statements. His reasoning was that Meteor obtained de facto control of SJA on January 6, 1989, the date of the
agreement under which Meteor obtained an option to acquire SJA, and that any money advanced after that date
for SJA’s operating expenses should be absorbed by Meteor. The national office partner then asked Bennington
what the effect would have been on Meteor’s 1989 financial statements had the $400,000 been included in W&P’s
"adjustments schedule" as an expense during the 1989 audit. The "adjustments schedule" is a term used by W&P
for its documentation of proposed financial statement adjustments arising out of the audit which are not recorded
by the client nor reflected in its financial statements. The proposed adjustments are accumulated on an
"adjustments schedule" and, at the end of the audit, it is determined whether such adjustments, in the aggregate,
would have a material impact on the financial statements. The national office partner and Bennington also
discussed whether a restatement of Meteor’s 1989 financial statements might be necessary. Bennington told the
national office partner that a portion of Meteor’s advance payments to SJA had been recorded on the adjustments
schedule during the 1989 audit and that even if the additional $400,000 had been recorded, the impact on
Meteor’s reported 1989 earnings would not be material.
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Some time after his conversations with the national office partner, Bennington sent the fiscal 1989 workpapers
to a W&P audit manager recently assigned to the Meteor account other than Zalenti. Bennington instructed the
manager to change the adjustments schedule to reflect the accounting treatment for the SJA advance payments
discussed by the national office and Bennington, by adding an entry to reflect a portion of the SJA advance
payments as an expense and deleting an entry made during the 1989 audit for bad debt expense. The W&P
manager ignored Bennington’s instructions.

INVENTORY
Meteor’s year-end inventory for fiscal 1989 included approximately 20 model ST-100 array processors. The ST100 had been developed and first marketed in 1982. Due to the highly competitive nature and rapid technological
advances characteristic of the scientific computer business, when Meteor first introduced the ST-100 in 1982, it
was estimated that the processor would have a market lifespan of seven years. Indeed, seven years later, at the
end of Meteor’s 1989 fiscal year, the ST-100 was, for several reasons, essentially obsolete. During fiscal year
1989, Meteor sold a total of one ST-100 processor and at year-end had no orders for new sales.
Meteor had established a valuation reserve for ST-100 obsolescence in prior years. In the third quarter of
fiscal year 1989, Meteor had recorded a provision that increased its reserve for obsolete ST-100 inventory by
$3.5 million, leaving a net carrying value of $2 million at March 31, 1989.
W&P raised concerns regarding the value of the ST-100 inventory during its audit. The audit staff, including
Zalenti, had concluded that Meteor was exposed to a loss of at least $1.5 million with regard to the remaining
$2 million ST-100 inventory. However, Meteor’s CFO maintained that Meteor would continue to sell ST-100s
and that a portion of the ST-100 inventory had value due to Meteor’s need to provide spare parts for previously
sold ST-100s. Near the end of the audit, Meteor’s CFO gave Bennington a spare part requirement list which
indicated that Meteor would need $1 million of ST-100 spare parts.
Bennington accepted the $1 million spare part requirement at face value based on the CFO’s statement. With
regard to the remaining $1 million of ST-100 inventory, Bennington agreed to a reserve increase of $350,000.
The working papers provide neither documentation nor rationale in support of this adjustment.
FIXED ASSETS

During the 1989 audit, the W&P audit staff tried to verify the existence and valuation of $435,000 of assets
described on Meteor’s books as assets in process. The assets in process account was used by Meteor to group
together the costs of functionally related equipment acquired by Meteor. As fixed assets were acquired, the costs
of related equipment were held in the assets in process account until all of the related assets were acquired. It
was Meteor’s practice to transfer the accumulated cost of the related equipment to a fixed asset account and begin
recording depreciation on the equipment only when the equipment was placed in service.
During the audit, W&P staff members were told by Meteor management that the equipment in question had
been placed in service in 1985 and that the equipment, under Meteor’s depreciation guidelines, had a five-year
useful life and that no depreciation had been recorded during the five years since the acquisition of the equipment.
The working papers from prior audits reflected the existence and cost of the asset. During the 1989 audit, Meteor
was unable to describe the equipment in detail and could not provide W&P with invoices supporting the original
purchase and cost of the equipment. Meteor management was unable to physically locate the equipment in
question . The W&P staff concluded, and placed documentation in the working papers, that the equipment in
question could not be physically located, was not identifiable from Meteor’s books and records, and should have
been fully depreciated by now if it ever existed.
The audit staff proposed an audit adjustment to write-off the equipment in question as an expense in the
amount of $435,000. Zalenti agreed with the audit staff’s conclusion.
Meteor’s CFO strongly disagreed with this conclusion and attacked the competence of the W&P staff.
Subsequently, he asked that Zalenti and other members of the audit staff be removed from the audit. That request
was refused. The CFO insisted that the equipment could not be separately identified because it had been
incorporated into existing facilities and that the equipment only went into service in 1987, when the company

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-11: Meteor Technologies, Inc. ♦ 4

moved to its Maryland location. Meteor’s CFO proposed to leave the equipment on Meteor’s books and to record
$100,000 of depreciation expense in fiscal 1989 and to depreciate the remaining asset balance of $335,000 over
the next four years. Bennington accepted the CFO’s proposal.

RESERVE FOR BAD DEBTS
At the end of fiscal year 1989, Meteor’s accounts receivable included two receivables totaling $1,062,000, which
had been unpaid for almost five years. Both of these receivables, one for $798,000 and the other for $264,000,
arose from sales of ST-100 array processors. The receivables were unpaid due to disputes which arose at the
time of sale concerning their terms. Both receivables were in litigation.
In prior years, W&P had considered the value to Meteor of foreclosing on the ST-100s in reviewing the
adequacy of Meteor’s reserve for bad debts. Just prior to leaving the audit, Zalenti had concluded, based on the
audit evidence available at that time, that Meteor’s reserve for bad debts should be increased by $400,000. The
$400,000 represented the approximate difference between the two receivables of $1,062,000 and Meteor’s total
reserve for bad debts of $673,000 at March 31, 1989.
Bennington agreed with Zalenti that, without evidence of collectibility, a substantial increase was required
in the reserve for bad debts. Management disagreed on the basis of opinions of counsel regarding the
collectibility of the debts, but declined to provide the opinions to Bennington. Bennington informed management
that he would require the addition to the reserve unless he was given copies of the opinions. Ultimately,
management relented and showed Bennington copies of the opinions.
Bennington accepted a proposal by Meteor’s CFO that the reserve for bad debts of $673,000 needed to be
increased by $65,000. The attorney’s opinions were the only additional information provided to Bennington with
regard to the receivables. The attorney’s opinions provided information as to the possible collectibility of the two
receivables in question. One of the receivables was owed by a company in poor financial condition.

DEBT
At the end of fiscal year 1989, Meteor was in violation of four financial and three other covenants contained in
a loan agreement with its principal bank. Under the terms of the loan agreement, any one of the covenant
violations constituted a default which made the loans immediately due and payable. Meteor classified the $5.8
million defaulted loan balance on its 1989 financial statements as a long-term liability.
Bennington and Zalenti became aware of the debt violations sometime in May, 1989 and informed Meteor’s
CFO of the need for Meteor to obtain a waiver of the violations from its bank. When the waiver was not
received in a timely manner, Bennington pressed Meteor’s CFO for it.
Although Meteor had prepared its financial statements showing the bank debt as a long-term obligation,
Bennington would not release the audit report until Meteor obtained a bank waiver. On June 29, 1989, Meteor
faxed a copy of the bank waiver to W&P. The waiver covered a five-month period, but also stated that it was
not the bank’s intention to accelerate the loans by virtue of defaults then existing at the 1989 fiscal year-end.
After reviewing the waiver, the audit senior told Bennington that, in his opinion, the waiver was not adequate
to classify the loans as a long-term liability. Bennington disagreed, and concluded that the bank’s representation
that it did not intend to accelerate the loans permitted Meteor to maintain its classification of the loans as long
term debt. On June 29, 1989, Bennington signed and released the W&P audit report dated June 15, 1989, and
sent it to Meteor for inclusion in the 1989 10-K. Meteor filed its 1989 10-K on June 29, 1989.

BEHAVIOR BETWEEN PARTNER AND MANAGER
About one week prior to the conclusion of the Meteor audit, Zalenti left the audit for an out-of-town assignment.
In Zalenti’s absence, Bennington had discussions with Meteor’s management about the issues referred to above.
After one of those discussions, Bennington had concluded, erroneously, that W&P had been removed as Meteor’s
independent accountant because he would not agree to certain accounting treatments proposed by Meteor’s top
management. Subsequently, Meteor’s CFO agreed to make certain adjustments with respect to these issues as
noted above. While Meteor’s draft financial statements initially showed a small profit for the fourth quarter, as
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a result of Meteor’s acquiescence in the adjustments requested by Bennington, Meteor reported a small loss for
the fourth quarter.
Zalenti returned from his out-of-town assignment on July 10. During the week of his return, Bennington told
Zalenti how the audit issues had been resolved. More than once, Zalenti expressed his disagreement with certain
of the adjustments, particularly with respect to Meteor’s inventory, past due receivables, unidentifiable fixed
assets, and classification of notes payable. Despite Zalenti’s objections, Bennington told him to sign-off on the
audit summary and review documents and to send the required documents to the WP second partner reviewer.
According to W&P review policies, it was essential that Zalenti sign-off on the audit summary and review
documents because his sign-off was required in order for the second partner reviewer to complete his review.
Zalenti was told by Bennington that the second partner reviewer had concurred in the judgements of the
engagement partner prior to the issuance of the financial statements. Zalenti was aware of W&P procedures
which provided that an accountant participating in an audit could disassociate himself from the audit conclusions
by including a memorandum concerning his or her disagreement with the audit conclusions in the audit file.
Zalenti resisted Bennington’s instructions to sign-off, but eventually did so after several discussions with
Bennington. Although he believed the workpapers contained materially incorrect conclusions, Zalenti signed-off
on the workpapers. At that time, Zalenti believed it would be futile to disassociate himself from the audit since
the audit report had been publicly released before his sign-off and his prior conversations with Bennington.
Zalenti chose not to disassociate himself from the audit conclusions. Zalenti signed-off on the audit work papers
during the week of July 10, 1989 and dated his sign-offs June 14 and June 15. W&P’s policy required the
completion of the audit manager’s review as part of the completion of the audit field work prior to the release
of the audit report.

1990 EVENTS
On January 9, 1990, W&P’s national office received an anonymous memo ("the memo") on W&P letterhead
alleging an audit failure with respect to the firm’s audit of Meteor’s 1989 financial statements. An initial inquiry
conducted by W&P’s national office concluded that there was no substantiation for the allegations of irregularities
made in the memo. The inquiry did not involve the questioning of Zalenti or the audit senior. Subsequently,
but not as part of the initial inquiry, the group managing partner of W&P’s Baltimore, Maryland office talked
to Zalenti about the audit. As a result of what the group managing partner learned from Zalenti and other persons
on the W&P staff, W&P then investigated and concluded that the financial statements prepared by Meteor’s
management and audited by W&P did not fairly present Meteor’s 1989 fiscal year-end financial results. W&P
then informed Meteor, on March 9, 1990, that its report on Meteor’s 1989 financial statements should no longer
be relied upon. Meteor initially disagreed with W&P’s conclusion that Meteor’s financial statements were
inaccurate, but eventually acquiesced in W&P’s recommendation. On April 5, 1990, Meteor amended its annual
report on form 10-K to restate its 1989 financial statements by, among other things, (1) restating its previously
reported loss of $4.4 million to a loss of $7.4 million, and (2) reclassifying from long-term debt to current notes
payable an amount of $5.8 million. The amended 10-K included an audit report from W&P on the reported
financial statements. None of the 1989 quarterly reports reviewed by W&P were restated. On April 6, 1990,
Meteor dismissed W&P as its independent auditor.
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Meteor Technologies, Inc.1
TEACHING NOTES

Ronald J. Patten, Professor of Accountancy and Dean
DePaul University, Chicago, Illinois

J. Donald Warren, Jr., Director
Coopers & Lybrand L.L.P., New York, New York

This case is appropriate for use in a first or second auditing course and the second Intermediate Accounting
course. In all instances, the student must have a grounding in financial accounting theory as taught through the
second Intermediate course. If used in the second Intermediate course, the case can serve as a means of
examining the application of GAAP to specific situations involving the treatment of R&D expenditures,
receivables, inventory, fixed assets, and debt. The auditing facets of the case should be ignored in these
circumstances and full attention should be devoted to the confrontations between W&P personnel and the CFO
of Meteor. The confrontations provide a real life twist to the application of GAAP and highlight the judgement
calls which must be made by accountants.
If the case is used in auditing courses, the same comments relating to application of financial accounting
theory are applicable. Additionally, the use of GAAS is an issue and can be given considerable emphasis. The
case can be used toward the end of the first auditing course or in the second course with the important variable
being the timing of exposure to GAAS on the part of the students. The case lends itself to one or more class
periods depending upon the emphasis on particular aspects which the instructor wishes to impart.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This is a dynamic case which encapsulates many facets. It involves a firm in the technology industry, an industry
which is very much a substantial part of the contemporary business environment. The case has a host of financial
accounting theory issues including the treatment of expenditures for research and development, advances to other
companies, accounting for obsolete inventory and fixed assets, treatment of receivables, and the classification of
debt. In each instance, the issues are complex and in addition to involving GAAP, have a human behavior aspect
in the form of confrontation between individuals. This real world facet makes the working of the case much more
complex since it involves more than merely quoting the text or the authoritative literature.
The working of an audit team and the application of GAAS are contained in Meteor too. This aspect imparts
an element of concreteness to the use of auditing procedures and the impact of selected accounting procedures
on the financial statements. Equally important is the human behavioral element which manifests itself in the

1

This case is adapted from Release No. AAER-455, Federal Securities Law Reports.
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interactions between auditor and client and among the various levels of audit personnel as well. The richness
of the case is constrained only by the imagination of the course instructor. It can be as flavorful or bland as the
instructor desires.
The case strives to serve as a vehicle through which analytical thinking is stimulated, behavioral aspects are
identified and possibly elaborated, financial accounting principles are learned and auditing procedures are
enhanced.
SUGGESTED SOLUTION

The suggested solution is grouped according to dimensions of the case which have particular applicability to
auditing and those which have particular applicability to financial accounting principles. Of course, there is
overlap and the precise cataloguing of each grouping is of less importance than calling to the instructor’s attention
possible areas of emphasis.

Financial Accounting Principles
•

The accounting treatment of research and development expenditures by Meteor was incorrect since the
advances were accounted for as an asset rather than expense; FAS No. 2, paragraph 11d: "The costs of
services performed by others in connection with the research and development activities of an enterprise,
including research and development conducted by others on behalf of the enterprise, shall be included in
research and development costs.";
and paragraph 12: "All research and development costs encompassed by
this statement shall be charged to expense when incurred."
FAS No. 68, paragraph 12: "If repayment to the enterprise of any loan or advance by the enterprise
to the other parties depends solely on the results of the research and development having future economic
benefit, the loan or advance shall be accounted for as costs incurred by the enterprise. The costs shall be
charged to research and development expense unless the loan or advance to the other parties can be identified
as relating to some other activity, for example, marketing or advertising, in which case the costs shall be
accounted for according to their nature."

•

Obsolete inventory was accounted for improperly and should have been written down or an adequate reserve
or allowance should have been provided;

•

The unidentifiable fixed assets should have been written off and full depreciation should have been
recognized, instead of permitting Meteor to spread the depreciation expense of the assets over future years
and to continue to reflect the assets in its financial statements;

•

Accounts receivable which were at least four years past due should have had an adequate allowance or
reserve. The classification of the unpaid accounts receivables (along with the reserve) which had been on
the books for over four years should have been evaluated as to whether they should be reclassified to a long
term asset. Since Zalenti had concluded that Meteor’s reserve for bad debts should have been increased by
$400,000, the value of the ST-100’s was effectively reduced to zero. Since the ST-100’s were obsolete,
foreclosure would have been of no value to Meteor anyway. The classification of the accounts receivables
(along with their reserve) which were outstanding for at least four years and in dispute should have been
evaluated to determine if these receivables should be reclassified as non-current assets in the balance sheet;

•

The $5.8 million in notes payable should have been classified as a current liability rather than a long-term
liability; FAS No. 78 requires that unless the bank provided a written waiver of Meteor’s covenant violations
for a period of at least one year, the $5.8 million should have been reclassified as a current liability. In fact,
the bank did not waive its rights to accelerate the loans for a period of 12 months;
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•

Certain of the adjustments agreed upon between the CFO of Meteor and Bennington were improper
compromises. This places the entire area of adjustments and valuation in the context of "they say and we
say" instead of the "book says." Real life inevitably consists of the former, an important point to note;

•

The generally accepted accounting principle of materiality is involved especially where Bennington tells the
national office partner that a portion of Meteor’s advances to SJA had been reflected in the adjustments
schedule and even if another $400,000 had been reflected, the impact on Meteor’s reported 1989 earnings
would not be material. Bennington’s statement was misleading. At the conclusion of the 1989 audit, the
adjustments schedule in the working papers did not reflect expending any portion of the SJA advances. If
the $400,000 amount had been considered in the adjustments schedule, the aggregate impact of W&P’s
proposed audit adjustments would have been to increase Meteor’s fiscal 1989 pre-tax loss by approximately
17%, a material amount. The adjustments schedule contained a number of entries, the largest of which
related to bad debt expense.
During the audit, Bennington was not convinced that the proposed entry for the bad debt expense
discussed in the case was "firm" and, consequently, did not include it in his consideration of the materiality
of the proposed adjustments. Since that judgement was wrong, the $400,000 involved here exacerbates the
situation.

Auditing Standards
•

With regard to the advances from Meteor to SJA, W&P did not obtain a copy of the final version of the
agreement between Meteor and SJA before W&P issued its audit report. As it turned out, the draft and final
agreements contained materially different terms. Bennington lacked an adequate basis to offer an opinion
on the substance of the SJA agreement since neither he nor his audit staff had seen the final version.
Bennington took no steps to satisfy himself as to the accuracy of the disclosures nor did he demand a copy
of or review the final version of the SJA agreement prior to releasing W&P’s audit report. Bennington failed
to obtain sufficient competent evidential matter, as required by GAAS, with respect to the SJA transaction
in order to support Meteor’s assertion that the SJA transaction was a loan transaction and not an R&D
arrangement. SAS No. 1 sets forth the basic standard of field work as "sufficient competent evidential matter
is to be obtained through inspection, observation, inquiries, and confirmations to afford a reasonable basis
for an opinion regarding the financial statements under examination." Bennington should have obtained and
reviewed the final, executed SJA agreement. A receivables confirmation had been requested, but no reply
had been received. A confirmation, if received, would not have been sufficient. W&P should have verified
the terms of the agreement. Bennington’s failure to ensure that the actual terms and substance of the SJA
agreement were known to W&P, represents a failure to obtain sufficient competent evidential matter and to
exercise due professional care as required by GAAS;

•

Pay particular attention to the notes to the financial statements prepared by Meteor and reviewed by W&P
which represent that "in the event the agreement is terminated, the loans and interest accrued thereon are
immediately due and payable to [Meteor]." This statement was inaccurate since the terms of repayment in
the agreement’s final version were ten years;

•

During the audit, Meteor supplied W&P with an appraisal which valued SJA at $1.5 million. Since the
appraisal did not set forth the methodology or assumptions used by the appraiser, and the auditors did not
separately review the methodology and assumptions, the appraisal was not competent evidential matter.
Moreover, W&P did not consider the qualifications of the appraisal in accordance with SAS No. 1, "Using
the Work of a Specialist";

•

Note the discussion on materiality under the section of this teaching note entitled Financial Accounting
Principles;

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-11: Meteor Technologies, Inc. ♦ 9

•

Bennington accepted at face value the assertion by the Meteor CFO that $1 million ST-100 spare parts were
required and did not perform any procedures nor make additional inquiries to support the asserted value;

•

Bennington provided no documentation or rationale for the increase of $350,000 in the reserve for the $1
million obsolete ST-100 inventory after the discussion with Meteor management about the appropriate size
for the reserve. Consequently, Meteor’s inventory and pre-tax income for fiscal 1989 were overstated by
at least $650,000. Bennington did not obtain sufficient competent evidential matter and did not exercise due
professional care as required by GAAS;

•

See the discussion about the violation of GAAP in the accounting for unidentifiable fixed assets in the section
of this teaching note entitled Financial Accounting Principles. In addition to violating GAAP in the
accounting principles used by Meteor, Bennington ignored the audit evidence and the documented conclusions
of Zalenti and the W&P staff when he accepted the CFO’s proposal to keep the assets on the books and to
begin depreciation in fiscal 1989 at the rate of $100,000 per year. Bennington did not exercise due
professional care in this instance, a situation which was magnified in the absence of adequate competent
evidential matter supporting the very existence of the fixed assets in question;

•

Bennington had an inadequate basis for accepting the CFO’s proposal to increase the bad debt reserve by only
$65,000. There was insufficient audit evidence to indicate that the remaining $335,000 of the receivables
in question were collectible. The opinions of legal counsel are not dispositive evidence of collectibility. It
was unlikely that Meteor would collect the two receivables in the normal course of business. The receivables
had been uncollected for almost five years and had been referred to attorneys for litigation . Since one of
the receivables was owed by a company in poor financial condition, the collection of that receivable was even
more in question. When Bennington agreed to the $65,000 adjustment, he violated GAAS which requires
the existence of sufficient, competent evidential matter to substantiate assertions by management and did not
exercise due professional care;

•

The decision by Bennington to continue the classification of the loans as long-term debt lacked sufficient
competent evidence to support it and was a failure to exercise due professional care as required by GAAS;

•

Asa result of the several financial accounting principles discussed herein, Bennington did not assure that the
financial statements on which W&P expressed an unqualified opinion were prepared in accordance with
GAAP;

•

Bennington told Zalenti to sign-off on the audit despite Zalenti’s stated disagreement with the conclusions
reached with respect to several audit issues;

•

Bennington instructed a W&P manager to make inappropriate alterations to the working papers;

•

Bennington did not offer Zalenti the option of disassociating himself from the audit. An auditor has an
obligation to make certain that the personnel he supervises have the option of disassociating themselves from
the conclusions reached by the supervising auditor. SAS No. 22 states "The auditor with final responsibility
for the examination and assistants should be aware of the procedures to be followed when differences of
opinion concerning accounting and auditing issues exist among firm personnel involved in the examination.
Such procedures should enable an assistant to document his disagreement with the conclusions reached if,
after appropriate consultation, he believes it necessary to disassociate himself from the resolution of the
matter. In this situation, the basis for the final resolution should also be documented.";

•

Zalenti signed off on the audit thus indicating his approval of the financial statements which he knew were
not prepared in accordance with GAAP. He did so even though he was aware of the firm’s policy which
allowed him to disassociate himself from the audit. He also knew his sign-off was required under firm policy
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in order for the second partner reviewer to complete his review. Bennington had told Zalenti that the second
partner reviewer had concurred with Bennington’s resolution of the issues. Nonetheless, Zalenti could have
discussed his concerns directly with the second partner reviewer but did not;

•

By signing off on the audit which contained conclusions with which he did not agree, Zalenti abdicated his
role as an independent auditor by not documenting in the working papers, or otherwise calling to the attention
of another W&P partner, his concerns and disagreements with the primary audit partner about the sufficiency
of audit evidence and the audit conclusions. Zalenti’s sign-off on the audit was a contributing factor to the
delay in correcting Meteor’s 1989 financial statements;

•

There are several behavioral issues here. Can a sense of futility after one’s proposed approaches to certain
accounting issues are repeatedly rejected excuse a person’s failure to comply with GAAS? Is client or
partner pressure a sufficient excuse? Is the sensitivity that one’s response to partner pressures may adversely
affect one’s opportunity for advancement an adequate explanation? In fulfilling his responsibilities, an audit
manager must ensure that an audit report is issued only when the audit was, in fact, conducted in accordance
with GAAS.

SOME TEACHING APPROACHES

The financial accounting principles issues, which are contained in this case, have been presented in the nature
of self-contained topical modules. Each module can be used independently to cover financial topics which are
important to an instructor. In an auditing course, the entire case may be used in an effort to ascertain the
student’s ability to apply auditing concepts to a real situation. The section entitled 1990 Events can be distributed
independently to provide a "here is what happened" facet after the case has been discussed by the class.

ASSIGNMENT QUESTIONS
We have resisted including suggested questions in an effort to present as life-like a situation as is possible. Life’s
experiences do not come in a series of questions. Rather, an important part of learning consists of identifying
the appropriate questions. Thus, we believe that students should read the case, either modular or in total as
discussed in the previous section, and identify the questions and work to provide answers to them. The richness
of this real case provides a multiplicity of options as far as questions are concerned.
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BACKGROUND READINGS
•

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) No. 2, Accounting for Research and Development Costs
(October, 1974).

•

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 68, Research and Development Arrangements (October,
1982).

•

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 78, Classification of Obligations that are Callable by the
Creditor (December, 1983).

•

Statement of Auditing Standards No. 1, Codification of Auditing Standards and Procedures (November,
1974).

•

Statement of Auditing Standards No. 22, Planning and Supervision (March, 1978).
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MIDDLETOWN AMERICAN CAFE (MAC):
THE PLANNING AND CONTROL PROCESS

David M. Buehlmann, Professor
University of Nebraska at Omaha, Omaha, Nebraska

Leonard M. Sommer, Partner
Hancock & Dana PC, Omaha, Nebraska

The owners of Middletown American Cafe (MAC) felt a sense of disappointment after reviewing last year’s
financial statements. While MAC had been doing well, based on steadily increasing sales, the financial statements
indicated that MAC was only marginally profitable. The owners decided that they needed to discuss this problem
with the General Manager and formulate a plan for next year that would translate increased sales into more
profitable financial performance.
Before making the CASE ASSIGNMENTS involving the development of a plan for MAC, the INTRODUC
TION section will present three topics as background material. First, a general description of the entire planning
and control process as practiced by many businesses. Next, a discussion of the demographics and operating
characteristics of the restaurant industry. And, lastly, a brief description of MAC’s operations.

INTRODUCTION
The Planning and Control Process

In today’s business environment, simply reviewing last year’s financial results is not enough. To be successful,
management must be committed to developing a detailed plan of action for next period, implementing that plan,
and monitoring actual performance to see that the plan is achieved.
Thus, to maximize the performance of a business, the owners and managers must institute a planning and
control process. In essence, the planning and control process will become the road map or "how to" for the
future success of the business. Such a process needs the full support of owners and management and should
include the following six components. The entire planning and control process in diagramed in Exhibit 1.

1. Mission Statement: Sets the tone for the entire planning and control process. It will answer the question:
"What do you want to be known for?" The mission statement is typically comprised of a few sentences that
address how the key factors of product, service, customers, employees and owners can be uniquely organized
to lead the establishment to success. The following is a sample mission statement for a fast-food restaurant:

Copyright 1994 by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and donated to the public domain for educational use.
Cases developed and distributed under the AICPA Case Development Program are intended for use in higher education for instructional
purposes only, and are not for application in practice. The AICPA neither approves nor endorses this case or any solution provided
herewith or subsequently developed.
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"The Fast Food Company is committed to serving the needs of its customers by providing
quality food in the shortest turnaround possible. Fast Food Company seeks to develop and
maintain a highly trained staff and a track record of profitable operations."

As you can see, Fast Food Company wants to be known for its quick turnaround, highly trained staff and
profitable operations.
2.

Internal Analysis: Identifies the most significant strengths and weaknesses of the restaurant. While this step
involves assessing some general issues about our restaurant (e.g., Does our menu meet the needs of the
customers we are targeting?), it also involves extensive, detailed analysis of our financial results (e.g., What
percent of sales is our food cost?). Typically, the internal analysis involves the issues over which the
restaurant can exert some control.

3.

External Analysis: Identifies external threats and opportunities that bear on the restaurant. Here too we have
to assess general issues (e.g., How does our service and food quality compare to similarly themed
restaurants in our area?) as well as financial issues (e.g., How does our percentage of food cost compare to
similar restaurants?). Many of the issues identified in the external analysis will be beyond the control of the
restaurant. However, the restaurant may choose to change its direction to overcome external issues that may
be a threat to the business.

4.

Goals: Represent the specific aims of the restaurant stated in measurable and time specific terms. For
example, "increasing sales" is not a goal by this definition. However, "increasing monthly sales by 5% in
six months" is a goal. Properly constructed goals are based on the precept that to manage an organization
you must be able to measure its performance.

5. Action Plan: Includes the specific steps or activities necessary to achieve the goals of the restaurant. The
action plan should answer the who, what and when of these activities. Each goal will have one or more
specific actions that the planning group believes will be sufficient to assure its achievement. The business
may, for example, plan to increase advertising by a specific amount and run a special promotion on slow
nights in order to meet a goal of increasing sales by 5% in six months. It is important to recognize that
successful action plans are realistic and require two key factors: a commitment from all members of the
organization and the availability of the necessary resources.
6.

Monitoring: System of tracking actual performance to keep management informed of the progress toward
the plan goals. Management must continually monitor business activity and be ready to change the action
plan when actual performance is not meeting the plan goals. In some extreme cases, management may need
to modify the goals themselves. This tracking system is referred to as the control process. Critical to this
step is the development of the appropriate performance reports. These reports should be designed to meet
the needs of the users. What may be an appropriate performance report for the owners may not be
appropriate for the dining room manager. For example, an appropriate performance report for the owners
may be an income statement and for the dining room manager may be a series of ratios (e.g., labor cost
percent, sales per labor hour).

The Restaurant Industry
Typically, the word "restaurant" brings to mind an establishment where customers are greeted by a host or
hostess and escorted to their table where they are served by a member of the wait staff and order from a menu.
However, the word "restaurant" actually identifies an industry that is extremely large and varied. It includes
eating establishments that range from street vendors selling pretzels to five-star dinner houses that require formal
attire. In 1993 there were approximately 731,000 locations offering food service in the United States with sales
of $267 billion and estimated employment of 9 million.
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There are many distinguishing factors identifying a restaurant with the type of service offered being the most
significant. Type of service is divided into three1 broad categories: full-menu tableservice, limited-menu
tableservice, and limited-menu no tableservice. Full-menu tableservice establishments typically offer a wide
variety of menu choices, usually serve liquor and employ a full compliment of service personnel. On the other
hand, limited-menu no tableservice establishments restrict their menu offerings to a fairly narrow selection and
expect customers to place their own orders, pick up their food, and clear their table.
Table 1 reports selected characteristics of the industry from the National Restaurant Association’s Restaurant

Industry Operations Report 1993:12
Table 1
Selected Statistics by Type of Service

Full-Menu
Tableservice

Limited-Menu
Tableservice

Sales Volume:
Under $500,000
$500,000 to $999,999
$1,000,000 to $1,999,999
$2,000,000 and Over

20.6%
27.8
31.9
19.7

43.0%
26.7
30.3
—

46.6%
53.4
—
—

Years in Business:
Under 5 years
5-10 years
Over 10 years

21.2%
20.9
57.9

23.9%
23.9
52.2

29.1%
20.4
50.5

Affiliation:
Single unit — Independent
Multi-unit — Company Operated
Multi-unit — Franchise Operated

74.2%
20.6
5.1

58.1%
26.3
15.1

36.7%
20.4
42.7

Menu theme:
Steak/seafood
American
Sandwiches/hamburgers
Ethnic

17.9%
55.6
3.1
14.0

19.6%
33.9
29.6
12.1

0.9%
19.7
57.5
16.7

Limited-Menu
No Tableservice

Other factors that distinguish restaurant type include location, image, and menu theme. These factors
typically are considered when a potential customer is deciding "where to eat" his/her next meal out.
Location is most important to customers who are in a hurry — they want to find the closest restaurant — and
other factors are less important. Alternatively, customers whose priority is a particular type of food or
atmosphere would be willing to pass several other restaurants to locate one that meets their needs.

1 A fourth category, cafeterias, is also reported but since cafeterias have some very different operating character
istics, they have been excluded.

2 Reprinted with the permission of the National Restaurant Association. Note that these statistics do not represent
a random sample of all restaurants. Instead, they represent the 2,754 members of the National Restaurant
Association who chose to complete the survey.

AICPA Case Development Program

Case No. 94-12: Middletown American Cafe (MAC): The Planning and Control Process ♦ 4

The image the restaurant is attempting to convey is affected by the exterior and interior appearance, level
of service, menu offerings and prices. The restaurant image is important to solicit the type of patron that is
desired. If the restaurant wishes to attract upscale patrons, a more elegant decor is needed than if it is trying to
attract families.
Menu theme is also a distinguishing factor in a restaurant. Menu theme includes pricing and the type and
variety of offerings. In addition, the manner in which a menu is structured and its graphics will affect the theme
being portrayed. Family restaurants, for example, may focus their menu theme on moderate prices and
American food, and freely use graphics of selected menu offerings.
Generally, the restaurant industry is considered to be a member of the vast "service" industry. However,
a closer look will reveal that a restaurant is actually comprised of two critical operational elements; (1) the kitchen
area which is similar to a "manufacturing" operation in that it produces a product — a meal; (2) the dining or
customer service area which is the "service" operation. This combination of two operations requires the expertise
of highly skilled managers in order to meet the service needs of their customers and also produce a quality
product in a cost-effective manner.
As a rule of thumb, successful restaurants expect food, beverage and payroll costs to approximate 63-68%
of total sales. This group of costs, termed Prime Costs, is a key focus for restaurants because it is significant
in amount as well as difficult to control. One important means of controlling food and beverage costs is to
develop recipes that document standard portions for all menu items, thereby preventing over-portioning. Payroll
costs are primarily controlled by careful scheduling of employees to match (but not exceed) the service needs of
the customers.
Many restaurants fail or do not achieve their full potential. A major cause of this is that the industry is
highly competitive and restaurants that do not maintain high quality food and service as well as an attractive
atmosphere can quickly lose their customers. But, even restaurants that continue to satisfy their customers will
sometimes fail because they are not financially successful. Financial success requires careful planning and
constant monitoring of financial performance. If a small problem is not promptly reported and acted upon, it can
easily grow into a major financial problem that can spell disaster for the restaurant.

Company Data
Middletown American Cafe (MAC) is an upscale, American theme, full-menu tableservice restaurant. The
restaurant is located in Middletown, USA in a high traffic, strip shopping center. The business lost money in
its first year of operation, and after three years is only marginally profitable.
MAC operates in a highly competitive environment. There are numerous restaurants competing for MAC’S
customers and there will likely be more in the future. A year ago, MAC commissioned a market research study
to determine the make-up of its customer base. It was determined that the majority of the customers were age
30 to 45, were middle to upper income and lived in the suburban areas. MAC has a high rate of repeat
customers which is attributable to its good reputation, especially in regard to its food quality and uniqueness of
menu offerings. This is due to the Kitchen Manager who has been trained at a culinary arts school and is
responsible for the unique menu offerings.
MAC has 20 full-time and 30 part-time employees. The full-time employees have been highly loyal as
demonstrated by a low turnover. On the other hand, the part-time staff completely turns over once a year. All
but the four managers are paid on an hourly basis. MAC is subject to the Federal Wage & Hour Regulations
and, therefore, pays no less than minimum wage to its hourly employees. The salaried managers are paid
between $30,000 and $50,000 annually. An organization chart for MAC appears in Exhibit 2.
MAC leases 4,500 square feet for its operation. This includes the kitchen, storage area, bar, dining room,
waiting area and a small office. The interior of the restaurant was designed by a nationally-known interior
designer which has enhanced the restaurant’s popularity.
The owners of MAC have not been happy with the financial performance of the restaurant. Recently, the
owners and the General Manager met to review MAC’S past performance and future potential. These discussions
identified several problems. First, and most importantly, the restaurant was only marginally profitable after three
years of operation. Compounding this problem is the increasing competition in MAC’S market niche so MAC
had to work especially hard to maintain its market share. Second, Prime Costs (food + beverage + payroll)
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were higher than the industry median. Third, the state liquor commission recently lowered the legal limit for
drunk driving. Finally, the financial information received from the bookkeeper was not timely.
In addition to the problems, the owners and the General Manager also discussed opportunities for the future.
Essentially, all agreed that there had been a fair amount of customer interest expressed in MAC offering a
catering service. This interest was based largely on the favorable reputation of the Kitchen Manager as a chef.
It was agreed at the conclusion of the meeting that the General Manager would meet with the Dining Room,
Bar, and Kitchen managers to develop a detailed operating plan for the coming year that would address these
issues.
Dining Room and Bar Operations
*.
The dining room and bar represent the essential service delivery area
for MAC. The dining room and the bar each have a manager. The Dining Room and Bar Managers select and
train the personnel in their respective areas but the General Manager schedules the personnel. Scheduling
includes determining the number of people needed and the hours they work.
Customers are greeted by a host or hostess upon arrival. If seating is not available, the small waiting area
was designed to encourage the customers to take a seat in the bar area during their wait for a table. Once a table
is available, the customer is seated and given a menu and a description of any specials that are available.
The role of the wait staff is to make the customer as comfortable as possible and to coordinate their dining
experience with the kitchen and bar. The wait staff is responsible for taking all drink and meal orders. Once
an order is placed, the wait staff is responsible for picking up the completed order as soon as possible. At the
end of the meal, the wait staff is responsible for collecting payment from the customer for the meal and drinks.
Conflicts that exist for the dining room and bar staff include a lack of control over employee scheduling, parttime employee turnover, slow and inconsistent turnaround of meals and drink orders, and lack of standards for
splitting tips with bussers and bartenders.
Kitchen Operations: The kitchen is the responsibility of the Kitchen Manager. The General Manager,
however, is responsible for scheduling the personnel.
In many ways, the kitchen is similar to a simple manufacturing operation. All meals are prepared on site
with various raw materials that range from highly perishable items such as fresh fish to long-term shelf items such
as paper products. The Kitchen Manager is responsible for ordering and storing all raw materials. In addition,
he/she is responsible for organizing, storing and counting the inventory on a regular basis.
At the beginning of each week, the Kitchen Manager estimates the amount of raw materials needed for the
regular menu items and the specials to be offered that week. The Kitchen Manager tries to order and stock as
much as possible of the needed inventory early in the week to leave more time for preparing meals during the
busy weekend time. Although it is helpful to order inventory early in the week, spoilage has been a problem.
Recently, several problems have developed in the kitchen including inconsistent turnaround of meals, high
waste and spoilage, and high food costs.
Financial Reporting
*.
At the close of each day the General Manager is responsible for reconciling the day’s
cash register receipts, completing the "daily sales report" and making the bank deposit. The daily sales report
is given to the bookkeeper for use in preparing a monthly income statement. All invoices for purchases are
forwarded to the bookkeeper for payment. The General Manager is responsible for approving invoices, except
for purchases made by the Kitchen Manager. The bookkeeper is responsible for preparing the bi-weekly payroll.
The bookkeeper tries to complete the monthly income statement by the end of the following month, recently
however, it has taken as long as two months to complete the statement. Only the owners and the General
Manager receive copies of the completed income statement.
CASE ASSIGNMENTS
Part A — Mission Statement
Your instructor will assign one of the following four roles to you. READ ONLY THE ROLE ASSIGNED TO
YOU. Respond to the discussion questions as if you were the person in your assigned role.

General Manager. The General Manager is responsible to the owners for the overall success of the restaurant.
You have been with MAC since the restaurant opened and are committed to its success. Fortunately, you have
a good rapport with the owners and feel free to discuss new ideas with them. Your subordinates, however, often
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have competing goals and you must work very hard to forge their activities toward common goals. As General
Manager you must take the broader view and assess MAC’s competitive position in the market as you realize the
long-term success rate in restaurants is rather low. You also realize that customer demands and tastes are
constantly changing so you must be flexible to meet customer needs. Further, the labor market for good
employees, both salaried and hourly, is rather tight. As a result, you have assumed the responsibility for all
employee scheduling. As General Manager, you should also review the Company Data section of the
INTRODUCTION before you respond to the assignment questions.
Kitchen Manager. The Kitchen Manager is responsible for creating and preparing the meals as well as the
supervision of the kitchen staff. You have been trained at a recognized culinary school and have been with MAC
since it opened. Because of your training, you have been able to create a unique cuisine that has been very
favorably received by the local newspaper’s food critic. Some of your dishes are rather complex so it is
important that you have continuity in a staff of well-trained cooks, especially since you keep all of the recipes
in your head. You are pleased with your success but realize that other upscale restaurants are beginning to bring
in well-trained chefs to enhance their market position. As Kitchen Manager, you should also review the Kitchen
Operations of MAC in the INTRODUCTION before you respond to the assignment questions.
Dining Room Manager. The Dining Room Manager is responsible for customer reservations, seating, and
service and also the supervision of the wait staff and host/hostess. You have only been with MAC for a year but
have worked in the dining rooms of several other upscale restaurants in Middletown. Since this is your first
management position, you are dedicated to succeeding. You realize from your prior experience that excellent,
professional service is a critical element to the success of an upscale restaurant. Yet, the rather high turnover
typically experienced among part-time restaurant personnel makes assurance of quality service difficult. Wait
staff turnover is influenced by such working conditions as steadiness of hours, tip potential, reliability of hours,
and training. As Dining Room Manager, you should also review the Dining Room and Bar Operations of MAC
in the INTRODUCTION before you respond to the assignment questions.
Bar Manager. The Bar Manager is responsible for ordering the liquor and mixing all the drinks as well as
supervising the bartender. The wait staff from the dining room serve all the liquor unless the patron is sitting
at the bar waiting for a table. As the newest member of the management team, you are eager to institute change.
Your prior experience as Bar Manager in a Middletown upscale restaurants leads you to believe that the potential
exists to increase highly profitable liquor sales. Some ideas you would like to explore include training the wait
staff to assist customers in wine selection, increasing the stock of fine wines, and taking more reservations at busy
times so waiting customers make more use of the bar. As Bar Manager, you should also review the Dining
Room and Bar Operations of MAC in the INTRODUCTION before you respond to the assignment questions.

Assignment:
1.

Playing the management role assigned to you, prepare a list of three to five major issues facing you in
planning next year’s operations in your area of responsibility.

2.

Share the list you each prepared in response to Question 1 with your team. After listening to each manager’s
list, your team should identify and list three to five areas where there is potential for conflict.

3.

Working as a team and taking the viewpoint of the entire restaurant, prepare a list of five to seven adjectives
that best describe how MAC is perceived in the marketplace.

Part B — Internal/External Analysis
The bookkeeper for MAC recast last year’s income statement so that it can be compared to the industry ratios
reported in the Restaurant Industry Operations Report 1993.3 The recast MAC income statement and the related
industry median ratios for full-menu tableservice restaurants with sales volume of between $1 and $2 million are
reported in Exhibit 3. Note that the median industry ratio (half the reporting firms above this ratio and half the

3 Reprinted with the permission of the National Restaurant Association.
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reporting firms below this ratio) is reported. Since the median of EACH LINE ITEM IS ANALYZED
SEPARATELY, it is evident that the column does not total when medians are involved.
Assignment:

1.

For the internal analysis:
A. Consult the MAC income statement in Exhibit 3 and list the three most significant costs as a percentage
of sales dollars.

B. List three, specific management actions that could reduce each of the costs you listed in Question 1A.
C. Consult the Company Data section of the case and list three significant internal strengths of MAC.

D. Consult the Company Data section of the case and list three significant internal weaknesses of MAC.

2.

For the external analysis:
A. Consult Exhibit 3 and list the three most significant differences in percentages between MAC and the
industry median.

B. Explain what the differences you identified in Question 2A. imply for MAC’s operational planning next
year.
C. Consult the Company Data section of the case and list three significant external threats that MAC faces
in the future.

Part C — Goals/Action Plan
In developing the action plan for next year the General Manager first considered the potential for expansion into
the catering business. After meeting with a focus group of interested customers and discussing operations with
other local catering businesses a first year sales potential of $20,000 seemed reasonable. The General Manager
estimated that food costs could be held to 40% of sales and payroll plus benefit costs to 30% of sales. In
addition, a delivery van would need to be rented for $2,400 per year plus insurance and license of $1,000
annually.
The General Manager then met with the other managers to formulate goals for the next year. Consensus was
reached on the following goals:

•

Increase regular food sales 7%.

•

Increase beverage sales 5%.

•

Reduce food costs to 43% of food sales.

•

Reduce beverage costs to 34% of beverage sales.

•

Keep payroll costs at 28% of food plus beverage sales.

•

Keep benefit costs at 4% of food plus beverage sales.

•

Keep at the same DOLLAR amount:

Other Income
Administrative and general

Rent
Property taxes
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Property insurance

Depreciation
•

Increase all remaining costs 5%.

Assignment:
1.

Develop a schedule to determine whether or not it will be profitable to enter the catering business.

2.

Develop a plan or budget for next year using the reporting format of Exhibit 3 and the goals stated above.
If you decide to enter the catering business from your analysis in Question 1, add separate lines to Exhibit
3 for the sales and costs of catering.

3.

Certain actions will be necessary to achieve each of the goals stated in this budget. For each of the following
goals, suggest three actions that may help achieve it:
A. Increase regular food sales

B. Increase beverage sales
C. Reduce food cost percentage

D. Reduce beverage cost percentage

E. Hold payroll cost percentage constant
Part D — Monitoring

Monitoring a restaurant’s results involves tracking such keys figures as sales and food and payroll costs on a daily
basis. A more complete look at costs is usually contained in weekly and monthly performance reports.
Significant variances between actual results and the plan or budget in any of these performance reports should
lead to management action to steer future results back to the plan.
In this part of the case, however, rather than looking at the short-run performance reports, we will examine
the actual results for the entire year. In this way we can assess the actual progress (or lack of progress) toward
the goals and action plan developed in Part C.
The actual results for MAC for the year ended December 13, 1994 are presented in Exhibit 4.

Assignment:
1.

Prepare a performance report for the catering business showing the plan or budget (in dollars and
percentage), actual results (in dollars and percentage), and variances (in dollars). Discuss three possible
causes for the poor financial performance of the catering business.

2.

Prepare a performance report for the regular business showing the plan or budget (in dollars and percentage),
actual results (in dollars and percentage), and variances (in dollars).

A. In which areas did MAC exceed its goal?

B. In which areas did MAC NOT meet its goal?
C. For each area in which MAC did not meet its goal, discuss one or two possible causes.
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Exhibit 1

Middletown American Cafe (MAC)
The Planning and Control Process

Prepare Mission Statement

Perform Internal Analysis

Perform External Analysis

Set Measurable Goals
No

Are

Develop Specific Action Plan

Implement Action Plan

Monitor Actual
Performance

OK

Not OK

goals
appropriate
Yes
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Exhibit 2

Middletown American Cafe (MAC)
The Organizational Chart

Owners

General
Manager

Kitchen
Manager

Cooks

Dining Room
Manager

Bookkeeper

Bar Manager

Dishwashers

Wait
Staff

Hostess

Bartender
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Exhibit 3

Middletown American Cafe (MAC)
Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 1993
With Comparison Industry Medians

Middletown American Cafe
December 31, 1993
Dollar
Percent

Sales
Food
Beverage
Total Sales

$1,003,188
402.711

1.405.899

71.4%
28.6
100.0

Industry
Median Percent
80.4%
20.0

100.0

Cost of Sales
Food
Beverage
Total Cost of Sales

440,527
140.577
581.104

43.9(1)
34.9(2)
41.3(3)

34.0
27.7
32.8

Gross Profit
Other Income
Total Income

824,795
17.186
841.981

58.7
1.2
59.9

67.2
.3
68.6

Controllable Expenses
Payroll
Employee Benefits
Direct Operating Expenses
Music and Entertainment
Advertising and Promotion
Utilities
Administrative and General
Repairs and Maintenance
Total Controllable Expenses

392,796
56,488
65,511
1,778
24,768
32,213
76,341
21.228
671.123

27.9
4.0
4.7
0.1
1.8
2.3
5.4
1.5
47.7

29.3
5.0
5.5
0.1
2.0
3.0
4.1
1.7
53.0

Income Before Occupancy Costs

170,858

12.2

14.7

73,107
6,810
—
5.375

5.2
0.5
—
0.4

5.4
0.5
0.1
0.9

85.292

6.1

6.8

85.566

6.1

7.9

—

—

0.4

56.190

4.0

2.3

2.1%

3.1%

Occupancy Costs
Rent
Property Taxes
Other Taxes
Property Insurance

Total Occupancy Costs

Income Before Interest and Depreciation
Interest
Depreciation

Income Before Income Taxes

(1) Based on food sales.

(2) Based on beverage sales.
(3) Based on total sales.

$ 29,376
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Exhibit 4

Middletown American Cafe (MAC)
Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 1994

Dollar
Sales
Food
Beverage
Catering

Total Sales

$1,103,506
422,847
10.500
1.536.853

Percent
71.8%
27.5
0.7
100.0

Cost of Sales
Food
Beverage
Catering
Total Cost of Sales

485,543
150,417
4.410
640.370

44.0(1)
35.6®
42.0®
41.7(4)

Gross Profit

896,483

58.3

Other Income
Total Income

18.045
914.528

1.2
59.5

Controllable Expenses
Payroll
Employee Benefits
Catering Payroll and Benefits
Direct Operating Expenses
Music and Entertainment
Advertising and Promotion
Utilities
Administrative and General
Repairs and Maintenance

430,318
62,137
4,200
72,062
1,867
26,006
33,824
78,158
22.289

28.0
4.0
0.3
4.7
0.1
1.7
2.2
5.1
1.4

730.861

47.5

183.667

12.0

73,107
2,400
7,151

4.8
0.1
0.5

5,375
1,000

0.3
0.1

89.033

5.8

94,634

6.2

56.190

2.7

Total Controllable Expenses

Income Before Occupancy Costs

Occupancy Costs
Rent
Van Rent
Property Taxes
Other Taxes
Property Insurance
Van Insurance
Total Occupancy Costs

Income Before Interest and Depreciation
Interest
Depreciation

Income Before Income Taxes
(1) Based on food sales.
(2) Based on beverage sales.
(3) Based on catering sales.
(4) Based on total sales.

$38.444

2.5%
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Middletown American Cafe (MAC):
The Planning and Control Process
TEACHING NOTES

David M. Buehlmann, Professor
University of Nebraska at Omaha, Omaha, Nebraska

Leonard M. Sommer, Partner
Hancock & Dana PC, Omaha, Nebraska

TARGET COURSE
This case is designed to allow Principles of Accounting II (sometimes called Introductory Managerial Accounting)
students to work through the entire planning and control process with a single company (a restaurant) whose
operating characteristics should be familiar to most students. We assume almost all the students in this course
will be business majors but the majority will not be accounting majors.
We deliberately selected a service industry because of the increasing importance of service firms in the U.S.
economy. Most textbooks pay lip service to this fact but continue to discuss manufacturing firms almost
exclusively. While service costing issues could have been addressed as a parallel to the product costing issues
of a manufacturing firm, we choose not to include these issues because we wished to stress the planning and
control cycle.
Depending on the preparation of the students and the instructor’s goals, some instructors may also find use
for this case in Cost Accounting courses and MBA-level Managerial Accounting courses.

CASE OBJECTIVES
The primary objective of this case is for business students to understand that the planning and control process is
a continuous, integrated process by experiencing the application of that process to a business they can understand.
Or, put more narrowly, that the chapters in a managerial accounting textbook are related.
Another important objective is for business students to understand that knowledge of the industry, company
and individual roles within the company are important components of the planning and control process. To
achieve this objective, it was necessary to present the early stages of the planning process that are actually used
in business but not mentioned in the typical managerial accounting textbook. To this end, the case addresses the
preparation of a mission statement, an industry analysis, and an analysis of the company’s past performance as
a basis for building needed changes into next year’s plan.
Secondary objectives include:

•

appreciating the importance of quantifying goals,
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•

understanding how conflict arises during the planning process because of each person’s different role in the
company,

•

realizing that managerial accounting principles apply to various industries,

•

observing the benefits of the planning process, and

•

understanding that plans don’t implement themselves but need strong management control.

COURSE PACING, FORMAT AND TIMES
Ideally, students should be placed in teams of 4 or 5 at the beginning of the semester. Then, the specific parts
of the case can be assigned as the related material is covered in the course. A suggested schedule appears in the
Table of Assignments below.
Alternatively, if the instructor does not have sufficient class time to devote to the entire case, parts of the
case may be used independently, if the appropriate supplemental handout material is provided. The Table of
Assignments below also provides the necessary information for this approach.
Except for Part A, all parts of the case could be assigned to individuals rather than teams. Since planning
and control is really a team effort, however, this case makes an ideal team assignment.
Table of Assignments
Supplemental
Handout Material
*

Case Part

Required
Background Material

A. Understand roles
and prepare mission
statement

Introductory material on
the advantages of
planning

1 hour class role playing

None

B. Prepare internal and
external analysis

Introductory material on
planning and short-term
decision making

1 hour homework
1 hour class discussion

Mission Statement —
See Part A, Question 3
Solution

C. Set goals and pre
pare action plan

Budget preparation and
CVP analysis

1 hour homework
1 hour class discussion

Internal and external
analysis — See Part B
Solution

D. Monitor Action Plan

Flexible budgets and
performance (control)
reporting

1½ hours homework
1 hour class discussion

Budget — See Part C
Solution

Time Required

* What to handout if the previous part of the case has NOT been assigned.

SUGGESTED SOLUTIONS
Answer to Part A
The purpose of the role-playing activity outlined in the first two questions is for students to understand that each
person brings an agenda to the planning process based upon his/her role in the organization. One of the
challenges and potential benefits of the planning process, then, is to forge these different objectives into a single,
focused direction for all members of the organization to follow. The planning process is the perfect stage for
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"getting everyone to sing from the same hymnal," a feat whose importance to the organization's success should
not be minimized.
As a teaching approach, after assigning each member of the team to a role, allow about 5 minutes for reading
the role description and jotting down responses to Question 1. Call time and then allow 10 minutes for group
discussion of Question 2 by each team. Suggest as an approach that each manager take a turn listing one of
his/her "major issues" and then the other managers respond with one of their own "major issues" that may be
in conflict. Remind the students to assign someone to record these conflicting issues. Call time and allow
another 10-15 minutes for a general class discussion. You may have each team mention one of its identified
conflicts and record them on the board. It may take some questioning to make sure all the key issues are
addressed. For Question 3, allow the teams 10-15 minutes to develop their lists of adjectives (or key success
factors) for MAC. Call time and allow another 10 minutes to list these factors on the board as they are
contributed by each team.
Answer to Part A — Question 1

While a variety of answers may be derived from the case, the case facts support several key issues for each
manager to address:

General Manager

Kitchen Manager

• High food costs

• Desire for public recognition

• High payroll costs

• Importance of unique food dishes (may lead to
high food cost and high waste)

• Low profit
• Outside competition

• Need for timely reports

• Retain skilled cooks (may want to pay higher
salaries)

• Potential to expand into catering

• Service time (complicated dishes take preparation
time — will customer wait)

• Conflicting employee goals

• Food spoilage/waste and ordering

• New liquor laws

• Employee scheduling

• Employee scheduling

Dining Room Manager

Bar Manager

• Meal turnaround time (fast preparation insures
better customer turnover)

• Increasing wine selection

• Labor stability (influenced by schedules, pay,
customers)

• Tip sharing

• Beverage service time

• Increasing liquor sales
• Employee scheduling

• Tip sharing
• Employee scheduling

Answer to Part A — Question 2

Possible Conflicts
• The General Manager seeks to bring food and payroll costs under control while the Kitchen Manager may
incur higher food costs from unique dishes and higher payroll costs to keep skilled cooks.
• The General Manager seeks to lower payroll costs by controlling scheduling while the Dining Room and
Kitchen managers may seek to overschedule labor to provide better service.
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• The Bar Manager seeks to change the image of the restaurant somewhat by adding fine wines. This may not
be appropriate with the overall image the General Manager wants to convey.

• The Kitchen Manager may need more preparation time for unique dishes but the Dining Room Manager wants
fast preparation for better table turnover.
• The Bar Manager wants the servers to encourage liquor consumption but the Dining Room Manager may see
this as an intrusion into his staff or a possible reduction of table turnover. Also, the General Manager is
concerned with the recent change in drunk driving laws.
• The Dining Room Manager and Bar Manager need to agree on how to divide tips on checks that include meal
service and liquor sales.
• The Kitchen Manager believes that unique dishes enhance public recognition but the General Manager wants
the Kitchen Manager to develop standardized recipes to control over-portioning.
• The Bar Manager wants to increase the wine inventory but the General Manager may not believe that this is
the best investment to increase profits (perhaps expanding the kitchen or redecorating the restaurant may
increase customers more).

Answer to Part A — Question 3

As this case provides a very brief, introductory exposure to mission statements we would not expect students
to develop sophisticated mission statements. Instead, the objective of Question 3 is to get the students to think
about and list the key factors that could lead to MAC’s success. The list of adjectives developed should include
the following:
• Unique food

• Full service

• Appeal to middle to upper income
customer

• Professional staff

• Encourage repeat customers

• Stylish interior

• American theme

• Increasing sales

• Upscale

• Convenient location

• Loyal staff

As a summary, you may show the following sample mission statement on an overhead and note how it
encompasses many of the key factors on your list.

MAC is an upscale, full-service, American theme restaurant offering unique food and beverages. It is
focused on attracting the repeat business of middle to upper income adult customers. MAC also recognizes
that its growth and profitability will be dependent on maintaining a highly trained, professional staff.

Answer to Part B

The purpose of the internal analysis is for the students to understand the operations of MAC both from a
qualitative as well as a financial point of view. The purpose of the external analysis is to determine where MAC
stands financially as compared to similar restaurants in the industry. This does not necessarily imply that the
industry median should be MAC’s goal in all cases — it only provides a point of reference to begin discussion.
A teaching approach would be to pass out MAC’s mission statement (see Part A — Question 3 solution), if
the teams have not been through this exercise before, and briefly review it. Then assign the questions in this part
as homework. During the next class period, allow the teams 10-15 minutes to discuss their answers to Question
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1. Call time and have a general class discussion of Question 1 with each team presenting or contributing solu
tions. Another approach is to have one team put its solution to Question l.A. on the board and discuss it and
another team Question 1.B., etc. Allow the teams another 10—15 minutes to discuss their answers to Question
2. Call time and have a general class discussion of Question 2 with each team presenting or contributing solutions
as they did with Question 1.
Answer to Part B — Question 1

A. The three most significant individual costs are food costs (43.9% of food sales), beverage costs (34.9% of
beverage sales), and payroll (27.9% of total sales).

B. A wide variety of management actions can affect these costs — it is just important that the student make a
logical connection between management action and cost incurrence. Food and beverage costs are affected
by such actions as choice of suppliers, quantity purchased, quality purchased, variety purchased, delivery
method and delivery frequency. In the Restaurant Industry section of the case, portion size is specifically
mentioned as a key factor in controlling food and beverage costs. Payroll costs are affected by employee
scheduling, labor rates, turnover, absenteeism, worker experience, market competition, and training costs.
The Restaurant Industry section of the case mentions staff scheduling as a key factor in payroll cost control.
C. Internal strengths include unique menu, loyal full-time staff, significant repeat business, favorable press re
views, well-designed interior, and growing volume of business.

D. Internal weaknesses include poor profitability, scheduling conflicts, tip allocation conflicts, part-time em
ployee turnover, poor food and payroll cost control, and late financial reporting.
Answer to Part B — Question 2

A. Significant differences between MAC and the industry medians include: higher beverage sales (28.6 % versus
20.0%); higher food costs (43.9% versus 34.0%); higher beverage costs (34.9% versus 27.7%); and higher
administrative and general costs (5.4% versus 4.1 %). You may also note that Prime Costs (cost of sales +
payroll; 41.3% + 27.9% = 69.2%) compare unfavorably with the industry’s rule of thumb of 63% to 68%
mentioned in the Restaurant Industry section of the case.
B. Higher beverage sales are desirable as they have a lower cost than food sales (34.9% versus 43.9% of the
sales dollar). How much more beverage sales can be increased is a key question, especially in view of the
recent change in the drunk driving laws. The higher food cost raises some serious questions about portion
control as well as purchasing procedures that need to be reviewed (e.g., waste from overpurchasing, choice
of suppliers, unnecessary variety). However, the control of food costs must be carefully balanced with the
desired reputation of having unique cuisine. One solution would be to limit the number of daily specials and
to utilize standard recipes for the regular menu items. Higher beverage costs again supports a review of
portion control and purchasing procedures but also a review of our pricing. Since administrative and general
costs are mostly fixed, their higher ratio could be overcome with added volume of sales but the costs
themselves might be reviewed in detail to identify any unnecessary expenditures.
C. External threats include increasing competition from other restaurants which are directly attacking MAC’s
market niche, a tight labor market which threatens the stability of the work force, and the community focus
on reducing liquor consumption.
Answer to Part C

The first step in preparing a budget for MAC is to perform a short-run differential analysis on the proposal to
add a catering operation to the business. This will determine whether or not to include the catering operation’s
forecasts in MAC’S budget. Next, the student is given the budget goals for next year. As stressed in the
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introductory section on planning and control, the goals should be quantified. Lastly, the student is asked to sug
gest actions that could result in the stated goals so the idea of a budget being a specific action plan is developed.
In a complete planning session, each action’s costs and benefits would be developed (e.g., if we increase ad
vertising $1,000 that should result in $5,000 more sales) but that detail could not be reproduced here and keep
the case preparation time reasonable.
As a teaching approach, pass out the solution to Part B, if the teams have not been through this exercise
before, and use it to briefly review MAC’s operations. Then have each student prepare solutions to the questions
in this part as a homework assignment. Devote the next class period to each team reaching consensus on the
solutions to these questions and sharing their solutions with the class. As with other parts of the case, the instruc
tor may take suggested solutions from each team and put them on the board or have each team make a presenta
tion of their solution to one question or part of one question to the class.
Answer to Part C — Question 1
Middletown American Cafe (MAC)
Differential Analysis of Catering
Forecasted for Year Ended 12/31/94
Added Sales

$20,000

Added Costs

Food (40% x $20,000)
Payroll and Benefits (30% x $20,000)
Van Rental
Van Insurance and License

$8,000
6,000
2,400
1,000

17.400

Added Income Before Income Taxes

MAC should add a catering operation next year as profits should increase $2,600 or 13% of catering sales.
Answer to Part C — Question 2

See TN1 attached.

Answer to Part C — Question 3

A variety of actions may achieve the goals stated in the budget. It is important to determine whether the
suggested action could possibly assist in reaching the stated goal and whether the other logical consequences of
that action have been considered (e.g. Raising sales prices will only increase total sales if the price increase more
than compensates for the volume decrease. Increasing promotion activity may increase sales volume but also
increase costs).

A. Increase regular food sales — increase advertising, offer specials to regular customers, continue to develop
unique cuisine, seek press coverage, pay a bonus to the wait staff with the most sales.

B. Increase beverage sales — increase sales prices, offer a wider variety of wines, train wait staff in wine
selection.
C. Reduce food cost percentage — develop and monitor portion size, train kitchen staff in portion size, seek
supplier who will deliver in frequent, small quantities to reduce waste, reduce variety of ingredients to reduce
waste, limit the number of special menu items.
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D. Reduce beverage cost percentage — increase sales prices (see B above), seek suppliers offering quantity dis
counts, develop and monitor portion size, train bartender in portion size.

E. Hold payroll cost percentage constant—continue careful scheduling that balances customer service needs with
personnel, train staff in efficient service, develop tip distribution system to motivate staff, pay a bonus to
managers with reduced payroll costs.
Answer to Part D
In managerial accounting, performance reporting focuses on measuring the effectiveness and efficiency of per
formance separately. Effectiveness (achieving the goal) frequently involves computing sales variances when the
goal is a specific sales target. Efficiency (relating inputs and outputs) frequently involves flexible budgets to
determine efficient levels of inputs given the output achieved.
A single performance report that addresses both effectiveness and efficiency issues is used in practice,
however. The variation in sales addresses the effectiveness question and the variation in the percentage of each
cost to sales addresses the efficiency question. This is the format required in the case and reported in this
teaching note.
The teaching approach described in Part C also applies to this part.

Answer to Part D — Question 1

Middletown American Cafe (MAC)
Performance Report — Catering
For the Year Ended December 31, 1994
Budget______
Dollar
Percent
Sales
Food
Payroll and Benefits
Van Rent
Van Insurance and License
Total Cost
Income Before Income Taxes

$20,000
8,000
6,000
2,400
1,000
17.400
$2 600

100%
40
30
12
5
87

______ Actual
Dollar
Percent

$10,500
4,410
4,200
2,400
1,000
12,010
$<1510>

100%
42
40
23
9
114
<14>

Variance
$< 9,500 >
< 3,590 >
<1,800>
—
—
< 5,390 >
$<4,110>

If we compare the actual performance of MAC’s catering business to the budget developed in Part C, it is evident
that Income Before Income taxes was $4,110 below budget. Instead of the budgeted Income Before Income
Taxes of 13% of catering sales the actual performance was a —14% of sales. We observe that the major reason
for this poor performance was that sales were $9,500 below the goal (not effective performance). Indeed, MAC
found that despite the substantial customer interest expressed in a catering service during its careful market
research, actual usage of the service did not materialize. This points out the significant risk involved in new
ventures even if great care is taken in determining the potential sales in the market place. Expressed customer
interest is not guaranteed to result in actual customer purchases.
An analysis of the percentages on the performance report will provide insight into the efficiency of the catering
operation and identify the other two causes of its poor financial performance. First, food costs exceeded the
budget by 2% (42% - 40%) which reduced potential profit by $210 (2% x $10,500). Second, payroll costs
exceeded the budget by 10% (40% — 30%) which reduced potential profit by $1,050 (10% x $10,500). Since
van rent and van insurance are fixed costs, the reason for their higher percentages of total sales is the lower sales
volume.
What MAC found was that the catering operation was much more expensive to operate than the regular
restaurant business. For example, there was more food spoilage because extra food was taken to clients to insure
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there was enough. Further, clients had special food requests which resulted in extra costly food purchases.
Finally, the payroll costs of delivery, set-up, and take-down were much higher than anticipated. It also became
apparent that demanding customers put a real strain on the personnel and caused morale problems.
Answer to Part D — Question 2
For the performance report see TN-2.

MAC exceeded its goal for regular food sales achieving a growth rate of 10% when the goal was only 7%. The
remaining goals were generally achieved except as noted below.
The major goals that were NOT achieved were bringing food costs to 43% of food sales and beverage costs
to 34% of beverage sales While MAC’S food and beverage costs were off a mere 1.2%, since they are such a
significant portion of costs this translated into a profit variance of over $30,000. This variance alone accounted
for most of the failure of MAC to reach its profit target (without catering) of $58,711 or 3.9% of sales. In
addition, payroll costs increased slightly as a percentage of sales which further eroded MAC’S profitability by
over $11,000.
Another area in which the goal NOT achieved was holding general and administrative costs constant. While
this only had a $2,000 impact on profit, it is an area requiring future monitoring, if MAC still believes these costs
can be contained.
Overall, MAC’s management overly focused on their success in exceeding the sales budget by $30,095. Be
cause they did not work hard enough on cost control, costs exceeded the budget by $48,852 leaving MAC
$18,757 below budgeted profit.
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TN-1
Middletown American Cafe (MAC)
Budgeted Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 1994

Sales
Food (107% x $1,003,188)
Beverage (105% x $402,711)
Catering
Total Sales

Dollar

Percent

$1,073,411
422,847
20.000
1,516,258

70.8%
27.9
1.3
100.0

Cost of Sales
Food (43% x $1,073,411)
Beverage (34% x $422,847)
Catering (40% x $20,000)
Total Cost of Sales

461,567
143,768
8.000
613.335

43.0
34.0
40.0
40.5

Gross Profit

902,923

59.5

Other Income (same)
Total Income

17.186
920.109

1.2
60.7

Controllable Expenses
Payroll (28% x $1,496,258)
Employee Benefits (4% x $1,496,258)
Catering Payroll and Benefits (30% x $20,000)
Direct Operating Expenses (105% x $65,511)
Music and Entertainment (105% x $1,778)
Advertising and Promotion (105% x $24,768)
Utilities (105% x $32,213)
Administrative and General (same)
Repairs and Maintenance (105% x $21,228)
Total Controllable Expenses

418,952
59,850
6,000
68,787
1,867
26,006
33,824
76,341
22,289
713,916

27.6
4.0
0.4
4.6
0.1
1.7
2.2
5.0
1.5
47.1

Income Before Occupancy Costs

206.193

13.6

73,107
2,400
6,810

4.8
0.2
0.5

5,375
1,000
88.692

0.3
0.1
5.9

117,501

7.7

56.190

3.7

61,311

4.0%

Occupancy Costs
Rent (same)
Van Rent
Property Taxes (same)
Other taxes
Property Insurance (same)
Van Insurance and License
Total Occupancy Costs
Income Before Interest and Depreciation
Interest
Depreciation (same)

Income Before Income Taxes

$
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TN-2
Middletown American Cafe (MAC)
Performance Report
For the Year Ended December 31, 1994

Budget
Percent
Dollar
Sales
Food
Beverage
Total Sales

$1,073,411
422.847
1.496.258

71.7%
28.3
100.0

Dollar

Actual
Percent

$1,103,506
422,847
1.526.353

72.3%
27.7
100.0

Variance
$

30,095
—
30.095

Cost of Sales
Food
Beverage
Total Cost of Sales

461,567
143.768
605.335

43.0
34.0
40.5

485,543
150.417
635.960

44.0
35.6
41.7

Gross Profit

890,923

59.5

890,393

58.3

<530>

Other Income
Total Income

17.186
908.109

1.2
60.7

18.045
908.438

1.2
59.5

859
329

Controllable Expenses
Payroll
Employee Benefits
Direct Operating Expenses
Music and Entertainment
Advertising and Promotion
Utilities
Administrative and General
Repairs and Maintenance
Total Controllable Expenses

418,952
59,850
68,787
1,867
26,006
33,824
76,341
22.289
707.916

28.0
4.0
4.6
0.1
1.7
2.3
5.1
1.5
47.3

430,318
62,137
72,062
1,867
26,006
33,824
78,158
22,289
726.661

28.2
4.1
4.7
0.1
1.7
2.2
5.1
1.5
47.6

11,366
2,287
3,275
—
—
—
1,817
—
18,745

Income Before Occupancy Costs

200.193

13.4

181,777

11.9

<18,416>

73,107
6,810
—
5.375
85.292

4.9
0.5
—
0.3
5.7

73,107
7,151
—
5,375
85.633

4.8
0.5
—
0.3
5.6

114,901

7.7

96,144

6.3

—

—

—

. —

—

56.190

3.8

56,190

3.7

—

58.711

3.9%

39.954

2.6%

Occupancy Costs
Rent
Property Taxes
Other taxes
Property Insurance
Total Occupancy Costs

Income Before Interest and Depreciation

Interest
Depreciation
Income Before Income Taxes

$

$

23,976
6.649
30,625

—
341
—
—
341
< 18,757 >

$< 18,757 >

